State of the Arts

NEW YORK STATE COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Funding Report 1994 - 95 The Council's Board of Directors and Staff note with great sorrow the passing or our colleague Deborah Norden who died in an accident on September 8, 1994.

CONTENTS

| COUNCIL MEMBERS | |
|-----------------------------------|-----|
| FINANCIAL STATEMENT | . 6 |
| NYSCA AND THE REGRANT PROCESS | . 7 |
| ARCHITECTURE, PLANNING AND DESIGN | 8 |
| ARTS IN EDUCATION | 11 |
| CAPITAL AID | 17 |
| DANCE | 19 |
| ELECTRONIC MEDIA & FILM | 23 |
| FOLK ARTS | 26 |
| INDIVIDUAL ARTISTS | 29 |
| LITERATURE | 31 |
| MUSEUMS | 34 |
| MUSIC | 39 |
| PRESENTING | 45 |
| SPECIAL ARTS SERVICES | 50 |
| COUNTY INCENTIVE | 55 |
| DECENTRALIZATION | 56 |
| STATE AND LOCAL PARTNERSHIP | 71 |
| THEATRE | 75 |
| VISUAL ARTS | 79 |
| CHALLENGE '95 | 82 |
| PRIMARY ORGANIZATIONS | 86 |
| 1994-95 FUNDING BY COUNTY | 89 |
| STAFF LIST | 90 |
| ADVISORY PANELS | 91 |
| INDEX | 95 |

New York State Council on the Arts 915 Broadway New York, NY 10010 (212) 387-7000

Copyright New York State Council on the Arts, 1996

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number 62-62582

All or part of the text of this Report may be reprinted without permission. Please credit the New York State Council on the Arts

Explanatory Note

This Report is organized by program and by grant category within each program. An organization may receive funds from more than one program and from more than one grant category within a program. The index will enable the reader to locate each instance of financial support for any organization.

Grant recipients are listed by their legal names.

Credits

Editor Claude Meyer

Annual Report Committee Nancy Cohn Linda Earle Joanthan Goldberg Gerald Lindahl Marcy Shaffer

COUNCIL MEMBERS

Kitty Carlisle Hart Chairman

Peter O. Duchin Vice Chairman

Sara S. Barclay Lo-yi Chan Mary S. Cronson Lee M. Ellman Sister Irene Fugazy Ruth W. Houghton Peggy L. Kerr Samuel H. Lindenbaum Armond Magnarelli Richard McGrath Shelby Z. Modell Gary L. Mucci Judith O. Rubin Richard J. Schwartz James G. Shine Hale Smith Sidney Sutter

Honorary Members

Elizabeth Chapin James R. Houghton Edward M. Kresky A. Robert Towbin

Former Council Chairpersons

Joan K. Davidson Seymour H. Knox

Former Council Members

Edward Albee Shana Alexander Reginald Allen Max L. Arons Romare H. Bearden Eleanor Brereton Cass Canfield Richard V. Clarke Susan Yager Cook

Anette Covatta Elizabeth B. DeLucia Hugh W. Downe Angus Duncan Miriam Colon Edgar Hy Faine Geraldine Fitzgerald Jane Lee Garcia Heike Brenner Garth Barbara Goldsmith Lee Guber Theodore M. Hancock Lila Harnett Marie N.W.Harriman Wallace K. Harrison Helen Hayes August Heckscher John B. Hightower Thomas P.F. Hoving Williams Hudgins Louis Clark Jones David M. Keiser Sara Koffman Eric Larrabee Victoria E. Levene Arthur Levitt, Jr. Richard B. K. McLanathan Alfred J. Manuti Dina Merrill Robert I. Millonzi Arthur Mitchell Henry Allen Moe Bess Myerson Alwin Nikolais Frederick O'Neal Gretchen Ralph Calvin Rand Oscar E. Remick Frederick W. Richmond Blanchette H. Rockefeller Dorothy Rodgers Richard Rodgers Aline Saarinen Lowery S. Sims

Sheldon Solow

Frank Stanton

FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Statement of Appropriation, Funds Expended, and Adjustments for the Year Ended March 31, 1995

FUNDS APPROPRIATED

| New York State State Purposes (Administration) Aid to Localities Total New York State | \$ 3,344,200 31.875,100 | 35,219,300 |
|---|----------------------------|------------|
| Federal Government National Endowment for the Arts TOTAL FUNDS APPROPRIATED | | 999,000 |

FUNDS EXPENDED AND ADJUSTMENTS

New York State State Purposes (Administration) \$ 2,521,837 Personal Services 818,200 Nonpersonal Services Total State Purposes Expended

Aid to Localities (Grants from State Funds)

| | 0.000.000 |
|--|------------|
| Architecture, Planning and Design | \$ 966,273 |
| Arts in Education | 2,425,917 |
| Capital Funding Initiative | 495,527 |
| Challenge '95 (New York City) | 2,470,000 |
| Dance | 1 ,897,620 |
| Electronic Media and Film | 1,622,500 |
| Folk Arts | 1,023,000 |
| Individual Artsits/NYS Artists' Fellowships | 1,616,950 |
| Literature | 691,640 |
| Museums | 3,630,000 |
| Music | 2,951,924 |
| Presenting Organizations | 1,752,615 |
| Special Arts Services | 2,659,850 |
| State and Local Partnership | |
| County Incentive | 68,900 |
| Decentralization | 1,572,300 |
| Local Arts Organizations/Service Organizations | 2,576,087 |
| Theatre | 2,356,875 |
| Visual Artists | 938.839 |
| d to Localities Expended | |
| | |

Total Aid

\$ 658,000 State Purposes 341,000 Aid to Localities 999,000 Total Federal Government Funds Expended

Adjustments

Federal Government

State Purposes Carryover
Aid to Localities Lapsed by Contract 4,163 58,283 Modification **Total Adjustments**

TOTAL FUNDS EXPENDED AND ADJUSTMENTS

\$ 36,218,300

\$ 36,218,300

3,340,037

31,816,817

62,446

NYSCA AND THE REGRANT PROCESS

As a matter of policy, the New York State Council on the Arts, through several of our programs, supports regrants in order to broaden service and outreach to our constituents. What follows, then, is a brief description of our regrant programs.

The Architecture, Planning and Design Program offers two regrant programs. Regional technical assistance for the North Country is administered by the Essex Community Heritage Organization in Essex. The Program's main regrant effort is a partnership with the Preservation League of New York State to give statewide grants for historic structures and landscape reports and surveys of historic properties. In addition, the Architecture Program also administers an ongoing technical assistance fund with the New York Landmarks Conservancy serving as conduit.

The Electronic Media & Film Program offers several regrant initiatives. Through the Experimental Television Center in Owego, matching monies are made available for artists to appear with their work as well as for film and video screening expenses. Through Women Make Movies in Manhattan, funds have been awarded to assist in the distribution of completed audio, film and video productions. In addition, an initiative to promote media arts networking upstate with the assistance of Media Alliance in Manhattan, has been established, funding a variety of projects. During this period, the Program administered the final phase of a Technical Assistance Project for rural and inner-city organizations designed to strengthen the level of exhibition throughout the state. The National Endowment for the Arts also provided support for this effort.

Due to budgetary restraints, the **Individual Artists Program** rotates funding categories on an annual basis. In FY95, the program supported grants to Theater and Media artists. In addition to these project grants, the program regrants a portion of its allocation to the New York Foundation for the Arts for its statewide fellowship program and other services to individual artists. In FY95, 112 artists received fellowships.

The Literature Program funds Poets and Writers of Manhattan which, in turn, sponsors workshops and readings in all 62 counties of the State.

The Technical Assistance Program of Special Arts Services assists the institutional development of multicultural arts organizations throughout the State. With a two year grant from the National Endowment for the Arts and renewed support from the Council, the Technical Assistance Program is now a two-tiered initiative. Grants are made to emerging and developing multicultural arts organizations to improve critical managerial and organizational development issues with the assistance of a professional consultant or consultant team.

The Visual Artists Program provides opportunities for individual artists to develop new work through its discipline-specific regrant program in crafts, installation work, painting, photography, performance art, public art projects and sculpture. Administered by a number of nonprofit arts organizations throughout the State, these programs offer project funding and/or supportive workspace opportunities for artists to create and present new work. Additional regrant opportunities are currently available to independent curators through the Delaware Valley Arts Alliance in Narrowsburg.

ARCHITECTURE, PLANNING AND DESIGN

The Architecture, Planning and Design Program's mission is to increase the awareness and appreciation of the built and designed environment and to advance excellence and innovation in the design and planning fields. The program uses four strategies to achieve its mission: it offers institutional funding to organizations that provide ongoing services and programs in the design fields; it supports public education projects about architecture and design; it gives funds to a wide variety of nonprofits and municipalities to hire professionals in the design fields; and it supports and catalyzes the design fields themselves through direct grants to individuals.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category Re | equests Funded | Total Amount |
|---|--|--|
| ADAPTIVE USE STUDIES EXHIBITIONS GENERAL OPERATING SI INDEPENDENT PROJECTS INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPLANNING STUDIES PUBLICATION SERVICES TO THE FIELD WORKSHOPS TOTAL | 17 7 UPPORT 25 S 5 OPMENT 5 7 | 141,145 55,000 411,391 52,735 29,950 28,500 57,150 134,202 20,200 \$1,012,523 |
| | | |

Anne Van Ingen, Program Director

Deborah Norden Program Associate

ADAPTIVE USE STUDIES

CAROUSEL SOCIETY OF THE NIAGARA FRONTIER North Tonawanda, Architects' Fees for Stabilization of High Bay Building \$5,000

FRIENDS OF THE NORTH COUNTRY Keeseville, Landscape Architect's Fees for Keeseville Civic Center Site \$6,000

HERITAGE FOUNDATION OF OSWEGO Oswego, Architect's Fees for Expansion of the Mexico Library \$5,000

NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER FOR THE ARTS Mount Kisco, Architect's Fees for Conversion of the Former Patent Trader Building into New Arts Facility \$10,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Troy, Architects' Fees for Conversion of Standard Furniture Showroom into New Arts Facility \$10,000

DESIGN STUDIES

CAPITAL DISTRICT COMMU-NITY GARDENS Troy, Fees & Costs for Urban Landscape Design Program \$4,000

EAST AURORA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE East Aurora, Architect's Fees for Renovation of Downtown Storefronts \$6,000 ESSEX COMMUNITY
HERITAGE ORGANIZATION
Essex, Costs of Preservation
Design Assistance Program for
Adirondack/Lake Champlain
Region
\$5,000

FIVE LAKES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION Watkins Glen, Landscape Architect's Fees for Redesign of Watkins Glen Waterfront \$8,000

FRIENDS OF THE ARTS Locust Valley, Preliminary Design Study for Permanent Facility at Planting Fields \$4,000

HISTORIC ALBANY FOUNDA-TION Albany, Landscape Architects' Fees for Analysis and Redesign of Lark Street/Madison Avenue Intersection \$8,000

TOWN OF LANSING PLAN-NING BOARD Lansing, Landscape Architect's Fees for Lansing Town Common Design Project \$5,000

MANITOGA Garrison, Architect's Fees for Conditions Analysis and Planning for Dragon Rock \$7,500

MILLAY COLONY FOR THE ARTS Austerlitz, Artist's and Architects' Fees for Design of New Fully Accessible Artists' Complex \$15,000

NEW YORK LANDMARKS CONSERVANCY New York, Architect's Fees for Urban Design Study of Mt. Morris Park \$8,000

PARKS COUNCIL New York, Landscape Architects' Fees for New Access to Fort Washington Park \$11,000

CITY OF PEEKSKILL Peekskill, Architect's Fees for Design of New Artists' Live-Work Affordable Loft Building \$20,000 PRESERVATION-REVITAL-IZATION OF PULASKI Pulaski, Landscape Architect's Fee for Riverside Concept Plan \$4,000

SCHENECTADY EMPLOY-MENT TRAINING DEVELOP-MENT CORP. Schenectady, Landscape Designs for Six Entries to Downtown Schenectady \$3.500

ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION Canton, Architect's Fees for Analysis and Design of New Addition \$5,145

STATEN ISLAND BOTANICAL GARDEN Staten Island, Architect's Fees for New East and West Wings of Conservatory \$7,000

WE STAY - NOS QUEDAMOS Bronx, Architect's and Landscape Architect's Fees for Design of the Melrose Commons Neighborhood \$20,000

EXHIBITIONS

BURCHFIELD-PENNEY ART CENTER Buffalo, ROBERT TRAYNHAM COLES - DESIGN DIASPORA -Fees and Costs. \$7,500

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY New York, ST. JOHN THE DIVINE - Costs of Digital Imaging. \$10,000

COOPER-HEWITT NATIONAL DESIGN MUSEUM New York, THE NORTH AMERICAN CITY - Fees & Costs \$10,000

MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF NEW YORK New York, DESIGNING THE STREETSCAPE - Fees & Costs \$7,500

QUEENS COUNTY ART AND CULTURAL CENTER Flushing, CITY SPECULA-TIONS - Guest Curator's Fee \$7,000 REGIONAL PLAN ASSOCIA-

New York, CHANGING PLACES
- Outside Fees and Costs
\$5,000

SARATOGA INSTITUTE Saratoga Springs, ENVISION SARATOGA: HOW THINGS CHANGE - Fees & Costs \$8,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

ARCHITECTURAL LEAGUE OF NEW YORK New York \$18,245

BROOKLYN CENTER FOR THE URBAN ENVIRONMENT Brooklyn \$12,000

BUFFALO OLMSTED PARKS CONSERVANCY Buffalo \$8,000

CAPITOL HILL IMPROVE-MENT CORP Albany \$10,350

CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT Arkville. \$24,150

ESSEX COMMUNITY HERITAGE ORGANIZATION Essex. \$7.100

GREEN GUERILLAS New York. \$7,800

HERITAGE FOUNDATION OF OSWEGO Oswego. \$5,000

HISTORIC ITHACA Ithaca. \$11,270

HISTORIC SARANAC LAKE Saranac Lake. \$3,795 LANDMARK SOCIETY OF THE NIAGARA FRONTIER Buffalo. \$5,000

LANDMARK SOCIETY OF WESTERN NEW YORK Rochester. \$23,000

MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF NEW YORK New York. \$40,000

NEW YORK LANDMARKS CONSERVANCY New York. \$34,750

NEW YORK PARKS AND CONSERVATION ASSOCIA-TION Albany. \$7,000

PARKS COUNCIL New York. \$24,974

PRATT INSTITUTE CENTER FOR COMMUNITY AND ENVIROMNENTAL DEVELOP-MENT Brooklyn. \$30,755

PRESERVATION COALITION OF ERIE COUNTY Buffalo. \$8,596

PRESERVATION LEAGUE OF NEW YORK STATE Albany. \$40,400

RESTORE New York. \$12,903

SARATOGA SPRINGS PRESERVATION FOUNDA-TION Saratoga Springs. \$10,350

SCENIC HUDSON Poughkeepsie. \$20,700

STOREFRONT FOR ART & ARCHITECTURE New York. \$15,000

TAP (TROY ARCHITECTURAL PROGRAM)
Troy.
\$19,550

TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND New York. \$10,703

INDEPENDENT PROJECTS

ARCHITECTURAL LEAGUE
OF NEW YORK
New York. STANLEY
GREENBERG, "Unexplored New
York"
\$10.342

CITY LORE New York. MARTHA COOPER, "Manhattan Vernacular" \$10,500

NATIONAL INSITUTE FOR ARCHITECTURAL EDUCA-TION New York. ANN KAUFMAN WEBSTER, "Beyond the Box" \$10,643

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS New York. REBECCA SHANOR, "Building New York City" \$10.500

STOREFRONT FOR ART AND ARCHITECTURE New York. CATHERINE TEEGARDEN, "New York City Historical Guide for Children" \$10,750

INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOP-MENT

ADIRONDACK ARCHITEC-TURAL HERITAGE Keeseville, Full-time Executive Director's Salary \$6,900

COLUMBIA LAND CONSER-VANCY Chatham, Salary of Staff Landscape Architect/Land Planner \$8,050

DUTCHESS LAND CONSER-VANCY
Millbrook, Salary of Staff
Landscape Architect
\$4,500
HISTORIC ALBANY FOUNDA-TION
Albany, Half-time Executive
Director's Salary
\$5,000 NEW YORK MAIN STREET ALLIANCE Mount Kisco, Full-time Salary of Executive Director \$5,500

PLANNING STUDIES

TOWN OF KEENE Keene, Landscape Architect's Fees for Planning and Design of Keene Valley to Lake Placid Recreational Trail \$4,000

MOHONK PRESERVE New Paltz, Consultant Fees for Public Programs on Hydrology and Land Use Planning. \$2,000

NEW SCHOOL FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH New York, Development of 3-D Computer Modeling Kit for Use in Small Communities Upstate \$5,000

NEW YORK PARKS AND CONSERVATION ASSOCIA-TION Albany, Development of the Harlem Urban Cultural Park \$5,000

RENSSELAER-TACONIC LAND CONSERVANCY Troy, Consultant's Fees for Implementing the Open Space Plan \$2,500

SARATOGA SPRINGS PRESERVATION FOUNDA-TION Saratoga Springs, Development of Computerized Maps of the Historic Districts \$5,000

TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND New York, Printing and Distribution of the "New York State Strategic Action Plan \$5,000

PUBLICATIONS

BOQUET RIVER ASSOCIA-TION Elizabethtown, FIELDS AT WORK: WORKING LAND-SCAPES OF THE CHAMPLAIN VALLEY - Fees and Costs \$5,000 COOPER UNION New York, CHRYSLER BUILDING - Research Fees \$5.000

DESIGN HISTORY FOUNDA-TION Brooklyn, FEARFUL LANDS: MAKING CITY PARKS SAFE -Fees and Costs \$3,500

FRIENDS OF ROCK HALL MUSEUM Lawrence, ROCK HALL: THE BUILDING'S HISTORY -Author's Fee \$4,000

FRIENDS OF TERRA COTTA/ NYS New York, FRENCH/AMERI-CAN ARCHITECTURAL CERAMICS - Brochure Fees and Costs \$4,000

GENESEE LAND TRUST Rochester, THE CITY IN THE LANDSCAPE - Manuscript & Graphics Preparation \$2,000

HISTORIC DISTRICTS
COUNCIL
New York, Quarterly Newsletter Fees and Costs
\$3,000

HISTORIC ITHACA
Ithaca, EAST HILL WALKING
TOUR GUIDE - Fees and
Production Costs
\$4,150

HUDSON RIVER HERITAGE Rhinebeck, AFRICAN AMERI-CAN BUILT ENVIRONMENT IN THE HUDSON RIVER VALLEY - Research costs \$5,000

LUMEN New York, SITES ON-LINE -Fees and Costs \$6,000

NEW YORK PLANNING FEDERATION Albany, PRACTITIONER'S GUIDE TO COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING - Fees and Costs \$7,000 NEW YORK INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY Central Islip, ALUMINAIRE HOUSE - Fees and Reproduction Costs \$8,500

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

NEW YORK LANDMARKS CONSERVANCY New York, Technical Assistance Program \$56,273

PRESERVATION LEAGUE OF NEW YORK STATE Albany, Regrant Program for Historic Structures Reports, Historic Landscape Reports and Surveys \$77,929

WORKSHOPS

CHENANGO COUNTY ENVIROMENTAL MANAGE-MENT COUNCIL Norwich, Workshop on Comprehensive Planning - Fees and Costs \$2,500

PRESERVATION LEAGUE OF NEW YORK STATE Albany, Hardship Workshops -Honoraria for Don Rypkema \$2,700

SCULPTURE IN THE ENVI-RONMENT New York, Architectural Youth Program Classes - Fees and Costs \$15,000

ARTS IN EDUCATION

The major goal of the Arts in Education Program is to involve teachers, artists and arts professionals in joint efforts that will result in direct, active arts experiences for children. The Program is a cooperative effort between the Council and the State Education Department, with the Council as the administering agency. Cultural institutions are funded to create collaborative curriculum-based arts or environmental science programs throughout the state for students from pre-kindergarten through twelfth grade.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|---|-----------------|--|
| GENERAL OPERATING IMPLEMENTATION PLANNING AND DEVEL SPECIAL PROJECTS | 218 | \$395,400 1,825,617 127,900 80,000 2,561,417 |
| | | |

Excludes Federal Funding

Hollis Headrick Program Director

Gary Dayton Robert Zukerman Program Associates LEARNING TO READ THROUGH THE ARTS Manhattan

\$10,000

\$5,000

MARQUIS STUDIOS Manhattan

NEW YORK STATE LITERARY CENTER Fairport \$11,000

PERIWINKLE PRODUCTIONS Monticello \$5,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

RISE & SHINE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan \$13,000

ALTERNATIVE LITERARY PROGRAMS Voorheesville \$54,600

ARTS CONNECTION Manhattan \$35,000

ARTS HORIZONS Manhattan \$6,000

CIRCUS EDUCATION SPECIALISTS Westbury \$10,000

DOING ART TOGETHER Manhattan \$6,550

EDUCATIONAL VIDEO CENTER Manhattan \$24,200

ELECTRONIC BODY ARTS Albany \$10,000

ENACT Manhattan \$9,500

HUDSON VAGABOND PUPPETS Blauvelt \$12,500

IN COLLABORATION Astoria \$4,400

LEARNING THROUGH EXPANDED ART Manhattan \$8.000

STREET THEATRE White Plains \$10,000

STUDIO IN A SCHOOL Manhattan \$35,000

TEACHERS & WRITERS **COLLABORATIVE** Manhattan \$72,000

TOUCHSTONE CENTER FOR CHILDREN Manhattan \$10,000

YOUNG AUDIENCES OF NEW YORK Manhattan \$25,500

YOUNG AUDIENCES OF ROCHESTER Rochester \$18,150

IMPLEMENTATION

92ND STREET YM-YWHA Manhattan, Music program with 23 NYC schools \$8.000

A I E INSTITUTE FOR WESTERN NEW YORK Cheektowaga, Visual arts, music & dance project in Buffalo \$14,000

ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR ARTS Blue Mountain Lake, Arts programs in 9 schools \$7,700

ADIRONDACK MUSEUM Blue Mountain Lake, Local history project with 4 county **BOCES** \$20,790

AESTHETIC EDUCATION INSTITUTE Rochester, Music project in 5 schools \$7,000

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF ARTS Albany, Artist mentoring program with 17 Schenectady City Schools \$5,000

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF THE MOVING IMAGE Astoria, Film studies program with Smithtown H.S. \$3,000

AMERICAN PLACE THEATRE Manhattan, Teamworks residencies with Rustin High School \$3,000

AMERICAN STAGE NET-WORK Manhattan, Dance/visual arts project at P.S. 205 \$4,000

AQUARIUM FOR WILDLIFE CONSERVATION Brooklyn, Marine Science program with South Shore H.S. \$6,000

ART RESOURCES-TEACHERS & STUDENTS Manhattan, Multi-disciplinary arts projects with 4 NYC schools \$11,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR CHAUTAUOUA COUNTY Jamestown, Residencies in area schools \$23,000

ARTS REACH Rochester, AIE programs for Special Needs students \$8,000

ARTS AND CULTURAL COUNCIL FOR GREATER ROCHESTER Rochester, Shared Arts collaboration with Spencerport Central Schools \$7,000

ASSOCIATED SOLO ARTISTS Peekskill, Music project with Peekskill schools \$4,500

BACH ARIA GROUP Stony Brook, Music program in 3 high schools \$17,325

BANK STREET COLLEGE OF **EDUCATION** Manhattan, Tiorati project with **Highland Falls Schools** \$4,000

BARD COLLEGE Annandale-on-Hudson, Visual Thinking Curriculum with Red Hook Schools \$13,000

BEAUTY & THE BEAST STORYTELLERS Ithaca, Storytelling program at 8 Ithaca elementary schools \$6,600

BERNSTEIN EDUCATION-ARTS FUND Manhattan, Grammy Musical Minutes Pilot Development \$20,000

BLACKBERRY PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Residency at YALA & the Apollo Theater \$3,000

BRONX ARTS ENSEMBLE Bronx, Curriculum Opera Project with District 11 \$13,000

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE **ARTS** Bronx, M.A.P.S. Project in District 7 \$17,500

BRONX ZOO-WILDLIFE CONSERVATION PARK Bronx, Multi-cultural environmental education program on Africa \$4,500

BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF MUSIC Brooklyn, Arts Bridge: Theatre program with Brooklyn College \$7,500

BROOKLYN ARTS COUNCIL Brooklyn, OBFY Program in **Brooklyn Schools** \$12,000

BROOKLYN CONSERVATORY CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF OF MUSIC Brooklyn, Music programs at P.S. 29, 77K, 131 \$6,000

BROOKLYN CENTER FOR THE URBAN ENVIRONMENT Brooklyn, Environmental project with magnet schools in District 21 \$10,000

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE OF ART & SCIENCE Brooklyn, NYC Museum School \$20,000

BROOKLYN PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY Brooklyn, In-school residencies with Nassau County BOCES \$13,200

BURCHFIELD-PENNEY ART CENTER Buffalo, Craft art project with Tonawanda City School District \$5,280

CASTELLANI ART MUSEUM Niagara, History project with Niagara Falls Teacher Resource Center \$5,000

CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVATION & DEVELOP-**MENT** Arkville, Folk music program with Roxbury & Manhattan Country Day schools \$5,500

CAYUGA NATURE CENTER Ithaca, Project ECO with Ithaca City School District \$11.025

CENTER FOR THE ARTS AT ITHACA Ithaca, Dance/theatre residency at Candor Jr./Sr. H.S. \$5,500

CENTRAL NEW YORK COMMUNITY ARTS COUNCIL Utica, Creative writing project with the Arts in Education Institute \$7,000

CHEMUNG COUNTY HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Elmira, History program in Schuyler County Schools \$6,500

MANHATTAN Manhattan, Collaboration with P.S. 84 and District 27 \$11,000

CIRCLE OF DANCE REPER-TORY COMPANY Huntington, Dance residencies in Long Island schools \$15,750

CIRCLE REPERTORY THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan, Drama/language arts program at West Side H.S.

CITY CENTER/55TH STREET THEATRE FOUNDATION Manhattan, Dance residency in District 25 \$5,000

CITY LORE/NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE Manhattan, Artist residencies in District 2 \$4,000

COMING TOGETHER FESTIVAL OF MUSIC & DANCE Rosendale, Collaboration with Ulster County BOCES \$5,500

COMMUNITY WORKS Manhattan, Performance & writing program with the Beacon School \$4,000

COMPOSERS ALLIANCE OF **BUFFALO** Buffalo, Long-term residencies at the Campus West School \$6,000

CONCERTED EFFORT Old Chatham, Music project at the Arbor Hill School \$4,400

CONCORDIA ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Music project at P.S. 3 (Brooklyn) \$10,000

CORNELL UNIVERSITY Ithaca, OMNI Museum/School Program \$8.000

COUNCIL ON THE ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY Plattsburgh, Local artist-inresidence program \$3,000

CRC INSTITUTE FOR ARTS IN EDUCATION
Albany, Multi-disciplinary program with Albany area schools \$11,000

CREATIVE ALTERNATIVES OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Theater project in J.H.S. 117 \$6,500

CULTURAL CONSPIRACY Burnt Hills, Newsletter & conference for teaching artists \$13,000

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan, Dance/drama workshops for NYC Alternative High Schools \$6,000

DANCEWORKS Manhattan, Multi-disciplinary program District 1 \$5,000

DANCING IN THE STREETS Manhattan, Dance & visual arts programs in Queens & Brooklyn \$7,500

DEPOT THEATRE Westport, Program in Westport School District \$3,000

DIEU DONNE PAPERMILL Manhattan, Papermaking workshops with P.S. 234 & 41 \$6,000

DISCOVERY CENTER OF THE SOUTHERN TIER Binghamton, Multicultural program at Lincoln & Harry L Johnson Elementary Schools \$2,500

DOWNTOWN MUSIC PRO-DUCTIONS Manhattan, Music project with P.S. 19 \$6,000 DRAWING CENTER
Manhattan, Visual Thinking
Project with the ABACA
Coalition & the Satellite
Academy
\$7,500

DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Poughkeepsie, Collaboration with Dutchess County BOCES \$8,500

DYNAMIC FORMS Manhattan, Dance project with District 30 \$3,000

EARLY MUSIC FOUNDATION Manhattan, Nottingham Fair/ Rodeph Shalom/P.S. 11 residency \$6,000

ELAINE KAUFMAN CUL-TURAL CENTER Manhattan, Poppy Seed Players/ P.S. 163 residency \$6,000

ELDERS SHARE THE ARTS Brooklyn, Oral history intergenerational program at P.S. 160 \$8,000

ESSEX COMMUNITY HERITAGE ORGANIZATION Essex, North Country Heritage Architectural Education Program \$6,000

ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Westport, Residencies in 6 regional schools \$7.400

EVERSON MUSEUM OF ART Syracuse, Stickley project in Syracuse City Schools \$1,500

FRANKLIN FURNACE ARCHIVE Manhattan, Sequential Art for Kids Program \$5,000

FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE ARTS Manhattan, Public school writing Program \$8,000

FRIENDS OF THE NEUBERGER MUSEUM OF ART Purchase, Multi-disciplinary project with the Windward School \$6,000 FUND FOR THE BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN Brooklyn, Visual arts & literary

Brooklyn, Visual arts & literary programs in Brooklyn Schools \$6,000

GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS Cooperstown, Project with the Cooperstown & Cherry Valley Central Schools \$5,000

GARDNER'S PICK OF THE CROP Buffalo, Project with Holmes Elementary School \$3,000

GOWANUS ARTS EXCHANGE Brooklyn, Residencies at the Brooklyn New School & Our Little School \$6,000

GREENE COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Catskill, Greene County residencies and consultant fees \$13,000

GREENWICH HOUSE Manhattan, Music project with P.S. 3(M) \$8,000

GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON East Hampton, Collaboration with the Wainscott School \$2,500

H T DANCE COMPANY Manhattan, Chen & Dancers residency with the McVey School \$3,390

HALLOCK VILLE Riverhead, Folk program with the local BOCES \$10,000

HAMILTON HILL ARTS CENTER Schenectady, African arts workshops in Schenectady schools \$5.500

HARLEM SCHOOL OF THE ARTS Manhattan, OLA Program in Harlem and Washington Heights \$12,000

HENRY STREET SETTLE-MENT Manhattan, Corridor Plan for District 1 schools \$15,000 HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF ROCKLAND COUNTY New City, Native American history & culture with Suffern J.H.S. \$8,500

HOFF-BARTHELSON MUSIC SCHOOL Scarsdale, Music program at Sacred Heart Elementary School \$2,000

HORTICULTURAL SOCIETY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Horticultural program in District 5 \$2,000

HOSPITAL AUDIENCES Manhattan, Film/video animation workshops \$14,000

HOUSE ON FIRE DANCE FOUNDATION Mahopac, OriginQuest project with P.S. 87 \$2,000

HUDSON RIVER MUSEUM OF WESTCHESTER Yonkers, Reading program in the Museum School of Arts & Sciences \$7,000

HUDSON VALLEY WRITERS' CENTER Tarrytown, Clearview School project \$3,850

ICE THEATRE OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Ice dancing project with PPAS \$2,000

IL PICCOLO TEATRO DELL'OPERA Brooklyn, Multidisciplinary performing arts program at J.H.S. 113 \$7,500

INSTITUTE FOR CONTEMPORARY ART
Long Island City, Influence &
Inspiration: Through My Own
Eyes with CSD #30
\$4,000

INSTITUTE OF ECOSYSTEM STUDIES
Millbrook, Wappinger Creek
Program with Dutchess County
BOCES
\$6,050

INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF PHOTOGRAPHY

Manhattan, Photography program with the Creative Learning Center \$5,500

INTERBOROUGH REPERTORY THEATRE

Brooklyn, Ethnic theatre project at West Side H.S. \$3,000

INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS Manhattan, Youth internship training program \$3,000

IRONDALE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Residencies in Alternative High Schools \$27,500

ISLAND PHILHARMONIC SOCIETY Melville, Residency Program in 5 Mineola Schools \$6,000

ISLIP ART MUSEUM East Islip, Visual arts project with the Kinney School \$4,400

JAMAICA CENTER FOR PERFORMING & VISUAL ARTS Jamaica, Staff development with District 28 \$13,000

JEWISH MUSEUM Manhattan, NYC Museum School with District 2 \$5,000

JOYCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, Dance residencies with AGE Program \$5,000

JUST BUFFALO LITERARY CENTER Buffalo, Writing project with Buffalo public schools \$11,000

KIRKLAND ART CENTER Clinton, Projects in Clinton, Utica & Waterville Schools \$4,400

LANDMARK SOCIETY OF WESTERN NEW YORK Rochester, Built Environment program with Monroe County 4th Grades \$5,000 LEHMAN COLLEGE ART
GALLERY

Bronx, Studio projects with District 9 \$8,000

LOISAIDA ARTS Manhattan, Dance. video & drama projects in Districts 4, 20 & 22 \$2,000

LOWER EAST SIDE PRINTSHOP Manhattan, Printmaking project with District 1 schools \$7,500

LOWER MANHATTAN CULTURAL COUNCIL Manhattan, Video project at Satellite High School \$6,000

MANHATTAN THEATRE CLUB Manhattan, Theater program with the Urban Academy and District 2 \$8.000

MARTHA GRAHAM CENTER FOR CONTEMPORARY DANCE Manhattan, Dance project with the Port Washington Schools \$10,000

METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION Manhattan, Original opera program \$20,000

MILL STREET LOFT Poughkeepsie, ARTSTEACH Partnership \$10,000

MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS COMPANY Bronx, Folk arts program at P.S. 41 \$7,000

MIRROR THEATRE Manhattan, Collaboration with the Manhattan Village Academy \$3,000

MOHONK PRESERVE New Paltz, Environmental education program with New Paltz schools \$7,150

MOLLYOLGA NEIGHBOR-HOOD ART CLASSES Buffalo, Visual art classes for atrisk children in Buffalo City schools \$4,400 MUSEUM OF MODERN ART Manhattan, Visual Thinking Curriculum in 10 NYC public schools \$14,000

MUSEUMS AT STONY BROOK Stony Brook, Collaboration with Smithtown Schools \$4,000

MUSICIANS UNITED FOR SUPERIOR EDUCATION Buffalo, Dance/music programs in 6 Buffalo public schools \$8,000

NASSAU COUNTY MUSEUM OF ART Roslyn Harbor, Art education program with Port Washington Schools \$4.000

NATIONAL CHORAL COUNCIL
Manhattan, Choral programs at
Stevenson, Bryant, Flushing, &
New Rochelle H.S.
\$7,000

NEW ENGLAND DINOSAUR Manhattan, Dance Infusion Project with Lower East Side High School \$5,000

NEW MUSEUM OF CONTEM-PORARY ART Manhattan, Art program with Alternative High Schools \$13,000

NEW YORK CITY BALLET Manhattan, Partners in Dance curriculum with NYC public schools \$11,000

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Artist-In-Residence & Technical Assistance Programs, Chalkboard, Common Ground \$317,740

NEW YORK SCHOOL FOR CIRCUS ARTS Manhattan, Circus arts program in District 4 \$15,400

NEW YORK SHAKESPEARE FESTIVAL Manhattan, Playwriting in the Schools Program \$5,000 NEW YORK STATE ALLIANCE FOR ARTS EDUCATION Albany, Services to the Field, AIE Resource Guide \$43,000

NORTH WIND UNDERSEA INSTITUTE Bronx, "Healing Our Planet" program in District 8 \$8,800

NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER FOR THE ARTS Mount Kisco, Art/Movement/ Math project at Mt. Kisco Elementary School \$2,100

NORTHERN WOODSIDE COALITION Woodside, Arts Energy program with Woodside schools \$8,000

ONTARIO COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Canandaigua, Regrant program for technical assistance & model projects \$9,000

OPEN HAND THEATER Syracuse, Language arts project with the Onondaga Nation School \$5,750

ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUN-DATION Manhattan, New Ballet School with the NYC Board of Education \$16,000

ORPHEON Manhattan, Collaborative music education project with District 5 \$6,000

PARRISH ART MUSEUM Southampton, Visual arts program with Southampton schools \$5,500

PENDRAGON Saranac Lake, Rent-An-Actor program with the Saranac Lake Central School \$4,000

POETS IN PUBLIC SERVICE Manhattan, Writer residencies in 8 NYC public schools \$15,000

PORT CHESTER COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Port Chester, Residency at Port Chester Middle School \$3,000 PROJECT UNIQUE
Rochester, Intercultural arts
project with the Rochester City
School District
\$18,000

QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS

Woodhaven, Folk arts programs in Districts 24, 25, 26 & 30 \$11,000

QUEENS COUNTY ART & CULTURAL CENTER
Flushing, Louis Armstrong project with 2 Queens schools

\$5,000

\$3,000

QUEENS OPERA ASSOCIA-TION Brooklyn, Opera project with P.S. 185 & 102

RED HOOK ARTS Brooklyn, Storytelling workshops at P.S. 15 & 27 \$6.500

RENSSELAER COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Troy, The Greater Capital Region Arts-In-Education Project \$25,000

REPOHISTORY Manhattan, History/arts program at the Academy of Community Exploration \$4,500

ROBERSON MEMORIAL Binghamton, Partnership project with the Roosevelt & Mann Schools \$7,000

ROCHESTER ASSOCIATION OF PERFORMING ARTS Rochester, Multidisciplinary program with the East Irondequoit Central School District \$15,750

ROCHESTER PHILHARMONIC ORCHESTRA

Rochester, Music collaboration with Rochester City schools \$9,000

ROCKLAND CENTER FOR THE ARTS West Nyack, Visual arts collaboration with Nyack High School \$7,500 ROUNDABOUT THEATRE COMPANY

Manhattan, Theatre project with Onassis High School \$5,000

SALT & PEPPER MIME COMPANY Manhattan, Theatre project with P.S. 38 & 191

SARATOGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Saratoga Springs, African Studies unit in 8 school districts

\$11,550

SEM ENSEMBLE Brooklyn, Music programs at P.S. 276 & Midwood H.S. \$14,300

SHADOW BOX THEATRE Manhattan, Workshops with P.S. 213 (Brooklyn) \$3,000

SIDEWALKS OF NEW YORK PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Project at Bronx Residential Center \$7,500

SOCIETY FOR THE PRESER-VATION OF LONG ISLAND ANTIQUITIES Setauket, Colonial Craftsmen project with the Cold Spring Harbor School \$5,500

SOCRATES SCULPTURE PARK Long Island City, Folk arts project with Offsite Schools (OES) \$3,000

SONORA HOUSE Manhattan, Music program with Wagner J.H.S. \$5,000

SOUNDANCE Manhattan, Multicultural dance project with P.S. 137 \$3,000

SOUTHERN TIER INSTITUTE FOR ARTS IN EDUCATION Binghamton, Visual & language arts project with the Broome/ Tioga BOCES \$5,000

SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY Manhattan, Dance programs in District 30 \$5,000 ST CHRISTOPHER-OTTILIE Brooklyn, Theatre/dance project at M.S. 136 \$5,000

ST LUKE'S CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Manhattan, In-school workshops in Bronx and Brooklyn elemen-

in Bronx and Brooklyn elementary schools \$6,500

STATEN ISLAND BOTANICAL GARDEN
Staten Island, Discovery program with District 31 middle schools

SYMPHONY SPACE Manhattan, Curriculum arts project in 24 NYC schools \$7,000

SYRACUSE ALTERNATIVE MEDIA NETWORK Syracuse, Video Project with the Onondaga Nation School & the BOCES Alternative School \$12,000

TADA! THEATRE & DANCE ALLIANCE Manhattan, Musical theatre project \$4,500

TEN PENNY PLAYERS Staten Island, WATERWAYS Project in Alternative High Schools \$10,000

THEATER FOR THE NEW CITY Manhattan, Theater program with Beha J.H.S. \$7.500

THEATRE FOR A NEW AUDIENCE Manhattan, The World Theatre Project in Districts 5, 11, 12, 15, 30 \$9,000

THEATRE OF YOUTH COMPANY Buffalo, Radio drama project with the Buffalo Traditional School \$6,000

UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Oneonta, Regional AIE program \$22,000

UPSTATE FILMS Rhinebeck, Documentary Approach to History and Literature \$6,600

URBAN GLASS/NEW YORK CONTEMPORARY GLASS Brooklyn, Glass project with Westinghouse Vocational/ Technical High School \$5,000

WAVE HILL Bronx, Collaborative programs with District 10 \$11,000

WEST KORTRIGHT CENTRE East Meredith, Language Arts curriculum project with Delhi Central Schools \$5,500

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains, Arts Excel program in Westchester County schools \$16,000

WESTCHESTER CONSERVA-TORY OF MUSIC White Plains, Outreach programs in Westchester schools \$13,200

WESTCHESTER PHILHAR-MONIC Hartsdale, Orchestra program and music residencies in Westchester County \$8,000

WESTERN WIND VOCAL ENSEMBLE Manhattan, Vocal music program in District 3 \$9,500

WOMEN'S PROJECT & PRODUCTIONS
Manhattan, Theatre program with the Bedford-Stuyvesant Outreach Center & Murrow H.S.
\$8,000

WOMEN'S STUDIO WORK-SHOP Rosendale, Hands-on art program with Kingston City Schools \$11,000

WOOSTER GROUP Manhattan, Theater program with I.S. 131 \$9,000 WRITERS & BOOKS Rochester, Culture & the Environment program with Rochester City Schools \$4,400

YOUNG PLAYWRIGHTS Manhattan, Playwriting workshops with 22 NYC High Schools \$8,000

PLANNING & DEVELOP-MENT

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY & ART Albany, Victorian America project with Guilderland & Bethlehem Central schools \$7.000

CARAMOOR CENTER FOR MUSIC & THE ARTS Katonah, Teacher collaboration in New Rochelle \$4,000

CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS
COUNCIL
Corning, Interdisciplinary project
with the Bath Central School
District
\$6,500

CIRCUIT THEATRE Brooklyn, Dance project with I.S. 126 \$3,500

CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL OF SYRACUSE/ ONONDAGA COUNTY Syracuse, Evaluation of program in Oswego City schools \$1,500

DANCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, Needs assessment & planning of curriculum-based AIE program \$6.000

ELDRIDGE STREET PROJECT Manhattan, Historic preservation at Eldridge Street with P.S. 24 \$3,000

FIRST BATTLE REVIVAL ALLIANCE Brooklyn, Brooklyn 1776: Exploring history through the arts with District 15 schools \$2,000 FLUSHING COUNCIL ON CULTURE AND THE ARTS Flushing, Collaborative project with District 25 \$3,000

GENESEE VALLEY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Mount Morris, Regional AIE project with local BOCES \$4,500

HUNTINGTON ARTS COUN-CIL Huntington, Development of African resource unit at Northport H.S. \$4,000

LONG ISLAND MARITIME MUSEUM West Sayville, Marine biology project with Smithtown H.S. \$2,000

LOS PLENEROS DE LA 21 Manhattan, Development of music program and artist training \$3,000

MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS COMPANY Bronx, Division For Youth collaboration at Taft High School \$25,000

NATIONAL ACTORS THE-ATRE Manhattan, Drama program with Canarsie High School \$3,000

NEW YORK CITY OPERA Manhattan, High School Opera Program \$6,000

PENDRAGON Saranac Lake, Regional Adirondacks AIE Planning and Pilot Project \$15,000

QUINTET OF THE AMERICAS Manhattan, Pilot music projects with P.S. 72 and East Harlem Tech. \$2,000

REJOICENSEMBLE! Manhattan, Curriculum and residency program \$5,500

RINGSIDE Manhattan, Kidsaction movement program at P.S. 11 \$4,000 SILVER BAY ASSOCIATION Silver Bay, Creative writing residencies in 6 school districts \$3,900

STATEN ISLAND BOTANICAL GARDEN Staten Island, Discovery program with 10 middle schools in District 31 \$1,000

THREE VILLAGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY
East Setauket, Collaborative project with the Three Village Central School District

\$4,000

COMPANY Manhattan, Collaboration with Vanguard H.S. for "A History of Working People" \$4,000

WORKING THEATRE

YWCA OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Visual arts program with Offsite Educational Services \$4,500

SPECIAL PROJECTS

AESTHETIC EDUCATION INSTITUTE Rochester, Teaching Artist Seminar \$3,000

ARTS CONNECTION Manhattan, Artist Training \$10,000

BARD COLLEGE Annandale-on-Hudson, Teacher in-service training for the Visual Thinking Curriculum \$3,000

BRONX ARTS ENSEMBLE Bronx, Opera project artist training in District 7 \$10,000

BROOKLYN CENTER FOR THE URBAN ENVIRONMENT Brooklyn, Teacher education project in 2 Alternative High Schools \$6.000 CRC INSTITUTE FOR ARTS IN EDUCATION
Albany, Teacher training initiative in Albany City schools \$8,000

INSTITUTE FOR CONTEMPORARY ART
Long Island City, Staff development workshops
\$8,000

PROJECT UNIQUE Rochester, Artist/teacher training \$5000

STUDIO IN A SCHOOL Manhattan, Artist/teacher training and mentoring \$10,000

TEACHERS & WRITERS COLLABORATIVE Manhattan, Special Artists training project \$6,000

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains, Workshops for Artists \$7,000

YOUNG AUDIENCES OF ROCHESTER Rochester, Project documentation, assessment & evaluation \$4,000

CAPITAL AID

The Capital Program makes grants and low interest loans available for the improvement, expansion or rehabilitiation of existing buildings owned or leased by nonprofit cultural institutions that receive programmatic funding from the Council. The Capital Program has become a critical source of support for essential capital projects, helping many of New York State's cultural organizations ensure that their facilities are safe, comfortable and accessible to all New Yorkers.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|---|--------------------------|---------------------------------|
| CAPITAL AID GRANT CAPITAL AID GRANT/LC | 26 OAN <u>1</u> 27 | \$480,527 5,000 \$495,527 |

Nancy Cohn Program Manager 92ND STREET YM-YWHA Manhattan, Wheelchair accessible seating & restroom renovations \$25,000

ALBANY INSTITUTE HISTORY & ART Albany, Electrical & lighting upgrade \$6,417

BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Purchase and install new new dance floor \$10,020

BARDAVON 1869 OPERA HOUSE Poughkeepsie, Repair stagehouse roof support system \$100,000 loan

CAMERA NEWS Manhattan, Office renovations; Purchase & install office lighting \$4.800

CENTER FOR THE ARTS AT ITHACA
Ithaca, Purchase & install fire safety system & renovate restroom to make accessible \$25,000

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich, Purchase & install theatrical lighting system for new theater \$25,000

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan, Repair stage floor; Install carpeting \$5,200

ELECTRONIC BODY ARTS Albany, Renovate first floor to make accessible \$24,920

EXIT ART Manhattan, Renovations to create new theater space \$19,540

FINGER LAKES REG ARTS COUNCIL Geneva, Facade restoration \$15,000 grant, \$33,500 loan

GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS Cooperstown, Construct sculpture garden \$8,238 GALLERY ASSOCIATION OF NYS Hamilton, Expand driveway, replace roof and remove underground fuel storage tank \$12,321

GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON East Hampton, Replace fire safety curtain \$14,306

HALLWALLS Buffalo, Renovate film & performance theater, purchase theatrical lighting system \$20,370

HENRY STREET SETTLE-MENT Manhattan, Restore lobby of Henry Dejur Playhouse \$25,000

HERKIMER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Herkimer, Interior restoration of new building \$13,671

HUDSON VALLEY WRITERS' CENTER Tarrytown, Renovation of Philipse Manor Railroad Station \$25,000

INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY Rochester, Expand nitrate film storage vault \$25,000

JEWISH MUSEUM Manhattan, Repair Warburg Mansion Facade \$25,000

JOYCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, Purchase and install new theatrical lighting system \$25,000

LANDMARK SOCIETY OF WESTERN NY Rochester, Restore entry paths and replace siding & windows at Stone Tolen House \$22.418

NEW YORK THEATRE WORKSHOP Manhattan, Roof replacement \$25,000 NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER FOR THE ARTS Mount Kisco, Roof Replacement \$25,000

OLD SONGS Guilderland, Insulate historic barn for use as performance space \$25,000

SAGAMORE INSTITUTE OF THE ADIRONDACKS Raquette Lake, Renovate horse barn to create visitor center \$23,938

STOREFRONT ART & ARCHITECTURE Manhattan, Build accessible entrance & restroom; install gallery lighting \$11,438

SYMPHONY SPACE Manhattan, Install assistive listening system \$6,430

DANCE

The Dance Program's primary goal is to help make possible dance performances of high professional standards for the people of New York State. Dance organizations eligible for support include ballet, traditional, modern and avant-garde, ethnic, jazz and historical dance companies as well as dance service organizations and consortia serving management needs. Of special interest in 94/95 was the funding of a pilot project, the New York State Task Force on Partnerships in Dance, which is dedicated to increasing the level of dance activity around the state (See DANCEWORKS listing under services to the field category).

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|-------------------------|-----------------|---------------|
| | | |
| BUILDING BALLET REPERTO | RY 5 | 32,000 |
| COMMISSIONS | 3 | 42,000 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPO | ORT 41 | 1,413,475 |
| LONG TERM RESIDENCY IN | NYS 4 | 75,000 |
| PERFORMANCES - HOME BA | SE 23 | 183,500 |
| PERFORMANCES - TOURING | 4 | 13,000 |
| REHEARSAL SPACE | 15 | 48,650 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | <u>.8</u> | <u>89,995</u> |
| TOTAL | 113 | \$2,032,008 |

Beverly D'Anne Program Director

Deborah Lim Program Associate

BUILDING BALLET REPERTORY

Towards dancers' rehearsal salaries and the fees of emerging choreographers working within the classical ballet vocabulary.

BALLET THEATRE FOUNDA-TION (AMERICAN BALLET THEATRE) Manhattan, New Choreography Workshop \$8,000

BERKSHIRE CIVIC BALLET Albany, Three-week Workshop with one choreographer \$5,000

FOUNDATION FOR THE JOFFREY BALLET Manhattan, Joffrey II Choreography Workshop \$8,000

NEW YORK CITY BALLET Manhattan, Workshop with three choreographers \$8,000

SCHOOL OF AMERICAN BALLET Manhattan, Workshop with three choreographers \$3,000

COMMISSIONS

Fees for choreographers to create new works or for the restaging of existing works.

AMERICAN SPANISH DANCE THEATRE (ANDREA DEL CONTE) Manhattan, New work by La Conja \$1,000

BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK Manhattan, New work by Ramon Oller \$2,000

BALLET THEATRE FOUNDA-TION (AMERICAN BALLET THEATRE) Manhattan, New works by James Kudelka and Twyla Tharp \$10,000 BERKSHIRE CIVIC BALLET Albany, New work by Mary Giannone \$2,000

DANCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION (ALVIN AILEY AMERI-CAN DANCE THEATER) Manhattan, New work by Elisa Monte \$3,000

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan, New works by Stefa Zawerucha and Ron Brown \$4,000

DANSPACE PROJECT Manhattan, New works by Deborah Hay and Jennifer Lacey \$3,000

GARDNER'S PICK OF THE CROP Buffalo, New work by Terry Creach \$2,000

ICE THEATRE OF NEW YORK Manhattan, New works by David Dorfman and Daniel Ezralow. \$4,000

JOSE LIMON DANCE FOUN-DATION Manhattan, New work by Ralph Lemon \$4.000

KEEP THE COUNTRY
DANCING (PAT CANNON'S
FOOT AND FIDDLE DANCE
COMPANY)
Sloatsburg, New works by
Harriet Brown and Yvonne
Marceau
\$1,000

MOVEMENT RESEARCH Manhattan, New works by Margarita Guergue and Scott Heron \$3,000

PERFORMANCE SPACE 122 Manhattan, New works by Evelyn Velez-Aguayo and Dennis O'Connor \$3,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities.

AMERICAN BALLROOM THEATER COMPANY Manhattan. \$5.000

ARTS RESOURCES IN COLLABORATION Manhattan. \$6,000

BALLET THEATRE FOUNDA-TION (AMERICAN BALLET THEATRE) Manhattan. \$220,000

BERKSHIRE CIVIC BALLET Albany. \$8,500

CAPOEIRA FOUNDATION (JELON VIEIRA DANCEBRAZIL) Manhattan. \$5,650

COMING TOGETHER FESTIVAL OF MUSIC & DANCE (VANAVER CARA-VAN) Rosendale. \$6,000

CONTEMPORARY DANCE ARTS (SHAPIRO AND SMITH DANCE)

Manhattan. \$5,000

CUNNINGHAM DANCE FOUNDATION (MERCE CUNNINGHAM DANCE COMPANY) Manhattan. \$53,000

DANCE CONTINUUM (SUSAN MARSHALL AND COMPANY) Manhattan. \$11,000

DANCE NOTATION BUREAU Glen Head. \$15,000

DANCE RESEARCH FOUNDA-TION ("BALLET REVIEW") Manhattan. \$4,000

DANCE SOLOS (ANNABELLE GAMSON/DANCE SOLOS) Manhattan. \$7,000

DANCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION (ALVIN AILEY AMERI-CAN DANCE THEATER) Manhattan. \$102,000

DANCE THEATRE OF HARLEM Manhattan. \$83,000

DANCEWORKS (PENTACLE) Manhattan. \$30,000

DANSPACE PROJECT Manhattan. \$11,000

DEAN DANCE & MUSIC FOUNDATION (LAURA DEAN MUSICIANS AND DANCERS) Manhattan. \$12,000

DISCALCED (MARK MORRIS DANCE GROUP) Manhattan. \$20,000

ERICK HAWKINS DANCE **FOUNDATION** Manhattan. \$7,500

FOUNDATION FOR THE JOFFREY BALLET Manhattan. \$131,000

FOUNDATION FOR DANCE PROMOTION (BILL T. JONES/ ARNIE ZANE AND COMPANY) Manhattan. \$15,500

GARTH FAGAN DANCE Rochester. \$28,500

GOTHAM DANCE (BEBE MILLER AND COMPANY) Manhattan. \$6,500

ICE THEATRE OF NEW YORK Manhattan. \$5,000

INSTITUTE FOR SPANISH DANCE ARTS (MARIA BENITEZ TEATRO FLA-MENCO) Manhattan. \$8,000

JOSE LIMON DANCE FOUN-DATION Manhattan. \$26,000

JOYCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION. Manhattan. \$37,000

LUBOVITCH DANCE FOUN-DATION (LAR LUBOVITCH DANCE COMPANY) Manhattan. \$25,000

LUCINDA CHILDS DANCE FOUNDATION Manhattan. \$10,500

MARTHA GRAHAM CENTER FOR CONTEMPORARY DANCE Manhattan. \$77,325

MOVEMENT RESEARCH Manhattan. \$9,000

NEW YORK BAROQUE DANCE COMPANY Manhattan. \$8,500

NEW YORK CITY BALLET Manhattan. \$230,000

NIKOLAIS/LOUIS FOUNDA-TION FOR DANCE Manhattan. \$20,000

ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUN-DATION (FELD BALLETS/ NEW YORK) Manhattan. \$30,000

PARSONS DANCE FOUNDA-TION (DAVID PARSONS DANCE COMPANY) Manhattan. \$10,000

PAUL TAYLOR DANCE **FOUNDATION** Manhattan \$78,500

PICK UP PERFORMANCE COMPANY (DAVID GORDON/ PICK-UP COMPANY) Manhattan. \$13,500

RIO GRANDE UNION (DOUGLAS DUNN AND DANCERS) Manhattan. \$5,000

STEPHEN PETRONIO DANCE COMPANY Manhattan. \$5,000

TRISHA BROWN DANCE COMPANY Manhattan. \$22,000

LONG TERM RESIDENCY IN NEW YORK STATE

Toward artists' fees and administrative costs of residencies (minimum of three weeks duration) of New York State based dance companies in upstate New York communities.

E. MONTE MOTION (ELISA MONTE DANCE COMPANY) Manhattan, Three-week residency at Art Awareness \$10,000

GOTHAM DANCE (BEBE MILLER AND COMPANY) Manhattan, Three-week residency at SUNY Potsdam \$12,000

JOSE LIMON DANCE FOUN-DATION Manhattan, Two residencies of three-weeks each at SUNY Purchase & Art Awareness \$35,000

PAUL TAYLOR DANCE FOUNDATION

Manhattan. Four-week residency at Skidmore College by Taylor 2. \$18.000

PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES

Towards costs of dancers' salaries for performances in a dance company's home base.

AMERICAN SPANISH DANCE THEATRE (ANDREA DEL CONTE)

Manhattan. \$6,000

BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK

Manhattan. \$16,000

BLOSSOM & CO. (BEVERLY BLOSSOM)

Manhattan. \$6,000

C.O.D.A. (CREACH/KOESTER) Manhattan.

Manhattan. \$7,500

CROSS PERFORMANCE (RALPH LEMON AND COMPANY) Manhattan.

DONALD BYRD DANCE FOUNDATION Manhattan.

E MONTE MOTION (ELISA MONTE DANCE COMPANY)

Manhattan . \$7,500

ELLEN SINOPOLI DANCE COMPANY

Troy. \$6,000

\$8,500

\$8,500

FOUNDATION FOR INDEPENDENT ARTISTS

Manhattan, Jane Comfort: \$7,500; Doug Varone: \$7,500; David

Dorfman: \$7,500

GARDNER'S PICK OF THE CROP Buffalo.

\$7,000

H T DANCE COMPANY (CHEN AND DANCERS)

Manhattan. \$7,500

\$6,000

KEEP THE COUNTRY DANCING (PAT CANNON'S FOOT AND FIDDLE DANCE COMPANY) Sloatsburg.

MANHATTAN TAP Manhattan. \$7,500

NEW LIFE DANCE (SARA PEARSON/PATRIK WIDRIG AND COMPANY) Manhattan. \$7,500

PEPATIAN (MERIAN SOTO) Bronx. \$8.500

RINGSIDE (ELIZABETH STREB RINGSIDE) Manhattan.

\$9,000

SAEKO ICHINOHE AND COMPANY Manhattan. \$6,000

THE SCHOOL OF HARD KNOCKS (YOSHIKO CHUMA'S SCHOOL OF HARD KNOCKS) Manhattan. \$7,500

SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY (CARLOTA SANTANA'S SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY) Manhattan. \$8.500

SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY COMPANY (PILAR RIOJA)

Manhattan. \$12,000

UBW (URBAN BUSH WOMEN) Manhattan. \$8,000 TOURING

Towards costs of dancers' salaries for touring engagements of New York State dance companies within the state.

C.O.D.A. (CREACH/KOESTER)
Manhattan.

\$2,500

GARDNER'S PICK OF THE CROP

Buffalo. \$1,000

KEEP THE COUNTRY
DANCING (PAT CANNON'S
FOOT AND FIDDLE DANCE
COMPANY)
Sloatsburg.
\$2,000

TAPPING MUSIC (ANITA FELDMAN)
Port Washington.
\$7,500

REHEARSAL SPACE

Towards costs of providing free or low-cost rehearsal space for dance companies and choreographers.

APPLEBY FOUNDATION Manhattan. \$1,500

BATTERY DANCE CORPORA-TION Manhattan. \$2,000

BOYS HARBOR Manhattan. \$2,500

CHARAS Manhattan. \$1,700

CONSORT DANCE ENSEMBLE \$2,000 Manhattan. \$3,000

DANCEWORKS Manhattan. \$6,500

DIA CENTER FOR THE ARTS Manhattan. \$5,650 GOWANUS ARTS EXCHANGE Brooklyn.

\$3,000

\$1,500

Manhattan.

\$2,000

H T DANCE COMPANY Manhattan.

HUNDRED GRAND DANCE FOUNDATION

LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THEATRE CLUB Manhattan. \$2,000

NANCY MEEHAN DANCE COMPANY Manhattan. \$2,000

NEW YORK DANCE CENTER Manhattan. \$11,300

RIO GRANDE UNION Manhattan. \$2,000

SOUNDANCE Manhattan. \$2,000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

Toward costs of professional services to improve and enhance the activities of the dance community.

CITY CENTER-55TH STREET THEATER FOUNDATION Manhattan. Audience development and rental subsidy programs. \$5,000

CONTACT COLLABORATIONS
Manhattan. Publication of
"Contact Quarterly."

DANCEWORKS

Manhattan. New York State Task Force on "Partnerships in Dance." \$31,995

NEW DANCE ALLIANCE Manhattan. Performance Mix Series. \$5,000 NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY Manhattan. Dance film/video research and documentation services. \$19,000

OPEN CHANNELS NY (DIXON PLACE)
Manhattan, Brand New Dance & Under Exposed performance series.
\$3,500

PERFORMANCE ZONE (THE FIELD)
Manhattan, Program of services to the dance community.
\$7,000

THEATRE DEVELOPMENT FUND (TDF)
Manhattan, Dance voucher and ticket subsidy programs, the Tutu Registry.
\$16,500

ELECTRONIC MEDIA & FILM

The Electronic Media and Film Program is dedicated to furthering the artistic, conceptual and administrative growth of the fields of audio, film, radio, television and video. Grants in this program are directed toward presentation, distribution, preservation and services necessary to allow its diverse constituencies to develop in direction appropriate to each medium, activity or community.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|------------------------|-----------------|--------------|
| | | |
| | | |
| DISTRIBUTION | 2 | 9,000 |
| EQUIPMENT ACCESS | 13 | 72,650 |
| EXHIBITION | 45 | 784,600 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPP | ORT 31 | 820,100 |
| GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPO | RT 15 | 193,750 |
| INFORMATION SERVICES | 4 | 42,500 |
| PRESERVATION | 4 | 42,500 |
| PUBLICATION | 3 | 6,200 |
| REGRANT PROGRAM | 8 | 151,200 |
| TOTAL | 124 | \$1,830,500 |
| | | |

Deborah Silverfine Program Director

Jonathan Goldberg Claude Meyer Program Associates

DISTRIBUTION

ANTHOLOGY FILM ARCHIVE Manhattan, Filmmaker's Coop Costs \$6,000

INTERNATIONAL FILM CIRCUIT Manhattan, Wind from the East Distribution Costs \$3,000

EQUIPMENT ACCESS

BUFFALO MEDIA RE-SOURCES Buffalo, Workstation Software \$9.948

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan, Names Project \$2,000

DOWNTOWN COMMUNITY TELEVISION Manhattan, Retool Editing Facilities \$11,545

EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER Owego, Access Center Equipment Upgrade \$9,500

FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE ARTS Manhattan, Screenwriting Workshops \$4,500

HALLWALLS Buffalo, Access Center Editing Equipment \$7,200

LIGHT WORK VISUAL STUDIES Syracuse, Residencies & Computer Lab Access \$3,000

MILLENNIUM FILM WORK-SHOP Manhattan, 16mm Equipment Upgrade \$3,750

STANDBY PROGRAM Manhattan, Removeable Hard Drive \$2,995 VISUAL STUDIES WORKSHOP Rochester, Media Center Equipment Upgrades \$9,500

WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM Manhattan, Audio Production Workshop \$4,000

WSLU-FM Canton, Field Production Equipment \$4,712

EXHIBITION

ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR THE ARTS Blue Mountain Lk, Film Series \$2,000

AFRICAN FILM FESTIVAL Manhattan, Festival Outreach Programs \$6,000

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY Manhattan, Margaret Mead Film Festival \$8,500

ART IN GENERAL Manhattan, Audio Installations \$2,850

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE ART & SCIENCES Brooklyn, Film Series \$9,000

CENTER FOR EXPLORATORY/ PERCEPTUAL ART Buffalo, CEPA Film Programs \$3,500

CENTER FOR PHOTOGPHY WOODSTOCK Woodstock, Film and Video Programs \$4,500

CHARAS Manhattan, Film Charas \$8,500

CITYLORE NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE Manhattan, City Lore Festival of Film & Video \$2,500 COLGATE UNIVERSITY Hamilton, Film Series \$3,000

Glens Falls, Film and Video Series \$8, 200

EXPERIMENTAL INTERMEDIA FOUNDATION Manhattan, NY EXPO \$1.000

CRANDALL PUBLIC LIBRARY

FILM SOCIETY OF LINCOLN CENTER Manhattan, Set in Motion Exhibition \$15,000

FINKELSTEIN MEMORIAL LIBRARY Spring Valley, Film Series \$4,000

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER Manhattan, Harlem Film Festival \$2, 500

GAY ALLIANCE GENESEE VALLEY Rochester, Rochester Lesbian & Gay Film/Video Festival \$5,000

GREEK CULTURAL CENTER Astoria, Film Program \$1,000

HAMPTONS INTERNATIONAL FILM FESTIVAL East Hampton, Film Festival -Fall 1995 \$5,000

INTERNATIONAL AGENCY MINORITY ARTIST Manhattan, Black Images on the Silver Screen \$5,500

INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF PHOTOGRAPHY Manhattan, Media Feature Program \$6.000

INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY Rochester, Dryden Film Exhibition Program \$22,000 JAPAN SOCIETY Manhattan, Film Center Exhibitions \$6,000

JEWISH COMMUNITY CENTER OF GREATER BUFFALO Getzville, Jewish Film Festival \$3,000

KIRKLAND ART CENTER Clinton, Film Series \$3,300

LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR MUSIC, DRAMA AND ART Lake Placid, Film Series \$2,800

MOHAWK VALLEY CENTER FOR THE ARTS Little Falls, Repertory Film Showings \$2,100

MUNSON-WILLIAMS-PROCTOR INSTITUTE Utica, Film Series \$3,000

MUSEUM OF MODERN ART Manhattan, Film & Video Programming \$41,000

NEW YORK SHAKESPEARE FESTIVAL Manhattan, Film at the Public \$10,100

NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER FOR THE ARTS Mount Kisco, Multi-cultural Film Series \$1,700

NY LESBIAN-GAY EXPERI-MENTAL FILM FESTIVAL Manhattan, Film Festival \$4,000

PORT WASHINGTON PUBLIC LIBRARY Port Washington, Film & Video Programs \$15,500

PYRAMID ARTS CENTER Rochester, Media Arts Program \$2,300

SARATOGA SPRINGS PUBLIC LIBRARY Saratoga Springs, Video Art Series \$3,000 SCULPTURE CENTER Manhattan, Video Installations \$4,000

SUFFOLK COUNTY FILM/TV FOUNDATION St. James, Long Island Film & Video Festival \$5,000

SYRACUSE AREA LAND-MARK THEATER Syracuse, Film Series \$1,500

SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY Syracuse, Community Folk Art Gallery Film Series \$2,300

UPPER CATSKILL COMMU-NITY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Oneonta, Film Series \$3,200

UTICA COLLEGE OF SYRA-CUSE UNIVERSITY Utica, Film & Video Series \$4,350

VIDEOTECA DEL SUR Manhattan, Exhibition Programs \$4,000

WHITE PLAINS CABLE TV ACCESS White Plains, Eye on Video Cable TV Series \$4,400

WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART Manhattan, New American Film and Video Series \$26,000

WNYC FOUNDATION Manhattan, First Exposure \$4,500

WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM Manhattan, Radio Bandung \$2,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

ALTERNATIVE MEDIA INFORMATION CENTER Manhattan, \$19,800

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF THE MOVING IMAGE Astoria, \$66,000 ANTHOLOGY FILM AR-CHIVES Manhattan, \$20,000

ASIAN CINE-VISION Manhattan, \$27,000

BUFFALO MEDIA RE-SOURCES Buffalo, \$24, 200

CAMERA NEWS Manhattan, \$24,500

DEEP DISH TV Manhattan, \$15,000

DOWNTOWN COMMUNITY TELEVISION Manhattan, \$35,000

DRIFT DISTRIBUTION Brooklyn, \$5,500

ELECTRONIC ARTS INTER-MIX Manhattan, \$28,600

EXPERIMENTAL INTERMEDIA FOUNDATION Manhattan, \$6.100

EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER Owego , \$32,000

FILM SOCIETY OF LINCOLN CENTER
Manhattan,
\$60,000

FILM/VIDEO ARTS Manhattan, \$83,000

FOUNDATION FOR INDEPENDENT VIDEO/FILM
Manhattan,
\$58,500

HARVESTWORKS Manhattan, \$23,500

INDEPENDENT FEATURE PROJECT Manhattan, \$10,500 INTERNATIONAL FILM SEMINARS Manhattan, \$7,000

LATINO COLLABORATIVE Manhattan, \$14, 500

MEDIA ALLIANCE Manhattan, \$20,000

MILLENNIUM FILM WORK-SHOP Manhattan, \$24,500

MOVING IMAGE Manhattan, \$53,300

NEW COMMUNITY CINEMA Huntington, \$46,000

NEW FESTIVAL Manhattan, \$10,000

NEW RADIO AND PERFORM-ING ART Staten Island, \$11,000

RADIO CATSKILL Jeffersonville, \$7,000

STANDBY PROGRAM Manhattan, \$25,600

UPSTATE FILMS, LIMITED Rhinebeck, \$22,000

WOMEN MAKE MOVIES Manhattan, \$33,000

WSLU-FM Canton, \$7,000

GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT

ACCESS TO THE ARTS Dunkirk, Film Presentation & Radio Production \$4,500 ALTERNATIVE MEDIA INFORMATION CENTER Manhattan, Paper Tiger Television \$4,000

MERICAN FEDERATION OF ARTS Manhattan, Media Arts Distribution Program \$15,000

CORNELL UNIVERSITY Ithaca, Cornell Cinema, Central New York Programmers' Group & Media Ithaca \$33,500

CREATIVE TIME Manhattan, Media Arts Programs \$2,000

EXIT ART Manhattan, Media Arts Programs \$6,000

HALEAKALA Manhattan, Electronic Media Programs \$10,000

HALLWALLS Buffalo, Video & Film Programs \$29,700

JEWISH MUSEUM Manhattan, Ethnicity on Prime Time & International Film Festival \$8,000

LIBRARY ACTION COMM OF CORONA Corona, Electronic Media and Film Program \$7,500

METRO-ACT OF ROCHESTER Rochester, Workshops and Film Series \$8,000

NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY Manhattan, Donnell Media Center \$10,000

NIAGARA COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Niagara Falls, Media Arts Programs \$12,050

RENSSELAER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE Troy, Electronic Media Programs \$3, 500

VISUAL STUDIES WORKSHOP Rochester, Media Arts Programs \$25,000 \$40,000

INFORMATION SERVICES

INTERNATIONAL MEDIA RESOURCE EXCHANGE Manhattan, Latin America Video Archive \$4.000

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, State of Digital Arts Survey \$3, 500

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Artswire Development Project \$25,000

WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART Manhattan, New Technology and Arts Seminar \$10,000

PRESERVATION

ELECTRONIC ARTS INTER-MIX Manhattan, Preservation of Videotape \$4,000

EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER Owego, Preservation of ETC Archive \$5.000

MEDIA ALLIANCE Manhattan, Statewide Video Preservation Project \$31,000

YIVO INSTITUTE FOR JEWISH RESEARCH Manhattan, 16mm Preservation \$2,500

PUBLICATIONS

CINEASTE PUBLISHERS Manhattan, Cineaste \$2,200

STANDBY PROGRAM Manhattan, Felix \$4,000

REGRANT

CORNELL UNIVERSITY Ithaca, NEA/NYSCA Technical Assistance Fund \$4,000

EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER Owego, Electronic Arts Grants Program \$60,700

FILM/VIDEO ARTS Manhattan, Film Bureau \$23.000

FUNDING EXCHANGE Manhattan, Film and Video Regrant \$8,000

FUNDING EXCHANGE Manhattan, Audio Regrant \$17,000

MEDIA ALLIANCE Manhattan, Regrants for Upstate Counties \$7,500

WOMEN MAKE MOVIES Manhattan, Distribution Support for NYS Artists \$31,000

FOLK ARTS

The Folk Arts Program supports activities that help perpetuate the state's living cultural heritage of the folk arts. It is committed to maintaining the extraordinary cultural and stylistic diversity of New York's traditional arts. The Program's funding reinforces traditions within the ethnic, regional, religious and occupational communities within which they originate. Support from the Program also provides opportunities for general audiences to experience the folk arts of different cultures, which express their ways of life, shared values and sense of beauty. Through Folk Arts Program funding, cultural organizations organize presentations of folk arts and artists, document traditions and develop interpretive programming.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|---------------------------|-----------------|--------------|
| EXHIBITION | 2 | \$20,000 |
| FILM & MEDIA PROD | 2 | 10,000 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 6 | 285,451 |
| GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT | 16 | 338,950 |
| INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT | 1 | 12,500 |
| PRESENTATION-BROADCAST | 1 | 5,500 |
| PRESENTATION | 61 | 316,611 |
| PUBLICATION | 3 | 12,000 |
| RECORDINGS | 1 | 2,000 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | <u>_5</u> | 19,988 |
| TOTAL | 99 | \$1,062,000 |

Robert Baron Program Director

Helen Marr Program Associate

EXHIBITION

Support for exhibitions of the works of living folk artists and interpretive exhibitions that explore issues in the folk arts or interpret the traditional culture of a particular group.

CHEMUNG COUNTY HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Elmira, Exhibition of East European folk arts from Upstate New York \$10,000

SOUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM Manhattan, Bravado, Love & Loyalty: Tattoo's New York Roots exhibition \$10.000

FILM AND ELECTRONIC MEDIA PRODUCTION

Planning, production and postproduction costs of documentary productions in audio. video, film and other electronic moving image media.

COMMUNITY ENVIRON-MENTS Brooklyn, Days of Awe, Days of Joy - Video documentary on Chassidic traditions of month of *Tishrei* \$2,000

LIVING ARCHIVES
Manhattan, RIP New York Video documentary on New York
City memorial walls
\$8,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities of folk arts organizations.

CITY LORE: NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE Manhattan \$55,000

ETHNIC FOLK ARTS CENTER Manhattan \$94,867 LOS PLENEROS DE LA 21 Manhattan \$24,310

NEW YORK FOLKLORE SOCIETY Newfield \$55,224

TRADITIONAL ARTS IN UPSTATE NY Canton \$17,550

WORLD MUSIC INSTITUTE Manhattan \$38,500

GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT

Ongoing support for year-round, professionally directed folk arts programs within non-folk arts organizations.

ARTS AND CULTURAL COUNCIL OF GREATER ROCHESTER Rochester \$24,000

BROOKLYN ARTS COUNCIL Brooklyn \$19,500

CASTELLANI ART MUSEUM Niagara \$24,725

CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS COUNCIL Corning \$21,500

CRANDALL PUBLIC LIBRARY Glens Falls \$24,725

CULTURAL RESOURCES
COUNCIL OF SYRACUSE AND
ONONDAGA COUNTY
Syracuse
\$34,500

DELAWARE COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION Delhi \$24,725

HALLOCKVILLE Riverhead \$24,725 LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Glens Falls \$24,725

QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Woodhaven \$23,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Troy \$24,725

ROBERSON MEMORIAL Binghamton \$25,875

SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Cobleskill \$24,725

SOUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM Manhattan \$17,500

INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Support towards the salary of a senior administrator essential for the continuing growth and development of an organization in a developmental stage.

LONG ISLAND TRADITIONS Baldwin \$12,500

PRESENTATION OF FOLK ARTS FOR BROADCAST ON RADIO AND TELEVISION

Support for presentation of folk artists on radio and television programs.

ARTS AND CULTURAL COUNCIL OF GREATER ROCHESTER Rochester, Television broadcasts on Latino folk artists \$3,000

GREEK CULTURAL CENTER Astoria, Greek folk arts radio series \$2,500

PRESENTATION

Toward costs of activities designed to present folk arts and folk artists, including concerts, festivals, lecture/demonstrations, residencies, slide talks and traditional storytelling programs.

7 LOAVES Manhattan, Czechoslovak-American Marionette Theatre performances \$3,000

ADIRONDACK MUSEUM Blue Mountain Lake, Passing It On - Series of demonstrations of childhood traditions \$3,500

AN CLAIDHEAMH SOLUIS Manhattan, Irish traditional music and dance festival, Community concerts and *ceilis* \$26,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO-MING COUNTY Perry, Folk arts lecture/ demonstration series \$3,000

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS CENTRE

Manhattan, Lecture/demonstrations of Chinese traditional arts \$7,672

ASIAN CINE-VISION Manhattan, Series of Asian folk arts presentations for children \$4,200

BOYS HARBOR Manhattan, Concerts and lecture/ demonstrations of traditional Afro-Puerto Rican music and dance by *Carambu* \$2,200

CAFFE LENA Saratoga Springs, Concert series of African-American musical traditions \$4,000

CAMP OF THE PINES - LCMS Pottersville, Adirondack Family Festival \$6,500

CAPOEIRA FOUNDATION
Manhattan, Batizado presentations, a public initiation of
Capoeira performers and
presentations by Brazilian masters
of Capoeira
\$3,000

TOWN OF CHEEKTOWAGA Cheektowaga, Traditional crafts presentations at the Polish-American Arts Festival \$4,025

CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS
COUNCIL
Corning, Documentation and
presentation of Allegany County
folk arts

\$10,200

CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF HISTORY, NATURAL HISTORY AND SCIENCE Utica, Iroquois music, dance and storytelling performances for children \$5,500

CHINESE AMERICAN ARTS COUNCIL Manhattan, Performances of traditional Chinese opera \$5,000

CHINESE MUSIC ENSEMBLE OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Series of lecture/ demonstrations of traditional Chinese music \$5.094

CYPRECO OF AMERICA Astoria, Series of presentations of Greek and Greek Cypriot folk arts \$4,484

DEL-SE-NANGO OLDE TYME FIDDLERS ASSOCIATION New Berlin, Square dance calling contest \$2,185

DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Poughkeepsie, Series of presentations of regional and ethnic folk arts \$5.000

EAST DURHAM IRISH CULTURAL CENTER East Durham, Traditional Irish Music Festival \$3,000

ELDERS SHARE THE ARTS Brooklyn, Storytelling presentations by the "Pearls of Wisdom" \$2,000

FINGER LAKES REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Geneva, Masters of the Folk Violin \$4,000 FRIENDS OF GANONDAGAN Victor, Woodlands Festival \$4,000

FULTON CO REGIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE Gloversville, Documentation and presentation series of Fulton County folk arts \$12,600

GENESEE VALLEY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Mount Morris, Presentations of regional and ethnic traditions of music and dance \$4,500

GENESEE-ORLEANS RE-GIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Batavia, Performances of ethnic and regional traditions in Genesee and Orleans counties \$12,650

GENESIS II MUSEUM OF INTERNATIONAL BLACK CULTURE Manhattan, Concert of New Orleans rhythm and blues traditions \$3,000

GREATER MASSENA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE Massena, Festival of North Country Folklife \$7,000

GREEK AMERICAN FOLK-LORE SOCIETY Astoria, Reenactment of Epirot wedding, Hellenic Folk Music Festival \$3,500

HERMANOS FRATERNOS DE LOIZA ALDEA Manhattan, Performances of Bomba and Plena music, Festival of Santiago Apostol \$3,500

HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF ROCKLAND COUNTY New City, Rockland County Folklife Festival \$6,227

THE INSTITUTE FOR AFRI-CAN-AMERICAN FOLK CULTURE Manhattan, Series of presentations of community based hip-hop traditions \$4,000 JACQUES MARCHAIS CENTER OF TIBETAN ART Staten Island, Lecture/demonstrations of Tibetan folk art \$3,000

LONG ISLAND TRADITIONS Baldwin, Demonstrations of occupational traditions at two festivals \$4,000

MID YORK LIBRARY SYSTEM Utica, Series of lecture/ demonstrations of regional folk arts \$4,589

MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS COMPANY Bronx, Documentation by community fieldworkers and presentations of African-, Latino- and Caribbean-American folk arts \$9,120

MUSEUM OF THE HUDSON HIGHLANDS Cornwall-on-Hudson, Presentations of Native American storytelling and traditional crafts \$4,500

MUSIC FROM CHINA Manhattan, Presentations and lecture/demonstrations of traditional Chinese music \$5,000

NEW YORK BUDDHIST CHURCH/SOH DAIKO Manhattan, Performances and lecture/demonstrations of *Taiko* drumming \$5,000

NEW YORK STATE OLD TYME FIDDLERS ASSOCIA-TION Greig, Series of concerts of traditional fiddling, performances of traditional fiddling by guest artist at Fiddler's Picnic

ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR Corning, World Folk Music Series \$4,000

\$6,500

PROSPECT PARK ALLIANCE Brooklyn, Series of family workshops and lecture/demonstrations of traditional crafts \$3,500

RENAISSANCE CHINESE OPERA SOCIETY Manhattan, Chinese opera performances \$4,921

ROBERSON MEMORIAL Binghamton, Children's programming and educational materials for the exhibition, "Out of the Ordinary - Community Tastes and Values in Contemporary Folk Art" \$12,000

ROOTS OF BRAZIL Manhattan, Presentations of Capoeira and Candomble traditions \$3,000

TOWN OF ROXBURY Roxbury, Fiddlers! - Concert of North American fiddling traditions \$5,000

SAGAMORE INSTITUTE OF THE ADIRONDACKS Raquette Lake, Residencies for Adirondack folk artists

SCHOHARIE MUSEUM OF THE IROQUOIS INDIAN Howes Cave, Residencies by Iroquois traditional craftspersons, Iroquois traditional music and dance performances \$8,115

STONE ARABIA PRESERVA-TION SOCIETY Palatine Bridge, Documentation and presentations of Montgomery County folk arts \$8,700

TIOGA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Owego, Folk arts presentations at Newark Valley Wool Market Day \$2,850

TUNG CHING CHINESE CENTER FOR THE ARTS Flushing, Chinese opera performances \$4,921

UNION SETTLEMENT ASSOCIATION Manhattan, Performances of traditional Latino music relating to fiestas \$5,000 UNITED JEWISH Y'S OF LONG ISLAND Plainview, Presentation of traditional Jewish folk arts and

traditional Jewish folk arts and International Jewish Arts Festival \$5,000

VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH AND RESOURCE CENTER RELATING TO THE CARIB-BEAN

Manhattan, Performances by *Un Solo Pueblo* and *Olodum* \$3,500

WEST INDIAN AMERICAN DAY CARNIVAL ASSOCIA-TION Brooklyn, Presentations of West Indian Carnival traditions \$6,000

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains, Documentation and presentations of stone carving traditions of Westchester County \$8500

YEH YU CHINESE OPERA ASSOCIATION Manhattan, Chinese opera performances and lecture/ demonstrations \$5,908

YOUTH THEATRE INTERAC-TIONS Yonkers, Steel band lecture/ demonstration series \$3,450

ZUMBI AFRICAN-BRAZILIAN CULTURAL FOUNDATION Manhattan, Zumbi Festival of African-Brazilian traditions \$2,500

PUBLICATION

Support for publications that contribute to the understanding of folk arts, assist in maintaining folk traditions. or inform the public about folk arts activities.

7 LOAVES Manhattan, Czechoslovak-American traditional puppet theatre booklet \$6,000 BANK STREET COLLEGE OF EDUCATION Manhattan, Folk arts in education publication \$3,000

UKRAINIAN MUSEUM Manhattan, Exhibition catalog, children's workbook for "The Changeless Carpathians" exhibition \$3,000

RECORDING

Toward recordings of traditional music or verbal arts unavailable through commercial recording companies.

CAPOEIRA FOUNDATION Manhattan, Capoeira music of Milton dos Santos, ("Mestre Bobo") \$2,000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

Support for services designed to improve programmatic, technical or managerial skills, assist in program development, or facilitate the sharing of expertise and resources.

BANK STREET COLLEGE OF EDUCATION Manhattan, Artists' Institute to provide training for folk artists for educational programming

LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Glens Falls, Promotional packets for folk artists \$4.500

\$2,000

MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Symposium on urban folklore and historic preservation \$3,500

NEW YORK FOLKLORE SOCIETY Newfield, Technical assistance and professional development \$6,488

REGIONAL COUNCIL OF HISTORICAL AGENCIES Cooperstown, Workshops and presentations of childrens game traditions \$3.500

INDIVIDUAL ARTISTS

This year the Individual Artists Program supported over 56 artists through direct project support, as well as hundreds of artists through the Statewide Fellowship and S.O.S. Program. Among the projects funded through Theatre Commissions was support for En Garde Arts to commission Jeff Jones to write "J.P. Morgan Saves the Day" which was performed outside in the Financial District of Manhattan. Through the Media Production Category, interactive Cd-ROM projects were supported for the first time, as well as support for a wide range of radio, audio, video and documentary works. This year, over \$1,000,000 to the New York Foundation for the Arts for the Fellowship Program, and the S.O.S. (Sudden Opportunity Stipend) Program.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|-----------------------|-----------------|---------------------|
| COMMISSIONS | 14 | 70,000 |
| MEDIA PRODUCTION | 42 | 450,000 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 4 | 1,063,330 |
| SPONSORED PROJECTS | <u>1</u> | <u>33,620</u> |
| TOTAL | 61 | <u>\$ 1,616,950</u> |

Linda Earle Program Director

Gary Schiro Program Associate

COMMISSIONS

AMERICAN PLACE THEATRE Manhattan. Michael John Garces for "Un Laberinto" \$4,000

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan. Marty Pottenger for "City Water Tunnel #3" \$4,000

DOWNTOWN ART CO. Manhattan. Albert Takazauckas to direct "Heroes & Saints" \$4,000

EN GARDE ARTS Manhattan. Jeffrey M. Jones for "J.P. Morgan Saves the Nation" \$5,000

FIJI THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan. Ping Chong to create "Chinoiserie" \$5,000

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER Manhattan. Lisa Jones for "Stained" \$7,500

HALLWALLS Buffalo. Carmelita Tropicana & Eileen Myles for "Our Sorjuana" \$5.000

MABOU MINES DEVELOP-MENT FNDN Manhattan. Stephen Nunns & Leslie Huppert for "The Boys in the Basement" \$5,000; Designer Julie Archer for "Peter & Wendy" and "The Epidog" \$6,000

PERFORMANCE SPACE 122 Manhattan. A new work by Playwright/ Performer Danny Hoch \$5,000

RIVER ARTS REPERTORY CO Manhattan. Migdalia Cruz for "Children of War" \$6,500 SOHO REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan. John O'Keefe-Playwright/ Performer for a new work \$6,000

TALKING BAND Manhattan. Designer Janie Geiser for "Betty & Surfer's Theory of Relativity" \$4,000

YARA ARTS GROUP Manhattan. Designer Watouku Ueno for "Waterfall" \$3,000

MEDIA PRODUCTION

ALTERNATIVE MEDIA INFORMATION CENTER Manhattan. Paper Tiger TV '94 Season \$5,000; Immy Humes"The Girls Show" \$5,000: Peter Miller "The Internationale" \$7,500; Joel Katz "Peripeteia" \$7,500; Deborah Wasser "Legacy" \$7,500; Jean Carlamusto "Rocca and Her Children" \$10,000; Mario Murillo "Caminos Del Pueblo" \$10,000: Christine Noschese "Class in New York City" \$10,000; Angel Shaw "Excuse me are you Filipino?" \$15,000

AMERICAN SOCIAL HISTORY PRODUCTIONS Manhattan. Kelly Anderson "Out At Work" \$7,500

BUFFALO MEDIA RE-SOURCES Buffalo. Brian Springer "Letters To The Network" \$10,000

ELECTRONIC ARTS INTER-MIX
Manhattan.
Thomas Allen Harris for
"All in the Family"
\$10,000; Shelly Silver
"Rock, Paper, Scissor"
\$15,000 EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER Owego. Alex Hahn "On The Nature Of Things" \$7,500; Shalom Gorewitz "Now, What?" \$8,500; Jeffrey Lerer

HARVESTWORKS
Manhattan.
Exit 3 Radio "JAZZPLAY"
\$10,000; Toni Dove "The
Changeling" \$15,000; Marianne
Amacher "The Levi-Montalcini

Variations" \$15,000

"Memory Box III" \$10,000

JAMAICA CENTER FOR PER-FORMING & VISUAL ARTS Jamaica. Sui Kang Zhao "Alternative Polyphonic Realities" \$10,000

MEDIA ALLIANCE Manhattan. Liss Platt "Is Your Baby Gay" \$7,500

NEW RADIO AND PERFORM-ING ARTS Staten Island. Helen Thorington "North Country" \$10,000; Regine Beyer "Olympic Olive - Olympic Gold" \$10,000

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan. Abigail Child "By Desire" \$10,000; Helene Aylon "Two Sacs for 95" \$10,000 Jem Cohen "Lost Book Found" \$14,000; Jonathan Berman "My Friend Paul" \$15,000; Beth B "Inside Out" \$20,000

NY LESBIAN-GAY EXPERI-MENTAL FILM FESTIVAL Manhattan. Sandi Dubowski "Faux Peyes" \$10,000

PARABOLA ARTS FOUNDA-TION. Manhattan Mary Lucier "Last Rites -Positano" \$20,000

SAMAYA FOUNDATION Manhattan. Igor Martinovic "Evil and Upside Down" \$10,000; Goran Dukic for a new narrative work. \$15,000 SANG-FROID LTD.
Manhattan.
Patierno/Chapman/Simo "Dyke
TV Cable Series" \$5,000

STANDBY PROGRAM Manhattan. Maria Venuto "The Tourist" \$5,000

WOMEN MAKE MOVIES
Manhattan.
Ivonne P. Montoya "El
Culebrero" \$5,000; Darisha Kyi
"Visions From The Void" \$7,500;
Irene Sosa "Sexual Exiles"
\$10,000; Pamela Jennings
"Solitaire" \$15,000; Jocelyn
Taylor "Bodily Function"
\$15,000; Judith Helfand
"A Healthy Baby Girl" \$15,000
Joan Braderman "Love is the
Rythym" \$15,000

WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM,INC Manhattan.
Lawrence Chua "Critical Conditions" \$10.000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan. Artists' Fellowship Program + S.O.S. Grants \$1,045,000

SPONSORED PROJECTS PILOT

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg. Visual Artists Projects \$33,620

LITERATURE

The Literature Program supports organizations that promote the creation, publication and distribution of important writing and that encourage the appreciation of literature and active participation in the literary arts by the general public. The program directs assistance to writers principally through support of readings and workshops, literary magazines and non-commercial book publishers, residencies and translation projects. In FY95, the program also provided funding for a series of developmental and collaborative special projects, including a statewide conference, intended to promote artistic and administrative exchange among literary organizations as well as to raise public awareness of the State's extensive literary resources and to bring new programming to underserved audiences.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|---------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| BOOK PUBLICATION | 14 | \$107,800 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | RT 10 | 126,531 |
| GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPOR' | r 16 | 172,792 |
| LITERARY MAGAZINE PUBLIC | CATION 21 | 44,842 |
| PUBLIC PROGRAMS | 38 | 133,894 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 2 | 9,685 |
| SIGNING-THE HEARING IMPAI | RED 7 | 12,896 |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | 13 | 61,000 |
| TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRA | NTS 4 | 9,700 |
| TRANSLATION | <u>.5</u> | 12,500 |
| TOTAL | 130 | \$691 <u>,640</u> |

Michael Albano Program Director

Kathleen Masterson Program Associate

BOOK PUBLICATION

Toward authors' and translators' payments and production and distribution costs of non-commercial literary book publication.

A GATHERING OF THE TRIBES Manhattan, for FLY BY NIGHT PRESS \$2,000

AUTONOMEDIA, LTD. Brooklyn, for SEMIOTEXT(E) \$9,000

BOA EDITIONS, LTD. Rochester \$14,000

EDUCATIONAL ALLIANCE, Manhattan, for ALEF BOOKS \$1,000

FEMINIST PRESS Manhattan \$10,000

GREENFIELD REVIEW LITERARY CENTER Greenfield Center, for GREENFIELD REVIEW PRESS \$8,000

HUDSON VALLEY WRITERS' CENTER Tarrytown, for SLAPERING HOL PRESS \$1,000

INSTITUTE FOR PUBLISHING ARTS Barrytown, for STATION HILL PRESS \$13,000

MCPHERSON & COMPANY Kingston \$10,000

PRINT CENTER Manhattan, for HANGING LOOSE PRESS \$6,500

SEGUE FOUNDATION Manhattan, for ROOF BOOKS \$5,000 STATE STREET PRESS Brockport \$3,800

THEATRE COMMUNICATIONS GROUP Manhattan, for TCG PRESS \$14,500

WHITE PINE PRESS Fredonia \$10,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities.

ACADEMY OF AMERICAN POETS Manhattan \$3,704

COMMUNITY WRITERS' PROJECT, INC. Syracuse \$16,134

COUNCIL OF LITERARY MAGAZINES & PRESSES Manhattan \$15,000

JUST BUFFALO LITERARY CENTER, INC. Buffalo \$18.546

PEN AMERICAN CENTER Manhattan \$10,000

POETRY PROJECT, LTD. Manhattan \$15,185

POETRY SOCIETY OF AMERICA Manhattan \$2,480

POETS HOUSE Manhattan \$9,120

WRITERS & BOOKS Rochester \$26,362

WRITERS ROOM Manhattan \$10,000

LITERARY MAGAZINE PUBLICATION

Toward authors' and translators' payments, and production, promotion and distribution costs of non-commercial magazine publishers.

A GATHERING OF THE TRIBES Manhattan, for A Gathering of the Tribes \$3,000

AMERICAS SOCIETY
Manhattan, for Review: Latin
American
Literature and Arts
\$2,000

ART & UNDERSTANDING Albany, for Art & Understanding \$2,891

BARD COLLEGE Annandale-on-Hudson, for Conjunctions \$4,625

CENTRAL PARK MAGAZINE Manhattan, for Central Park \$4,000

CHELSEA ASSOCIATES Manhattan, for *Chelsea* \$1,425

COLLECTIVE OF CULTURAL INTEGRATION
Manhattan, for Cicada
\$1.500

CULTURAL CENTER FOR SOVIET REFUGEES Manhattan, for Slovo/Word \$1,000

ELF ASSOCIATES Tonawanda, for *ELF* \$1,156

FICTION Manhattan, for *Fiction* \$3,000

HUDSON REVIEW Manhattan, for *Hudson Review* \$1,800

LONG NEWS, LTD.
Brooklyn, for Long News in the
Short Century
\$2,000

PARIS REVIEW Manhattan, for *Paris Review* \$3,000

PEQUOD PRESS Manhattan, for *Pequod* \$3,000

POETRY NEW YORK Manhattan, for Poetry New York: A Journal of Poetry and Translation \$1,000

PRINT CENTER
Manhattan, for Hanging Loose
Magazine
\$3,000

SEGUE FOUNDATION Manhattan, for *Big Allis* \$1,500

SLIPSTREAM Niagara Falls, for Slipstream Magazine \$578

SNAIL'S PACE PRESS Cambridge, for Snail's Pace Press \$867

TURNSTILE PRESS Manhattan, for *Turnstile* \$2,500

WOMEN & PERFORMANCE PROJECT Manhattan, for Women and Performance: A Journal of Feminist Theory \$1,000

PUBLIC PROGRAMS

(Includes category formerly known as "General Program Support.")

To provide ongoing support for literature programs within arts organizations that do not meet the eligibility criteria for general operating support or that are not primarily literary organizations.

92ND STREET YM-YWHA Manhattan \$5,500

ALFRED UNIVERSITY Alfred \$3,000

ALLEGRA VIDA Gilboa \$2,500 AMERICAS SOCIETY Manhattan \$4,000

ASIAN AMERICAN WRITERS' WORKSHOP Manhattan \$4,045

BINGHAMTON COMMUNITY POETS Binghamton \$3,180

CENTER FOR MULTICULTURAL CHILDREN'S LITERATURE Manhattan \$1,500

CITY PARKS FOUNDATION Manhattan \$2,000

CRANDALL PUBLIC LIBRARY Glens Falls \$2,966

CULTURAL CENTER FOR SOVIET REFUGEES Manhattan \$2,000

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg \$1,050

EDUCATIONAL ALLIANCE Manhattan \$2,000

ELDERS SHARE THE ARTS Brooklyn \$5,000

FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE ARTS CENTER Manhattan \$6,500

GENESEO MIGRANT CENTER Geneseo \$3,000

GRYPHON AND COMPANY Bronx, for Exoterica \$3,100

GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON East Hampton \$1,000

HALEAKALA (The Kitchen) Manhattan \$1,500 HUDSON VALLEY WRITERS' CENTER Tarrytown \$5,000

IN OUR TIME ARTS MEDIA Manhattan, for A Moveable Feast Radio Series \$3,000

LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THEATRE CLUB Manhattan \$3,000

LAKE GEORGE ARTS PROJECT Lake George \$1,500

LESBIAN & GAY COMMUNITY SERVICES CENTER Manhattan \$3.500

LIBRARY ACTION COMMITTEE OF CORONA Corona \$4.336

MAD ALEX ARTS FOUNDA-TION Manhattan \$3,000

MANHATTAN THEATRE CLUB Manhattan \$6,000

MEDICINE SHOW THEATRE ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$3,500

MOHAWK VALLEY LIBRARY ASSOCIATION Schenectady \$4,047

NATIONAL BOOK FOUNDA-TION Manhattan \$5,000

NATIONAL COUNCIL OF JEWISH WOMEN Manhattan \$2,000

OLD FORGE LIBRARY ASSOCIATION Old Forge \$4,000

OLEAN PUBLIC LIBRARY Olean \$6,000 OLLANTAY CENTER FOR THE ARTS Jackson Heights

\$3,000

OPEN CHANNELS NY

Manhattan \$3,750

OTHER VOICES

Manhattan \$2,000

PIONEER LIBRARY SYSTEM

Newark \$1,977

POETLINK Brooklyn \$2,500

POETRY MOTEL

Delmar \$2,891

POETS & WRITERS

Manhattan, for statewide regrant program (see REGRANT below) and for public meetings

\$118,500

POETS IN PUBLIC SERVICE

Manhattan \$4,000

ROCHESTER ARTS & LECTURES

Rochester \$2,000

ROME ART & COMMUNITY

CENTER Rome \$2,891

ROXBURY ARTS GROUP Roxbury, for "Speaking the

Words" \$2,500

SARATOGA SPRINGS PUBLIC

LIBRARY Saratoga Springs \$3,500

SEGUE FOUNDATION Manhattan, for The Ear Inn

and Incisions/Arts \$10,800

SYMPHONY SPACE

Manhattan \$4,549

SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY

Syracuse \$2,000

TAPROOT WORKSHOPS Stony Brook

\$6,525

TEACHERS & WRITERS COLLABORATIVE

Manhattan, for The Literary Society \$3,000

WRITER'S VOICE

Manhattan \$10,260

WELLS COLLEGE

Aurora \$2,500

WOODSTOCK GUILD

Woodstock \$3,469

WSLU-FM Canton \$3,350

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

Toward costs of services for writers and/or the general public.

JEWISH COMMUNITY CENTER OF GREATER

BUFFALO Getzville \$2,325

NEW YORK CITY POETRY

CALENDAR Manhattan \$7,360

SIGNING FOR THE HEAR-ING IMPAIRED

Toward the cost of literary signers who make literary events accessible to the deaf and hard of hearing through the use

COMMUNITY WRITERS'

of American Sign Language.

PROJECT Syracuse \$738

IN COLLABORATION

Astoria \$2,000

JUST BUFFALO LITERARY

CENTER Buffalo \$2,373

MANHATTAN THEATRE

CLUB Manhattan \$2,500

OLD FORGE LIBRARY

ASSOCIATION Old Forge \$1,295

WRITER'S VOICE Manhattan \$1,710

WRITERS & BOOKS

Rochester \$2,280

SPECIAL PROJECTS

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE

ARTS Bronx, for establishment of the Bronx Writers Center \$18,000

NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY Manhattan, for Archives of

Recorded Literature

\$4,500

POETRY SOCIETY OF AMERICA

Manhattan, for Collaborative Project and Poetry Festival

\$7,500

POETS & WRITERS

Manhattan, for Database of Literary Curators

\$1,500

PRINT CENTER.

Manhattan, for publication of young adult's title.

\$4,000

SEGUE FOUNDATION Manhattan, for Collaborative

Projects and Archives of

Recorded Literature \$12,000

SYMPHONY SPACE Manhattan, for Collaborative

Project \$5,000

TAPROOT WORKSHOPS

Stony Brook, for Collaborative Project

\$5.000

THE WRITER'S VOICE Manhattan, for master workshop

in writing for young adults

\$3,500

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE

Toward fees for expert consultants retained to assist organizations in areas of perceived managerial or programmatic weakness or in changes in

ALLEGRA VIDA

Gilboa \$2,500

direction.

ART & UNDERSTANDING

Albany \$2,200

GENESEO MIGRANT CENTER

Geneseo \$3,000

POETRY SOCIETY OF

AMERICA Manhattan \$2,500

THEATRE COMMUNICA-

TIONS GROUP Manhattan

\$2,500

TRANSLATION

Toward costs of translation projects including translators' fees for works-in-progress.

INSTITUTE FOR PUBLISHING

ARTS Barrytown \$2,000

LUMEN

Manhattan

\$2,500

MEDICINE SHOW THEATRE ENSEMBLE

Manhattan \$2,000

WHITE PINE PRESS

Fredonia \$4,000

YARA ARTS GROUP

Manhattan \$2,000

REGRANT PROGRAM

Literature funds Poets & Writers which, in turn, sponsors workshops and readings in all 62 counties of New York State.

MUSEUMS

The Museum Program supports activities which ensure the preservation, care and interpretation of New York State's cultural heritage. It funds a broad spectrum of museums, including art, history, science and children's museums as well as organizations providing services for museums. The Program emphasizes responsible stewardship through collections management, and public access to high quality exhibitions and educational programs. Technical assistance provided by the Program enhances the professionalism of all aspects of museum programming, management and operations. Recognizing the need to broaden audiences for all museums, the Program stresses support for activities which interpret the art and history of traditionally underserved populations.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|-------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|
| | nom 11 | £0.000 |
| ARCHIVAL/CONSERVATION PROJ | | 50,000 |
| COLLECTIONS MANAGEMENT | 26 | 199,709 |
| EXHIBITION PLANNING | 23 | 174,260 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 85 | 2,637,168 |
| HISTORY & SCIENCE EXHIBITIONS | 5 24 | 204,765 |
| EDUCATION & INTERPRETATION | 41 | 274,389 |
| PLANNING FOR CHANGE | 3 | 16,725 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | <u>2</u> | <u>72.984</u> |
| TOTAL | 215 | <u>\$4,354,589</u> |

Linda Earle Program Director

Phyllis Dillon Paul Martinez Program Associates

CONSERVATION TREAT-MENT

Support for treatment of paintings, works on paper, textiles, costumes, furniture, sculpture and decorative objects.

CAYUGA MUSEUM OF HISTORY & ART Auburn, Treatment of paintings by G.L. Clough \$6,000

FREDERIC REMINGTON ART MUSEUM Ogdensburg, Treatment of works on paper \$4,965

FRIENDS OF NEUBERGER MUSEUM OF ART Purchase, Treatment of paintings \$8,000

HISTORIC HUDSON VALLEY Tarrytown, Conservation of wallpaper and metal collections \$5,000

LYNDHURST Tarrytown, Treatment of paintings \$3,000

MT. MORRIS HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Mt. Morris, Treatment of paintings \$2,200

NATIONAL MUSEUM OF RACING Saratoga Springs, Conservation of racing silks \$6,000

OYSTERPONDS HISTORICAL SOCIETY Orient, Treatment of paintings \$3,335

ROCHESTER MUSEUM AND SCIENCE CENTER Rochester, Treatment of five groups of furniture \$5,000

UNIVERSITY OF ROCHESTER/ MEMORIAL ART GALLERY Rochester, Treatment of outdoor sculptures \$4,000 WOODSTOCK ARTISTS ASSOCIATION Woodstock, Treatment of artists' archives \$2,500

COLLECTIONS MANAGE-MENT

Toward costs of inventory and accessioning, cataloguing and research, and creation of comprehensive collections management programs.

ABIGAIL ADAMS SMITH MUSEUM Manhattan, Planning for environmental improvements \$8.000

AMIGOS DEL MUSEO DEL BARRIO Manhattan, Storage upgrade: Eloy Blanco Collection \$10,000

BARTOW-PELL LANDMARK FUND Bronx, UV window protection & temperature/humidity controls \$2,000

BROOKLYN HISTORICAL SOCIETY Brooklyn, Accessioning and preserving Brooklyn graphic arts collection \$15,000

BUFFALO SOCIETY OF NATURAL SCIENCE Buffalo, Entomology Project \$5,000

COOPER-HEWITT NATIONAL DESIGN MUSEUM Manhattan, Planning for Decorative Arts study storage \$10,000

FORT TICONDEROGA ASSOCIATION Ticonderoga, New storage of collections \$10,000

FRIENDS OF THE NEW YORK CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT COLLECTION Manhattan, Publication of collections catalogue: Toys and lamps \$6,000 HUDSON RIVER MUSEUM OF WESTCHESTER Yonkers, Collections computerization project \$8,000

INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF PHOTOGRAPHY Manhattan, Inventory and catalogue of Weegee Collection \$8,000

JOHN A. NOBLE COLLECTION Staten Island, Consultants to catalogue & research collection \$7,500

KING MANOR ASSOCIATION OF LONG ISLAND Jamaica, Curatorial consultant and curatorial supplies \$4,000

MUSEUM OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Inventory, move, and accessioning of collection \$10,000

NATIONAL MUSEUM OF RACING Saratoga Springs, Cataloguing of works on paper \$2,000

OYSTERPONDS HISTORICAL SOCIETY Orient, Collections inventory \$3,470

PEMBER LIBRARY & MUSEUM Granville, Accessioning Project \$8,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Troy, Comprehensive assessment to upgrade collections management \$8,239

SCARSDALE HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Scarsdale, Decorative arts consultants
\$3,000

SENECA FALLS HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Seneca Falls, Curatorial salary support \$8,000

SHAKER MUSEUM AND LIBRARY Old Chatham, Support for Registrar's position \$13,000 SOCIETY FOR THE PRESER-VATION OF WEEKSVILLE Brooklyn, Develop, inventory, and accession systems \$5,000

SOLOMON R. GUGGENHEIM MUSEUM Manhattan, Cataloging and research of Conceptual Art collection \$10,000

ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION Canton, Development & implementation of comprehensive collection plan \$7,500

STATEN ISLAND HISTORICAL SOCIETY Staten Island, Salary support: Project Specialist \$12,000

STORM KING ART CENTER Mountainville, Research for publication of a comprehensive catalogue \$8,000

TIOGA COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Owego, Curatorial salary support \$8,000

EXHIBITION PLANNINGSupport for research, planning and design of exhibitions.

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY AND ART Albany, 200 Years of Collecting \$6,250

AMIGOS DEL MUSEO DEL BARRIO Manhattan, Taino Art 15.000

BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S MUSEUM Brooklyn, Unified Community Project \$10,000

BURCHFIELD-PENNEY ART CENTER Buffalo, Burchfield Studio Installation \$4,835

CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF MANHATTAN Manhattan, GAMES exhibition \$7,500 CORNELL UNIVERSITY/ HERBERT F. JOHNSON ART MUSEUM Ithaca, Master Prints from New York State Museums \$5,000

DRAWING CENTER Manhattan, Native American Ledger Drawings \$15,000

EVERSON MUSEUM OF ART Syracuse, Joe Overstreet exhibition & catalogue \$7,000

FRAUNCES TAVERN MU-SEUM Manhattan, Colonial Revival Movement \$5,000

HUDSON MOHAWK INDUS-TRIAL GATEWAY Troy, Permanent exhibition in the Burden Building \$7,000

INSTITUTE FOR CONTEMPORARY ART
Long Island City, Alex Katz:
Under the Stars, American
Landscapes 1951-1994
\$5.000

LEHMAN COLLEGE ART GALLERY Bronx, Fusion: The South Bronx & Fashion Moda \$12,000

MUSEUMS AT STONY BROOK Stony Brook, Cultural Identity on Long Island \$5,000

NEW YORK BOTANICAL GARDEN Bronx, Formative evaluation and preliminary exhibition design on Landscape and the Humanities \$6.500

ROCKWELL MUSEUM Corning, Frederick Carder: New York State Glassmaker \$2,725

SENECA FALLS HISTORICAL SOCIETY Seneca Falls, Seneca County's reaction to Womens Rights \$6,250

SOCIETY FOR THE PRESER-VATION OF LONG ISLAND ANTIQUITIES Setauket, Frances Palmer exhibition \$6.700

SOUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM Manhattan, Educational Component of Core Exhibition: World Port \$10,000

STORM KING ART CENTER Mountainville, Mark di Suvero exhibition \$8,000

STRONG MUSEUM Rochester, Using Up America \$7,500

STUDIO MUSEUM IN HARLEM Manhattan, Three Contemporary Sculptors \$10,000

SUFFOLK COUNTY HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Riverhead, Fighting the War on the Home Front \$3,000

YATES COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Penn Yan, Exhibition on NYS Wine & Grape Industry \$9,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities.

ADIRONDACK MUSEUM Blue Mountain Lake \$19,346

AKWESASNE CULTURAL CENTER Hogansburg \$10,172

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY AND ART Albany \$37,526

AMERICAN CRAFT MUSEUM Manhattan \$15,770

GLENS FALLS-QUEENSBURY METROPOLITAN MUSEUM OF CHEMUNG COUNTY HISTORI-AMERICAN MUSEUM OF HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION ART **CAL SOCIETY** NATURAL HISTORY Glens Falls Elmira Manhattan Manhattan \$4,200 \$210,000 \$12,000 \$210,000 GUILD HALL OF EAST MUSEUM FOR AFRICAN ART CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF AMIGOS DEL MUSEO DEL HAMPTON, INC Manhattan **MANHATTAN** BARRIO East Hampton \$20,000 Manhattan Manhattan \$5,500 \$15,000 \$55,000 MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ANTIQUE BOAT MUSEUM HANFORD MILLS MUSEUM FOLK ART CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF Clayton East Meredith Manhattan HISTORY, NATURAL \$1,500 \$5,600 \$6,000 HISTORY, AND SCIENCE ARNOT ART MUSEUM Utica HECKSCHER MUSEUM MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE \$6,423 Elmira Huntington **AMERICAS** \$4,500 \$18,132 Manhattan CLINTON COUNTY HISTORI-\$17,904 BRONX COUNTY HISTORI-CAL ASSOCIATION HERKIMER COUNTY Plattsburgh CAL SOCIETY HISTORICAL SOCIETY MUSEUM OF MODERN ART \$4,793 Bronx Herkimer Manhattan \$5,700 \$5,000 \$190,000 CORNING MUSEUM OF BRONX MUSEUM OF THE HISTORIC CHERRY HILL MUSEUM OF THE CITY OF **GLASS** ARTS Albany **NEW YORK** Corning Bronx \$6,000 Manhattan \$14,747 \$67,123 \$33.836 HISTORIC HOUSE TRUST OF DELAWARE COUNTY BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S NEW YORK CITY MUSEUMS AT STONY BROOK MUSEUM HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION Manhattan Stony Brook Delhi Brooklyn \$8,000 \$37,253 \$6,000 \$39,160 HISTORIC HUDSON VALLEY NATIONAL ACADEMY OF DeWITT HISTORICAL **BROOKLYN HISTORICAL** Tarrytown DESIGN SOCIETY OF TOMPKINS SOCIETY \$30,000 Manhattan COUNTY Brooklyn \$3,000 \$20,000 Ithaca HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF \$13,764 ROCKLAND COUNTY NEW MUSEUM OF CONTEM-BROOKLYN INSTITUTE OF New City DISCOVERY CENTER OF THE PORARY ART ART AND SCIENCE \$11,000 Manhattan SOUTHERN TIER Brooklyn \$42,000 \$210,000 Binghamton HUDSON RIVER MUSEUM OF \$4,800 WESTCHESTER NEW YORK HALL OF **BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY** EAST HAMPTON HISTORICAL Yonkers **SCIENCE** HISTORICAL SOCIETY \$35,000 Corona Park SOCIETY Buffalo \$20,000 East Hampton \$14,000 INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF \$5,900 **PHOTOGRAPHY** NIAGARA COUNTY HISTORI-**BUFFALO FINE ARTS** Manhattan CAL SOCIETY ERIE CANAL MUSEUM **ACADEMY** \$36,000 Lockport Syracuse Buffalo \$4.800 \$13,500 \$87,229 INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY/GEORGE OLD FORT NIAGARA ESSEX COUNTY HISTORICAL **BUFFALO SOCIETY OF** EASTMAN HOUSE ASSOCIATION NATURAL SCIENCE SOCIETY Rochester Youngstown Elizabethtown Buffalo \$27,156 \$8,706 \$6,000 \$16,000 JEFFERSON COUNTY ONTARIO COUNTY HISTORI-EVERSON MUSEUM OF ART **BURCHFIELD-PENNEY ART** HISTORICAL SOCIETY CAL SOCIETY Syracuse CENTER Watertown Canandaigua \$32,321 Buffalo \$10,062 \$7,000 \$18,200 GALLERY ASSOCIATION OF JEWISH MUSEUM OSWEGO COUNTY HISTORI-CAROUSEL SOCIETY OF THE **NEW YORK STATE (GANYS)**

Hamilton

\$230,000

SOCIETY Geneva \$8,000

GENEVA HISTORICAL

NIAGARA FRONTIER

North Tonawanda

\$12,500

Manhattan

\$40,000

CAL SOCIETY

Oswego

\$15,147

PARRISH ART MUSEUM Southampton \$20,800

PIERPONT MORGAN LI-BRARY Manhattan \$30,000

QUEENS COUNTY ART AND CULTURAL CENTER Flushing \$26,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Troy \$5,750

RENSSELAER COUNTY JUNIOR MUSEUM Troy \$18,000

ROBERSON MEMORIAL Binghamton \$11,680

ROCHESTER MUSEUM AND SCIENCE CENTER Rochester \$65,000

SARATOGA COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Ballston Spa \$5,000

SENECA-IROQUOIS NA-TIONAL MUSEUM Salamanca \$12,584

SHAKER MUSEUM AND LIBRARY Old Chatham \$13,109

SOCIETY FOR THE PRESER-VATION OF WEEKSVILLE Brooklyn \$15,000

SOLOMON R. GUGGENHEIM MUSEUM Manhattan \$40.000

ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION Canton \$8,000

STATEN ISLAND CHILDREN'S MUSEUM Staten Island \$15,000 STATEN ISLAND HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Staten Island
\$15,000

STORM KING ART CENTER Mountainville \$8.000

STRONG MUSEUM Rochester \$6,555

STUDIO MUSEUM IN HARLEM Manhattan \$82,000

SUFFOLK COUNTY HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Riverhead \$4,000

TIOGA COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Owego \$5,000

UKRAINIAN MUSEUM Manhattan \$8,000

UNIVERSITY OF ROCHESTER/ MEMORIAL ART GALLERY Rochester \$70,000

WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART Manhattan \$75,000

YATES COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Penn Yan \$3,420

HISTORY, SCIENCE AND ANTHROPOLOGY EXHIBITIONS

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY AND ART Albany, Workers and Managers in the Capital District \$5,000

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF THE MOVING IMAGE Astoria, Core Exhibition expansion and revision \$12,000

CHEMUNG COUNTY HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Elmira, Exhibition on Neighborhoods \$13,765 CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF MANHATTAN Manhattan, Soundsfun \$8,000

COOPER-HEWITT NATIONAL DESIGN MUSEUM Manhattan, Henry Dreyfus: Directing Design \$8,000

GENEVA HISTORICAL SOCIETY Geneva, Geneva during World War II \$17,000

HUDSON RIVER MUSEUM OF WESTCHESTER Yonkers, Network of Iron: The Railroad Comes to Westchester \$11,000

JEWISH MUSEUM Manhattan, Tracing An-sky: Jewish Collections from the State Ethnographic Museum \$12,000

LYNDHURST Tarrytown, Heritage Education Center \$5,000

MUSEUM FOR AFRICAN ART Manhattan, Art that Heals: The Image as Medicine in Ethiopia \$10,000

MUSEUM OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, How the Other Half Lives, 1890s-1990s \$10,000

NEW YORK HALL OF SCIENCE Corona Park, Off-site exhibition: Science City \$6,000

PORT WASHINGTON PUBLIC LIBRARY Port Washington, Flight of Memory \$10,000

QUEENS COUNTY ART AND CULTURAL CENTER Flushing, A Panoramic View \$8,000

ROCHESTER MUSEUM AND SCIENCE CENTER Rochester, Ancient Nubia \$5,000 SCARSDALE HISTORICAL SOCIETY Scarsdale, In Search of the Lenape \$5,000

SCHOHARIE MUSEUM OF THE IROQUOIS INDIAN Howes Cave, Iroquois Arts in the Time of Casinos \$7,500

SENECA FALLS HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Seneca Falls, Italian Heritage Exhibition
\$7,500

SOCIETY FOR THE PRESER-VATION OF WEEKSVILLE Brooklyn, Secret Knowledge \$10.000

STATEN ISLAND CHILDREN'S MUSEUM
Staten Island, Adventures in Three Dimensions
\$15,000

THREE VILLAGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY
East Setauket, Long Island
Women at Sea
\$10,000

YESHIVA UNIVERSITY MUSEUM Manhattan, Ebrei Piemontese \$9,000

MUSEUM EDUCATION AND INTERPRETATION

Toward costs of educational and interpretive programs that encourage broad community access to an organization's resources.

ABIGAIL ADAMS SMITH MUSEUM Manhattan, Developing firstperson interpretive programming \$7.500

ADIRONDACK MUSEUM Blue Mountain Lake, Planning programs for Ethnic Diversity in the Adirondacks \$11,000

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY Manhattan, Artists fees: multicultural outreach for Black History Month \$10,000 BARTOW-PELL LANDMARK FUND Bronx, Development of weekend programs \$1,500

BROOKLYN HISTORICAL SOCIETY Brooklyn, Expansion of services to after-school & summer youth groups \$8,000

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Buffalo, Feast Day Series \$6,000

BUFFALO FINE ARTS ACADEMY Buffalo, A Picture's Worth-A Thousand Words: Art & Creative Writing Project \$5,400

CLINTON COUNTY HISTORI-CAL ASSOCIATION Plattsburgh, Series of Six Public Programs \$1,700

DEWITT HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF TOMPKINS COUNTY Ithaca, Salary support for Museum Educator \$10,000

DISCOVERY CENTER OF THE SOUTHERN TIER Binghamton, Salary for Multicultural Program Coordinator \$5,200

DRAWING CENTER Manhattan, School Programs \$5,000

ELDRIDGE STREET PROJECT Manhattan, Planning Family Programs \$3,600

FORT TICONDEROGA ASSOCIATION Ticonderoga, Planning for reinterpretation of landscape \$15,000

FRAUNCES TAVERN MU-SEUM Manhattan, Development & implementation of weekday evening public programs \$5,000 FRIENDS OF NEUBERGER MUSEUM OF ART Purchase, Lecture Series and Family Programs \$5,000

FRIENDS OF GIBSON GALLERY Potsdam, Art Partnership

FRIENDS OF THE NEW YORK CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT COLLECTION Manhattan, Implementation of interactive educational gallery \$3,000

HANFORD MILLS MUSEUM East Meredith, Summer Apprentice Workshop \$2,000

HECKSCHER MUSEUM Huntington, The Senior Discovery Program \$5,000

HISTORIC HUDSON VALLEY Tarrytown, School Program in African American History \$9,000

HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF ROCKLAND COUNTY New City, Salary support for Museum Educator \$15,000

JACQUES MARCHAIS CENTER FOR TIBETAN ART Staten Island, Expansion of High School Educational Programs \$4,500

LONG ISLAND MARITIME MUSEUM West Sayville, Pilot Biology Project \$3,500

LOWER EAST SIDE TENE-MENT MUSEUM Manhattan, Expansion of Urban Pioneers Curriculum \$10,000

MORRIS-JUMEL MANSION Manhattan, After-school program \$8,000

MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE AMERICAS Manhattan, Salary support for Museum Educator and supplies \$15,000 MUSEUM OF MODERN ART Manhattan, Expansion of Parent/ Child Community Project \$10,000

MUSEUMS AT STONY BROOK Stony Brook, Interactive carriage exhibition \$6,000

NATIONAL MUSEUM OF RACING Saratoga Springs, Education staffing and training \$5,000

NEW YORK HALL OF SCIENCE Corona Park, Weekend Science Club \$3,000

PEMBER LIBRARY AND MUSEUM Granville, Nature Loan Kits and outreach \$2,399

VILLGE OF POTSDAM Potsdam, Consultants for exhibit enhancement \$3,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY JUNIOR MUSEUM Troy, Education coordinators to plan for new facility \$8,000

ROCKWELL MUSEUM Corning, Teachers' Institute on The Iroquois \$2,500

ROME HISTORICAL SOCIETY Rome, Teaching kits on county history \$1,550

SCARSDALE HISTORICAL SOCIETY Scarsdale, Programs for six and seven year olds \$1,200

STATEN ISLAND CHILDREN'S MUSEUM
Staten Island, Educational
Programming
\$10,000

STONY BROOK FOUNDATION East Hampton, Planning for exhibition-related education \$3,000 STRONG MUSEUM Rochester, Programming for Between Two Worlds: African American Identity and American Culture \$10,000

SUFFOLK COUNTY VANDERBILT MUSEUM Centerport, Planning for education \$4,000

UNIVERSITY OF ROCHESTER/ MEMORIAL ART GALLERY Rochester. Series of three cultural celebration days \$7,000

WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART Manhattan, 1995 Biennial Educational Activities \$10,000

YESHIVA UNIVERSITY MUSEUM Manhattan, After-school program \$12.000

PLANNING FOR ORGANIZA-TION CHANGE

Support for planning processes designed to initiate systemic change and development within museums.

GALLERY ASSOCIATION OF NEW YORK STATE (GANYS) Hamilton, Strategic and long range planning \$5,000

NEW YORK STATE ASSOCIA-TION OF MUSEUMS Troy, Long range planning \$8,000

WOODCHUCK LODGE Treadwell, Strategic planning \$3,725

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS (NYFA) Manhattan, Museum technical assistance fund \$72,984

MUSIC

The Music Program supports the production and performance of musical events of high professional calbier for the people of New York State. The program also supports music service organizations, radio productio nand broadcast, recordings, projects in new music technology and a musical instrument revolving loan funds.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|--------------|
| COMMUNITY OUTREACH PROJECT | CTS 6 | \$ 29,270 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 132 | 2,324,374 |
| GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT | 9 | 146,950 |
| PROF. PERFORMANCES - HOME B | ASE 62 | 269,014 |
| PROF. PERFORMANCES - TOURIN | G 13 | 36,656 |
| RECORDINGS | 17 | 98,500 |
| RESIDENCIES IN NEW MSC TECH | 1 | 5,000 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 4 | 40,780 |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | _2 | _1,380 |
| TOTAL | 246 | \$3,105,712 |

James Jordan Program Director

John Condon Rita Putnam Program Associates

COMMUNITY PROGRAMS

BROOKLYN MUSIC SCHOOL-PLAYHOUSE Brooklyn, Community Outreach concerts

\$4,500

COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF MUSIC & ARTS Ithaca, Community Outreach Concerts \$4,270

DILLER-QUAILE SCHOOL OF MUSIC New York, Community Outreach Concerts \$6,500

HOFF-BARTHELSON MUSIC SCHOOL Scarsdale, Community Outreach Concerts \$3,000

TRUMANSBURG CONSERVA-TORY OF FINE ARTS Trumansburg, Community Outreach Concerts \$3,000

WESTCHESTER CONSERVA-TORY-MUSIC White Plains, Community Outreach Concerts \$8,000

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

AFTER DINNER OPERA COMPANY Manhattan \$4,750

ALBANY SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA Albany \$31,500

AMERICAN BRASS CHAMBER MUSIC ASSOCIATION Mannhattan \$3,000

AMERICAN CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Massapequa \$6,000 AMERICAN FESTIVAL -MICROTONAL MUSIC Manhattan \$3,000

AMERICAN MUSIC CENTER Manhattan \$15,000

AMERICAN MUSIC GROUP Brooklyn \$3,000

AMERICAN SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA Manhattan \$19,500

AMHERST SAXOPHONE SOCIETY Williamsville \$5,500

ARS NOVA MUSICIANS CHAMBR ORCH Buffalo \$4,400

ART OF THE EARLY KEY-BOARD Manhattan \$5,000

ARTMUSIC Manhattan \$2,000

ASSOCIATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF CREATIVE MUSICIANS Manhattan \$5.000

BANG ON A CAN Manhattan \$5,250

BARGEMUSIC, LTD Brooklyn \$4,500

BC POPS Binghamton \$4,000

BINGHAMTON SYMPHONY & CHORAL SOCIETY Binghamton \$15,000

BROOKLYN PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY Brooklyn \$47,300

| BUFFALO PHILHARMONIC ORCHESTRA SOCIETY | DOWNTOWN MUSIC PRODUCTIONS | HOUSING SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA | MAELSTROM PERCUSSION ENSEMBLE |
|---|----------------------------|--|-------------------------------|
| Buffalo | Manhattan | Manhattan | Buffalo |
| \$173,000 | \$6,000 | \$15,000 | \$5,000 |
| | • | | |
| CAPITOL CHAMBER ARTISTS | EARLY MUSIC FOUNDATION | HUDSON VALLEY PHILHAR- | |
| Albany | Manhattan | MONIC SOCIETY | MEET THE COMPOSER |
| \$3,830 | \$16,000 | Poughkeepsie | Manhattan |
| *-** | | \$40,700 | \$90,000 |
| CATSKILL CONSERVATORY | ELMIRA SYMPHONY AND | | |
| Oneonta | CHORAL SOCIETY | INTERNATIONAL ART OF | MELA FOUNDATION |
| \$11,000 | Elmira | JAZZ | Manhattan |
| 411 ,000 | \$3,300 | Stony Brook | \$2,000 |
| CATSKILL SYMPHONY | ,- | \$39,600 | |
| ORCHESTRA | FESTIVAL ENSEMBLE | , | METROPOLITAN OPERA |
| Oneonta | SOCIETY | ISLAND PHILHARMONIC | Manhattan |
| \$6,600 | Hollis | SOCIETY | \$195,000 |
| \$6,600 | \$3,000 | Melville | 5.75,000 |
| CANDOA CHAMPER ORCHES | \$3,000 | \$63,400 | MUNICIPAL CONCERTS |
| CAYUGA CHAMBER ORCHES- | FOUNDATION FOR BAROQUE | 303,400 | Oakland Gardens |
| TRA | MUSIC | ITHACA A CAPPELLA | \$2,000 |
| Ithaca | Greenfield Ctr | ASSOCIATION | 32,000 |
| \$7,700 | | | MUSIC FROM JAPAN |
| | \$5,000 | Ithaca | |
| CENTER FOR CONTEMPO- | | \$3,000 | Manhattan |
| RARY OPERA | FOUR NATIONS | | \$4,640 |
| Manhattan | Germantown | ITHACA OPERA ASSOCIA- | NATIONAL ALICENA |
| \$4,000 | \$2,500 | TION | MUSICA SACRA |
| | | Ithaca | Manhattan |
| CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY | FREDONIA CHAMBER | \$7,000 | \$9,634 |
| OF LINCOLN CENTER | PLAYERS | | |
| Manhattan | Fredonia | JAZZ LEGACY | MUSICIANS ACCORD |
| \$5,800 | \$3,300 | Manhattan | Manhattan |
| | | \$4,000 | \$3,000 |
| CHAMBER MUSIC AMERICA | GAMELAN SON OF LION | | |
| Manhattan | Manhattan | JAZZMOBILE | NATIONAL CHORAL COUN- |
| \$11,000 | \$2,500 | Manhattan | CIL |
| 211,000 | | \$67,000 | Manhattan |
| CNS PRODUCTIONS | GLIMMERGLASS OPERA | | \$4,000 |
| South Salem | Cooperstown | JUPITER SYMPHONY OF NEW | |
| \$6,600 | \$25,300 | YORK | NATIONAL GRAND OPERA |
| 40,000 | 020 ,500 | Manhattan | Huntington |
| COMPOSERS FORUM | | \$7,000 | \$10,000 |
| Manhattan | GOLDEN FLEECE LTD. | - · , · | |
| \$5,500 | Manhattan | L'ENSEMBLE DE LA | NEW MUSIC CONSORT |
| \$3,300 | \$2,500 | MUSIQUE | Manhattan |
| COMPOSERS RECORDINGS | 32,500 | Albany | \$18,300 |
| | GOLDMAN MEMORIAL BAND | \$5,000 | 2.2,2.0 |
| Manhattan | Manhattan | #3,000 | NEW RENAISSANCE CHMBR |
| \$7,500 | \$3,000 | LAKE PLACID SINFONIETTA | ARTISTS |
| CONCERT ARTISTS GUILD | \$3,000 | Lake Placid | Manhattan |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | GOLIARD CONCERTS | \$3,300 | \$2,000 |
| Manhattan | | 35,500 | 42,000 |
| \$15,000 | Astoria | LEONARDA PRODUCTIONS | NEW YORK BRASS CHOIR |
| | \$4,000 | Manhattan | South Farmingdale |
| CONCERT ROYAL | CARGO CLATH CRUCERC | \$3,500 | \$3,800 |
| Manhattan | GREGG SMITH SINGERS | \$3,300 | 35,800 |
| \$10,440 | Manhattan | LONG ISLAND DAROOUE | NEW YORK CHAMBER |
| | \$9,000 | LONG ISLAND BAROQUE ENSEMBLE | ENSEMBLE |
| CORNING PHILHARMONIC | | | Manhattan |
| SOCIETY | HIGHLIGHTS IN JAZZ | Locust Valley | |
| Corning | Manhattan | \$15,300 | \$3,000 |
| \$4,400 | \$3,000 | THE PARTY OF THE P | NEW YORK CITY OPER A |
| | | LUZERNE MUSIC CENTER | NEW YORK CITY OPERA |
| DORIAN WOODWIND | HORIZON CONCERTS | Lake Luzerne | Manhattan |
| QUINTET FOUNDATION | Manhattan | \$3,000 | \$195,000 |
| Manhattan | \$5,000 | | |
| \$4,500 | | | |
| | | | |

NEW YORK CONCERT PHILHARMONIA VIRTUOSI SKANEATELES FESTIVAL UTICA SYMPHONY SINGERS Dobbs Ferry Skaneateles Utica Manhattan \$8,300 \$6,700 \$5,720 \$3,000 SOCIETY FOR THE PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY APPRECCIATION WASHINGTON SQ ASSN NEW YORK FESTIVAL OF SOCIETY OF NY OF GUITAR QUARTET MUSIC FUND SONG Manhattan Buffalo Manhattan Manhattan \$195,000 \$3,830 \$3,000 \$6,500 POMERIUM MUSICES SOCIETY FOR CHAMBER WAVERLY CONSORT NEW YORK NEW MUSIC MUSIC ROCHESTER Manhattan Patterson **ENSEMBLE** \$6,500 Rochester \$21,000 Manhattan \$4,500 \$3,000 PONE ENSEMBLE FOR NEW WESTCHESTER PHILHAR-MUSIC SOUND DIRECTIONS MONIC NEW YORK PHILOMUSICA New Paltz Manhattan Hartsdale CHAMBER ENSEMBLE \$2,500 \$4,000 \$10,000 Manhattan \$5,220 OUEENS OPERA ASSOCIA-SPECULUM MUSICAE WESTCHESTER SYMPHONY TION Manhattan ORCHESTRA NEW YORK STATE EARLY Brooklyn \$6,200 Tarrytown MSC ASSN \$4,000 \$4,400 Ithaca ST LUKE'S CHAMBER **OUEENS SYMPHONY** \$3,900 ENSEMBLE WESTERN NEW YORK OPERA **ORCHESTRA** Manhattan THEATER NEWBAND Long Island City \$7,500 Buffalo Nyack \$40,000 \$20,000 \$4,000 STATEN ISL CHAMBER QUINTET OF THE AMERICAS MUSIC PLYRS WESTERN WIND VOCAL NY GILBERT & SULLIVAN Manhattan Staten Island **ENSEMBLE PLAYERS** \$6,000 \$2,000 Manhattan Manhattan \$6,500 \$6.380 RECORDED ANTHOLOGY SUFFOLK CONCERT BAND AMER MUSIC SOC WOODSTOCK CHAMBER OMEGA ENSEMBLE Manhattan Sayville **ORCHESTRA** Manhattan \$11,000 \$4,400 Woodstock \$3,480 \$5,080 SYLVAN WINDS RIVERSIDE SYMPHONY OMNI ENSEMBLE LTD Manhattan YOUNG CONCERT ARTISTS Manhattan Brooklyn \$5,000 \$4,000 Manhattan \$3,000 \$15,300 ROCHESTER CHAMBER SYRACUSE CAMERATA OPERA ORCHESTRA OF NEW ORCHESTRA Syracuse YORK Rochester \$3,320 Manhattan \$3,900 GENERAL PROGRAM \$10,000 SYRACUSE OPERA COMPANY SUPPORT ROCHESTER PHILHARMONIC Syracuse **ORPHEON** 92ND STREET YM-YWHA ORCH \$33,000 Manhattan Rochester Manhattan, New York Chamber \$4,000 \$169,000 SYRACUSE SOCIETY FOR Symphony **NEW MUSIC** \$22,500 **ORPHEUS CHAMBER** ROULETTE INTERMEDIUM Syracuse **ENSEMBLE** Manhattan \$8,000 ALTERNATIVE CTR FOR Manhattan \$7,000 INT'L ARTS \$9,000 SYRACUSE SYMPHONY Manhattan SCHENECTADY SYMPHONY **ORCHESTRA** \$7,000 OSWEGO OPERA THEATRE ORCH ASSN Syracuse Oswego Schenectady \$150,000 AMERICAN COMPOSERS \$10,500 **ORCHESTRA** \$5,500 TREMONT STRING OUARTET Manhattan PAULINE OLIVEROS FNDN SEA CLIFF CHAMBER \$23,000 Geneseo Kingston **PLAYERS** \$3,900 \$5,500 Sea Cliff **EXPERIMENTAL** TRI-CITIES OPERA COMPANY INTERMEDIA FNDN \$22,000 PERFORMERS COMMITTEE Binghamton Manhattan SEM ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$35,200 \$5,200

Brooklyn \$7,000

\$8,500

HALLWALLS Buffalo \$11,000

LINCOLN CTR FOR THE PERFORMING RTS Manhattan, Mostly Mozart & Jazz at Lincoln Center \$55,000

ST ANN CNTR RESTORATION & ARTS
Brooklyn
\$4,750

SYMPHONY SPACE Manhattan \$12,000

WORLD MUSIC INSTITUTE Manhattan \$6.500

PROFFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES

ALHAMBRA Manhattan, Artists' Fees for 3 concert performances \$1,611

ALTERNATIVE CENTER FOR INT'L ARTS
Manhattan, Artists Fees & Production Costs for a jazz concert series
\$7.000

AMERICAN CHAMBER OPERA COMPANY Manhattan, Artists, Production Costs for 3 performances of one opera \$2,000

ASCENSION MUSIC CHORUS & ORCHESTRA
Manhattan, Artists' fees for 3 choral concerts
\$3,000

BRIDGEHAMPTON CHAMBER MUSIC ASSOCIATION Bridgehampton Artists' Fees for 1995 Summer Festival \$3,000

BROOKLYN FRIENDS OF CHAMBER MUSIC Brooklyn, Artists' fees for 3 concert performances \$4,000

CARAMOOR CENTER FOR MUSIC & ARTS Orchestra Concerts & Resident Artists' Fees for 5 Concert Performances \$4,000 CENTER OF AFRICAN AMER CULTURE Rochester, Artists Fees & Production Costs \$7,000

CHAUTAUQUA INSTITUTION Chautauqua Professional Artists' Salaries-Chautauqua Symphony \$12,000; Professional Artists' Salaries-Chautauqua Opera \$22,000

CITY GRAND OPERA SOCIETY Manhattan, Artists' Fees \$6,000

CLARION MUSIC SOCIETY Manhattan, Artist's Fees for Concert Series \$2,320

COLUMBIA FESTIVAL ORCHESTRA Hudson . Professional Artists' Fees, Marketing & Administrative Costs \$2.500

COMPOSERS CONCORDANCE Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Concert Series \$2,000

CONCORDIA ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Chamber Orchestra Series \$5.600

COSMOPOLITAN SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Artists' fees for Chamber Players in a Three Concert Series \$1,500

DA CAPO CHAMBER PLAYERS Manhattan, Artists' Fees & Production Costs for Three Concerts. \$5,000

EAST BUFFALO MEDIA ASSOCIATION Buffalo, Artists' Fees for Contemporary Music Series \$1,650

ECLECTIC ARTS
Manhattan, Artists' Production
Fees
\$3,000

ESSENTIAL MUSIC Manhattan, Artists' Fees for a Three Concert New Music Series \$3,000 FIRST AVENUE Manhattan, Artists' Fees & Production Costs for Three Concerts \$2,000

GATEWAY SYMPHONY STATEN ISLAND Staten Island, Artists'/Administrative Fees for a Concert Series \$5.500

GENESEE EARLY MUSIC SOC. Rochester, Artists' Fees for Early Music Series \$5,000

GUILD OF COMPOSERS Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Promotion, Production Costs for a Concert Series \$3,000

HALLWALLS Buffalo, Artists' Fees & Production Costs for a New Music Series \$9,000

I GIULLARI DI PIAZZA Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Series of Music/Theatre Performances \$3,000

IL PICCOLO TEATRO DELL'OPERA Brooklyn, Artists' Fees for Opera Productions \$3,500

INOUE CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Chamber Music Series \$2,000

L'OPERA FRANCAIS DE NEW YORK Manhattan, Artists' Fees for French Concert Opera Series \$4,000

LAKE GEORGE OPERA FESTIVAL Glens Falls, Artists' Fees & Production Costs for 1994 Summer Opera Series \$20,000

LEAGUE OF COMPOSERS Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Administrative & Production Costs of New Music Series \$3,500 MANHATTAN LYRIC OPERA Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Promotion & Administrative Costs \$3,000

MANNA HOUSE WORKSHOPS Manhattan, Artists'Fees for MEEE Jazz Concert Series \$3,000

MELODIOUS ACCORD Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Choral Series \$2,500

MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS CO Bronx, Artists'Fees Expansion of Music Concert Series \$3,000

MSQ ENTERPRISES Cold Spring, Artists' Fees & Production costs for Chamber Music Concerts \$1,000

MUSIC ASSOCIATES OF NEW YORK Bay Terrace, Artists Fees New York Virtuosi Chamber Orchestra Concert Series \$1,920

MUSIC BEFORE 1800 Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Administrative/Production Costs for Chamber Chorus \$3,500

MUSIC FROM CHINA Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Promotional/Production Costs for Concert Series \$3,113

MUSIC FROM SALEM Salem, Professional Artists' Fees for Concert Series \$3,300

MUSICA DA CAMERA Manhattan, Artists'Fees/ Production Expenses for Concert Series \$4,000

NEW YORK CONSORT OF VIOLS Manhattan, Artists Fees for Series of Concerts \$2,500

NORTH/SOUTH CONSO-NANCE Manhattan, Artist's Fees for a Series of Contemporary Music Concerts \$2,000 OPERA SACRA Buffalo, Music Program: Opera Production/Artists' Fees. \$3,500

OPERA THEATRE OF ROCHESTER Rochester, Artists' Fees for Opera Production Series. \$7,500

PARNASSUS CONT MUSIC FNDN Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Contemporary Chamber Music Series. \$3,000

PAULINE OLIVEROS FNDN Kingston, Artists Fees & Production Costs for Contemporary Music Events. \$7,500

REJOICENSEMBLE! Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Promotion & Administrative Costs for Choral Series. \$3,500

RENSSELAER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE Troy, Artists' Fees & Publicity for Electronic Music Series. \$3,000

ROSEWOOD CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Sunnyside, Artists' Fees for Chamber Music Series. \$4,500

SCHOLA CANTORUM OF SYRACUSE Syracuse, Artists' Fees for Choral Series. \$3,500

SI YO MUSICAL SOCIETY Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Three Chamber Music Concerts. \$2.500

SKIDMORE COLLEGE Saratoga Springs, Artists' Fees, Promotion/Production Cost of Jazz Series. \$3,500

SOMETHING SPECIAL BIG BAND Plainview, Artists' Fees for Series of Jazz Concerts. \$2,000 SOUNDART FOUNDATION Philmont, Artists' Fees for a Series of New Music Concerts \$1,000

SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY COMPANY
Manhattan, Artists' Fees &
Production Costs for Concert
Series
\$7,000

ST CECILIA CHAMBER ORCHESTRA Albany, Artists' Fees & Administrative Costs for Orchestra series \$5,000

ST MICHAEL'S CHURCH (EPISCOPAL) Manhattan, Artists'Fees for ANONYMOUS FOUR Early Music Vocal Series \$3,500

THALIA SPANISH THEATRE Sunnyside, Artists Fees & Production Costs for Concert Series \$8,000

VINEYARD THEATRE & WORKSHOP CENTER Manhattan, Artists fees & Production costs for VineyardMusicke \$2,500

WALTER THOMPSON ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Contemporary Jazz Orchestra Series \$3,000

WASHINGTON SQUARE CONTEMP MUSIC SOCIETY Kingston, Artists' Fees & Production/Promotion Costs for Concert Series \$3,500

PROFFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES - TOURING

ALHAMBRA Manhattan, Artists'Fees & Travel Expenses for Concert Series \$1,389

ASTON MAGNA FOUNDA-TION FOR MUSIC& HUMANI-TIES Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Early Music Series at Bard College \$3,000 CHINESE MUSIC ENSEMBLE OF NY Manhattan, Artists' & Adminis-

Manhattan, Artists' & Administrative Fees for Concert Tour \$8,415

CLARION MUSIC SOCIETY Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Vocal/Instrumental Series \$2,900

DA CAPO CHAMBER PLAYERS Manhattan, Artists' Fees & Production Costs for Concerts on Tour \$3,000

EAST BUFFALO MEDIA ASSOCIATION Buffalo, Artists' Fees for New Music Concert Tour \$2,200

MUSIC ASSOCIATES OF NEW YORK Bay Terrace Artists' Fees for Orchestra Series in New York City \$2,552

MUSIC FOR MANY Yorktown Heights, Artists' fees for Chamber Concerts on Tour \$2,200

NORTH/SOUTH CONSONANCE
Manhattan, Artists' Fees for
Concerts on Tour
\$1,000

RENSSELAER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE Troy, Artists' Fees for Dogs of Desire New Music Ensemble on Tour \$5,000

SOMETHING SPECIAL BIG BAND Plainview, Artists' Fees for Jazz Band Tour \$1,000

ST CECILIA CHAMBER ORCHESTRA Albany, Artists' Fees & Administrative Costs for Touring Series \$2,000

WILLIAMSBURGH MUSIC CENTER Brooklyn, Artists' Fees for Contemporary Music Concerts on Tour \$2,000

RECORDINGS

AMERICAN COMPOSERS ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Recording of Symphonic Works by John Cage \$9,000

ART OF THE EARLY KEY-BOARD Manhattan, Editing of Master Tape \$4,500

ARTMUSIC Manhattan, Recording A Mass for Mass Trombones \$5,000

BANG ON A CAN Manhattan, Recording of Contemporary Music \$4,500

BROOKLYN PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY Brooklyn, Production of CD Recording of Works by Colin McPhee \$9.000

CATSKILL CONSERVATORY Oneonta, Sound Recordings \$5,000

EARLY MUSIC FOUNDATION Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Recording \$4,500

FOUNDATION FOR BAROQUE MUSIC Greenfield Center, Artists' Fees, Production & Marketing Costs for Recording \$4,000

NEWBAND Nyack, Musicians' Fees & Production Expenses for Recording \$10,000

PARNASSUS CONTEMPORARY MUSIC FOUNDATION Manhattan, Musicians' and Engineers' Fees for Recording \$5,000

PAULINE OLIVEROS FOUN-DATION Kingston, Deep Listening Band CD - Recording & Distribution \$4,000

PERFORMERS COMMITTEE Manhattan, Making Master for CD. \$6,000 QUINTET OF THE AMERICAS Manhattan, Artists' Fees for Recording \$4,500

ROCHESTER PHILHARMONIC ORCHESTRA Rochester, Artists'& Pre-Production Costs for Recording \$10,000

ROULETTE INTERMEDIUM Manhattan, Roulette Compilation Compact Disc - Manufacture & Promotion \$4,000

SOMETHING SPECIAL BIG BAND Plainview, Artists' Fees, Production, Packaging & Distribution \$5,000

SYLVAN WINDS Manhattan, Artists' Fees & Production Expenses \$4,500

RESIDENCIES

HARVESTWORKS Manhattan, Studio Time, Instructor & Equipment for Composer Residencies \$5,000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

AMERICAN OPERA PROJECTS Manhattan, Artists' Fees, Development & Production Costs for Two Performances \$3,480

SOUNDART FOUNDATION Philmont, Administrative & Production Costs for New Music Calendar \$6,300

THEATRE DEVELOPMENT FUND Manhattan, Music Vouchers Subsidy, \$12,000; Administrative Fees for Musical Instrument Revolving Loan Fund \$19,000

SPECIAL PROJECTS

HALLWALLS Buffalo, Mid Atlantic Arts Fund Grant-Artists' Fee for 8 Bold Souls \$330

WESTCHESTER PHILHAR-MONIC Hartsdale, Mid Atlantic Arts Fund Grant-Artists' Fee for Morgan State University Choir \$1,050

PRESENTING

The Presenting Organizations Program provides support to both established and developing organizations that present, pay and promote artists and ensembles in music, dance, theatre, mime and performance art for public appearances. The Program's main purpose is to help make possible culturally diverse performances of high professional standards and artistic excellence for the people of New York State. Special consideration is given to organizations that have as their main purpose and function the development, promotion and dissemination of the arts for audiences of all ages.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | _ Requests Funded_ | Total Amount |
|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------|
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 50 | \$ 924,554 |
| NEW PRESENTER DEVELOPMENT | 9 | 20,400 |
| PRESENTATION | 102 | 655,296 |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | _34 | 152,365 |
| TOTAL | 195 | \$2,000,177 |
| | | |

Bella Shalom Program Director

Elizabeth Norsworthy Don Palmer Program Associates

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted Support for ongoing instutitional activites for organizationtions whose primary activity is presentation.

ARTS CENTER AND THEATRE OF SCHENECTADY

Schenectady \$34,200

BARDAVON 1869 OPERA HOUSE

Poughkeepsie \$57,570

BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF

MUSIC Brooklyn \$175,000

CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY OF UTICA

Clinton \$2,750

CHEMUNG COUNTY PER-FORMING ARTS Elmira

\$25,000 CHENANGO UNITED

CONCERT ASSOCIATION Norwich

\$1,000

COOPERSTOWN CONCERT

SERIES Cooperstown \$4,560

CORNING-PAINTED POST CIVIC MUSIC

Painted Post \$6,000

DANCE THEATER WORK-

SHOP Manhattan \$78,000

DANCING IN THE STREETS

Manhattan \$30,000

EARLVILLE OPERA HOUSE

Earlville \$6,450 EMELIN THEATRE FOR THE

PERFORMING ARTS

Mamaroneck \$26,790

FINGER LAKES REGIONAL

ARTS COUNCIL

Geneva \$5,000

FREEPORT COMMUNITY CONCERT ASSOCIATION

Freeport \$3,500

FRIENDS OF BAY SHORE-BRIGHTWATERS PUBLIC

LIBRARY Brightwaters \$3,000

FRIENDS OF CHAMBER MUSIC-TROY NY

Troy \$1,710

FRIENDS OF GOOD MUSIC OF

THE OLEAN AREA

Olean \$5,000

FRIENDS OF MUSIC CON-

CERTS Ossining \$2,280

FRIENDS OF THE ARTS

Locust Valley \$60,000

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS

CENTER Manhattan \$35,000

GENEVA CONCERTS

Geneva \$6,840

HALEAKALA Manhattan

Manhattan \$35,000

INTER-MEDIA ART CENTER

Huntington \$35,340

ISLIP ARTS COUNCIL

East Islip \$13,000

JAMESTOWN CONCERT
ASSOCIATION

Jamestown \$5,757 KINGS MAJESTIC CORPORA-TION Brooklyn \$20,000

LANCASTER NEW YORK OPERA HOUSE Lancaster \$13,646

MAVERICK CONCERTS Woodstock \$5,073

MT KISCO CONCERT ASSN Mount Kisco \$2,679

MUSIC BEFORE 1800 Manhattan \$4,000

OGDENSBURG COMMAND PERFORMANCE Ogdensburg \$3,420

OLD SONGS Guilderland \$6,498

ONEONTA CONCERT ASSOCIATION Oneonta \$4,446

PARAMOUNT CENTER FOR THE ARTS Peekskill \$20,000

PAWLING CONCERT SERIES Pawling \$2,223

PERFORMANCE SPACE 122 Manhattan \$45,000

QRS ARTS FOUNDATION Buffalo \$24,500

SARATOGA PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Saratoga Springs \$38,500

SPENCERTOWN ACADEMY SOCIETY Spencertown \$14,949

STEAMER NO. 10 THEATRE Albany \$13,680

SYRACUSE FRIENDS OF CHAMBER MUSIC DeWitt \$3,500

THELMA HILL PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Brooklyn \$7,000

TICONDEROGA FESTIVAL GUILD Ticonderoga \$5,000

TROY CHROMATIC CONCERTS
Troy
\$3,263

ULSTER PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Kingston \$3,000

WEST KORTRIGHT CENTRE East Meredith \$25,430

NEW PRESENTER DEVELOPMENT

For artists' fees, marketing, production and administrative costs of first and second year presenters based outside of Manhattan.

EAST DURHAM IRISH CULTURAL CENTER East Durham, 3 Performances \$2,000

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE-BUFFALO, NY Buffalo, 4 Performances \$2,500

ITHACA PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Ithaca, 10 Performances \$6,400

NEW YORK STATE BLUES FESTIVAL Syracuse, Two day Blues Festival \$2,500

NIGHT EAGLE EMPORIUM-COFFEEHOUSE Oxford, Minimum of 30 Performances \$3,000

RUSHMORE FESTIVAL Highland Mills, Minimum of 4 Performances \$3,000 SHARON SPRINGS CITIZENS COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Sharon Springs, 3 Performances \$1,000

PRESENTATION

For artists' fees, marketing, production and administrative costs.

92ND STREET YM-YWHA Manhattan, 68 Performances \$14,500

ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR ARTS Blue Mountain Lake, 9 Performances \$4,000

AFRICAN STREET FESTIVAL Brooklyn, 4 Evening Artists Performances \$6,000

AFRIKAN POETRY THEATRE Jamaica, 15 Performances \$12,375

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF THE ARTS Albany, 3 Performances of Come Sunday Concerts \$2,850

ALFRED UNIVERSITY Alfred, 4 Performances \$6,000

AMERICAN COMPOSERS ORCHESTRA Manhattan, 6 Performances-Sonidos de las Americas: Venezuela \$8,000

ART AWARENESS Lexington, 4 Performances and 3 Residency Activities \$5,848

ARTS CENTER, NAZARETH COLLEGE Rochester, Minimum of 20 Performances \$12,700

ARTS CONNECTION Manhattan, 21 Performances \$7,500

ARTS COUNCIL OF ORANGE COUNTY Middletown, Minimum of 20 Performances \$8,000 ARTS GUILD OF OLD FORGE Old Forge, Minimum of 15 Performances \$6,000

ASSOCIATED COLLEGES OF THE ST. LAWRENCE VALLEY Potsdam, 6 Performances \$3,420

BABYLON CITIZENS COUN-CIL ON THE ARTS West Babylon, 4 Performances and a Consultant \$1,500

BARD COLLEGE Annandale-On-Hudson, Bard Music Festival-Schumann & His World \$3,000

BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S MUSEUM Brooklyn, 27 Performances \$6,000

CARAMOOR CENTER FOR MUSIC AND ARTS Katonah, Minimum of 20 Performances \$14,000

CARNEGIE HALL CORPORA-TION Manhattan, 90 Performances \$31,000

CAROUSEL SOCIETY OF THE NIAGARA FRONTIER North Tonawanda, Minimum of 8 Performances \$2,280

CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT Arkville, 5 Performances \$1.500

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich, 5 Performances \$1,000

CITY CENTER-55TH ST. THEATER FOUNDATION Manhattan, 4 Performances of Young People's Dance Series \$4,500 CITY PARKS FOUNDATION Manhattan, Central Park SummerStage Performances \$5,000

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, TRUSTEES OF (MILLER THEATER) Manhattan, Minimum of 18 Performances \$2,500

COMMUNITY WORKS Manhattan, 35 Performances for Young Audiences in The Bronx \$6,000

COUNCIL ON THE ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY Plattsburgh, 8 Performances \$4,000

CULTURAL RESOURCES
COUNCIL OF SYRACUSE AND
ONONDAGA COUNTY
Syracuse, 14 Performances
\$4,000

ELAINE KAUFMAN CULTURAL CENTER
Manhattan, Minimum of 20
Performances
\$6.840

FRANKLIN FURNACE ARCHIVE Manhattan, Minimum of 12 Performances \$12,000

FRENCH INSTITUTE-ALLIANCE FRANCAISE Manhattan, 8 Performances \$2,000

FUND FOR THE BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN Brooklyn, Minimum of 15 Performances of Celebrate Brooklyn \$17,000

GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS Cooperstown, 7 Performances \$2,500

GOWANUS ARTS EXCHANGE Brooklyn, Minimum of 6 Performances on the Groundhog Series and 4 Performances of Special Projects \$5,000

GREENWICH HOUSE Manhattan, 27 Performances \$4,000 GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON East Hampton, 18 Performances \$7,500

TOWN OF HEMPSTEAD Hempstead, Minimum of 60 Performances \$1,000

HENRY STREET SETTLE-MENT Manhattan, Minimum of 10 Performances \$2,500

HENSON FOUNDATION Manhattan, International Festival of Puppet Theater-98 Performances and Workshops \$10,000

HOFF-BARTHELSON MUSIC SCHOOL Scarsdale, 16 Performances of Philharmonia Virtuosi \$1,710

HOME FOR CONTEMPORARY THEATER AND ART LIMITED Manhattan, 8 Performances \$1,000

HORNELL AREA ARTS COUNCIL Hornell, 4 Performances \$1,000

HOSPITAL AUDIENCES Manhattan, 9 Performances \$6,700

HUBBARD HALL PROJECTS Cambridge, Minimum of 15 Performances \$5,700

HUNTINGTON ARTS COUN-CIL Huntington, Minimum of 16 Performances \$9,120

JAMAICA CENTER FOR THE PERFORMING AND VISUAL ARTS Jamaica, Minimum of 20 Performances \$10,000

JAPAN SOCIETY Manhattan, 16 Performances \$5,000

JOYCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, 101 Performances of Dance \$24,000 KIRKLAND ART CENTER Clinton, 16 Performances \$6,840

KOSCIUSZKO FOUNDATION Manhattan, 8 Performances of Chamber Music \$1,500

LAKE GEORGE ARTS PROJECT Lake George, 2 Day Jazz Festival and Summer Concerts \$6.847

LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR MUSIC, DRAMA AND ART Lake Placid, 39 Performances \$14,032

LIBRARY ACTION COMMITTEE OF CORONA Corona, Minimum of 7 Performances \$4,000

LINCOLN CENTER FOR THE PERFORMING ARTS Manhattan, Minimum of 100 Performances \$55,000

LONG ISLAND UNIVERSITY/ C.W. POST/TILLES CENTER Brookville, 73 Performances \$25,000

LOWER MANHATTAN CULTURAL COUNCIL Manhattan, Buskers Fare & 8 Music Performances \$8,000

MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. CONCERT SERIES Brooklyn, 6 Performances \$1,000

MERRICK-BELLMORE COM-MUNITY CONCERT ASSN. North Merrick, 5 Performances \$1.000

MOHAWK VALLEY CENTER FOR THE ARTS Little Falls, 4 Performances \$2,500

MONTAUK CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY Montauk, 3 Performances \$1,000

MUNSON-WILLIAMS-PROCTOR INSTITUTE Utica, Minimum of 20 Performances \$1,000 NEW SCHOOL CONCERTS Manhattan, 7 Performances \$1,000

NORTHERN WOODSIDE COALITION Woodside, 3 Performances \$1,000

OLEAN THEATRE WORK-SHOP Olean, 5 Performances \$5,000

ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR Corning, Minimum of 14 Performances \$8,000

PARISH OF TRINITY CHURCH Manhattan, Minimum of 80 Concerts \$2,000

PARRISH ART MUSEUM Southampton, 5 Performances \$5,000

PREGONES THEATER Bronx, 7 Performances & 3 Residencies \$10,000

PROSPECT PARK ALLIANCE Brooklyn, Minimum of 17 Performances \$7,500

PYRAMID ARTS CENTER Rochester, Minimum of 10 Performances \$5,000

QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Woodhaven, 40 Performances Including Theatre in the Park \$7,500

REG LENNA CIVIC CENTER Jamestown, Minimum of 15 Performances and Residency Activity \$17,875

RENSSELAER COUNTY JUNIOR MUSEUM Troy, 19 Performances for Young Audiences \$2,600

RHINEBECK CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY Rhinebeck, 7 Performances \$2,500 ROCKLAND CENTER FOR THE ARTS West Nyack, 8 Performances \$6,840

ROME ART AND COMMUNITY CENTER Rome, 7 Performances \$5,000

ROXBURY ARTS GROUP Roxbury, Minimum of 10 Performances \$7,400

RYE ARTS CENTER Rye, 4 Performances \$1,710

SCHOHARIE COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Schoharie, 5 Performances \$1,500

SNUG HARBOR CULTURAL CENTER Staten Island, Minimum of 11 Performances \$10,000

SOCIETY FOR THE THIRD STREET MUSIC SCHOOL SETTLEMENT Manhattan, 8 Performances for St. Marks Park Summer Series \$1,300

ST. ANN CENTER FOR RESTORATION AND THE ARTS Brooklyn, Minimum of 15 Performances \$22,800

TANNERY POND CONCERTS New Lebanon, 5 Performances \$2,000

THEATER FOR THE NEW CITY FOUNDATION Manhattan, 32 Performances \$6,000

TIOGA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Owego, 5 Performances on the Masters & Museum Series \$2,200

TOWN HALL FOUNDATION Manhattan, 7 Performances \$3,500

TROY SAVINGS BANK MUSIC HALL Troy, 8 Performances \$12,500 UJIMA COMPANY Buffalo, 33 Performances \$5,000

UNION COLLEGE-SCHENECTADY MUSEUM Schenectady, Minimum of 10 Chamber Music Performances \$4,289

UNISON LEARNING CENTER New Paltz, Minimmum of 16 Performances \$15,390

UNITED JEWISH Y'S OF LONG ISLAND Plainview, 24 Performances \$6,000

UPPER CATSKILL COMMUN-ITY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Oneonta, Minimum of 4 Performances \$5,130

VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH AND RESOURCE CENTER Manhattan, 6 Performances \$2,500

COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER White Plains, I Performance of the New York Philharmonic \$1,000

WOODSTOCK GUILD Woodstock, Minimum of 12 Performances \$6,500

CITY OF YONKERS, DEPART-MENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION Yonkers, Minimum of 8 Performances \$2,500

YWCA OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, 6 Performances of the Rooftop Concerts \$3,500

SPECIAL PROJECTS

AFRIKAN POETRY THEATRE Jamaica, Presenting Expenses \$6,666

ARTS & BUSINESS COUNCIL Manhattan, Presenting Fellowship for Trena Banks \$10,000 ASSOCIATED COLLEGES OF THE ST. LAWRENCE VALLEY Potsdam, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$2,550

BARDAVON 1869 OPERA HOUSE Poughkeepsie, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees

BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF MUSIC Brooklyn, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$10,000

BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S MUSEUM Brooklyn, Presenting Expenses \$6,670

COMMUNITY WORKS Manhattan, Presenting Expenses \$6,666

CORNING-PAINTED POST CIVIC MUSIC ASSOCIATION Painted Post, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$1,200

CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL OF SYRACUSE AND ONONDAGA COUNTY Syracuse, ArtWORKS for Young People Conference \$32,875

DANCING IN THE STREETS Manhattan, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$900

EARLVILLE OPERA HOUSE Earlville, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

FINGER LAKES REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Geneva, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$1,250

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER Manhattan, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$2,955

FUND FOR THE BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN Brooklyn, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$1,750 GOWANUS ARTS EXCHANGE Brooklyn, Presenting Expenses \$6.666

HENSON FOUNDATION Manhattan, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$4,725

HUBBARD HALL PROJECTS Cambridge, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

HUNTINGTON ARTS COUN-CIL Huntington, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$1.600

ITHACA PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Ithaca, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

JAMAICA CENTER FOR PERFORMING AND VISUAL ARTS Jamaica, Presenting Expenses \$6,666

LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR MUSIC, DRAMA AND ART Lake Placid, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

MUNSON-WILLIAMS-PROCTOR INSTITUTE Utica, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$900

NIGHT EAGLE EMPORIUM-COFFEEHOUSE Oxford, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR Corning, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant Artist Fees \$1,000

ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR Corning, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

ROXBURY ARTS GROUP Roxbury, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

SCHOHARIE COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY Schoharie, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$300 SPENCERTOWN ACADEMY SOCIETY Spencertown, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

THELMA HILL PERFORMING ARTS CENTER Brooklyn, Presenting Expenses \$6,666

TICONDEROGA FESTIVAL GUILD Ticonderoga, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$750

TROY SAVINGS BANK MUSIC HALL Troy, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation Grant for Artist Fees \$1,150

UNISON LEARNING CENTER New Paltz, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

WEST KORTRIGHT CENTRE East Meredith, Presenting Expenses \$3,600

SPECIAL ARTS SERVICES

The Special Arts Services Program seeks to enrich the artistic/cultural pluralism of New York State by supporting arts activities within the African/Caribbean, Latino/Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander and Native American/Indian communities, as well as other ethnic groups wishing to perpetuate distinct traditions. The program fosters the development of artists and organizations and their outreach efforts to specific communities, by improving access to arts training opportunities and cultural heritage education through performances, exhibitions, workshops and special initiatives.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|--------------------------------|-----------------|--------------|
| EXHIBITIONS | 13 | 52,300 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 54 | 1,159,339 |
| GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT | 32 | 456,350 |
| INSTR/TRAIN. PRE-PROFESSIONAL | 26 | 147,000 |
| INSTR/TRAIN, PROF. PREPARATION | 13 | 79,600 |
| INSTRUCTION/TRAINTRAD, ARTS | 21 | 96,200 |
| INSTRUCTION/TRAINING | 1 | 7,000 |
| PRESENTATION | 4 | 11,500 |
| PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES | 47 | 279,000 |
| REGRANT PROGRAM | 1 | 200,000 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 1 | 21,500 |
| TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRANTS | <u>2</u> | 200,061 |
| TOTAL | 215 | \$2,911,600 |

Helen Cash Program Director

Barbara Ho Program Associate

EXHIBITIONS

Toward expenses for professionaly-directed exhibitions in the visual arts, film or media serving communities of color or ethnic communities

AMERICA-ITALY SOCIETY Manhattan, Video/Film Screenings \$1,000

BEDFORD STUYVESANT REST CORP Brooklyn, Exhibition program \$9,000

BLACK DIMENSIONS IN ART Schenectady, Exhibition program \$5,300

BREAD & ROSES CULTURAL PROJECT Manhattan, Exhibitions \$2,000

BUFFALO MEDIA RE-SOURCES Buffalo, Touring film program \$4,000

CHASSIDIC ART INSTITUTE Brooklyn, Exhibition program \$5,000

INT'L AGENCY MINORITY ARTISTS Manhattan, Exhibition program \$4,000

MAN FA CENTER OF CHINATOWN Manhattan, Exhibition program \$1,500

MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE AMERICAS Program Associate. Manhattan, Exhibition program \$17,500

MUSIC & ART CTR OF GREENE CNTY Jewett, Exhibits on Ukr Folk Arts \$500

TRANSART & CULTURAL SERVICES
Brooklyn, 3 traveling exhibits \$2,500

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities

AFRIKAN POETRY THEATRE Jamaica \$22,500

AIMS OF MODZAWE Jamaica \$24,000

ALPHA OMEGA 1-7 THEATRI-CAL DANCE Manhattan \$10,100

AN CLAIDHEAMH SOLUIS Manhattan \$22,050

ART RESOURCES-TEACHER & STUDENT Manhattan \$24,000

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS CENTRE Manhattan, \$33,000

ASSOCIATION OF COMMUNITY ARTISTS - WESTCHESTER Mount Vernon, \$20,000

BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK Manhattan \$61,000

BLACK SPECTRUM THEATRE COMPANY Jamaica \$40,000

BOYS CHOIR OF HARLEM Manhattan \$22,500

BUFFALO INNER CITY BALLET CO. Buffalo \$15,374

CHARAS Manhattan \$19,100

CHILDREN'S ART CARNIVAL Manhattan \$73.000 DANCE EXPLOSION, LTD Cambria Heights \$10,000

DANCES & DRUMS OF AFRICA Brooklyn \$7,200

DOWNTOWN BALLET COMPANY Manhattan \$14,000

EL MUSEO FRANCISCO OLLER Y Buffalo \$19,500

FRANK SILVERA WRITERS' WKSHP Manhattan \$37,000

FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREAT ARTS Manhattan \$21,000

GREEK CULTURAL CENTER Astoria \$14,500

H T DANCE COMPANY Manhattan \$40,000

HAMILTON HILL-DROP IN-ARTS & CRAFTS Schenectady \$30,500

HARLEM SCHOOL OF THE ARTS Manhattan \$35,200

HISPANIC ORGANIZATION OF LATIN ACTORS Manhattan \$20,000

INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS Manhattan \$45,500

KENKELEBA HOUSE Manhattan \$29,637

LA ROCQUE BEY SCH OF DANCE THT Manhattan \$13,500

LATIN AMERICAN THEATRE ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$26,800 MANNA HOUSE WORKSHOPS Manhattan \$27.500

MOLLYOLGA NEIGHBOR-HOOD ART CLASSES Buffalo \$27,120

MT VERNON FINE ARTS CULTURAL CENTER Mount Vernon \$27,600

NATIONAL BLACK THEATRE WORKSHOP Manhattan \$17.500

NEW HERITAGE REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan \$18,000

NEW YORK BANDURA ENSEMBLE Jamaica \$11,000

NEW YORK CHILDREN'S THEATRE Manhattan \$11,900

NEW YORK CHINESE CULTURAL CENTER Manhattan \$35,000

PREGONES THEATER Bronx \$25,120

PUERTO RICAN WORKSHOP Manhattan \$17,000

ROD RODGERS DANCE COMPANY Manhattan \$26,554

SPANISH-ENGLISH EN-SEMBLE THEATER Manhattan \$18,784

THALIA SPANISH THEATRE Sunnyside \$55,500

VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH CENTER Manhattan \$47,000 WILLIAMSBURG ARTS/ CULTURAL COUNCIL Brooklyn \$15,000

YOUTH THEATRE INTERACTIONS I Yonkers \$27,800

GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT

To provide support for multiple projects of organizations having a history of support from the Special Arts Servicew Program but that are otherwise ineligible for General Operating Support

AFRICAN CULTURAL CENTER - BUFFALO Buffalo , Theatre Productions and Dnc/Drumming Program \$30,000

AMERICAN INDIAN COMM HOUSE Manhattan, Lectures, special progs. and multi-arts performances \$16,000

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS ALLIANCE Manhattan, Space Ntwrk/ Asian Amer Present Orgs. \$19,000

BLOOMINGDALE HOUSE OF MUSIC Manhattan, Scholarships, and concerts 15,400

BOYS HARBOR Manhattan, Dance, music and theatre training programs \$11,000

CHINESE AMERICAN ARTS COUNCIL Manhattan, Perfs, Presentations & Visual Ar \$6,000

CIRCUIT THEATRE Brooklyn, Touring performances, lectures and exhibitions \$7,500

DANCE GIANT STEPS Brooklyn, Dance workshops and National Dnc Week \$6,500 DANCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, Scholarship & Artist-In-Residence Progs \$55,000

DANCE THEATRE OF HARLEM Manhattan, Minority scholarships & Lec/Demo Program-\$54,200

GEMINI DANCE THEATER Buffalo , Dance and visual arts programs \$6,000

GOLD MOUNTAIN INSTITUTE Jackson Heights , Community touring perfs. programs. \$8,000

HARLEM THEATRE COM-PANY Manhattan, Theatre training & performance program \$5,000

HATCH-BILLOPS COLLEC-TION Manhattan, Artist & Influence Series \$7,700

HENRY STREET SETTLE-MENT Manhattan, Dnc, Msc, Tht & Vis Arts Training Progs. \$24,750

INSTITUTO ARTE TEATRAL INT'L Manhattan, 2 Productions and Workshops \$10,000

INT'L AGENCY MINORITY ARTISTS Manhattan, Visual Arts Exhibitions \$5,000

METROPOLITAN SCH FOR THE ARTS Syracuse, Tuition Subsidy for Minority Students & Outreach Prgs \$25,000

NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR CULTURE-ART Manhattan, Opening Night Cable Television Program \$6,000 OLLANTAY CENTER FOR THE ARTS

Jackson Heights, Cost of Reading Series; and perfs. \$6,800

PAUL ROBESON PERFORM-ING ARTS COMPANY Syracuse, Mainstage Season, and training program \$17,000

PUERTO RICAN TRAVELING THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan, Playwrights unit, training unit & Summer Tour \$38,500

SALT & PEPPER MIME COMPANY Manhattan, Touring & Perf & / Wkshp series \$5,000

SHADOW BOX THEATRE Manhattan, Performance & Workshop Programs \$7,000

SLAVIC AMER CULTURAL ASSN INC Old Brookville, Slavic Culture Week & Russian Heritage Month \$2,500

STUDIO MUSEUM IN HARLEM Manhattan, A.I.R., Tours, Workshops, Intern Prgs \$30,000

SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY Syracuse, Exhibition program & workshops \$10,000

UKRAINIAN CHORUS DUMKA OF AMERICA Manhattan, Dance, choral & acting programs \$12,000

WAYNE COUNTY MULTICULTURAL ART PROJECT Program Associate Alton, Performance and training, programs \$9.500

INSTRUCTION & TRAINING (PRE-PROFESSIONAL)

Toward costs of programs offering professional instruction in the arts, with the long-term goal of career entry.

ART FOR ALL SCHOOL CHILDRENS MUSEUM Westkill, Visual Arts prg for minority youths \$5,000

ASIAN CINE-VISION Manhattan, Video Workshops & Equipment Access/Production \$13,500

BROOKLYN MUSIC SCHOOL-PLAYHOUSE Brooklyn, Scholarships for students of color \$4,500

COMMUNITY CTRS OF NEWBURGH Newburgh, Visual Arts Training Program \$10,000

COMMUNITY MUSIC CENTER BROOME COUNTY Binghamton, Scholarships for studensts of color \$4,200

COOPER UNION ADVANCE-MENT OF SCI ENCE & ART Manhattan, Saturday Portfolio Prep. Program \$7,500

DAVID HOCHSTEIN MEM MUSIC SCHOOL Rochester , Msc/Dnc Train. Scholarships for students of color \$8,000

THE DOOR - A CENTER OF ALTERNATIVES Manhattan, Visual Arts & Dnc Training program \$5,000 EASTERN SUFFOLK SCHOOL OF MUSIC Riverhead, Scholarships for students of color \$3,600

GENESEO MIGRANT CENTER Geneseo , multi-arts migrant center program-\$12,500

GUACARA-CTR F/T AD-VANCEMENT-Manhattan, photo & video training programs \$5.000

THE JUILLIARD SCHOOL Manhattan, Saturday Music Advancement Program \$5,000

LOISAIDA ARTS Manhattan, Multi-arts workshops \$3,000

PAN ASIAN REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, Theatre training workshops \$15,000

RED HOOK ARTS Brooklyn, Multi Arts Training Programs \$7,000

RIDGEWOOD BUSHWICK SR CIT CNCL Brooklyn, Multi-arts classes at community centers \$5,000

ROCHESTER ASSN OF PERF ARTS Rochester, Scholarships/ tuition subsidy for students of color \$4,000

ROCKLAND CONSERVATORY OF MUSIC Spring Valley Scholarships for students of color \$5,000

RUTH WILLIAMS DANCE FOUNDATION Manhattan, Dance Training Program \$4,000 SOCIETY-3RD STREET MUSIC SCHOOL SETTLEMENT Manhattan, Scholarships for people of color \$9,300

SUNSET PARK SCHOOL OF MUSIC Brooklyn, Music scholarships for students of color \$7,100

WESTCHESTER CONSERVA-TORY-MUSIC White Plains, Scholarships for Students of color \$3.800

INSTRUCTION & TRAINING (PROFESSIONAL PREPARATION)

Toward costs of programs designed to prepare participants for direct entry into professional arts careers.

AMAS MUSICAL THEATRE Manhattan. Professional Theatre Training Unit. \$7,000

CAMERA NEWS Manhattan, Film/Video Prod Workshops \$2,500

FILM/VIDEO ARTS Manhattan, Scholarships for students of color \$3,600

JAZZMOBILE Manhattan, Saturday Jazz Workshops \$12,000

KINGS MAJESTIC CORPORA-TION Brooklyn, Master Classes for Betty Carter: Jazz Ahead Project \$7,500

LUMINOUS VISIONS Manhattan, Writers' Workshop Series \$5,000

NANETTE BEARDEN CONT DANCE THEATER Manhattan, Career Devel Dance Training Program \$3,000 NEGRO ENSEMBLE COM-PANY Manhattan, Artist Training Unit \$10,000; On-the-job Training \$15,000

NEW FEDERAL THEATRE Manhattan, Theatre training Workshops \$7,000

NEW PROFESSIONAL THEATRE Manhattan, Playwrights Training/ Mentor Project \$12,000

ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUN-DATION Manhattan, Dance training program \$6,000

WILLIAMSBURGH MUSIC CENTER Brooklyn, Jazz Vocal Workshops \$3,000

INSTRUCTION & TRAINING (TRADITIONAL ARTS)

Toward costs of programs intended to transmit and perpetuate an art form that is part of a community's ethnic heritage.

AKWESASNE CULTURAL CENTER Hogansburg, Traditional Mohawk Arts Program \$15,000

AMERICAN AUTHENTIC JAZZ DANCE Manhattan, Jazz Dance program \$5,000

ART APPRECIATION GUILD ST NICHOLAS UKRANIAN ORTHODOX CHURCH Troy, Intensive Folk Dance Program \$3,000

BEDFORD STUYVESANT RESTORATION CORP. Brooklyn, Marie Brooks dance program \$10,000

CENTER OF AFRICAN AMERICAN CULTURE Rochester, KUUMBA Arts Classes \$1,500 CENTRO CIVICO OF AMSTERDAM Amsterdam, Music training program \$6,200

CHINESE CULTURAL PROGRAMS Manhattan, Chinese dance program \$3,000

CHINESE MUSIC ENSEMBLE OF NY Manhattan, Music. classes & lect/demos \$6,000

CYPRECO OF AMERICA Astoria, Folk Dance Program \$2,000

DESTINE DANCE FOUNDA-TION, LTD. Manhattan, Touring Haitian Dnc Program \$7.300

ELAINE KAUFMAN CUL-TURAL CENTER Manhattan, Jewish Trad. Arts Program \$3,500

LOS PLENEROS DE LA 21 Manhattan, Drumming/Dance Training Program \$6,000

MAN FA CENTER OF CHINATOWN Manhattan, Traditional Arts Workshops \$2,500

MCC&DC Buffalo , West African Dance Program \$5,000

MUSIC & ART CENTER OF GREENE COUNTY Ukr. Folk Arts Program \$1,500

NEW YORK LATVIAN CONCERT CHOIR Hastings-On-Hdsn,, Latvian Choral Program \$5,000

ST NICHOLAS UKRAINAIN CATH OLIC CHURCH Watervliet, Ukrainian Dance Program \$4,000 UKRAINIAN MUSEUM Manhattan, Traditional arts workshops \$4,200

WEST INDIAN AMERICAN DAY CARNIVAL Brooklyn, Traditional Arts Workshops \$5,500

PRESENTATION

Toward costs of presentation of dance, music, theater and residency activities.

AFRICAN STREET FESTIVAL Brooklyn, Artists's fees for the Children's Festival \$3,000

AMERICA-ITALY SOCIETY Manhattan, Artists' Fees For Musical Folk Events \$3,000

CENTER OF AFRICAN AMER CULTURE Rochester, Artists' Fees & Prod. costs of Umoja Performance Series \$4,500

CENTRO CIVICO OF AMSTERDAM Amsterdam , Artists' Fee for Hispanic Heritage Month Concert Series \$1,000

PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES

Toward production costs of professionally directed organizations serving ethnic audiences

AMERICAN SPANISH DANCE THEATRE Manhattan, Perfs at Thalia Spnish Tht \$2,300

BLACKBERRY PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Harlem Renaissance perf. series \$14,000

BREAD & ROSES CULTURAL PROJECT Manhattan, Theatre-In-The Hospital Project \$4,300

CHINESE MUSICAL ARTS Valhalla, Touring community preformances \$3,600 CLASSICAL PRODUCTIONS Peekskill, Touring community performances \$1,000

CYPRECO OF AMERICA Astoria, Touring Theatre program \$3,000

DAVID HOCHSTEIN MEMO-RIAL MUSIC SCHOOL Rochester, Borinquen Dnc Thtr touring perfs \$8,000

EAST END ARTS & HUMANITIES COUNCIL
Riverhead, Harvest Gospel
Concerts
\$7,000

ELDERS SHARE THE ARTS Brooklyn, Living History Thtr Project \$5,500

FOLKDANCE FOUNDATION Woodside, Touring performances, \$5,200

FOLKLORICO FILIPINO Manhattan, Touring community performances \$5,000

FOUR SEAS PLAYERS Manhattan, Two theatrical prods. \$5,000

FREDERICK CHOPIN SINGING SOCIETY Cheektowaga Choral/Music program \$4,000

H.A.D.L.E.Y. PLAYERS Manhattan, HADLEY Players' Tht prods \$5,500

HORIZON CONCERTS Manhattan, Community Concerts \$3,000

HOSPITAL AUDIENCES Manhattan, Touring in-facilities perfs \$22,000

HUNGARIAN THEATER & ART ASSOCIATION Manhattan, Theatre productions \$3,500

I GIULLARI DI PIAZZA Manhattan, Touring folk music program \$9,000

INOUE CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Manhattan, Touring community concert prog. \$3,300

JEWISH ASSOC SRVS FOR THE AGED Manhattan, Roots & Branchs Tht: productions \$4,100

JUST BUFFALO LITERARY CENTER Buffalo , Community jazz perf series \$5,000

LATIN AMER THT EXPERI-MENT ASSN Manhattan, Theatre Productions \$7,000

LONGAR EBONY ENSEMBLE, LTD. Manhattan, Touring Performance Program \$3,000

MUSIC FROM CHINA Manhattan, Community concerts/ lec dem. \$3,500

MUSIC OUTREACH-LEARN-ING THRU MUSIC Manhattan, Children's Concerts \$13,000

NANETTE BEARDEN CONT DANCE THT Manhattan, Touring Performance Program \$4,000

NATIONAL ASIAN-AMERI-CAN THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan, Outreach community perfs. \$5,000

NEW DAY REPERTORY THEATRE CO Poughkeepsie Touring perf. Program \$9,200

NEW YORK STREET THEA-TER CARAVAN Jamaica, Touring community performances \$12,000

NUYORICAN POETS CAFE Manhattan, Theater Perf series \$3,000 POLISH AMERICAN FOLK DANCE COMPANY Brooklyn, Folk dance performances \$4,000

POLISH THEATER INSTITUTE IN THE USA Manhattan, Touring opera prods. \$3,500

RAINBOW REPERTORY THEATRE Brooklyn, Theatre productions \$5,000

REJOICENSEMBLE! Manhattan, Touring perf. program \$12,000

ROCHESTER ASSOCIATION OF PERFORMING ARTS Rochester, Theatre productions \$6,000

ROOTS OF BRAZIL Manhattan, performances & lecdemo / workshops \$10,500

SEASONED CITIZENS THEATER COMPANY Manhattan, Touring performance program \$10,500

SLAVIC HERITAGE COUNCIL OF AMERICA Kew Gardens, Multi-arts productions \$2,000

SPANISH DANCE ARTS CO. Manhattan, Performances at Thalia Sp. Tht. \$5,000

SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY CO Manhattan, Community perfs. upstate \$10,000

THEATRE FOR THE FORGOTTEN
Long Island City, Touring perf.
program
\$15,000

TYPICAL DRAMA STUDIO Brooklyn, Touring community perf. program \$2,500

YANGTZE REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, Theatre productions \$5,000

REGRANT PROGRAM

A special, Cultural Incentive Program for Buffalo and Erie County, designed to further develop the management and organizational capabilities of arts organizations in that region of New York State; provided in cooperation with the National Endowment for the Arts State and Regional Program/Arts in Underserved Communities. (First of three years)

ARTS COUNCIL IN BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY Buffalo , Buffalo and Erie County Cultural Incentive Program \$200,000

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE
To provide feees of consultants to
assist organizations in areas
where they lack expertise

ASSOCIATION OF HISPANIC ARTS Manhattan, Technical Assistance Program \$21,500

HARLEM SCHOOL OF THE ARTS Manhattan, Fiscal conduit for SAS Technical Assistance Program \$200,061

STATE & LOCAL PARTNERSHIP COUNTY INCENTIVE

The County Initiative Program (CIP) encourages county governments, generally in partnership with their local arts councils, to participate in the development of local cultural resources by providing matching funds and planning for cultural activities

1994-95 Expenditures

Requests Funded Total \$ Amount

18

\$168,900

Micheal Unthank Program Director

Steve Jones Gerald Lindahl

Program Associates

CITY OF ALBANY Albany, Albany County Arts Residencies, Cultural Awarness Campaign \$10,000

ARTS COUNCIL IN BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY Buffalo, Regrants \$13,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO-MING COUNTY Perry, Annual County-Wide Calendar of Events \$2,500

ARTS COUNCIL OF ORANGE COUNTY Middletown, Cultural Calendar Clearinghouse \$1,000

CAYUGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Auburn, Arts and Tourism Project \$8,000

CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS COUNCIL Corning, Two-County Arts Project Funding Program \$20,000

COUNTY OF COLUMBIA Hudson, Columbia County Arts Festival \$5,000

COMMUNITY ARTS PART-NERSHIP-TOMPKINS COUNTY Ithaca, World of Art Marketing Campaign \$7,000

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg, Sullivan County Arts Promotion Piece \$9,000

DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Poughkeepsie, Dutchess cultural regranting \$20,000 ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Westport, Essex County regrants \$10,000

GENESEE-ORLEANS RE-GIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Batavia, Arts Programming in Genesee County Park \$5,000

GREENE COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Catskill, Greene County Regrants \$7,500

PUTNAM ARTS COUNCIL Mahopac, Putnam County regranting \$4,000

SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Cobleskill, Commemoration of 200th Anniversary of Schoharie \$5,000

ULSTER ARTS ALLIANCE Kingston, County-wide planning for cultural and economic study \$2,400

UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Oneonta, Otsego Arts Regrants \$15,000

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains, Artist Residencies in Schools \$24,500

DECENTRALIZATION

Local Decision making is the basic principle of the Decentralization Program in supporting a wide range of community-based professional and avocational arts programs in diverse communities throughout the state and, through sponsoring organizations, to help support the work of local individual artists. The goal of the Decentralization Program is to support the continued development of local cultural resources responsive to community cultural needs.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Amount |
|----------|-----------------|--------|
| | | |
| | | |

DECENTRALIZATION 1,151 \$1,572,300

Michael Unthank Program Director

Steven Jones Gerald Lindahl Program Associates

ALBANY, RENSSELAER, SCHNECTADY & COLUMBIA COUNTIES

Albany Schnectady League for the

Albany Center Galleries, Albany. \$1,500

Albany Civic Theater, Albany. \$1,000

Albany Housing Authority, Albany. \$1,000

Albany Jewish Community Center.

Albany. \$500

Altamont Free Library Association, Altamont. \$300

Village of Altamont, Altamont. \$1,475

Arbor Hill Community Center, Albany. \$200

Ark, Troy. \$1,800

Art Spark, Schenectady. \$1,500

ArtPartners, Albany. \$1,000

Berlin Youth Commission, Berlin. \$750

Capitol Hill Choral Society, Albany. \$1,200

Cathedral of All Saints, Albany. \$1,200

Collar City Pops, Troy. \$700

Columbia County Youth Project, Hudson. \$900

Columbia Jazz Festival, Philmont. \$450

Columbia-Greene Rape Crisis Center, Hudson. \$450

Downtown Council, Troy. \$1,200

Family Survival of Columbia County, Chatham. \$600 Girls Inc. of Schenectady, Schenectady. \$1,400

Hilltowns Players, Berne. \$1,400

Hudson Boys & Girls Club Hudson. \$2,200

Hudson Valley Choral Society, Claverack. \$850

Hudson Valley Girl Scout Council, Delmar. \$100

Hudson Valley Writer's Guild, Albany. \$250

Impulse Theatre and Dance, Rensselaerville. \$2,000

Irish American Heritage Museum, Albany. \$600

Jerry Burrell Summer Classic, Schenectady. \$1,500

League-Schenectady Symphony Orchestra, Schenectady. \$200

Mohawk Pathwys Girl Scout Council, Schenectady. \$500

Music Mobile, Albany. \$3,500

Northeast Ballet Company, Schenectady. \$500

Ockawamick PTO, Philmont. \$400

Park Playhouse, Albany. \$1,000

Philmont Community Chorus, Philmont. \$500

Ravena Free Library, Ravena. \$900

Roeliff Jansen Concert Choir, Copak. \$775

Schenectady Access Cable Council, Schenectady. \$400

Schenectady Museum Association, Schenectady: \$1,000

Scotia-Glenville Childrens Museum, Scotia. \$900

Susquehanna School, South Colonie Friends of Music, Albany. \$275 Binghamton. \$680 Unitarian Universalist Church, St Florian's Theatre, Binghamton. \$1,140 Latham. \$900 St Paul's Church, City of Albany, Albany. \$800 CAYUGA, SENECA COUN-TIES StageWorks on the Hudson, Spencertown. \$2,200 Cayuga County Arts Council Theater Voices. Auburn Chamber Orchestra, Auburn. \$1,300 Albany. \$300 Auburn Players Community Thursday Musical Club, Theater. Delanson. \$300 Auburn. \$600 Troy Boys & Girls Club, Auburn Players Community Troy. \$1,800 Theater. Auburn. \$1,500 Troy Musical Arts, Troy. \$600 Aurora Free Library, Unlimited Minds, Aurora. \$1,850 Albany. \$1,000 Big Brothers/Big Sisters, Auburn. \$1,150 William K Sanford Town Library, Loudonville. \$500 Booker T. Washington Community Center, Women's Building, Auburn. \$1,950 Albany. \$1,900 Boyle Senior Center, Auburn. \$800 **BROOME** Broome County Arts Council Cornell Co-op Extension of

American Dance Asylum, Binghamton. \$1,175

Binghamton Community Orchestra, Binghamton. \$700

Binghamton Downtown Singers, Binghamton. \$1,000

Binghamton Imagination Celebra, Binghamton. \$1,530

Binghamton Youth Symphony Binghamton. \$1,050

Deposit Comm Tht/Perf Arts Ctr, Deposit. \$3,550

Friends of the Broome County Public Library, Binghamton. \$730

Renaissance Theatre Company, Endicott. \$1,375

Saint Mark's Épiscopal Church, Chenango Bridge. \$930

SRO Productions III, Binghamton. \$1,320

Summer Savoyards, Binghampton. \$820

Cornell Co-op Extension of Cayuga County, Auburn. \$150

ESCAPE by the Lake, Seneca Falls. \$2,150

Hazard Library Association, Poplar Ridge. \$700

Lodi Historical Society, Lodi. \$2,500

Lodi Lake Festival, Lodi. \$700

Lodi Village Market, Lodi. \$850

Village of Moravia, Moravia. \$2,500

Neighborhood House of Auburn, Auburn. \$1,000

Red Jacket Chorale, Waterloo. \$1,800

Seneca Community Players Seneca Falls. \$1,300

Seneca Falls Community Band, Seneca Falls. \$1,000 Springport Free Library, Union Springs. \$1,300

Waterloo Library & Historical Soceity, Waterloo. \$1,200

Weedsport Association Parents-Teachers Weedsport. \$400

CHAUTAUQUA
Arts Council for Chautuaqua
County

Ahira Hall Memorial Library, Brocton. \$500

Ashford Hollow Foundation, East Otto. \$1,200

Big Band Preservation Society, Franklinville. \$700

Chautauqua Alcoholism Council, Jamestown. \$200

Chautauqua Art Association, Chautauqua. \$500

Chautauqua Regional Youth Ballet, Jamestown. \$1,200

Community Music Project, Jamestown. \$1,000

Dunkirk Free Library, Dunkirk. \$1,600

City of Dunkirk, Dunkirk. \$2,000

Farman Free Library Association, Ellington. \$250

Fredonia Preservation Society, Fredonia. \$700

James Prendergast Library, Jamestown. \$2,000

Jamestown Municipal Band, Jamestown. \$1,000

Jamestown Orchestra of Youth, Jamestown. \$1,000

Lily Dale Fine Arts Council, Lily Dale. \$1,000

Little Theatre of Jamestown, Jamestown. \$2,000

Olean Community Theatre, Olean. \$2,500

Olean-Hornell Camp Fire Council, Olean. \$400

Patterson Library, Westfield. \$1,500

South Dayton, Village of, South Dayton. \$750

ALLEGANY, CHEMUNG, SCHUYLER, STEUBEN COUNTIES,

Chemung County Council on the Arts

Village of Alfred, Alfred. \$600

Village of Arkport, Arkport. \$550

Bath Area Chamber of Commerce, Bath. \$1,000

Village of Bolivar, Bolivar. \$1,200

Cantata Singers, Elmira. \$2,200

Common Time Choral Group, Elmira. \$800

Corning Area Youth Center, Corning. \$1,690

Corning Intown Futures, Corning. \$935

Cuba Circulating Library, Cuba. \$1,190

Elmira College, Elmira. \$200

Village of Elmira Heights, Elmira Heights. \$600

Elmira-Corning Ballet Company, Elmira. \$1,500

Ernie Davis Community Center, Elmira. \$925

Friendship Free Library, Friendship. \$800

Genesee Valley Chorus, Wellsville. \$1,000

Village of Hammondsport, Hammondsport. \$1,375

Hornell Public Library, Hornell. \$1,200

City of Hornell, Hornell. \$1,190

Horseheads Historical Society, Horseheads . \$500

Village of Horseheads Horseheads . \$500

Keuka Lake Players, Hammondsport. \$250

Lake Country Players, Watkins Glen. \$500

Mark Twain Chap-SPEBQSA, Elmira. \$1,500

Orlean-Hornell Camp Fire Boys-, Hornell. \$500

Players' of Allegany County, Wellsville . \$850

Prattsburgh Community Historical Society, Prattsburgh. \$750

Pulteney Free Library, Pulteney. \$1,250

Spencer Crest Nature Center, Corning. \$600

Steuben Co Area Artists' Guild, Bath. \$500

Stewart Park Housing Development Fund, Corning. \$1,665

Tanglewood Community Nature Center, Elmira. \$600

Town Theatre of Short Tract, Fillmore. \$1,185

Watkins Glen CSD Free Public Lib, Watkins Glen. \$500

Wayland Free Library, Wayland. \$690

Wellsville Perf Arts Orchestra, Wellsville. \$1,185

Town of Wellsville, Wellsville. \$485

Women's Center of Southern Tier, Corning. \$2,200

CHENANGO

Chenango County Council on the

Afton Historical Society, Afton. \$200

Bainbridge Free Library, Bainbridge . \$1,000

Chenango County Blues Society, Norwich. \$2,500

Chenango County Foundation, Norwich. \$3,000

Chenango County Historical Society, Norwich. \$750

Chenango Gathering Place, Norwich. \$1,000

Friends of the Moore Memorial Library, Greene. \$300

Mid York Concert Band, Norwich. \$1,500

New Berlin Art Forum, New Berlin. \$300

New Berlin Business Association, New Berlin . \$175

New Berlin Library, New Berlin. \$250

New Berlin Youth Days, New Berlin. \$750

Norwich Civil War Round Table, Norwich. \$400

Oxford Community Band, Oxford. \$350

Oxford Historical Society, Oxford. \$1,500

Pre-School at Noah's Ark, New Berlin. \$125

Preston Pryde Park Committee, Oxford. \$200

Sherburne Music Theater Society, Sherburne. \$1,800

Smyrna Citizen's Band, Smyrna. \$1,500

South New Berlin PTA, South New Berlin. \$500

CLINTON

Council on the Arts for Clinton County

Adirondack Youth Orchestra, Plattsburgh. \$2,218

Alice T. Miner Colonial Collection, Chazy. \$450

Champlain Valley Oratorio Society, Plattsburgh. \$2,218

Champlain Valley Orchestral Society, Plattsburgh. \$2,218

Dannemora Youth Commission, Dannemora. \$500

Kent-Delord House Museum, Plattsburgh. \$800

Mohawk Housing Corporation, Hogansburg. \$1,800

Mountain Lake Public Telecommunications Council, Plattsburgh. \$2,500

Peru Free Library, Peru. \$475

City of Plattsburgh, Chazy. \$525

Town of Saranac, Saranac. \$2,000

Senior Citizens Cncl-Clinton, Plattsburgh. \$400

Storytime in Saranac, Cadyville. \$595

Valcour Chapter - American Guild of Organists, Plattsburgh. \$718

DELAWARE

Roxbury Arts Group

Bright Hill Press, Treadwell. \$1,500

Cannon Free Library, Delhi. \$550

Catskill Community Players, Hobart. \$900

Catskill Revitalization Commit-

stamford. \$500

Community Chorale - Catskills, Margaretville. \$500

Delaware County Chap NYS

Delhi. \$700

Delhi Art Group, Delhi. \$500

Franklin Free Library, Franklin. \$1,200

Hancock Area Chamber of Commerce, Hancock. \$1,000

Honest Brook Music Festival, Delhi. \$1,500

Kirkside of Roxbury, Roxbury. \$700

Little Delaware Chamber Players, Delhi. \$1,500

Mt Utsayantha Regional Arts League, Stamford. \$850

Music at Fishs Eddy, Fishs Eddy. \$1,500

New Kingston Valley Association, New Kingston. \$1,000

Pepacton Arts Center, Downsville. \$900

Roxbury Library Association, Roxbury. \$500

Sidney Historical Association, Sidney. \$500

Theatricks by Starlight, East Branch. \$700

Treadwell Community Improvement Club, Treadwell. \$2,250

Tri-Town Theater, Sidney. \$900

United Ministry of Delhi, Delhi. \$1,350

Walton Historical Society, Walton. \$1,500

DUTCHESS

Dutchess County Arts Council

Annandale Troupe, Barrytown. \$1,050

Cappella Festiva, Buffalo Chapter -American Guild Polish Community Center -**FRANKLIN** Poughkeepsie. \$970 of Organists, Buffalo. Essex County Arts Council East Amherst. \$400 Buffalo. \$1,000 (Southern Area) Catharine Street Community Council on the Arts for Clinton Center. Buffalo Philharmonic Chorus, Sacred Sites Restoration Poughkeepsie. \$2,640 County (Northern Area) Buffalo. \$1,000 Corporation, Buffalo. \$1,000 Children's Media Project, Buffalo Suzuki Strings Adirondack Adult Center Wappingers Falls. \$2,110 Buffalo. \$850 Southtowns Youth Orchestra, Tupper Lake, \$160 Orchard Park. \$1,500 Cornell Co-op Extension -Calvary Concert Series, Adirondack Singers, Dutchess County, Williamsville, \$500 Western NY Writing Project, Millbrook \$1,050 Saranac Lake. \$500 Buffalo. \$1,000 City of Good Neighbors Chorale, Friends Beth Joseph Synagogue, Cunneen-Hackett Cultural Center. Buffalo. \$1,200 Youth Orchestra Foundation of Poughkeepsie. \$1,580 Tupper Lake. \$625 Buffalo Community Music School of Amherst. \$2,000 North Franklin Theatre Group, Dover Plains Library, Buffalo. Malone. \$3,050 Dover Plains, \$1,580 Buffalo. \$1,100 ESSEX Dutchess Co Association for Northern Adirondack Community Concord Historical Society, Essex County Arts Council Dancers, Senior Citizens. East Concord. \$300 Saranac Lake. \$1,500 Poughkeepsie. \$950 1812 Homestead Educational Dance Special, Foundation, Saranac Lake Free Library, First Reformed Protestant Dutch Buffalo. \$600 Willsboro. \$2,400 Saranac Lake. \$740 Church. Fishkill. \$530 Earth's Daughters: Adirondack Art Association Saranac Lake Youth Center, Buffalo. \$1,750 Essex. \$400 Saranac Lake. \$325 Greater Poughkeepsie Library District. Erie County Wind Ensemble, Essex Theatre Company, Saranac Lake Youth Activities, Poughkeepsie. \$1,300 Williamsville. \$750 Essex. \$1,175 Saranac Lake. \$1,250 Grinnell Library Association, Freudig Singers of Western NY, Keene Valley Library, Wead Library, Orchard Park. \$800 Wappingers Falls. \$1,425 Keene Valley. \$1,200 Malone. \$350 Hudson Valley Gilbert-Sullivan, Friends of Vienna, Lake Placid Public Library, Poughkeepsie. \$920 Hamburg. \$600 Lake Placid. \$2,100 GENESEE, ORLEANS Genessee-Orleans Regional Arts Hudson Valley Opera, Irish Classical Theatre Company., Oscar Seagle Association, Poughkeepsie. \$1,850 Buffalo. \$1,000 Schroon Lake, \$900 Batavia Chapter - SPEBSOSA. Mid Hudson Camerata Chorale. Levinus K Painter Community Paine Memorial Free Library, Batavia. \$1,340 Poughkeepsie. \$920 Center, Willsboro. \$1,750 Collins. \$2,250 Batavia Concert Band. City of Poughkeepsie Partnership, PRIDE of Ticonderoga, Poughkeepsie \$950 Batavia. \$1,500 Lutheran Chorale-Niagara Ticonderoga. \$500 Frontier. Batavia Society of Artists, Queen City Stage Company, Kenmore. \$550 Schroon Lake Arts Council, Poughkeepsie. \$2,110 Batavia. \$1,000 Schroon Lake. \$1,000 Niagara Frontier Flute Associa-Byron-Bergen Public Library, Wassaic Development Disabilities Town of Schroon. Bergen. \$1,450 Services Buffalo. \$600 Schroon Lake. \$750 Wassaic. \$1,475 Chamber of Commerce of North Collins Elementary PTA. Ticonderoga Heritage Museum, Medina. White Pond Community Arts/ North Collins. \$915 Ticonderoga, \$750 Medina. \$2,600 Cultural Center, Stormville, \$2,440 Town of North Collins, United Church of Christ, Community Free Library, North Collins. \$1,300 Elizabethtown. \$500 Holley. \$2,285 Parkside Chamber Music Series, Wadhams Free Library, First Presbyterian Church, **ERIE** Buffalo. \$300 Wadhams. \$850 Batavia. \$1,480 Arts Council in Buffalo & Erie

American Legion Band of

Town of Boston Arts Council.

Tonawandas,

Tonawanda, \$800

Boston, \$1,050

Westport Library Association,

Westport. \$650

Flight of Fancy Experimental

Theater,

Albion. \$1,500

Parkside Community Association,

Pilgrim-St Lukes United Church

Buffalo. \$2,300

of Christ, Buffalo. \$980

Hepburn Library at Madrid, Friends-Mental Health-Orleans, Heermance Memorial Library. LIVINGSTON Madrid. \$460 Coxsackie, \$1,200 Genessee Valley Council on the Albion. \$2,000 Hepburn Library of Waddington, Genesee Chorale, NYS ARC - Greene County Waddington. \$500 1941 Historical Aircraft Group, Albion. \$1,425 Chapter. Catskill. \$642 Geneseo. \$2,000 Lafargeville Church of the Genesee County Agricultural Nazarene, Prattsville Rec Improvement Association for the Preservation Society, Committee, Lafargeville. \$1,100 of Geneseo. Batavia. \$3,000 Prattsville. \$800 Geneseo. \$350 Lewis Alcoholism/Substance Genesee Symphony Orchestra, United Methodist Church. Abuse. Avon Community Theatre, Batavia. \$2,000 Lowville. \$500 Greenville . \$800 Avon. \$1,000 County of Genesee, Lewis County Chmbr of Windham Public Library, Batavia. \$2,800 Avon Free Library, Windham. \$1,100 Commerce, Avon. \$3,250 Lowville, \$1,850 Gillam-Grant Community Center, Dansville Public Library, Bergen. \$625 Town of Lewis Library, Dansville. \$2,130 West Leyden. \$500 HAMILTON Holland Purchase Historical Adirondack Lakes Center for the Friends of Music-Geneseo Society, Massena Artists' Association, Batavia. \$1,500 Foundation, Massena. \$250 Geneseo. \$3,000 Landmark Society of Genesee Adirondack Discovery, North Country Artists' Guild, Inlet. \$550 Genesee Ensemble Theatre, County, Watertown, \$800 Dansville. \$1,300 Batavia. \$300 Friends of the Long Lake Library Long Lake . \$1,030 North Jefferson Community Geneseo Community Players, Research Foundation - SUNY Theater. Geneseo. \$2,025 Brockport, Brockport. \$2,500 Alexandria Bay. \$2,000 Indian Lake PTSA. Indian Lake. \$750 Livingston County Historical Norwood Library Association, Society, Rural Opportunities, Indian Lake Public Library, Norwood. \$2,925 Albion. \$1,000 Geneseo. \$500 Indian Lake, \$550 Ogdensburg Public Library. Stafford Recreation Committee. Livonia High School Band Indian Lake/Blue Mountain Lake, Ogdensburg . \$520 Boosters. Stafford. \$495 Indian Lake, \$1,500 Livonia, \$1,000 Oxbow Historical Association, Oxbow. \$700 Livonia Public Library, Town of Inlet, Inlet. \$1,000 Livonia. \$970 GREENE Potsdam College Foundation, Greene County Council on the St Agnes Church Society, Potsdam. \$5,000 Town of Long Lake Long Lake. \$2,660. Avon. \$500 Potsdam Public Library, Arts Revival in Athens, United Church - Presby-Genesee Potsdam, \$200 Athens. \$1,275 Raquette Lake Library, Raquette Lake. \$2,000 Valley, Reading Room Association of Mount Morris. \$1,500 Cairo Public Library, Gouverneur, St William's on Long Point, Cairo. \$1,500 Gouverneur. \$500 Raquette Lake. \$1,000 York Central Parent-Teacher Association. D.R. EVARTS Library, Russell Public Library, Retsof. \$900 Wells Central School PTSA, Athens. \$285 Russell. \$100 Wells, \$1,660 First Reformed Church Catskill, Sackets Harbor Historical Society, Catskill. \$1,500 Sackets Harbor. \$2680 HERKIMER, MADISON, LEWIS, JEFFERSON, ST. LAWRENCE ONEIDA Greene County Department for Trillium String Trio, the Aging, North Country Library System Central New York Community Watertown . \$1,750 Arts Council Catskill, \$800 Adirondack Mountain Club, Trinity Episcopal Church, Greene Room Players, Ltd, Waddington, \$600 Potsdam. \$5,000 Associates Gerontological Hunter. \$1,900 B. Elizabeth Strong Memorial Education,

Library,

Turin. \$500

Clayton, \$100

Hawn Memorial Library,

Greenville Public Library,

Heart of Catskill Association,

Greenville. \$1,700

Catskill. \$2,000

Tug Hill Tomorrow

William H Bush Memorial Lib,

Watertown. \$360

Martinsburg. \$200

Utica. \$800

Utica. \$600

B Sharp Musical Club,

Big Moose Community Chapel, MONROE Mohawk Valley Chapter -Rochester Oratorio Society Eagle Bay. \$300 Arts for Greater Rochester SPEBSOSA, Rochester, \$1,000 New Hartford. \$300 Village ofBoonville, Black Seeds Drama-Dance City of Rochester, Boonville, \$625 Mohawk Valley Opera Society, Ensemble, Rochester. \$500 Rochester \$2,000 Utica, \$400 Broadway Tht League of Utica, School of Classical Ballet, Boys & Girls Club of Rochester, Utica. \$1,000 Mohawk Valley Performing Arts, Rochester. \$1,500 Rochester, \$1,800 Clark Mills. \$4,000 Burton Street PTA, Shipping Dock Theatre, Cazenovia. \$600 Brighton Symphony Orchestra, Northwood School of Ballet, Rochester. \$1,800 Rochester, \$1,000 Remsen. \$500 Camden Library Association, Spiritual Assembly of Bahais, Camden. \$200 Center for Youth Services, NYS Assn for Retarded Children, Rochester, \$1,800 Rochester. \$1,000 Utica. \$1,000 Canastota Canal Town Museum, St Joseph's Villa of Rochester, Canastota, \$2,000 Colleen Hendrick Dance Theatre. Oneida Area Arts Council, Rochester, \$800 Rochester. \$1,500 Oneida, \$600 Canastota Public Library, Susan B. Anthony Memorial Canastota. \$1,500 Creative Response-Rochester, Rochester. \$750 Oneida Area Civic Chorale, Spencerport. \$1,050 Verona, \$750 Capitol Civic Center, Vox Futuris. Rome. \$800 Faith Community Health Oneida Co Extension Services Rochester. \$2,000 Awareness Center, Association, Rochester, \$1,500 Clayville Library Association, Oriskany. \$1,000 Town of Webster, Clayville. \$300 Webster, \$400 Town of Gates, Oneida County Writing Rochester. \$1,000 Dodge-Pratt-Northam Art, Workshops, Boonville, \$300 Clinton, \$600 Greece Performing Arts Society NASSAU North Greece. \$1,000 Erwin Library & Institute. Long Island Arts Council at Oneida Library, Boonville. \$300 Oneida, \$400 Freeport Ibero-American Action League, Rochester. \$500 First Presbyterian Church, Persnickety Players, Oneida. \$400 Old Forge . \$300 Ahavat Musica, Jewish Comm Center of Greater Malverne, \$500 Floyd Instrumental Ensemble, Petronella Productions, Rochester. Rochester. \$2,000 Rome. \$200 Utica. \$600 Celebrations Brass, Massapequa. \$1,000 Jewish War Veterans of the US, Forestport Senior Citizen Players of Utica. Rochester. \$2,000 Recreation, New Hartford. \$600 Cultural Enterprises, Forestport. \$100 Hempstead. \$500 LIGHTS ON! Deaf Theatre, Rhythm Lite Productions Rochester, \$1,500 Foundation Gallery, Utica. \$500 D'Vonszay Dnc Movement Herkimer. \$100 Express, Rome Choral Society, Murphy School-Irish Dance Freeport. \$2,900 Frank J. Basloe Library, Parents. Rome. \$800 Herkimer. \$400 Rochester. \$2,500 Danny Hurd Jazzplus Quartet, Rome Community Theatre, Valley Stream. \$472 Friends of the Old Forge Library, Open Door Mission, Rome. \$500 Rochester. \$3,200 Old Forge. \$800 Elmont Public Library, St Thomas' Episcopal Church, Elmont. \$600 Greater Oneida Civic Center, Park Band Association, Hamilton. \$1,500 Rochester. \$1,000 Oneida. \$625 Ethical Humanist Society of Long Island. Stage Two, Greater Utica Chamber Orchestra, Penfield Symphony Orchestra, Garden City. \$1,350 Mohawk. \$600 Penfield. \$1,000 New Hartford, \$500 First Night Freeport, Tapestry-All-Centuries Singers, Hamilton Public Library, Perinton Concert Band, Freeport. \$2,500 Clinton. \$700 Fairport. \$800 Hamilton. \$700 Freeport Memorial Library, United Cerebral Palsy, Polonia Civic Centre, Jervis Public Library Association, Utica. \$450 Freeport. \$1,200 Rochester. \$2,000 Rome. \$450 Utica Public Library, Gilbert & Sullivan Light Opera of Rochester Bach Festival, Long Island, Lake Street PTA, Utica. \$700 Fairport. \$500 Chittenango. \$800 Massapequa. \$2,280 YMCA of the Mohawk Valley, Rochester Community Players,

Rochester, \$1,000

Mohawk, \$400

Little Falls Family YMCA.

Little Falls. \$400

Niagara Summer Fine Arts Rockville Centre Guild for Art, Syracuse Housing Authority, Great Neck Park District, Rockville Centre. \$1,000 Progm, Syracuse. \$2,539 Great Neck. \$1,000 Niagara Falls. \$1,000 Rosa Santoro & Friends, Syracuse Vocal Ensemble, IdeaDance, Long Beach . \$980 Niagara Symphony Orchestra Syracuse. \$1,389 Levittown. \$1,470 Niagara Falls. \$1,775 Stephen Mirabella, Island Chamber Symphony, Taste of the Arts, St John De LaSalle Home School, Bayville, \$500 Syracuse. \$1,739 Glen Head. \$460 Niagara Falls. \$350 St Sarkis Armenian Church, Temple Society of Concord, Island Lyric Opera Corp., Suburban Art League, Niagara Falls. \$350 Syosset. \$2,000 Syracuse. \$889 Garden City. \$2,500 Tonawandas Council on the Arts, Sylvain Leroux, Jericho Public Library, North Tonawanda. \$2,000 Inwood. \$2,000 Jericho. \$760 **ONTARIO** Theatre II of Glen Cove, Ltd., Underground Railroad Commit-Finger Lakes Regional Arts Long Island Mandolin & Guitar Glen Cove. \$2,000 Council Orchestra, Niagara Falls. \$500 Hempstead. \$780 Womanspace Great Neck. \$500 American Association of Long Beach Symphony, Long Beach. \$1,178 University Women, ONANDAGA Canandaigua. \$490 Zeus's Thigh, Ltd, Cultural Resources Council of Merrick. \$650 Long Island Children's Museum, Syracuse and Onadaga County Canandaigua Arts Center, Garden City. \$2,500 Canandaigua. \$920 Long Island Composers Alliance, Civic Morning Musicals, Community Unified Today, **NIAGARA** Roslyn. \$1,062 Syracuse. \$825 Niagara County Council on the Geneva, \$1,823 Long Island Opera Company, Corinthian Foundation, Friends of Staraya Russa, West Hempstead. \$3,500 Syracuse. \$889 Canandaigua. \$400 79th Street School Parent Group, Lucille Villa, Downtown Committee of Niagara Falls. \$800 Geneva General Hospital Nursing Baldwin. \$375 Syracuse, Home. Syracuse. \$1,117 Geneva. \$400 Center for Joy. Merrick Chorale. Niagara Falls. \$800 North Merrick. \$750 Enable-Syracuse Comm Choir, Geneva Theatre Guild, Syracuse. \$2,139 East Niagara Chamber of Geneva. \$2,500 Merrick Symphony Orchestra, Commerce, North Merrick. \$2,488 Irish American Cultural Inst, Granger Homestead Society, Lockport. \$700 Skaneateles. \$939 Canandaigua. \$1,200 Mineola Choral Society, First Baptist Church, Mineola. \$1,200 Jordan Free Library, Niagara Falls. \$1,900 Ontario County Jail, Jordan. \$539 Canandaigua. \$500 Minnewaska Chamber Music Kenan Center, Society, Jordan Winterfest, Lockport. \$1,750 Phelps Community Library, Wantagh. \$525 Jordan. \$589 Phelps. \$990 LaSalle Middle School Parent Nassau Pops Symphony Jowonio School, St Peter's Memorial Church, Organization, Orchestra. Syracuse. \$714 Geneva. \$2,500 Niagara Falls. \$375 Franklin Square. \$2,050 Marcellus Chorale, Lewiston Council on the Arts, Victor Assoc Cult & Perf Arts, New York Institute of Technol-Marcellus. \$1,139 Lewiston, \$1,700 Victor. \$900 Old Westbury. \$1,000 Onondaga Parks & RecCounty of, The Links, Inc. Wellness In Naples, Liverpool. \$2,000 Buffalo. \$1,200 Naples. \$2,445 North Bellmore Public Library, North Bellmore, \$550 People's Equal Action/Comm Eff, West Bloomfield Congregational Lockport Concert Association, Syracuse, \$1,139 Lockport. \$2,000 Church. Town of North Hempstead, West Bloomfield. \$1,030 New Hyde Park. \$725 Salvation Army-Syracuse Area, Music School of Niagara, Syracuse, \$1,539 Niagara Falls. \$2,000 Operation PRIDE of Freeport, Freeport. \$3,000 Syracuse Children's Chorus

Camillus, \$1,639

Syracuse. \$939

Syracuse Country Dancers,

Niagara Civic Ballet Company,

Niagara Falls Housing Authorty,

Niagara Falls Little Theatre, Niagara Falls. \$1,500

Niagara Falls. \$1,900

Niagara Falls. \$1,100

Purple Cow Playhouse, Ltd.,

Baldwin. \$2,000

Regina Zimmerman, North Woodmere. \$820

ORANGE Town of Walkhill-Stardust Pulaski Historical Society, Opportunities for Otsego, Arts Council of Orange County Orchestra. Pulaski. \$1,100 Oneonta. \$1,000 Middletown, \$500 Calvary Presbyterian Church, Pulaski Public Library, Orpheus Theatre, Newburgh. \$1,000 Warwick Community Band-Pulaski. \$1,000 Oneonta, \$800 wagon. First Presbterian Church of Warwick, \$1,000 Pulaski/Schroeppel Chamber of Otsego Council of Senior Monroe, Commerce, Citizens. Monroe. \$1,450 Warwick Ecumenical Council. Pulaski. \$700 Hartwick. \$328 Warwick. \$1,100 High Tea Concerts, Schroeppel Historical Society, Otsego County Pomona Grange Port Jervis. \$950 Webb Horton Presbyterian Phoenix. \$300 #16. Church. Unadilla. \$500 Hudson Heritage Country Dances, Middletown \$700 St Luke Residential Health Care Chester, \$750 Facility. Otsego Dance Society, Oswego. \$1,200 Yoga Society of New York, Cooperstown. \$1,000 Jesus Christ's Triumphant Monroe, \$750 Church. Williamstown Historical Society.. Smithy-Pioneer Gallery, New Hampton. \$900 Williamstown. \$700 Cooperstown, \$1,500 Middletown Recreation OSWEGO Springfield Historical Society, Commission County of Oswego Springfield Center, \$700 Middletown, \$1,200 OTSEGO Upper Catskill Community St Matthew's Episcopal Church, Museum Village, Annie Porter Ainsworth Memorial Council on the Arts Unadilla. \$700 Monroe. \$1,850 Library. Sandy Creek. \$400 Catskill Choral Society, Storytelling Center of Oneonta, Neversink Valley Area Museum, Oneonta, \$900 Oneonta, \$800 Cuddebackville. \$1,400 Children's Board of Oswego, City of the Hills Chorus, Oswego. \$1,800 SUCO Children's Center. New York Military Academy, Otego. \$1,100 Oneonta. \$900 Cornwall-on-Hudson. \$600 Friends of History Fulton. \$800 Village of Cooperstown, Unadilla Community Recreation New York Theatre Organ Society, Cooperstown, \$300 Development Montgomery. \$550 Fulton Community Theatre, Unadilla, \$800 Fulton. \$2,340 First United Methodist Church, Newburgh Free Library, Oneonta. \$900 Newburgh. \$950 Fulton Public Library, Fulton. \$1,800 Girl Scouts-Indian Hills Council. **PUTNAM** Orange County Ballet Theatre, Oneonta. \$600 Putnam Arts Council New Windsor. \$1,100 Hannibal Free Library, Hannibal. \$1,100 Harris Memorial Library, Boscobel Restoration. Orange County Classical Choral Otego. \$1,500 Garrison, \$1,000 Society, Old Ladies Home of Oswego, Monroe. \$1,100 Oswego. \$587 Huntington Memorial Library, Doansburg Chamber Ensemble, Oneonta. \$310 Brewster. \$3,415 Orange County Community Ontario Center for the Performing College Lyceum, Leatherstocking Education on Literacy Volunteers-Putnam Middletown. \$1,100 Oswego. \$2,200 Alcoholism/Addiction Founda-County, Mahopac. \$2,160 Orange County Music Educators Oswego Bach Choir, Cooperstown. \$600 Association, Oswego. \$1,282 Mahopac Library, Circleville, \$1,000 Leatherstocking Theatre Co., Mahopac. \$1,550 Milford. \$1,200 Oswego High School Band Orange Orchestral Society Parents Association. Otisville. \$1,150

> Parish United Methodist Church, Parish. \$761

Oswego Maritime Foundation.

Phoenix Public Library, Phoenix, \$750

Oswego. \$2,500

Oswego. \$1,500

City of Oswego,

Oswego. \$500

Pine Bush Area Arts Council.

Pine Bush. \$1,800

Poetry on the Loose,

Sugarloaf Music Series,

Campbell Hall. \$600

Sweet Adelines International,

Goshen, \$500

Chester. \$1,000

Midstate Music Teacher's Association, Unadilla. \$1,350

Lions Club of Oneonta,

Major's Inn Foundation,

Gilbertsville, \$800

Oneonta. \$400

Oneonta Boychoir, Oneonta. \$850

Putnam Associated Resource Center. Carmel. \$1,400 Putnam Chorale, Ltd., Carmel. \$3,975

Putnam Symphony Orchestra,

Carmel. \$1,700

Stillwater Players Among Others, Town ofJefferson ROCKLAND SARATOGA Stillwater . \$1,050 Jefferson. \$1,000 Saratoga County Arts Council Arts Council of Rockland Margaret Reaney Memorial Arts & Cultural Citizens Advisory Amer Art, Library, Committee, Hillcrest. \$925 St. Johnsville. \$1,315 Clifton Park. \$500 **FULTON, MONTGOMERY** Asian Womens' Alliance Kinship/ SCHOHARIE, Mayfield Central Presbyterian Equality. Ballston Spa Public Library, Schoharie County Arts Council Church. Ballston Spa. \$500 New City. \$1,500 Mayfield. \$375 Amsterdam Free Library, Community Human Services, Cornell Co-op Extension of Amsterdam . \$389 Town of Mayfield, Burnt Hills. \$600 Rockland. Mayfield. \$360 Thiells, \$450 Blenheim Bridge Historical Corinth Theatre Guild. Association. Mohawk Valley Chorus, Corinth, \$500 County Choral Society, Amsterdam, \$325 North Blenheim. \$1,375 Nyack. \$1,750 Dance Alliance Northville Public Library, Broadalbin Kennyetto Historical Ballston Spa. \$600 Friends of Finkelstein Memorial Northville, \$486 Society. Library, Broadalbin . \$1,000 Spring Valley. \$800 Friends-Musical Arts Saratoga, Village of Northville, Saratoga Springs. \$1,000 Northville. \$1,700 Canajoharie Library & Art Friends of the Nyacks, Gallery. Friends-Saratoga Springs Public Nyack. \$1,500 Canajoharie. \$600 Palatine Settlement Society, St. Johnsville. \$1,000 Saratoga Springs. \$500 Harmony on the Hudson, Caroga Historical Association, Garnerville. \$400 Salt Springville Community Caroga Lake. \$600 Friends-Ulysses S. Grant Cottage, Restoration, Saratoga Springs. \$800 Hudson Valley Children's Cherry Valley. \$625 Cobleskill Chamber Singers, Museum. Cobleskill. \$990 Hudson Mohawk Country Upper Nyack. \$1,250 Schoharie County Theater Dancers. Company, Cobleskill Restoration & Devel, Ballston Spa. \$1,100 Jamaican Civic & Culture Jefferson. \$700 Cobleskill. \$500 Association, Town of Malta Youth Commis-Spring Valley. \$1,000 Cobleskill United Methodst Chr, Schoharie Free Library Assoc., sion. Cobleskill. \$1,250 Schoharie. \$470 Ballston Lake. \$900 Martin L King Multi-Purpose Center, Schoharie, Village of, Colonial Little Theatre Spring Valley. \$750 North Eastern Woodworkers Johnstown, \$1,200 Schoharie. \$700 Association. Rexford. \$700 Music Amici, Sharon Springs Chamber of Esperance Historical Society, Palisades. \$1,750 Commerce, Esperance. \$737 Opera Excelsior Company, Sharon Springs. \$550 Saratoga Springs. \$1,100 Nyack Community Child Fort Klock Historical Restoration. Development Center, St. Johnsville. \$350 Village of Sharon Springs, Saratoga Chamber Players, Nyack. \$2,000 Sharon Springs. \$400 Saratoga Springs. \$700 Fort Plain Free Library. Riverfront Dances, South Side Veterans Association, Fort Plain. \$1,275 Saratoga City Ballet, West Nyack. \$1,100 Amsterdam, \$1,000 Saratoga Springs. \$1,950 Friends of Johnson Hall, Rockland Camerata, Johnstown. \$850 Southern Schoharie County Saratoga Springs Urbana Cultural Piermont. \$900 Business Association, Fulton County Office for Aging, North Blenheim. \$875 Saratoga Springs. \$1,750 Rockland Center Holocaust Johnstown. \$350 Studies. St. Christopher's Episcopal Shenendehowa Public Library, Spring Valley, \$1,100 Fulton, County of, Church. Clifton Park. \$800 Cobleskill. \$1,000 Johnstown. \$400 Rockland Teachers' Center, Southern Adirondack Library Garnerville. \$1,500 Village of St. Johnsville, Glen Reformed Church,

Hagaman. \$300

Gloversville Free Library,

Gloversville, \$600

City of Gloversville.

Glen. \$700

Gloversville. \$2,000 Foothills. Gloversville. \$1,600 Village of Hagaman,

St. Johnsville. \$750

Town of Stratford.

YWCA of the Adirondack

Stratford, \$600

System,

Saratoga Springs. \$2,000

Saratoga Springs. \$600

Gansevoort . \$400

Spring Hill Waldorf School,

St Timothy's Episcopal Church,

Rockland Youth Consortium,

West Third Street Dance

Suffern. \$800

Corporation,

Nyack. \$1,850

SUFFOLK Huntington Arts Council Albany Avenue Elementary School PTA, Lindenhurst. \$350 Amityville Public Library, Amityville, \$800 Babylon Chorale, Babylon, \$700 Bay Area Friends of Fine Arts, Bayport. \$1,500 Bootstraps Traditional Music. Peconic. \$1,000

Brentwood Public Library,

Britten-on-the-Bay Festival, Amityville. \$800

Brentwood. \$1,000

Britten-on-the-Bay Festival, Amityville. \$800

Cartoon Opera Musical Theater, Huntington. \$1,700

Community Action Southold Town. Greenport. \$1,000

Community Library Friends of the Shirley. \$1,500

Connetquot Public Library, Bohemia. \$1,500

Cultural-Civic Center ofSouthampton, Southampton. \$1,000

Deer Park Community Organiza-Deer Park. \$250

East End Photographers Group, Riverhead. \$500

East Islip Public Library, East Islip. \$500

El Teatro Rodante Hispanico, Brentwood. \$800

Folk Music Society of Hunting-North Babylon. \$750

Friends of Riverhead Free Library, Riverhead. \$700

Friends of the Pharaoh Museum, Sag Harbor. \$500

Greater Port Jefferson Arts Council. Port Jefferson. \$1,250

Greenlawn Centerport Historical Association, Greenlawn, \$1,500

Half Hollow Hills Community Public Library, Dix Hills. \$250

Huntington Choral Society Huntington. \$1,250

Huntington Township Art League, Huntington. \$600

Huntington Youth Bureau, Huntington. \$1,000

Island Hlls Chorale-Sweet Adeline, Huntington. \$400

Island Senior Citizens Orchestra. Centerport. \$450

Kids for Kids Productions, Lake Grove. \$800

Ladies Auxiliary of Water Mill, Water Mill. \$980

Lindenhurst Memorial Library, Lindenhurst. \$1,100

Live Poets Society, Islip. \$600

Long Island Musicians Scholarship Fund, Northport. \$500

Long Island Native American Task Force, North Great River. \$1,200

Long Island Recorder Festival, East Northport. \$750

Long Island Symphonic Choral Association. Setauket. \$650

Long Island Traditional Music Association, Lindenhurst. \$850

North Babylon Public Library, North Babylon, \$570

North Shore Pro Musica, East Setauket. \$500

Northport Historical Society, Northport. \$600

Northport Piano Trio, East Northport. \$700

Opera of the Hamptons, Brooklyn. \$1,200

Partnerships for Survival, Smithtown. \$1,000

Playcrafters, Bellport. \$1,000

Ridotto Arts Organization Huntington Station. \$1,500

Riverhead Free Library. Riverhead. \$850

Sachem Public Library, Holbrook. \$800

Senior Citizen "POPS" Orchestra of Long Island, Melville. \$600

Shelter Island Choristers, Shelter Island Heights. \$350

Shelter Island Historical Society, Shelter Island, \$800

Sol Y Sombra Spanish Dance Company, Smithtown. \$1,750

Sound Symphony, Huntington Station. \$500

South Shore Boys Club, Sayville. \$1,600

Suffolk Association of Jewish Schools. Huntington Station. \$500

Suffolk County Senior Citizens Chorus, Nesconset. \$400

Suffolk County - American Guild of Organists, Sayville. \$450

Summer Showcase Concert Series, Southold, \$500

Training Orchestra, Melville. \$1,700

Tri-Community & Youth Agency, Huntington Station, \$400

Victor D'Amico Institute of Art, Amagansett. \$600

West Babylon Public Library, West Babylon. \$200

Westhampton Cultural Consortum, Westhampton Beach. \$1,000

Wyandanch Public Library, Wyandanch. \$1,000

SULLIVAN Delaware Valley Arts Alliance

Artists Collaborative-Upper Delaware. Narrowsburg. \$1,000

Town of Bethel, White Lake. \$500

Bloomingburg Restoration Foundation, Bloomingburg. \$400

Calico Geese Quilters-Sullivan, Liberty. \$400

Callicoon Center Band, North Branch. \$400

Catskill Art Society, Hurleyville. \$700

Catskill Reading Society, Claryville . \$700

Delaware Valley Opera, Narrowsburg. \$2,000

Fort Delaware Museum of Colonial History. Monticello. \$300

Icarus Endeavor. Lake Huntington. \$1,000

Ill Winds Chamber Ensemble, Narrowsburg. \$2,000

Latin American Folkloric Ballet, Monticello, \$900

Town of Lumberland, Glen Spey . \$500

Midsummer Chamber Music Jeffersonville. \$1,400

Shandelee Music Festival, Livingston Manor. \$700

Sullivan County Community Chorus. Forestburgh, \$600

Triad, Waverly Free Library, City of Ithaca Overlook Lyric Theatre, Yulan. \$2,000 Waverly. \$400 Woodstock. \$500 Ithaca. \$300 Upper Delaware Writers Ithaca Concert Band, Reformed Protestant Dutch TOMPKINS, CORTLAND Collective, Ithaca, \$1,200 Church. Narrowsburg. \$500 Community Arts Partnerhips Kingston. \$500 Ithaca Festival, Ballet Guild of Ithaca, Ithaca. \$1,775 Town of Rochester, Ithaca, \$2,150 Accord. \$750 Lime Hollow Nature Center, **TIOGA** Campus Artist & Lecture Series, Cortland, \$838 Rosendale Library, Cortland. \$1,408 Tioga County Rosendale. \$2,300 Music's Recreation. Candor Free Library, Center for the Expressive Arts, Ulster Ballet Guild, Ithaca. \$2,300 Candor. \$450 Ithaca. \$1,375 Saugerties. \$1,000 Newfield Public Library, Coburn Free Library, Center for Religion, Ethics, Social Newfield, \$550 Ulster Choral Society, Owego. \$144 **Policies** Kingston. \$700 Ithaca. \$700 Seven Valley Chorus-Sweet Fred L Waterman Conservation & Wallkill Valley Rail Trail Adelines. Central NY Puppet Guild, Education Center, McGraw, \$550 Association. Apalachin. \$1,000 Cortland, \$600 New Paltz. \$1,000 Southside Community Center, Chiron New Music, Friends of the Apalachin Library, Ithaca. \$2,500 Woodstock School of Art, Apalachin. \$400 Ithaca, \$895 Woodstock. \$1,600 State of the Art Gallery, Co-op Extension Association of George P-Susan Platt Cady Woodstock Youth Theatre, Ithaca. \$600 Library. Tompkins County, Bearsville, \$700 Ithaca. \$1,000 Nichols. \$500 Tompkins County Senior Citizens Council, Interdisciplinary Institutte of Arts Community Animation, WARREN Ithaca. \$1,000 Ithaca. \$300 & Humanities, Warren County Decentralization Lockwood, \$260 Upstairs Gallery, Program Cortland County Area Agency on Ithaca. \$130 Aging, Kirby Band Adirondack Musical Artists Cortland, \$680 Nichols. \$1,200 Oueensbury, \$1,310 Newark Valley Historical Society, Cortland College Student Adirondack Repertory Dance ULSTER Newark Valley. \$900 Association, Dutchess County Arts Council Theater Cortland. \$1,757 Queensbury. \$455 Village of Newark Valley, Center for Arts & Technology, Cortland County Chapter-Newark Valley, \$350 Kingston. \$1,000 Adirondack Repertory Dance NYARC, Theater, Cortland. \$344 Nichols-Tioga Lions, Queensbury. \$1,084 Century House Historical Society, Nichols. \$400 Rosendale, \$900 Cortland Free Library, Adirondack Theatre Festival, Owego Choral Society, Cortland. \$760 Delaware Hudson Canal Lake George. \$1,580 Apalachin. \$600 Historical Society. Feminist Women's Writing Cambridge Girl Scouts, High Falls. \$800 Owego Marketplace, Wkshp. Cambridge. \$750 Owego. \$410 Ithaca. \$850 Ellenville Public Library & Chester, Town of, Museum. Penn York Jewish Community, Greater Ithaca Activities Cntr, Ellenville, \$500 Chestertown. \$395 Waverly. \$400 Ithaca. \$1,500 de Blasiis Chamber Music Series, Friends of the Library -Ti-Ahwaga Community Players, Village of Groton Glens Falls. \$1,550 Woodstock, Groton. \$1,050 Owego. \$1,080 Woodstock. \$1,000 Feeder Canal Alliance, Tioga County Boys & Girls Club Village of Homer, Fort Edward. \$316 In Forward Motion, Owego. \$400 Homer. \$1,341 High Falls. \$1,250 Glens Falls Community Theatre, Housing Opportunity Manage-Tioga County Local Development Glens Falls. \$635 Lisangua Ya Bato Drum & ment, Corporation, Dance Owego. \$500 Ithaca. \$425 Woodstock. \$1,200 Glens Falls Independent Living Center. Ithaca Community Chorus Tioga Opportunities Program, Mid Hudson Art Dealers Glens Falls. \$635 Oswego. \$100 Chamber Singers, Association. Ithaca. \$1,800 Glens Falls Symphony Orchestra, Woodstock. \$300

Glens Falls. \$2,000

| Town of Hague, Hague. \$240 | Greenwich Free Library, Greenwich. \$500 | Palmyra Kings Daughters Free Library, Palmyra. \$500 | Eastchester Youth Council Eastchester. \$400 |
|---------------------------------|---|--|--|
| ****** | | Palityta. \$300 | |
| Hill View Free Library, | Greenwich Free Library, | Dolman Manadan DTO | Fairview-Greenburgh Community |
| Diamond Point. \$475 | Greenwich. \$500 | Palmyra-Macedon PTO, Macedon, \$500 | Ctr, |
| | | Macedon. \$500 | White Plains. \$2,250 |
| International Arts & Cult | Greenwich PTSA, | D C | |
| Association, | Greenwich. \$1,000 | Rose Center for Human | Fine Arts Orchestral Society, |
| Glens Falls. \$2,100 | | Development, | Yonkers. \$1,200 |
| | Mary McClellan Hospital, | Clyde. \$650 | |
| Town of Johnsburg, | Cambridge. \$240 | | Fleetwood Stage Company, |
| Johnsburg. \$555 | | Town of Sodus, | Mount Vernon. \$750 |
| | Salem Friends of Music, | Sodus. \$850 | |
| Lake George Chamber Orchestra, | Salem. \$325 | | Friends of the New Rochelle |
| Glens Falls. \$515 | | Victim Resource Center of Wayne | Public Library, |
| | Whitehall PTSA, | County, | New Rochelle, \$300 |
| Marcella Sembrich Memorial | Whitehall, \$1,000 | Newark. \$550 | F: 1 64 F: 1174 |
| Association, | 1711 6377 1 11 | Wayne Action for Racial | Friends of the Field Library, |
| Bolton Landing. \$555 | Village of Whitehall, | Equality, | Peekskill. \$1,000 |
| | Whitehall. \$1,000 | | |
| Stony Creek Historical Associa- | | Alton. \$600 | Genesis Agudas Achim, |
| tion, | | W O | Tuckahoe. \$850 |
| Stony Creek. \$160 | | Wayne County Humane Society, | |
| | | Lyons. \$500 | Jewish Council of Yonkers, |
| Town of Thurman, | WAYNE | | Yonkers. \$1,000 |
| Athol. \$595 | Wayne County Council for the | | |
| | Arts | | La Casa del Pueblo, |
| Union Chapel Association - | | | Port Chester. \$750 |
| Sabbath Day, | Canaltown Chorale, | WESTCHESTER | |
| Silver Bay \$435 | Marion. \$500 | Council for the Arts in | Mount Vernon Recreation Dept., |
| · | | Westchester | Mount Vernon, \$750 |
| | Caring Friends of Wayne County, | | |
| | Clyde. \$400 | Art on Main Street-Yonkers, | Mt Vernon Public Library, |
| | • | Yonkers. \$500 | Mount Vernon, \$800 |
| WASHINGTON | Clyde-Savannah Public Library, | | |
| Hubbard Hall Projects | Clyde. \$800 | Arts & Culture Committee, | New Rochelle Opera, |
| 3 | . , | Elmsford. \$750 | New Rochelle. \$500 |
| Argyle Free Library, | Community Action in Self Help, | | , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , |
| Argyle. \$600 | Lyons. \$1,500 | Chappaqua Drama Group, | New York School for the Deaf, |
| | | Chappaqua. \$500 | White Plains. \$500 |
| Bancroft Public Library, | Community Action in Self Help, | | |
| Salem. \$800 | Wolcott. \$800 | Choices Center, | Nunataks, Ltd. |
| Salem. \$600 | Wolcott. 3000 | New Rochelle, \$500 | Scarsdale. \$700 |
| Battenkill Conservancy. | Development Disability Services, | | Scarsdate. \$700 |
| Shushan, \$375 | Newark. \$900 | College Careers Foundation of | City of Bookshill |
| Shushan. \$3/3 | Newark. 5900 | Westchester. | City of Peekskill |
| D III D II D II | EDIE | White Plains. \$750 | Peekskill. \$2,200 |
| Buskirk Bridge Preservation | ERIE, | White Hams. 9750 | n . a |
| Association, | Lyons. \$1,000 | Concordia College, | Port Chester Carver Center |
| Buskirk. \$500 | Place Value Control | Bronxville. \$1,000 | Port Chester. \$1,045 |
| 0 111 0 . 101 1000 | Finger Lakes Symphony | Biolixvinc. 31,000 | |
| Cambridge Central School PTSA, | Orchestra, | Congregations to Link Urban | Scarsdale Summer Music Theatre, |
| Cambridge. \$1,000 | Geneva. \$800 | | Scarsdale. \$400 |
| | | Strategies, | |
| Dance Center of Cambridge, | Lyons Community Players, | Yonkers. \$1,000 | Westchester Chamber Orchestra, |
| Cambridge. \$1,500 | Lyons. \$700 | Camar Stars Danas Camaran | New Rochelle. \$1,000 |
| | | Corner Store Dance Company Bronxville . \$750 | |
| Dance Center of Cambridge, | Lyons School District Public | DIOHAVING . \$/JU | Westchester Chorale, |
| Cambridge. \$1,810 | Library, | Centon Blauera | Bronxville \$395 |
| | Lyons. \$300 | Croton Players, | |
| Fort Edward Art Center, | | Buchanan. \$350 | Westchester County Office for the |
| Fort Edward. \$700 | Town of Lyons, | Croton-Cortlandt Center for the | Aging, |
| | Lyons. \$1,125 | | White Plains. \$300 |
| Friends of Cambridge Library, | • | Arts, | |
| Cambridge. \$400 | Village ofNewark, | Cortlandt Manor. \$1,450 | Westchester Haitian Community |
| | Newark. \$625 | Town of Contabanta | Services, |
| Greater Greenwich Chamber of | | Town of Eastchester | New Rochelle. \$1,100 |
| Commerce, | Ontario Walworth Presenters, | Eastchester. \$1,000 | |
| Greenwich. \$1,000 | Ontario. \$900 | | |
| | | | |

Westchester Jewish Conference, White Plains. \$1,000 Westchester Photographic Society, Hartsdale. \$800 Westchester Youth Dance Ensemble,

White Plains Recreation & Parks Department, White Plains. \$700

Winbrook Pride, White Plains. \$750

Mahopac, \$500

Yorktown Theatre Company, Yorktown Heights. \$500

ZIIP Foundation, Peekskill . \$750

WYOMING

Arts Council for Wyoming County.

American Legion Auxiliary, Gainesville. \$800

Arcade Home School Association, Arcade. \$600

Cordelia A. Greene Library, Castile. \$1,100

Eagle Free Library, Bliss. \$1,650

Mark Wright's Jazz Reading Group, Warsaw. \$700

Perry Public Library, Perry. \$800

Perry Rotary Foundation, Perry. \$2,500

Sea Serpent Art Guild, Perry. \$1,800

St Paul's United Church of Christ, Attica. \$50

Wyoming County, Warsaw. \$4,600

Wyoming Historical Pioneer Association, Perry. \$400

YATES

Yates County Arts Council

Dundee Children's Center, Dundee. \$545

First Presbterian Church of Penn Yan, Penn Yan. \$1,400

Town of Jerusalem, Branchport . \$2,527

Keuka Arts Festival Penn Yan. \$300

Keuka College, Keuka Park . \$1,200

Lake to Lake Quilt Guild, Dresden. \$1,357

Owl's Nest Community Center, Penn Yan. \$600

Penn Yan Public Library, Penn Yan. \$650

Village of Rushville, Rushville. \$1,323

BRONX

Bronx Council on the Arts

52 People for Progress, Bronx. \$2,500

Aging in.America, Bronx. \$900

All Saints Lutheran Parish, Bronx. \$1,750

Bedford Park Multi-Service Center, Bronx. \$500

Belmont Italian American Playhouse, Bronx. \$2,000

Blind Beggar Press, Bronx. \$1,500

Bronx Chamber Orchestra, Bronx. \$2,000

Bronx Choral Society, Bronx. \$500

Bronx Community College, Bronx. \$500

Bronx Concert Singers, Bronx. \$1,000 Bronx Educational Services,

Bronx. \$1,750

Bronx House, Bronx. \$750

Bronx YM-YWHA Bronx. \$900

Bronx-Riverdale YM-YWHA, Bronx. \$500

Casita Maria, Bronx. \$1,200

Center Stage Community Playhse, Bronx. \$2,000

City Parks Foundation, Bronx. \$1,200

Conscientious Musical Revues, Bronx. \$1,500

East Bronx NAACP Day Care Center, Bronx. \$750

Edenwald-Gun Hill Neighborhood Center, Bronx. \$500

Edenwald-Gun Hill Neighborhood Center, Bronx. \$1,075

Enrico Fermi Cultural Center Committee, Bronx. \$750

Focal Point Gallery, Bronx. \$2,100

Fordham University, Tarrytown. \$500

Frances Schervier Home & Hospital, Bronx. \$900

Hebrew Home for Aged Riverdale, Bronx. \$500

Homes for the Homeless, Bronx. \$1,000

Hostos Community College Advisory Council, Bronx. \$2,250

Huntington Free Library, Bronx. \$1,200

Island Patchwork, Bronx. \$900 Jewish Community Council Pelham Pkwy,

Judaica Museum , Bronx. \$1,375

Bronx. \$1,000

Kingsbridge Heights Community Center, Bronx. \$695

Kips Bay Boys' & Girls' Club, Bronx. \$1,500

Kittay House , Bronx. \$800

Knox Gates Neighborhood Association, Bronx. \$1,500

Lehman Center for the Performing Arts, Bronx. \$1,500

Mosholu-Montefiore Community Center, Bronx. \$500

National Puerto Rican Forum, Bronx. \$500

National Society Colonial Dames, Bronx. \$1,000

Neighborhood Self-Help, Bronx. \$800

Neighbrhood Initiative Development Corporation, Bronx. \$500

New Community Players, Ltd., Bronx. \$1,000

NYC Mission Society Cadet Corps. Bronx. \$750

Pathways for Youth, Bronx. \$700

Pathways for Youth, Bronx. \$1,200

PAX Theatre Community, Bronx. \$1,800

Pelham Parkway North Lunch Program, Bronx. \$700

Research Foundation of CUNY, Bronx. \$600

Riverdale Choral Society, Bronx. \$500

Riverdale Community Center, Community Based Arts Theatre, Kurdish Library, **OUEENS** Bronx. \$1,330 Brooklyn. \$1,000 Brooklyn. \$750 Queens Council on the Arts Riverdale Senior Services, Cross Section of Afro-American Ladsonian Foundation, Aktina Productions, Bronx. \$1,200 Caribean Brooklyn. \$1,500 Long Island City. \$714 Brooklyn. \$650 Thomas Davis Irish Players Living Lessons, Alliance of Queens Artists, Bronx. \$1,200 Cypress Hills Local Development Brooklyn, \$880 Forest Hills. \$1,790 Corporation, Tremont Community Senior Brooklyn, \$1,900 Magnolia Tree Earth Center, Americans of Italian Heritage, Citizen Center Brooklyn. \$2,500 Flushing. \$714 Bronx. \$1,000 Dancewave, Brooklyn. \$1,700 Medgar Evers College/CUNY, Anakawona Association, Vamos A La Pena Del Bronx, Brooklyn. \$1,000 Far Rockaway. \$1,000 Bronx. \$1,600 Dorchester Senior Citizen Center, Brooklyn. \$1,000 Mixed Bag & Company, Ballet Folklorico de Mexicano, Van Cortlandt Workmens Circle, Brooklyn. \$800 Sunnyside . \$1,000 Bronx. \$550 Eastern District YMCA, Brooklyn. \$1,700 Murrow Music Sponsors. Beachside Bungalow Preservation Wind Walker Productions, Brooklyn. \$1,000 Association. Bronx. \$200 Federation Italian-American Far Rockaway. \$700 Organizations of Brooklyn, Noel Singers-Brooklyn Youth Woodlawn Cemetary, Brooklyn, \$1,000 Arts Ensemble, Bell'Arte Opera Theatre, Bronx. \$1,200 Brooklyn, \$1,030 Astoria. \$750 Town of Flatbush Cultural Association. People Against Sexual Abuse, Bengali Association of North Brooklyn. \$600 Brooklyn, \$700 America, Floral Park. \$500 BROOKLYN Fort Greene Senior Citizens Polish Theater Group of NY, Brooklyn Arts Council Council, Brooklyn. \$800 Caribbean American Repertory Brooklyn. \$1,000 Theatre, Astella Development Corporation, Promote Art Works, Rego Park. \$1,115 Brooklyn. \$1,000 Gotham Chamber Orchestra, Brooklyn. \$1,200 Brooklyn. \$600 Central Astoria Local Develop-Ben Weber Foundation, Puppet Works. ment Coalition, Brooklyn, \$410 Grace Choral Society, Brooklyn. \$1,190 Astoria. \$2,800 Brooklyn. \$600 Brooklyn Camerata, Regina Opera Company, ChaRosa Foundation Corporation, Brooklyn. \$1,030 Greater Sheepshead Bay Brooklyn, \$1,500 Cambria Heights. \$500 Development Corporation, Brooklyn Chamber Orchestra Brooklyn. \$850 Ridge Chorale, Children's Orchestra Society, Brooklyn. \$600 Brooklyn. \$700 Fresh Meadows. \$2,500 Halsey Lewis Stuyvesant Civic Brooklyn Contemporary Chorus. Association, Spoke the Hub Dancing, Cill Cais Players, Brooklyn. \$750 Brooklyn. \$1,300 Brooklyn. \$1,700 Little Neck. \$1,750 Brooklyn Heights Music Society, Hudson Waterfront Museum, St Athanasias Theatre Guild, City Parks Foundation. Brooklyn. \$900 Brooklyn. \$1,300 Brooklyn. \$900 Middle Village. \$750 Brooklyn Opera Showcase, Imani Altisimo, United Community Centers, Community Conciliation Brooklyn. \$860 Brooklyn. \$2,000 Brooklyn, \$1,200 Network, Corona. \$750 Brooklyn Philharmonia Chorus, Innervisions -A Group of Young Vicky Simegiatos Dance Brooklyn. \$900 Performers, Company, Community Singers of Queens, Brooklyn. \$1,800 Brooklyn. \$700 Bayside. \$600 Brooklyn Waterfront Artist Coalition. Italian American Civil Rights Video Ctr of Arts Perfs in Theater Con Brio Ensemble. Brooklyn. \$2,500 League, Brooklyn, \$750 Forest Hills. \$1,150 Brooklyn. \$700 **Bushwick Information Action** Viva Voce Chamber Ensemble, Cremona String Quartet, Committee, Italian Opera Company, Brooklyn. \$1,100 Whitestone. \$500 Brooklyn. \$1,000 Brooklyn, \$650 Young Dancers in Repertory Docecanesian Heritage Founda-Center Thanatology Research & John Oliver Killens Writers Brooklyn. \$2,000 tion, Education, Workshop, Astoria. \$500 Brooklyn. \$1,550 Brooklyn. \$1,250 YWCA of Brooklyn, Brooklyn. \$700 Drumsongs Productions, King's Bay YM-YWHA, Jamaica. \$1,100

Brooklyn, \$1,000

Flushing Jewish Community Council, Flushing. \$800

Forest Hills Community House, Forest Hills. \$2,050

Fresh Meadows Poets, Fresh Meadows. \$965

Greater Ridgewood Historical Society, Ridgewood. \$850

Ilya Gaft Dance, Flushing. \$2,000

Jackson Heights Art Club, Jackson Heights. \$750

Jackson Heights Community Development Corporation, Jackson Heights. \$1,300

Jamaica Services Program for Older Adults, Jamaica. \$964

Jazzethnics , Flushing. \$500

Latin-Jazz Coalition, Bellerose, \$1,700

Ledge Poetry & Fiction Magazne, Glendale. \$1,465

Living Museum - Creedmore Psychiatric Center, Queens Village. \$2,815

Long Island City Artists, Long Island City. \$964

National Art League, Bayside. \$714

New York Free Music Committee, Middle Village. \$500

Opera on the Go, Jamaica Estates. \$1,750

Parents Teachers Association of PS 69, Jackson Heights. \$2,000

Phoenix Players, Ridgewood. \$850

Queens Children's Theater, Bellerose. \$1,750

Queens Independent Living Center, Jamaica. \$2,214 Queens Symphonic Band, Bayside. \$1,000

Queensborough Chorus, Bayside. \$500

Queensborough Orchestra, Bayside. \$1,000

Reach into Cultural Heights, Jamaica. \$1,000

Realidad Aparte, Richmond Hill. \$728

Rockaway Music & Arts Council, Neponsit. \$900

Selfhelp Austin Street Senior Center, Forest Hills. \$964

Senior Theater Acting Repertry, Bellerose. \$850

Shield Institute, Bayside. \$714

Silver Sands Productions, Rockaway Beach. \$800

South Ozone Park Youth Community Center, South Ozone Park. \$2,010

St Luke's Lutheran Church, Woodhaven. \$900

Sunnyside Community Services, Sunnyside. \$3,000

Woodside on the Move, Woodside. \$900

RICHMOND Snug Harbor Cultural Center

Art Lab, Staten Island. \$1,630

Children's Harbor Preschool, Staten Island. \$1,130

Community Agency for Senior Citizens, Staten Island. \$1,130

Faith United Methodist Church, Staten Island. \$630

Greenbelt Conservancy, Staten Island, \$2,630

Loris Bend Foundation Staten Island. \$1,030

Mud Lane Social Renaissance of Stapleton, Staten Island. \$2,130

New York Public Library, Staten Island. \$880

Parent Teacher Associationn of PS 18, Staten Island. \$2,630

Parent Teacher Association of PS 41R, Staten Island. \$1,630

Society for Seamen's Children, Staten Island. \$1,130

St Paul's-St Luke's Lutheran Church, Staten Island. \$880

St. John's Episcopal Church, Staten Island. \$1,130

Staten Island AIDS Task Force, Staten Island. \$880

Staten Island Zoological Society, Staten Island. \$1,130

Staten Island Academy, Staten Island. \$1,330

Staten Island Help, Staten Island. \$1,630

Temple Israel Reform Congregation, Staten Island. \$630

Theatre Rehabilitation for Youth, Staten Island. \$1,130

West Brighton Local Development Corporation, Staten Island. \$680

STATE AND LOCAL PARTNERSHIP

Local Arts Organizations/ Service Organizations Program

The State & Local Partnership Program supports local cultural development in communities around the state with the goal of increased awareness of the arts through public information, innovative programming and community/regional cultural planning. Central to this goal is an active network of local arts councils providing services and activities to county-wide or regional constituencies. The program also supports community-basedmultiarts centers and arts service organizations.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funder | <u> Total Amount</u> |
|------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|
| ADMINISTRATIVE SALARIES | 12 | 112,225 |
| COMMUNITY PROGRAMS/OUTREAC | CH 25 | 94,596 |
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT | 66 | 1,827,234 |
| INFORMATION SERVICES | 1 | 1,725 |
| INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCEMENT | 5 | 22,700 |
| JUMP START | 2 | 17,500 |
| PLANNING FOR ORG CHANGE & DE | V 2 | 5,000 |
| PROFESSIONAL CONSULTANTS | 3 | 6,500 |
| REGIONAL CULTURAL DEVELOPME | ENT 5 | 48,150 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 14 | 337,430 |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | 14 | 245,627 |
| TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRANTS | 1 | <u>5,000</u> |
| TOTAL | 150 | 2,802,437 |
| | | |

Michael Unthank Program Director

Steve Jones Gerald Lindahl Program Associates

COMMUNITY ARTS ACCESS

ALLIANCE FOR THE ARTS New York, Estate project for Artists with AIDS \$3,000

ARTS & CULTURE FOR OSWEGO COUNTY Oswego, Newsletter/Calendar of Events \$2,000

ARTS REACH Rochester, Administrative Salary support \$5,000

ARTS ALLIANCE OF HAVERSTRAW Haverstraw, "Arts Ablaze" Program \$2,646

ARTS ALLIANCE OF HAVERSTRAW Haverstraw, Administrative Salary support \$7,500

ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO-MING COUNTY Perry, Outreach Coordinator Salary Support \$8,000

BABYLON CITIZENS COUN-CIL ON THE ARTS West Babylon, Administrative Salary Support \$1,725

BABYLON CITIZENS COUN-CIL ON THE ARTS West Babylon, BACCA Newspaper \$1,725

CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVATION & DEVELOP-MENT Arkville, Workshops \$2,000

CAYUGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Auburn, Community Outreach Coordinator Salary Support \$8,000

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich, Development Director salary support \$6,000

CHILDREN'S ART CARNIVAL' New York, Workshops \$6,400 CHILDREN'S ART CARNIVAL New York, Administrative/ Artistic Staff Support \$6,000

COLUMBIA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Spencertown, Newsletter & Arts Resource Guide \$2,000

COLUMBIA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Spencertown, Workshops for artists & arts organizations \$2.000

COLUMBIA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Spencertown, Administrative salary support \$3,000

COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF MUSIC & ARTS Ithaca, Scholarship Support \$3,550

COMMUNITY ARTS PART-NERSHIP-TOMPKINS Ithaca, Ass't to Director for Development Salary Support \$7,000

COUNCIL ON ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY Plattsburgh, Associate Director Salary Support \$4,500

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg, Communications Director Salary Support \$10,000

ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Westport, Professional Salary Support \$8,000

GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS Cooperstown, Ongoing Workshop Program \$3,450

GENESEE-ORLEANS RE-GIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Batavia, Program Coordinator Support \$8,000

LANGSTON HUGHES INSTITUTE Buffalo, Workshops \$6,325 OLEAN PUBLIC LIBRARY Olean, Arts Coordinator Salary Support \$8,625

ONTARIO COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Canandaigua, Coordinator for Services salary support \$4,000

PELHAM ART CENTER Pelham, Outreach Programs & Scholarships \$4,000

PORT CHESTER COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Port Chester, Administrative Salaries \$6,900

ROXBURY ARTS GROUP Roxbury, Associate Director salary support \$8,000

RYE ARTS CENTER Rye, Scholarship Support & Promotion \$2,500

SARATOGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Saratoga Springs, Program Director salary support \$8,000

SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Cobleskill, Program Coordinator salary support \$7,000

SEORO KOREAN CULTURAL NETWORK New York, Publication of Newsletter \$1,500

TIOGA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Owego, Assistant Director salary support \$4,000

TRI-COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Potsdam, Development Director salary support \$5,000

TRUMANSBURG CONSERVA-TORY OF FINE ARTS Trumansburg, Administrative Salary Support \$2.500

ULSTER ARTS ALLIANCE Kingston, Newsletter \$1,600 UNISON LEARNING CENTER New Paltz, Arts Workshops \$4,000

UPPER CATSKILL COMMU-NITY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Oneonta, Assistant Director salary support \$7,500

WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Lyons, Salary support for Program/Services Director \$7,500

WEST KORTRIGHT CENTRE East Meredith, Workshops \$4,600

WNYC FOUNDATION New York, Cultural reporting \$3.500

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

ACCESS TO THE ARTS Dunkirk \$5,750

ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR ARTS Blue Mountain Lake \$18,000

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF ARTS Albany. \$32,000

ALLIANCE OF NYS ARTS COUNCILS Mattituck \$65,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR CHAUTAUQUA COUNTY Jamestown \$33,000

ARTS COUNCIL IN BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY Buffalo \$40,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO-MING COUNTY Perry \$25,300.

ARTS COUNCIL OF ORANGE COUNTY Middletown \$31,050 ARTS COUNCIL OF ROCKLAND, Spring Valley 28,000

ARTS GUILD OF OLD FORGE Old Forge \$11,000

ARTS & CULTURAL COUNCIL FOR GREATER ROCHESTER Rochester \$40,000

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS ALLIANCE New York \$16,000

ASSOCIATION OF HISPANIC ARTS New York \$36,630

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx \$106,000

BROOKLYN ARTS COUNCIL Brooklyn \$30,000

BROOME COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Binghamton \$15,000

CAYUGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Auburn \$14,950

CENTRAL NY COMMUNITY ARTS COUNCIL Utica \$32,000

CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS COUNCIL Corning \$40,000

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich \$24,000

CHINESE AMERICAN ARTS COUNCIL New York \$10,000

COMMUNITY ARTS PART-NERSHIP-TOMPKINS Ithaca \$17,250 COUNCIL ON ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY Plattsburgh \$23,000

CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL - SYRACUSE/ ONONDAGA Syracuse \$15,000

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg \$22,000

DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Poughkeepsie \$40,000

EAST END ARTS & HUMANI-TIES COUNCIL Riverhead \$35,000

ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Westport \$20,000

FLUSHING COUNCIL ON CULTURE AND ARTS Flushing \$10.300

GARRISON ART CENTER Garrison \$7,000

GENESEE VALLEY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Mount Morris \$17,233

GENESEE-ORLEANS RE-GIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Batavia \$23,575

GREENE COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Catskill \$18.500

HUBBARD HALL PROJECTS Cambridge \$18,000

HUNTINGTON ARTS COUNCIL Huntington \$46,000

JAMAICA CENTER FOR PERFORMING & VISUAL ARTS Jamaica \$36,000 KIRKLAND ART CENTER Clinton \$11,730

LAKE GEORGE ARTS PROJECT Lake George \$13,800

LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR MUSIC, DRAMA AND ART Lake Placid \$6,900

LONG ISLAND ARTS COUN-CIL AT FREEPORT Freeport \$35,742

LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Glens Falls \$17.871

LOWER MANHATTAN CULTURAL COUNCIL New York \$8,000

MILL STREET LOFT Poughkeepsie \$15,525

MILLAY COLONY FOR THE ARTS Austerlitz \$23,000

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS New York \$168,000

NIAGARA COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Niagara Falls \$39,903

NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER FOR THE ARTS Mount Kisco \$17,000

ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR Corning \$15,000

ONTARIO COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Canandaigua \$10,000

PUTNAM ARTS COUNCIL Mahopac \$23,000

QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Queens \$62,000 RENSSELAER COUNT COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Troy \$31,600

ROCKLAND CENTER FOR THE ARTS West Nyack \$32,000

ROME ART & COMMUNITY CENTER Rome \$18,000

ROXBURY ARTS GROUP Roxbury \$25,875

SARATOGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Saratoga Springs \$18,000

SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Cobleskill \$22,000

SCHWEINFURTH MEMORIAL ART CENTER Auburn \$7,500

SMITHTOWN TOWNSHIP ARTS COUNCIL St. James \$13,000

TIOGA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Owego \$18,000

TRI-COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Potsdam \$10,000

UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS
Oneonta
\$17,250

VOLUNTEER LAWYERS FOR THE ARTS New York \$34,000

WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Lyons \$18,500

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains \$80,000 WOODSTOCK GUILD Woodstock \$11,500

INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCE-MENT

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich, Membership Campaign \$4,000

ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Westport, Computerization Upgrading \$4,000

GENESEE VALLEY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Mount Morris, Computerization upgrading \$1.500

LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ART COUNCIL Glens Falls, Larac News -Increased Readership \$3,000

SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Cobleskill, Computerization upgrade \$3,000

UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS
Oneonta, Computerization upgrading \$3,600

WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Lyons, Computerization upgrade \$3,600

JUMP START

ARTS & CULTURE FOR OSWEGO COUNTY Oswego, Administrative and Program Development \$8,500

CULTURAL COALITION OF STATEN ISLAND Staten Island, Administrative and Program Development \$9,000

PLANNING FOR ORGANIZA-TIONAL CHANGE

CENTRAL NY COMMUNITY ARTS COUNCIL Utica, Rural artist residencies \$2,000

GENESEE-ORLEANS RE-GIONAL ARTS COUNCIL Batavia, Orleans County cultural development project \$3,000

PROFESSIONAL CONSULT-ANTS

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS ALLIANCE New York, Real estate consultant to develop shared facility \$2,000

ASSOCIATION OF HISPANIC ARTS New York, Business/marketing consultant \$2,000

COMMUNITY ARTS PART-NERSHIP-TOMPKINS Ithaca, Fundraising Consultancy \$2,500

REGIONAL CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF ARTS Albany, Marketing \$6,000

ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO-MING COUNTY Perry, Regional Arts Calendar \$2,150

CAYUGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Auburn, Multi-county forums, workshops \$12,000

HUDSON VALLEY MATERI-ALS EXCHANGE Milton, Materials for the Arts Program in Hudson Valley \$12,000

LONG ISLAND ARTS COUN-CIL AT FREEPORT Freeport, Materials Donation Program \$16,000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

ALLIANCE OF NYS ARTS
COUNCILS
Mattituck, Regional mtg Travel
Subsidies,\$2,000; Production &
Distribution of NYSCA
Application on Disk \$10,000;
Annual Conference (Travel
subsidies for Arts Councils)
\$12,000; Rural Arts Development Program \$32,000

ARTS & BUSINESS COUNCIL New York, Technical assistance multicultural arts \$11,370

BOND STREET THEATRE COALITION Palenville, Artists' Residencies \$3,000

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx, Regional Pilot Program Regrant Funds \$68,960

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx, Regional Pilot Program Regrant Funds \$85,000

BROOKLYN IN TOUCH INFORMATION CENTER Brooklyn, Assistance to Arts & Cultural Orgs \$5,000

CENTER FOR OCCUPA-TIONAL HAZARD New York, Admin Salaries \$18,000

CORPORATION OF YADDO Saratoga Springs, Artist Residencies \$15,000

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER New York, Partnership Programs \$10,000

INT'L AGENCY MINORITY ARTISTS New York, Uptown Art News & Management Training Seminars \$4,000

SUPPORT CENTER OF NEW YORK New York, Management Assistance workshops/seminars \$6,000 UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS
Oneonta, Regional Pilot Program
Operations
\$50,100

VISUAL AIDS FOR THE ARTS New York, Visual Aids Projects \$5,000

SPECIAL PROJECTS

ARTS COUNCIL FOR CHAUTAUQUA COUNTY Jamestown, After school multimedia arts residencies \$14,000

ARTS COUNCIL IN BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY
Buffal, Development of shared arts facility in Buffalo
\$15,000

ARTS & CULTURAL COUNCIL FOR GREATER ROCHESTER Rochester, Pre-Planning for Rochester/Monroe Regional Partnership \$7,500; Rochester, Rochester Rec Centers Collaboration \$9,000

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx, Administration & Operation of Bronx Pilot \$10,000

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich. Operation of Four County Partnership \$12,000

CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Norwich, Regional Pilot Project Technical Assistance \$5,000

DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL Poughkeepsie, Community Development through the Arts \$10,000

EAST END ARTS & HUMUNATIES COUNCIL Riverhead, Riverhead Arts District Project \$10,000

FLUSHING COUNCIL ON CULTURE AND THE ARTS Flushing, Mid Atlantic Grant -Warren Smith Quartet \$1,000

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS New York, Upstate DEC panel development \$50,000

NIAGARA COUNCIL OF THE ARTS Niagara Falls, Niagara Falls Urban Project \$14,000

RENSSELAER COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Troy, The Broadway Plan - Phase II \$20,000

ROME ART & COMMUNITY CENTER Rome, Multi-Arts Centers Development \$45,000

WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Lyons, Development of Regional Cultural Center in Lyons \$15,000

WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL White Plains, Peekskill Pugsley Park Project \$5,000; Regional Arts & Business Project \$8.127

THEATRE

Through its funding categories, the Theatre Program seeks to both preserve and advance theatre in its many forms -- including contemporary, classical, alternative. music theatre and theatre for young audiences. In addition to the support for general operating expenses and production costs of producing theatres that constitutes the majority of grants, the Program offers theatres support for Shared Resources -- a funding category designed to encourage collaborative solutions to current economic and artistic challenges. The New Theatre Advancement category is structured to provide incentives and support for emerging theatre groups. The Services to the Field Category supports the organizations that provide technical and developmental support to theatres, artists and audiences. This includes organizations that, through newsletters and publications, provide a forum for the exchange or ideas and information about the theatre. The awards for Special Developmental Projects reflect two facets of the Programs' service goals -- audience development and education, and support for emerging companies.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | Total Amount |
|----------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|
| GENERAL OPERATING SUPPOR | T 76 | 1,717,901 |
| NEW THEATRE ADVANCEMENT | Γ 15 | 51,400 |
| PROF. PERFORMANCES - HOME | BASE 1 | 15,000 |
| PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCE | ES 62 | 412,004 |
| SEMI-PROF. PRODUCTION/PERI | • 3 | 12,775 |
| SERVICES TO THE FIELD | 16 | 137,120 |
| SHARED RESOURCES | 2 | 10,000 |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | <u>1</u> | <u>675</u> |
| TOTAL | 175 | <u>\$2,781,548</u> |

Gigi Bolt Program Director

Anna Becker Robert Zukerman Program Associates

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

AMERICAN PLACE THEATRE Manhattan \$29,000

ARENA PLAYERS REPERTORY THEATRE
East Farmingdale
\$5,000

ASSOCIATION FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF DRA-MATIC ARTS Manhattan \$17,000

ATLANTIC THEATER COMPANY Manhattan \$8.000

BILLIE HOLIDAY THEATRE Brooklyn \$46,000

BUFFALO ENSEMBLE THEATRE Buffalo \$5,550

CAPITAL REPERTORY COMPANY Albany \$49,950

CENTER FOR THE ARTS AT ITHACA Ithaca \$13,320

CIRCLE IN THE SQUARE THEATRE Manhattan \$25,000

CIRCLE REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan \$45,000

CONTEMPORARY THEATRE OF SYRACUSE Syracuse \$5,000

CORTLAND REPERTORY THEATRE Cortland \$8.880

CSC REPERTORY, LTD Manhattan \$22,000 CUCARACHA THEATRE Manhattan \$10.000

DAGMAR COLLECTIVE Manhattan \$8,000

DAS PUPPENSPIEL PUPPET THEATRE Westfield \$11,189

DEPOT THEATRE Westport \$8,880

DOWNTOWN ART COMPANY Manhattan \$12,000

EN GARDE ARTS Manhattan \$8,500

ENSEMBLE STUDIO THEATRE Manhattan \$30.240

FIJI THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$9,520

FOUNDATION FOR THE OPEN EYE Denver \$3,000

GENESEE VALLEY ARTS FOUNDATION Rochester \$62,500

HOUSE FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan \$14,713

IRONDALE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan \$7,000

LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THEATER CLUB Manhattan \$72,800

LIVING THEATRE Manhattan \$10,000

MABOU MINES DEVELOP-MENT FOUNDATION Manhattan \$22,000

| MAC-HAYDN THEATRE Chatham \$12,210 | PENGUIN PLAYERS LTD Thiells \$12,432 | STUDIO THEATRE SCHOOL Buffalo \$62,160 | ART FOUNDATION Manhattan | |
|--|--|--|---|--|
| MANHATTAN CLASS COMPANY | DUADAN TUBATOR | THEATER BARN | \$25,000 | |
| Manhattan Manhattan | PHOENIX THEATRE | New Lebanon | VORE THE ATRE COMBANIA | |
| | COMPANY | \$6,216 | YORK THEATRE COMPANY | |
| \$8,500 | Purchase | \$0,210 | Manhattan | |
| MANHATTAN THEATRE CLUB | \$8,000 | THEATER FOR THE NEW | \$10,000 | |
| | | | | |
| Manhattan | PLAYWRIGHTS HORIZONS | CITY FOUNDATION | | |
| \$75,000 | Manhattan | Manhattan | NEW THEATRE ADVANCE- | |
| A CORDER OF STREET | \$56,000 | \$35,000 | MENT | |
| MERRY-GO-ROUND PLAY- | | WITH A WAR ALL THE BY BID | | |
| HOUSE | PRIMARY STAGES | THEATRE BY THE BLIND | 29TH STREET REPERTORY | |
| Auburn | COMPANY | Manhattan | THEATER | |
| \$9,990 | Manhattan | \$4,500 | Manhattan | |
| | \$7,840 | | \$2,500 | |
| METTAWEE THEATRE COM- | • | THEATRE DEVELOPMENT | | |
| PANY | PUERTO RICAN TRAVEL- | FUND | CONSTITUENT ARTS | |
| Salem | ING THEATRE | Manhattan | LIMITED | |
| \$10,545 | Manhattan | \$40,000 | Manhattan | |
| | \$22,000 | | \$2,500 | |
| MUSIC THEATRE GROUP | | THEATRE FOR A NEW | | |
| Manhattan | QUAIGH THEATRE | AUDIENCE | GRUPO PICATA GROUP | |
| \$31,360 | Manhattan | Manhattan | Manhattan | |
| • | \$4,000 | \$11,200 | \$3,000 | |
| MUSICAL THEATRE WORKS | .,,,,,, | • | ~ -, | |
| Manhattan | RIDICULOUS THEATRICAL | THEATRE OF YOUTH | IRISH BRONX THEATRE | |
| \$7,840 | COMPANY | COMPANY | COMPANY | |
| 7.,7 | Manhattan | Buffalo | Manhattan | |
| NEW YORK SCHOOL FOR | \$20,720 | \$16,650 | \$2,500 | |
| CIRCUS ARTS | 320,720 | | 42 ,5 00 | |
| Manhattan | RIVER ARTS REPERTORY | | KITCHEN THEATRE COM- | |
| \$11,200 | COMPANY | THEATRE THREE PRODUC- | PANY | |
| 11,200 | Manhattan | TIONS | Ithaca | |
| NEW YORK SHAKESPEARE | \$7,500 | Port Jefferson | \$5,000 | |
| FESTIVAL | 37,300 | \$21,756 | | |
| Manhattan | ROUNDABOUT THEATRE | | MEASURED BREATHS | |
| 117,600 | COMPANY | THEATRETWEED | THEATRE | |
| 117,000 | Manhattan | Manhattan | Manhattan | |
| NEW YORK THEATRE WORK- | | \$5,000 | \$2,500 | |
| SHOP | \$45,920 | \$5,000 | \$2,500 | |
| Manhattan | S U THEATRE CORPORA- | THEATREWORKS/USA | NAKED ANGELS LTD. | |
| \$30,000 | TION | Manhattan | Manhattan | |
| \$30,000 | | \$16,240 | \$2,500 | |
| NORTH COUNTRY ALLIANCE | Syracuse | \$10,240 | \$2,300 | |
| | \$50,000 | VINEYARD THEATRE & | NATIONAL ASIAN-AMERI- | |
| OF THE ARTS | CALT CITY DI AMIOUSE | WORKSHOP CENTER | CAN THEATRE COMPANY | |
| Salem | SALT CITY PLAYHOUSE | Manhattan | | |
| \$3,885 | Syracuse | \$19,040 | Manhattan | |
| ODEN HAND THE ATER | \$4,834 | \$19,040 | \$3,500 | |
| OPEN HAND THEATER. | and a line and a control trans | VIVIANI DE ALIMONIT TUE | ONLY THE ATRE COMPANY | |
| Syracuse | SECOND STAGE THEATRE | VIVIAN BEAUMONT THE- | ONYX THEATRE COMPANY | |
| \$4,351 | Manhattan | ATRE | Brooklyn | |
| | \$30,800 | Manhattan | \$3.920 | |
| PAN ASIAN REPERTORY | | \$89,600 | | |
| THEATRE | SOHO REPERTORY | WALLEY HE DE CHECK A | ROCHESTER CHILDREN'S | |
| Manhattan | THEATRE | WOMEN'S PROJECT & | THEATRE | |
| \$35,000 | Manhattan | PRODUCTIONS | Rochester | |
| | \$15,000 | Manhattan | \$4,000 | |
| THE PAPER BAG PLAYERS | | \$10,000 | | |
| Manhattan | SPANISH THEATRE | WAS A STORY OF STAR | SARATOGA INTERNATIONAL | |
| | REPERTORY COMPANY | WOOSTER GROUP | THEATER INSTITUTE | |
| \$10,000 | | | Manhattan | |
| | Manhattan | Manhattan | | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY | | Manhattan \$21,280 | \$2.500 | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan | Manhattan | \$21,280 | \$2,500 | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY | Manhattan | \$21,280 WORKING THEATRE | \$2.500 SHAKESPEARE IN DELA- | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$5,600 | Manhattan \$62,000 | \$21,280 WORKING THEATRE COMPANY | \$2.500 SHAKESPEARE IN DELA- WARE PARK | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$5,600 PENDRAGON | Manhattan \$62,000 ST LAWRENCE FOUNDA- | \$21,280 WORKING THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan | \$2.500 SHAKESPEARE IN DELA- WARE PARK Buffalo | |
| PEARL THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$5,600 | Manhattan \$62,000 ST LAWRENCE FOUNDA- TION FOR YOUTH | \$21,280 WORKING THEATRE COMPANY | \$2.500 SHAKESPEARE IN DELA- WARE PARK | |

THREE DOLLAR BILL
THEATER COMPANY
Manhattan
\$3,500

TINY MYTHIC THEATRE
COMPANY
Manhattan
\$4,480

YARA ARTS GROUP Manhattan \$5,000

PROFESSIONAL PERFOR-MANCES

ABOUT FACE THEATRE COMPANY.
Manhattan
\$3,500

ALLEYWAY THEATRE Buffalo \$5,594

AMERICAN JEWISH THEATRE Manhattan \$12,500

AN CLAIDHEAMH SOLUIS Manhattan \$3.136

ARDEN PARTY Manhattan \$2,500

ARM-OF-THE-SEA PRODUC-TIONS Malden-on-Hudson \$5,000

BARROW GROUP Manhattan \$2,800

BAY STREET THEATRE FESTIVAL Sag Harbor \$5,550

BLACK SPECTRUM THEATRE Jamaica \$12,000

BLUE HERON THEATRE
Manhattan

\$2,500

CATSKILL ACTORS THEATRE Highland Lake \$2,486

CITY CENTER-55TH ST THEATRE FOUNDATION Manhattan \$10,000 CREATION PRODUCTION COMPANY Manhattan \$6,000

D'YOUVILLE COLLEGE -KAVINOKY THEATER Buffalo \$11,189

EMELIN THEATRE FOR PERFORMING ARTS Mamaroneck \$5,550

FRANK SILVERA WRITERS' WORKSHOP Manhattan \$4,000

FRIENDS OF BRISTOL VALLEY PLAYHOUSE Naples \$4,500

GROUP I ACTING COMPANY Manhattan \$12,320

HOME FOR CONTEMPORARY THEATRE & ART LTD Manhattan

HOSPITAL AUDIENCES Manhattan \$4,000

\$10,000

HUDSON VALLEY
SHAKESPEARE FESTIVAL
Cold Spring
\$3,730

INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS Manhattan \$15,000

IRISH REPERTORY THEATRE . Manhattan \$7,840

JEWISH REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan \$14,000

KINGS COUNTY SHAKESPEARE COMPANY Brooklyn \$5,000

LAMB'S THEATRE COM-PANY, LTD Manhattan \$6,000 MA-YI THEATRE ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$4,000

MERIDIAN PRODUCTIONS Manhattan \$1,680

MUSIC FOR MANY Yorktown Heights \$2,500

NATIONAL ACTORS THE-ATRE Manhattan \$10,000

NATIONAL BLACK TOURING CIRCUIT Manhattan \$9,000

NEGRO ENSEMBLE COM-PANY Manhattan \$15,000

NEW DAY REPERTORY THEATRE CO Poughkeepsie \$7,459

NEW FEDERAL THEATRE Manhattan \$45,000

NEW YORK DEAF THEATRE, LTD. Manhattan \$6,500

NINTH STREET THEATER Manhattan \$3,000

NOT JUST MIME West Sand Lake \$2,775

ON STAGE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan \$3.500

ONTOLOGICAL-HYSTERIC THEATER Manhattan \$15.000

OPEN CHANNELS NY Manhattan \$7,500

OTRABANDA COMPANY Manhattan \$6,500

PERIWINKLE PRODUCTIONS Monticello \$6,000 PHOENIX ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$2,500

PLAYWRIGHTS PREVIEW PRODUCTION Manhattan \$2,500

PRACTICAL CATS Manhattan \$3,920

RIDGE STREET THEATER Manhattan \$7,000

RUSHMORE FESTIVAL Highland Mills \$3,000

RYAN REPERTORY COM-PANY Brooklyn \$4,000

SHADOWLAND ARTISTS Ellenville \$3,885

SIGNATURE THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$4,000

SKYSAVER PRODUCTIONS Manhattan \$6,000

STEAMER NO. 10 THEATRE Albany \$3,330

TALKING BAND Manhattan \$9,520

THEATREMOVES Manhattan \$3,360

THUNDER BAY ENSEMBLE Manhattan \$5,000

TRIANGLE THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan \$5,000

UJIMA COMPANY Buffalo \$8,880

VIA THEATER Manhattan \$5.000 WILLOW CABIN THEATRE COMPANY Huntington \$6,000

WOMEN'S INTERART CENTER Manhattan \$7,000

WORKMEN'S CIRCLE #555 Manhattan \$5.000

YOUNG PLAYWRIGHTS Manhattan \$10,000

SEMI-PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCES

52ND STREET PROJECT Manhattan \$5,000

HOME MADE THEATRE Saratoga Springs \$2.775

TADA! THEATRE & DANCE ALLIANCE Manhattan \$5,000

SERVICES TO THE FIELD

ALLIANCE OF RESIDENT THEATRES/NY Manhattan, Administrative Salaries \$22,400

CENTER FOR OCCUPATIONAL HAZARD
Manhattan, Fire Safety Booklet
\$4,000

DRAMA LEAGUE OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Directors Project \$4,480

HANDS ON SIGN INTERPRETED PERF Manhattan, Ongoing Programs for Deaf Audiences \$3,000

INTERNATIONAL THEATRE INST U.S Manhattan, Administrative Support \$11,000

LITERARY MANGERS & DRAMATURGS OF AMERICA Manhattan, Administrative Support \$3,360

NEW DRAMATISTS Manhattan, Play development & services to playwrights \$14,000

NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY Manhattan, Taping productions for docomentation \$10,000

NEW YORK UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Editorial Expenses & Contributors' Fees for The Drama Review \$4,480

NON-TRADITIONAL CASTING PROJECT Manhattan, Support for Ongoing Programs \$5,600

PERFORMANCE ZONE Manhattan, Support for professional development programs \$5,000

PERFORMING ARTS JOURNAL Manhattan, Publication of 3 Issues/Year of Performing Arts Journal \$7,000

STAGE DIRECTORS & CHOREOGRAPHERS FDN Manhattan, Admin & Project Costs for Theatre Programs & Services \$2,800

THEATRE COMMUNICA-TIONS GROUP Manhattan, Administrative & program services support \$20,000

SHARED RESOURCES

IRONDALE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Toward Consultants' Fees for Joint Marketing with Phoenix Ensemble \$4,000

SOHO REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, Consortium Costs for Shared Resources and Audience Development Projrect \$6,000

SPECIAL PROJECTS

SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY CO
Manhattan, Mid Atlantic Arts Fnd
Grant-for Artist Fee-Latin Fiesta
\$675

SPECIAL DEVELOPMENTAL GRANTS

ALLIANCE OF RESIDENT THEATRES/NY Manhattan, Two Issues of Audience Development Newsletter \$15,000

VINEYARD THEATRE & WORKSHOP CENTER Manhattan, Costs of the S.P.A.C.E. Fund Project \$5.000

VISUAL ARTS

The Visual Arts Program aims to reflect the expansive range of contemporary art activity taking place throughout the state. The program promotes all forms of creativity and considers artists to be its primary and most important resource.

1994-95 Expenditures by Grant Category

| Category | Requests Funded | | Total Amount | |
|---------------------|-----------------|-----------|--------------|--|
| ARTISTS-IN-RESIDENC | E | 1 | 3,000 | |
| GENERAL OPERATING | SUPPORT | 26 | 471,900 | |
| GENERAL PROGRAM S | UPPORT | 32 | 179,000 | |
| SINGLE EXHIBITIONS | | 5 | 29,000 | |
| SPECIAL PROJECTS | | <u>15</u> | 255,939 | |
| | | 79 | \$ 1,001,330 | |

Elizabeth Merena Program Director

ARTISTS-IN -RESIDENCE

This competitive category provides visual artists with time and funds to pursue their own work and to encourage interaction between artists and their communities.

ART IN GENERAL New York. For artist Howard McCalebb.

GENERAL OPERATING SUPPORT

\$3,000

Unrestricted support for ongoing institutional activities.

ALTERNATIVE CENTER FOR INTERNATIONALARTS (Alternative Museum) New York \$20,000

ART AWARENESS Lexington \$16,500

ART IN GENERAL New York \$13,750

ARTISTS TALK ON ART New York \$3,900

CENTER EXPLORATORY & PERCEPTUAL ARTS Buffalo \$21,500

CENTER FOR PHOTOGPHY WOODSTOCK Woodstock \$22,000

CREATIVE TIME New York \$22,000

DIEU DONNE PAPERMILL New York \$10,000

DRAWING CENTER New York \$21,000 EMPIRE STATE CRAFTS

ALLIANCE Syracuse \$5,000

EXIT ART/THE FIRST WORLD New York \$30,000

FRANKLIN FURNACE ARCHIVE New York \$25,000

GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS Cooperstown \$13,000

HALLWALLS Buffalo \$25,000

LIGHT WORK VISUAL STUDIES Syracuse \$25,000

PRINTED MATTER New York \$12,500

PRINTMAKING WORKSHOP New York \$20,000

PUBLIC ART FUND New York \$35,000

Rochester \$15,000 SCULPTURE SPACE

PYRAMID ARTS CENTER

\$25,000 URBANGLASS Brooklyn \$22,000

Utica

VISUAL STUDIES WORKSHOP Rochester \$35,000

WHITE COLUMNS New York \$13,750 WOMEN'S STUDIO WORK-SHOP Rosendale \$20,000

GENERAL PROGRAM SUPPORT

Funds awarded in support of ongoing contemporary visual arts programs.

10 ON 8 New York, Ongoing Exhibitions \$2,000

ACCESS TO THE ARTS Dunkirk, Ongoing Exhibitions \$11,000

AMERICAN INDIAN COMMUNITY HOUSE New York, Ongoing Exhibitions \$4,500

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx, Onoging Exhibitions at Longwood Arts Gallery \$8,000

BRONX RIVER ART CENTER Bronx, Workspace Program \$6,600

CHENANGO CO CNCL OF THE ARTS Norwich,Ongoing Exhibitions \$5,000

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg, Ongoing exhibitions \$6,000

EDUCATIONAL ALLIANCE New York, For exhibitions by Mid-Town Y Photo Gallery \$5.000

FRENCH STUDIO OF THE PERFORMING ARTS New York, Publication of M/E/A/ N/I/N/G \$5,000

FUND FOR BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN Brooklyn, Ongoing exhibitions at the Rotunda Gallery \$6,000

HENRY STREET SETTLE-MENT New York, Ongoing workspace (\$5000) and exhibition (\$2000) programs \$7,000 HERESIES COLLECTIVE New York, Publication of HERESIES \$3,500

INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS New York, Ongoing exhibitions \$12.000

ISLIP ART MUSEUM East Islip, Workspace (\$8,000) and exhibition (\$2,000) programs \$10,000

JAMAICA CENTER PERFORM-ING & VISUAL ARTS Jamaica, Workspace Program \$3,500

LOWER EAST SIDE PRINTSHOP New York, Workspace Program \$5,000

NEW ART PUBLICATIONS New York, Publication of BOMB \$5,000

NEW OBSERVATIONS LIMITED New York, Publication of NEW OBSERVATIONS \$5,000

OCTOBER MAGAZINE, LTD New York, Publication of OCTOBER \$4,000

OLEAN PUBLIC LIBRARY Olean, Ongoing exhibitons \$6,000

PAINTING SPACE 122 New York, Ongoing exhibitions \$4,400

PORT WASHINGTON PUBLIC LIBRARY Port Washington, Ongoing exhibitions \$4,500

PUERTO RICAN WORKSHOP New York, Ongoing exhibition and workspace programs \$4,500

SCULPTURE CENTER New York, Ongoing exhibition program \$8,000 SNUG HARBOR CULTURAL CENTER Staten Island, Ongoing exhibition program \$9,000

SOCRATES SCULPTURE PARK Long Island City, Ongoing workspace and exhibition programs \$5,000

STONE QUARRY HILL ART PARK Cazenovia, Ongoing exhibition program \$7,000

STOREFRONT ART & ARCHITECTURE
New York, Ongoing exhibition program
\$5,500

THREAD WAXING SPACE New York, Ongoing exhibition program \$7,000

WAYNE COUNTY CNCL FOR THE ARTS Lyons, Ongoing exhibition program \$4,000

SINGLE EXHIBITIONS

This competitive category provides funding toward artists' fees and direct costs of exhibitions featuring works by contemporary visual artists.

BIG ORBIT GALLERY Buffalo, Group exhibition: Women/Technology/Art. \$7,000

CASTELLANI ART MUSEUM Niagara, Alberto Rey exhibition. \$3,000

LEHMAN COLLEGE ART GALLERY Bronx, . Rigoberto Torres exhibition \$8,000

PROSPECT PARK ALLIANCE Brooklyn, Melinda Hunt installation \$4,000

URBANGLASS Brooklyn, Group exhibition: Glass Biennial \$7,000

SPECIAL PROJECTS

Funding toward regrant programs, and unique, risk taking or experimental visual arts projects and activities not served by other grant categories.

ART IN GENERAL New York, Residency for Homer Jackson. Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation regrant \$4,575

CENTER EXPLORATORY/ PERCEPTUAL ARTS Buffalo, Residency for Paul C. Smith Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation regrant \$4,750

DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE Narrowsburg, Statewide Curatorial Project \$30,314

DRAWING CENTER
New York, NYC Development
Monies: Exhibition support for
CULTURAL ECONOMIES.
\$50,000; Book Publication Costs
for CULTURAL ECONOMIES.
\$9,500

EMPIRE STATE CRAFTS ALLIANCE Syracuse, Craft Artists' Fellowships: Statewide regrant program \$10,000

EVERSON MUSEUM OF ART Syracuse. Residency for Barthosa Nkurumeh, Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation regrant \$2,850

EXIT ART/THE FIRST WORLD New York, NYC Development Monies: Exhibition support for COUNTERCULTURE \$50,000

ISLIP ART MUSEUM
East Islip, Upstate Development
Monies: Carriage House
Workspace project
\$6,000

LIGHT WORK VISUAL STUDIES Syracuse, Photographer Residencies: Statewide regrant program \$20,000 PUBLIC ART FUND New York, Urban Paradise: Artist Fees & Project development \$10,000

SCULPTURE SPACE Utica, Sculptor residencies: Statewide regrant program \$25,000

VISUAL STUDIES WORKSHOP Rochester, Residency for Jenni Lukac Mid Atlantic Arts Foundation regrant \$2,950

WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS Lyons, Artists Residency Exchange. Upstate Development Monies and Program Support \$30,000

CHALLENGE '95

The 94-95 Challenge Program was initiated for New York City based organizations only which were required to match a combination of funds allocated by the New York City's Department of Cultural Affairs and the New York State Council on the Arts. No new programming was required; in every instance, organizations expanded on existing programs or amplified their audience development and promotion.

1994-95 Expenditure Requests Funded Total Amount

177 \$2,500,000

52ND STREET PROJECT Manhattan, Expanded access of Two-on-Two and Ensemble programs \$2,500

ALLIANCE OF RESIDENT THEATRES/NY Manhattan, Off Broadway Audience Development in Boroughs and Suburbs \$7,500

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF THE MOVING IMAGE Astoria, Advertising, Public Relations, and Tourism Marketing Campaign \$49,250.00

AMERICAN COMPOSERS ORCHESTRA Manhattan, Expanded Marketing and Audience Development Campaign \$6,250

AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY Manhattan, Expedition: 125 Years of Discovery \$100,000

AMERICAN PLACE THEATRE Manhattan, Literature to Life Program \$3,750

AMIGOS DEL MUSEO DEL BARRIO Manhattan, Expanded Public Programs as Part of Reaffirming Spirituality \$5,000

ARCHITECTURAL LEAGUE OF NY Manhattan, Installation and Publicity Costs \$2,500

ART IN GENERAL Manhattan, Education Program \$2.500

ARTS CONNECTION
Manhattan, Expansion of Young
Talent Program
\$15,000

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS ALLIANCE Manhattan, Technical Assistance Initiative \$10,000 ASIAN CINE-VISION Manhattan, Film Festival in Queens and Brooklyn \$12,500

ASSOCIATION FOR DEVELOP-MENT OF DRAMATIC ARTS Manhattan, Audience Development Project \$5,000

ASSOCIATION OF HISPANIC ARTS Manhattan, Technical Assistance \$5,000

BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Access and Programming \$12,500 .

BALLET THEATRE FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, To Add 2 Weeks and Additional Programming to NYC Season \$20,000

BEDFORD STUYVESANT RESTORATION CORPORA-TION Brooklyn, Steel Band Orchestra \$6,250

BILLIE HOLIDAY THEATRE Brooklyn, Performances \$6,250

BOYS CHOIR OF HARLEM Manhattan, Artistic Training \$50,000

BRONX ARTS ENSEMBLE Bronx, Educational Outreach \$6,250

BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Bronx, WritersCorp \$22.500

BRONX MUSEUM OF THE ARTS Bronx, Education Program \$48,750

BRONX OPERA COMPANY Bronx., Performances at Lehman College Hostos Community College \$5,788

BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF MUSIC Brooklyn, Festival for Children \$75.000 BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S MUSEUM Brooklyn, Education Program \$25,000

BROOKLYN CENTER FOR URBAN ENVIRONMENT Brooklyn, 1994-1995 School Program \$5.000

BROOKLYN HISTORICAL SOCIETY Brooklyn, Increase Youth Audience \$10,000

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE ARTS & SCIENCES
Brooklyn, Visitor Access
Initiative
\$100,000

CAMERA NEWS Manhattan, Media Distribution \$7,500

CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF MANHATTAN Manhattan, Marketing Campaign \$12,500

CHINESE AMERICAN ARTS COUNCIL Manhattan, Marketing Initiative \$5,000

CIRCLE REPERTORY THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan, Outreach & Marketing \$12,500

CIRCUIT THEATRE Brooklyn, Jazz Partner Program \$2,500

CITY CENTER-55TH ST THEATER FOUNDATION Manhattan, New Encores! \$10,000

CITY LORE NY CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE Manhattan, Calendar of Ethnic Festival 12,500

CONCERT ARTISTS GUILD Manhattan, A-I-R Concert Series \$2,500

CONCORDIA ORCHESTRA Manhattan, IT'S ÉLEMENTARY \$7,500

COOPER-HEWITT NATIONAL DESIGN MUSEUM Manhattan, Audience Outreach \$27,500 CREATIVE ALTERNATIVES OF NY Manhattan, Theater Workshops \$3,625

CSC REPERTORY, LTD Manhattan, Classic Adventures \$7.500

CUCARACHA THEATRE Manhattan, Children's Project \$3,750

DANCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION
Manhattan, Ailey DanceChance, New Program to Attract Young Audiences to Dance \$37,500

DANCE THEATER WORK-SHOP Manhattan, Public Imaginations \$10,750

DANCE THEATRE OF HARLEM Manhattan, Educational Outreach \$12,500

DANCEWORKS Manhattan, Pentacle's Marketing Services \$15,000

DANCING IN THE STREETS Manhattan, Festival in Hunters Point Park, Queens \$10,000

DANSPACE PROJECT Manhattan, Additional Weeks of Programming \$6,250

DIA CENTER FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Dance Across Borders \$3,138

DIEU DONNE PAPERMILL Manhattan, Exhibition Program \$6,250

DOWNTOWN COMMUNITY TELEVISION Manhattan, Arts Organizations in Residence \$5,000

DRAWING CENTER Manhattan, Evening and Weekend Programming \$8,000

EARLY MUSIC FOUNDATION Manhattan, Increase Public Access & Audience Diversity \$3,000 EDUCATIONAL VIDEO CENTER Manhattan, School Training \$10,000

ELAINE KAUFMAN CUL-TURAL CENTER Manhattan, New Concerts \$6.762

ELECTRONIC ARTS INTER-MIX Manhattan, Expanded Outreach \$2,500

EN GARDE ARTS Manhattan, Extension of Production Schedule \$6,663

ETHNIC FOLK ARTS CENTER Manhattan, FOLK PARKS \$10,000

EXIT ART Manhattan, Expanding Programming \$15,500

FILM SOCIETY OF LINCOLN CENTER Manhattan, Marketing Project \$75,000

FILM/VIDEO ARTS Manhattan, New Technologies \$20,000

FRANK SILVERA WRITERS' WORKSHOP Manhattan, Van Lier Fellowships \$7,500

FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE ARTS CENTER Manhattan, Marketing Project \$6,250

FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER Manhattan, Audience Outreach \$12,500

FUND FOR BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN Brooklyn, Celebrate Brooklyn \$7,500

FUNDING EXCHANGE Manhattan, Distribution for Independent Film/Video/Radio \$5,000

GATEWAY SYMPHONY STATEN ISLAND Staten Island, School Visitation Program \$2,500 H T DANCE COMPANY Manhattan, Expanding Community Dance Series \$5,000

HALEAKALA Manhattan, Performance Season \$5,000

HARLEM SCHOOL OF THE ARTS Manhattan, Cultural Collaboration \$10,000

HARVESTWORKS Manhattan, Equipment Access \$11,250

HISTORIC HOUSE TRUST OF NYC Manhattan, Membership Campaign \$7,500

HORIZON CONCERTS Manhattan, Additional Concerts \$2,500

HOSPITAL AUDIENCES Manhattan, Services for the Disabled \$12.500

HOUSE FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Performances and Workshops \$10,000

INDEPENDENT FEATURE PROJECT Manhattan, Independents Night! \$2,500

INSTITUTE FOR CONTEMPORARY ART
Long Island City, Marketing
Initiative
\$15,000

INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF PHOTOGRAPHY Manhattan, Photography Competition \$42,290

INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS Manhattan, 1995 International Hispanic Theater Festival \$5,000 IRISH REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, Bards on Broadway \$5,000

IRONDALE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Marketing Expenses \$10.000

JAMAICA CENTER PERFORM-ING & VISUAL ARTS Jamaica, Afterschool Program \$10,000

JAZZMOBILE Manhattan, Recording & Video Project \$10,000

JEWISH MUSEUM Manhattan, Audience Development \$25,000

JOYCE THEATER FOUNDA-TION Manhattan, Family Matinees \$12,500

KINGS COUNTY SHAKESPEARE COMPANY Brooklyn, Annual Shakespeare Festival at the Bandshell in Prospect Park \$1,897

KINGS MAJESTIC CORPORA-TION Brooklyn, Expanded Community Access \$25,000

LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THTR CLUB Manhattan, Sunday Afternoon Performances \$25,000

LINCOLN CENTER FOR THE PERFORMING ARTS Manhattan, Group Sales \$55,050

LOS PLENEROS DE LA 21 Manhattan, Community Outreach \$6,500

LOWER EAST SIDE TENE-MENT MUSEUM Manhattan, Education Programs \$7,500

LUBOVITCH DANCE FOUN-DATION Manhattan, Performances at Queens Theater in the Park \$5,000 LUMEN Manhattan, Electronic Access \$2,500

MABOU MINES DEVELOP-MENT FOUNDATION Manhattan, 25th Anniversary Season \$11,940

MANHATTAN THEATRE CLUB Manhattan, Audience Enlargement Project \$37,500

MARQUIS STUDIOS, LTD Manhattan, Expand A-I-E Activities in Bronx \$3,250

MEDIA ALLIANCE Manhattan, Emerging Media Artist Workshops & Resource Guide \$2,500

MEET THE COMPOSER Manhattan, Workshops, Marketing Campaign & Events \$18.750

METROPOLITAN MUSEUM OF ART Manhattan, Schedule of Gallery Operations \$100,000

MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS COMPANY Bronx, Training Programs for Community Youth \$12,500

MOVEMENT RESEARCH Manhattan, Dancemakers in the Schools \$2,500

MOVING IMAGE Manhattan. Outreach \$12,500

MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Interactive Exhibit \$12,500

MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE AMERICAN Manhattan, Expanded Programming \$3,750 MUSEUM OF MODERN ART Manhattan, Outreach and Promotion Program \$26,500

NATIONAL CHORAL COUN-CIL Manhattan, NYC High School Vocal/Choral Program \$6,250

NATIONAL DANCE INSTITUTE Manhattan. In-School Program \$12,500

NEW FEDERAL THEATRE Manhattan, Marketing & Programming \$7,500

NEW MUSEUM OF CONTEM-PORARY ART Manhattan, Marketing Program \$5,000

NEW MUSIC CONSORT Manhattan, Concert Series \$2,500

NEW YORK CHINESE CULTURAL CENTER Manhattan, Community Arts Classes \$6,250

NEW YORK CITY BALLET Manhattan, Ballet Blooms in the Boroughs \$12.500

NEW YORK CITY OPERA Manhattan, Additional Performances \$77,000

NEW YORK FESTIVAL OF SONG Manhattan, Concert Series \$2,500

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Arts Economic Development Fund \$25,000

NEW YORK HALL OF SCIENCE Corona Park, Community Outreach Program \$44,000

NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY Manhattan. Exhibitions - Library of the Performing Arts \$25,000 NEW YORK SCHOOLFOR CIRCUS ARTS Manhattan, Audience Expansion Project \$12,994

NEW YORK SHAKESPEARE FESTIVAL Manhattan, Monday Nights at the Delacorte Theatre \$73,250

NEW YORK THEATRE WORKSHOP Manhattan, Additional Run for Selected Productions \$8,750

NIKOLAIS/LOUIS FOUNDA-TION FOR DANCE Manhattan, St. George & the Dragon, 5,000

NUYORICAN POETS CAFE Manhattan, The Fifth Night \$12,500

ONTOLOGICAL-HYSTERIC THEATER Manhattan, Additional Performances \$2,500

OPEN CHANNELS NY Manhattan, Developing New Works \$4,000

ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUN-DATION Manhattan, Kidsdance \$7,500

PAN ASIAN REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, Wednesday Matinees \$11.250

PARSONS DANCE FOUNDA-TION Manhattan. New York City Home Season \$5,000

PEPATIAN
Bronx, Audience Development
\$12,500

PERFORMANCE SPACE 122 Manhattan, Expanded Marketing Project \$15,000 PLAYWRIGHTS HORIZONS Manhattan, New Theater Wing \$25,000

POETRY SOCIETY OF AMERICA Manhattan, Poetry Posters in Subways \$3,750

POETS & WRITERS Manhattan, Library Outreach Project \$2,500

POETS HOUSE Manhattan, Poetry in The Branches \$2,500

PRATT INSTITUTE CENTER COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENT DEVELOPMENT Brooklyn, Community Program \$20.000

PREGONES THEATER Bronx, NYC Touring \$12,500

PROSPECT PARK ALLIANCE Brooklyn, Lefferts Homestead Exhibit \$2,500

PUBLIC ART FUND Manhattan, BIG CITY, BIG ART \$7,500

PUERTO RICAN TRAVELING THEATER Manhattan, Community Outreach Project \$5,000

QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS Woodhaven, Arts-In-Education \$2,500

QUEENS COUNTY ART CULTURAL CENTER Flushing, Exhibitions and Education Programs \$8,587

QUEENS SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA Long Island City, Youth Gospel Choir \$2,500

RED HOOK ARTS Brooklyn, Teen Arts Workshops \$5,000

RISE & SHINE PRODUCTIONS Manhattan, Video tergenerational Workshops \$4,375 ROUNDABOUT THEATRE Manhattan, 1994-95 Productions \$9,554

SECOND STAGE THEATRE Manhattan, Performances and Marketing \$7,500

SHADOW BOX THEATRE Manhattan, Family Program \$8,000

SOCIETY FOR PRESERVA-TION/ EEKSVILLE HISTORI-CAL SOCIETY Brooklyn, Extended Hours \$7,500

SOCIETY-3RD ST MUSIC SCHOOL SETTLEMENT Manhattan, Scholarships \$10,000

SOHO REPERTORY THEATRE Manhattan, 1994-95 Season \$6.250

SOUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM Manhattan, Shipboard Education on Lettie G. Howard \$15,000

SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY Manhattan, Performances \$2,500

SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY COMPANY Manhattan, Outreach Project \$17,500

SPANISH-ENGLISH EN-SEMBLE THEATER Manhattan, Marketing Initiative \$6,250

ST LUKE'S CHAMBER ENSEMBLE Manhattan, In-School Workshop Project \$17,500

STANDBY PROGRAM Manhattan, Video Post-Production Services \$2,500

STATEN ISLAND CHILDREN'S MUSEUM
Staten Island, Marketing
Campaign
\$12,500

STATEN ISLAND HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Staten Island, Public Access and Programming
\$8,750

STOREFRONT ART & ARCHITECTURE
Manhattan, Design Competition Petrosino Park
\$6,250

STUDIO IN A SCHOOL ASSOCIATION Manhattan, Early Childhood Art Services \$15,000

STUDIO MUSEUM IN HARLEM Manhattan, Expand Programming \$16,962

SYMPHONY SPACE Manhattan, Expanded Programs \$10,000

TADA! THEATRE & DANCE ALLIANCE Manhattan, Staged Reading Series \$3,375

TEACHERS & WRITERS COLLABORATIVE Manhattan, Writing Workshops \$7.500

THALIA SPANISH THEATRE Sunnyside, Complete Zarzuela \$6,250

THEATRE FOR A NEW AUDIENCE Manhattan, 14 Extra Performances \$7,500

TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND Manhattan, Children's Gardening Program \$2,500

URBANGLASS NY CONTEM-PORARY GLASS Brooklyn, Audience Development \$12,500

VINEYARD THEATRE & WORKSHOP CENTER Manhattan, Extra Performances \$7.500

VISUAL AIDS FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Services to Artists Living with AIDS \$6,250 VOLUNTEER LAWYERS FOR THE ARTS Manhattan, Copyright Education Programs \$6,250

WAVE HILL Bronx, Free Admission on Saturday Mornings \$17,500

WESTERN WIND VOCAL ENSEMBLE Manhattan, Programs for NYC Public School Students \$4,250

WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART Manhattan, Free Evening Admission \$50,000

WOOSTER GROUP Manhattan, Marketing/Publicity \$7,500

WORKING THEATRE COMPANY . Manhattan, Expanded Access \$10,000

WORLD MUSIC INSTITUTE Manhattan, THE MUSICAL WORLD OF ISLAM II \$10,000

YORK THEATRE COMPANY Manhattan, Season at St. Peter's Church \$2,500

YOUNG AUDIENCES OF NEW YORK Manhattan, Project ArtsReach \$12,500

| | American Museum of the Moving Image | Brooklyn Center for Urban Environment | Cooper-Hewitt National Design Museum | |
|---|--|--|---|--|
| | American Composers Orchestra | Brooklyn Historical Society | Cornell University | |
| | American Craft Museum | Brooklyn Institute Art & Science | Corning Museum of Glass | |
| | American Museum of Natural History | Brooklyn Philharmonic | Corporation of Yaddo | |
| PRIMARY | American Place Theatre | Symphony Broome County Arts Council | Council on Arts for Clinton County | |
| ORGANIZATIONS | Amigos del Museo del Barrio | Buffalo Fine Arts Academy | Cultural Resources Council- | |
| | An Claidheamh Soluis | Buffalo Media Resources | Syracuse-Onondaga | |
| | Architectural League of NY | Buffalo Philharmonic Orchestra | Cunningham Dance Foundation | |
| Primary organizations are | Artists Space | Society | Dance Theater Foundation | |
| defined as "eligible arts | | Burchfield-Penney Art Center | Dance Theater Workshop | |
| organizations which, by the quality of their arts services, their stature as arts institutions on a | Arts Center Theater of Schenectady | Camera News | Dance Theatre of Harlem | |
| stature as arts institutions on a state or national level, or by the | Arts Council for Chautauqua | Conital Paramore Company | Delaware Valley Arts Alliance | |
| importance of their contributions | County | Capital Repertory Company | belaware valley Arg Amaree | |
| to a significant population or the arts discipline in which they specialize, are particularly | Arts Council in Buffalo & Erie County | Caramoor Center for Music & Arts | Dewitt Historical Society of Tompkins County | |
| important to the cultural life of New York State, and the loss of | | Carnegie Hall Corporation | Discalced | |
| which or the diminution of | Arts Connection | Catskill Center for Conservation | Downtown Community | |
| services would, in the opinion of | Arts Council for Wyoming | & Development | Television | |
| the Council, constitute a serious artistic loss to the people in the | County | Course Course Arts Course? | Drawing Center | |
| State. In compliance with a | Arts Council of Orange County | Cayuga County Arts Council | Drawing Center | |
| legislative mandate, 50% of the Council's local assistance funds were awarded to the following | Arts Council of Rockland | Center for Photography Woodstock | Dutchess County Arts Council | |
| cultural organizations and this | Arts Guild of Old Forge | Control NIV Community Anto | El Museo Francisco Oller y | |
| list was filed with the State's | 7116 Gaile of Old Forge | Central NY Community Arts Council | Emelin Theatre for Performing | |
| Division of Budget for the 1994-95 fiscal year. | Arts/Cultural Council Greater Rochester | | Arts | |
| 1757 95 yisear year. | Rochester | Chamber Music Society of Lincoln Center | Empire State Crafts Alliance | |
| | Asian Cine-Vision | Zmom cener | · | |
| 92nd Street YM-YWHA | Association of Hispanic Arts | Chautauqua Institution | Essex Community Heritage Organization | |
| A Gathering of the Tribes | Ballet Hispanico of New York | Chemung County Historical Society | Essex County Arts Council | |
| Adirondack Lakes Center for Arts | Ballet Theatre Foundation | Chemung County Performing | Ethnic Folk Arts Center | |
| Adirondack Museum | Bardavon 1869 Opera House | Arts | Everson Museum of Art | |
| African Cultural Center - Buffalo | Billie Holiday Theatre | Chemung Valley Arts Council | Experimental Television Center | |
| Albany Institute History & Art | Black Spectrum Theatre | Chenango County Council of the Arts | Film Society of Lincoln Center | |
| Albany Symphony Orchestra | Company | Children's Art Carnival | Film/Video Arts | |
| Albany-Schenectady League of | BOA Editions, Ltd. | Circle in the Square Theatre | Finger Lakes Regional Arts | |
| Arts | Boys Choir of Harlem | Circle Beneatons Theatre | Council | |
| Alliance of NYS Arts Councils | Bronx Council on the Arts | Circle Repertory Theatre Company | Foundation for Independent Video/Film | |
| Alliance of Resident Theaters/NY | Bronx Museum of the Arts | City Lore NY Center/Urban Folk Culture | Frank Silvera Writers' Workshop | |
| Alternative Center for Interna- tional Arts | Brooklyn Academy of Music | | Friends of the Arts | |
| Alternative Literary Programs | Brooklyn Arts Council | Clinton County Historical Association | Thends of the Arts | |
| Dieray Hogians | Brooklyn Children's Museum | | | |

| Private and D. C. C. | | M I m | | |
|--|---|---|--|--|
| Friends of the Davis Center | Kenkeleba House | Music Theatre Group | Poets & Writers | |
| Gallery Association of NYS | La Mama Experimental Theater Club | Nassau County Museum of Art | Port Washington Public Library | |
| Garth Fagan Dance | Lake George Opera Festival | Nassau County | Pratt Institute Center for Community Environment Development | |
| Genesee Valley Arts Foundation | Association | National Dance Institute | | |
| Genesee Valley Council on the Art | Lake Placid Association of Music Drama & Art | Negro Ensemble Company | Preservation League of NYS | |
| Genesee-Orleans Reg Arts | Landmark Society of Western NY | New Community Cinema | Printmaking Workshop | |
| Council | Light Work Visual Studies | New Federal Theatre | Project U N I Q U E | |
| George Eastman House | | New Museum of Contemporary | Puerto Rican Traveling Theater | |
| Glimmerglass Opera | Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts | Art | Company | |
| Greene County Council on the | Long Island Arts Council at | New York Chinese Cultural Center | Putnam Arts Council | |
| | Freeport | New York City Ballet | Queens Council on the Arts | |
| Haleakala Hallwalls | Long Island University/C.W. Post College | New York City Opera | Queens County Art Cultural Center | |
| - | Los Pleneros De La 21 | New York Foundation for the Arts | River Arts Repertory Company | |
| Hanford Mills Museum of East Meredith | Lower Adirondack Regional Arts | New York Folklore Society | Roberson Memorial | |
| Harlem School of the Arts | | New York Landmarks Conser- | Rochester Museum & Science | |
| Henry Street Settlement | Lubovitch Dance Foundation | vancy | Center | |
| Historic Hudson Valley | Mabou Mines Development Foundation | New York Shakespeare Festival | Rochester Philharmonic Orchestra | |
| Historic Ithaca | Manhattan Theatre Club | New York Theatre Workshop | Rod Rodgers Dance Company | |
| Hubbard Hall Projects | Martha Graham Center for | Niagara Council of the Arts | Roundabout Theatre Company | |
| Hudson River Museum of | Contemporary Dance | North Country Library System | Roxbury Arts Group | |
| Westchester | | | S U Theatre Corporation | |
| Hudson Valley Philharmonic Society | Metropolitan Museum of Art | NYS Old Tyme Fiddlers Association | Saratoga Performing Arts Center | |
| Huntington Arts Council | Metropolitan Opera Association | Ontological-Hysteric Theater | Scenic Hudson | |
| International Center of Photogra- phy | Metropolitan School for the Arts | Original Ballets Foundation | Schoharie County Arts Council | |
| | MollyOlga Neighborhood Art | _ | Sculpture Space | |
| Inter-Media Art Center | Classes | Pan Asian Repertory Theatre | Second Stage Theatre | |
| International Arts Relations | Moving Image | Paper Bag Players | Seneca-Iroquois National | |
| Island Philharmonic Society | Mount Vernon Fine Arts Cultural Center | Paramount Center for the Arts | Museum | |
| Jamaica Center for Performing & | Municipal Art Society of NY | Parks Council | Shaker Museum and Library | |
| Visual Arts | Munson-Williams-Proctor | Parrish Art Museum | Snug Harbor Cultural Center | |
| Jazzmobile | Institute | Paul Taylor Dance Foundation | Society for Preservation of Long Island Antiquities | |
| Jefferson County Historical Society | Museum of Chinese in the Americas | Performance Space 122 | · | |
| Jewish Museum | Museum of Modern Art | Philharmonic Symphony Society of New York | Society for Preservation of Weeksville History | |
| Jose Limon Dance Foundation | Museum of the City of New York | Pierpont Morgan Library | Solomon R Guggenheim Museum | |
| Joyce Theater Foundation | Museums at Stony Brook | Playwrights Horizons | South Street Seaport Museum | |
| | | · • | | |

Spanish Theatre Repertory Company

Whitney Museum of American Art

Saint Ann Center Restoration & Arts

Women's Interart Center

Staten Island Children's Museum

Workshop of Players Art Foundation

Storefront Art & Architecture

Writers & Books

Strong Museum

WSLU-FM

Studio in a School Association

Young Audiences of New York

Studio Museum in Harlem

Studio Theatre School

Syracuse Opera Company

Syracuse Symphony Orchestra

Тар

Teachers & Writers Collaborative

Thalia Spanish Theatre

Theater for the New City Fndn

Theatre Development Fund

Theatreworks/USA

Tri-Cities Opera Company

Trisha Brown Dance Company

Ukrainian Museum

University of Rochester

Upper Catskill Comm Council Arts

Upstate Films

UrbanGlass NY Contemporary Glass

Visual Arts Resarch & Resource Center

Visual Studies Workshop

Vivian Beaumont Theatre

Volunteer Lawyers for the Arts

Wave Hill

Waverly Consort

Wayne County Council for the Arts

West Kortright Centre

Westchester Arts Council

1994-95 FUNDING BY COUNTY

The Council's appropriation act madates that "the residents of each county receive arts services proportionate to at least 40 cents per capita of population in each county, except that Council grant standards of artistic quality and administrative competence must be met." In 1994-95 the Council awarded grants to organizations in each of the state's 62 counties in the amounts detailed below. The required amount is based on the 1990 census figures. The Council's response to the mandate is made through grants to organizations which apply to any and all Council Programs through the normal application process. In addition, grants are made to organizations that provide arts services on a statewide basis. Grants for these purposes are shown at the end of the list as "Statewide."

| County | Required | Funded | County | Required | Funded |
|------------|-----------|------------|------------|-------------|----------|
| A lhony | 0117.007 | 05.45.0.65 | | | |
| Allogony | \$117,037 | \$547,262 | | 100,334 | |
| Promi | 20,188 | 20,050 | | 187,589 | |
| Droitx | 481,515 | 1,000,517 | | 38,040 | |
| Cottonne | 84,864 | 170,285 | | 123,058 | |
| | 33,693 | | | 16,738 | |
| Cayuga | 32,925 | 95740 | | 48,708 | |
| | 56,758 | | | 24,206 | |
| Chemung | 38,078 | 82,245 | Putnam | 33,576 | 88,430 |
| Chenango | 20,707 | 128,885 | Queens | 780,639 | 1164,510 |
| Clinton | 34,387 | 81,048 | Rensselaer | 61,771 | 249,462 |
| | 25,192 | | Rockland | 106,190 | 284,367 |
| | 19,585 | | | 44,789 | |
| Delaware | 18,902 | 206,405 | | 72,510 | |
| Dutchess | 103,784 | 387,883 | | 59,714 | |
| Erie | 387,412 | 1,298,295 | | 12,743 | |
| Essex | 14,860 | 202,918 | | 7,464 | |
| | 18,616 | | | 13,473 | |
| Fulton | 21,676 | 14,700 | | 151,590 | |
| Genesee | 24,024 | 59,380 | | 39,635 | |
| Greene | 17,895 | 124,998 | | 528,745 | |
| | 2,111 | | | 27,710 | |
| | 26,318 | | | 20,934 | |
| Jefferson | 44,377 | 59,407 | | 37,962 | |
| Kings | 920,265 | 1,865,589 | | 66,121 | |
| | 10,718 | | | 23,683 | |
| | 24,948 | | | 23,732 | |
| | 27,648 | | | 35,649 | |
| | 285,587 | | | 349,946 | |
| Montgomery | 20,792 | 17,747 | | 17,002 | |
| Nassau | 514,939 | 498.674 | | | |
| New York | 595,014 | 15,054,461 | | | |
| | 88,302 | | | \$7,196,492 | |

Mary Adams, Intern Amy Kail, Intern Stephanie McKay, Intern Nicolette Marshall, Intern

Electronic Media & Film Deborah Silverfine, Director Jonathan Goldberg, Associate Claude Meyer, Associate Paula Jarowski, Volunteer

Folk Arts Robert Baron, Director Helen Marr, Associate

Individual Artists Linda Earle, Director Gary Schiro, Associate

Literature Michael Albano, Director Kathleen Masterson, Associate

Museum Aid Linda Earle, Director *Paul Martinez, Associate Marcy Shaffer, Associate

James Jordan, Director Rita Putnam, Associate John Condon, Associate

Music

Presenting Organizations Bella Shalom, Director Liz Norsworthy, Associate Don Palmer, Associate Trena Banks, Consultant Sandye Wilson, Consultant

Special Arts Services Helen Cash, Director Barbara Ho, Associate

State and Local Partnership Decentralization County Incentive Michael Unthank, Director Steven Jones, Associate Jerry Lindahl, Associate Angela Fremont, Consultant

Theatre Gigi Bolt, Director Jim Duncan, Consultant Grover Zucker, Consultant

Visual Artists Program Elizabeth Merena, Director Susan Crowe, Associate

Fiscal Management Calvin Walker, Director Lyn Grady, Associate Michael Cummings, Associate

STAFF LIST

EXECUTIVE

Mary Hays, Executive Director Laurie Baskin, Executive Assistant/Special Projects Director Joyce Blake, Assistant to the Executive Director

ADMINISTRATION

Ray Freeman, Administrative Officer

- * Tim Mulligan, Director of Communications
- * Barbara Muench, Personnel
 Associate
 Beverly McInnis, Purchasing
 Agent
 Marnee Geller, Account Data
 Clerk
 Dorothy Winn, Receptionist
 Ruth Block, Clerical Assistant
 Archie McInnis, Central Services
 Manager
 Edwin Lugo, Chauffeur

PROGRAMS

Al Berr, Deputy Director

*Barbara Haspiel, Deputy Director
Brenda Brown, Audit Coordinator

Architecture, Planning and Design
Anne Van Ingen, Director

Deborah Norden, Associate Capital Aid

Nancy Cohn, Associate

Arts in Education Hollis Headrick, Director Gary Dayton, Associate Robert Zukerman, Associate

Beverly D'Anne, Director Deborah Lim, Associate Arnie Apostol, Intern

Information Services

Jerry Pecchia, Associate *Jenny Mangiapane, Assistant

Secretaries

Bea Banks Marilyn Fried Debbie Greene Carole Koehler Margaret Lipscomb Shirley Talley

Legal Counsel Chadbourne & Parke

*Left State Service during this period

ADVISORY PANELS

APPEALS

S. David Bailey, Executive Director, Jazzmobile, Manhattan

Steve Campbell, Phoenix Design, Manhattan

Veronica R. Geist, Producer, Women's Interart Center, Manhattan

George A. Negroponte, Manhattan

Fred Strauss, Director, White Plains Cable TV, White Plains

Thomas J. Walsh, Artistic Director, Northland Music Theatre, Syhracuse

Karin Wieder, Director, Project U.N.I.Q.U.E., Rochester

ARCHITECTURE, PLANNING AND DESIGN

Stanley Allen, Architect, Manhattan

Michael Bierut, Graphic Designer, Pentagram Design, Manhattan

Barbara Campagna, Restoration Architect, Campagna & Russo, Manhattan

William E. Davis, Architect, Manhattan

Chuck Hoberman, Industrial Designer, Manhattan

Paula Horrigan, Landscape Architect, Trumansburg

Ellen Lupton, Curator of Contemporary Design, Cooper Hewitt, Manhattan George McCulloch, Planner/ Landscape Architect, Watertown

Toshiko Mori, Architect, Manhattan

Lynda Schneekloth, Landscape Architect, Buffalo

Lee Skolnick, Architect, Lee H. Skolnick Architecture and Design, Manhattan

Clark Strickland, President, Preservation League of New York State, Albany

Henry Tepper, Deputy Commissioner for Natural Resources, NYS Office of Parks, Recreation & Historic Preservation, Albany

Billie Tsien, Architect, Tod Williams Billie Tsien & Associates, Manhattan

Roberta Washington, Architect, Manhattan

ARTS IN EDUCATION

Yvonne James- Brown, Buffalo Academy for Visual and Performing Arts, Buffalo

Sharon Dunn, Community School District 25, Flushing

Darryl Durham, Harlem School of the Arts, Manhattan

Naaz Hosseini, dancer/choreographer, teaching-artist, Nyack

Elissa Kane, NYS Alliance for Arts Education, Albany

Ellen Kirshbaum, NYC Public School Repertory Company, Brooklyn

Cathy Rosa Klimaszewski, Herbert F. Johnson Museum, Cornell Univerity, Groton

Nina McCarthy, Enrichment Coordinator, Wayne-Finger Lakes BOCES, Stanley

Alex Simmons, playwright, teaching-artist, Bronx

David Shookhoff, Manhattan Theater Club, Manhattan

Tom Cahill, Studio In A School, Manhattan

Don Cook, Tiorati Environmental Center, Bank Street College, Manhattan

Guillermo Guerrero, Tahuantinsuyo, Astoria

CAPITAL AID

Anne Ackerson, Rensselaer County Historic Society Troy

Kyle Chepulis, Technical Artistry, Brooklyn

Charles Gifford, Meyer & Gifford Architects, Manhattan

Nancy Harding, Roxbury Arts Group, Roxbury

Samuel Harris, Kieran, Timberlake & Harris, Philadelphia, PA

David Kahn, Brooklyn Historical Society, Brooklyn

Ruth Elizabeth Knapp, Department of Programs and Services for People with Disabilities, Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts, Manhattan

Theodore Lownie, Hamilton, Houston, Lownie, Buffalo

Charlotte J. McCormick, Depot Theater, Westport

Lawrence Pavane, Pavane-Kilbrawn Engineers, Bayside

Federico Ruiz, Operations Manager, Museo del Barrio, Manhattan

Judith Saltzman, Li-Saltzman Architects, Manhattan

Roberto Santiago, Robert Silman Associates, Parlin, New Jersey

Andrew Sebor, Altieri Consulting Engineers, Norwalk, Connecticut

Dare Rust Thompson, Kirkland Art Center, Clinton

CHALLENGE INITIATIVE

William Aguado, Executive Director, Bronx Council on the Arts, Bronx

Kent Barwick, President, Municipal Art Society, Manhattan

Amanda M. Burden, Chairman, Creative Time, Manhattan

Cora Cahan, President, The New 42nd Street, Manhattan

Fabiana Chiu, Deputy Director, Chinatown History Museum, Brooklyn

Karen Cooper, Executive Director, Film Forum, Manhattan

Nancy Diekmann, Managing Director, NY Theatre Workshop, Manhattan

Linda Ferber, Curator, Brooklyn Institute of Art & Science, Brooklyn

Lisa Frigand, Community Relations Director, Con Edison, Manhattan

Edward Kresky, Manhattan

Jane Moss, Vice President for Programming, Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts, Manhattan

Rod Rodgers, Artistic Director, Rod Rodgers Dance Company, Manhattan

Mikki Shepard, Artistic Director, Kings Majestic Corporation, Brooklyn

Lowery Sims, Associate Curator, Metropolitan Museum of Art, Manhattan

Carmen Vega-Rivera, East Harlem Tutorial Program, Bronx

David Kahn, Executive Director Brooklyn Historical Society, Brooklyn

Rochelle Slovin, Executive Director, American Museum of the Moving Image, Astoria

DANCE

Maris Battaglia, Director, American Academy of Ballet, East Amherst

Cecil C. Conner, Executive Director, Joffrey Ballet, Manhattan

Terry Creach, Co-Artistic Director, Creach/Koester, Manhattan

Mary DiSanto-Rose, Director, Dance Program, Skidmore College, Gloversville

David Dorfman, Artistic Director, David Dorfman Dance, Manhattan

Doris Hering, Dance critic and writer, Manhattan

Denise Jefferson, Director, Alvin Ailey American Dance Center, Manhattan

Walter Raines, Director of School, Dance Theatre of Harlem, Manhattan

Carlota Santana, Artistic Director, Carlota Santana Spanish Dance Company, Manhattan

Herbert M. Simpson, Dance critic and writer, Geneseo

Pamela Squires, Dance critic, Washington, DC

Carol Walker, Dean, Dance Division, State University of New York, Purchase

Kevin Wynn, Artistic Director, The Kevin Wynn Dance Collection, Manhattan

Alternates

Linda Hodes, Director, Paul Taylor School/Taylor 2, Manhattan

Toni Smith, Instructor, Dance Department, Skidmore College, Albany

Sally Sommer, Dance critic and writer, Manhattan

Martine van Hamel, Artistic Director, New Amsterdam Ballet, Manhattan

ELECTRONIC MEDIA AND FILM

Mary Buchen, Sonic Architecture, Manhattan

Donald Derosby, Director, Media Network, Manhattan

Nadine Duhaime, Director, Lake Placid Center for the Arts, Lake Placid

Timothy Gunn, Director, National Video Resources, Manhattan

Robert Harris, Ithaca College, Ithaca

Armin Heurich, Hallwalls, Buffalo

Minnie Hong, Asian Cine-Vision, Manhattan

Nathaniel Johnson, American Museum of Natural History, Manhattan

Ruby Lerner, Director, Foundation for Independent Video & Film, Manhattan

Wellington Love, Director, The New Festival, Manhattan

Michelle Materre, Educational Video Center, Manhattan

Sam McElfresh, American Federation of Arts, Manhattan

Jane Nisselson, Director, Virtual Beauty, Manhattan

Richard Pena, Film Society of Lincoln Center, Manhattan

Rick Prelinger, Director, Prelinger Associates, Manhattan.

Catherine Tait, Director, Independent Feature Project, Manhattan

Rea Tajiri, Artist, Brooklyn

FOLK ARTS

Rita Chrisjohn Benson, Cairo

Kathleen Condon, Coordinator, Unified Communites Project, Brooklyn Children's Museum, Brooklyn Dr. Barry Dornfeld, Assistant Professor, Department of Anthopology, New York University, Manhattan

Dr. Alicia M. Gonzalez, Director of College and University Relations, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Education and Public Service, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.

Field Horne, Curator of Collections, National Museum of Racing, Saratoga Springs

Martin Koenig, Artistic Director, Ethnic Folk Arts Center, Manhattan

Eileen Macholl, Administrative Director, World Music Institute, Manhattan

Nathan W. Pearson, Jr., Chief Financial Officer, Broadcasting Partners, Manhattan

Dr. Rachelle H. Saltzman, Staff Folklorist, Delaware County Historical Association, Delhi

Cassandra A. Stancil, Philadelphia, PA

Dr. Daniel Franklin Ward, Manager, Folk Arts, Cultural Resources Council of Syracuse and Onondaga County, Syracuse

Dr. Steven J. Zeitlin, Director, City Lore, Manhattan

Dr. Su de San Zheng, Manhattan

John Eilertsen, Director, Folklife Center, Hallockville Folklife Center for Suffolk County, Riverhead

J. Kenneth Moore, Associate Curator, Department of Musical Instruments, Metropolitan Museum of Art, Manhattan

INDIVIDUAL ARTISTS

Alfredo Bejar, Film & Video Artist, Manhattan

Greg Bordowitz, Video Artist, Manhattan

Kathleen Brandt, Video/Radio Artist, WSLU - FM, Potsdam Mary Buchen, Sculptor/Sound Artist, Manhattan

Kitty Chen, Playwright, Manhattan

James Clark, Producing Director, Syracuse Stage, Syracuse

Tania Cypriano, Film & Video Artist, Manhattan

David Esbjornson, Artistic Director, CSC, Manhattan

Robert Federico, Designer, Manhattan

Virginia Kassel, Film & Video Producer, Tatge/Lasseur Productions, Manhattan

Chris McCann, Actor, Manhattan

Sam McElfresh, American Federation of the Arts, Manhattan

Cassandra Medley, Playwright, Manhattan

Micahel Paller, Dramaturg, Brooklyn

Nicky Paraiso, Actor/Performance Artist/Writer, Manhattan

Randy Rollison, Artistic Director -HOME, Manhatttan

Somi Roy, Independent Curator, Manhattan

Nina Sobell, Video Artist, Manhattan

Marianne Weems, Playwright/ Director/Dramaturg, Manhattan

Susan Yankowitz, Playwright, Manhattan

LITERATURE

Malaika Adero, Executive Editor, Amistad Press/Writer, Manhattan

Jack Agüeros, Writer/Translator, Manhattan

Maureen Brady, Writer, West Hurley

Lee Ellen Briccetti. Executive

Director, Poets House/Poet, Manhattan

Jim Fleming, Editor/Publisher, Autonomedia, Brooklyn

Ed Friedman, Artistic Director, Poetry Project/Writer, Manhattan

Hettie Jones, Writer, Manhattan

Sylvia Kelly, Camps Coordinator, Geneseo Migrant Center/Poet, Geneseo

Maurice Kenny, Poet/Publisher, Saranac Lake

Walter K. Lew, Translator/Editor, Manhattan

Bruce McPherson, Editor/ Publisher, McPherson & Co., Kingston

Debora Ott, Executive Director, Just Buffalo Literary Center, Buffalo

MUSEUM

Fay Chew-Matsuda, Director, Chinatown History Museum, Manhattan

Dr. Christopher Clarke-Hazlett, Historian, Strong Museum, Rochester

Jacqueline Day, Executive Director, Adirondack Museum, Blue Mountain Lake

Carma Fauntleroy, Director, Queens Museum of Art, Flushing

Mary Ellen Hern, Director Historic and Cultural Properties, New York City Department of Parks, Manhattan

Stephen A. Karon, Executive Director, Museum of Science & Technology, Syracuse

Liselle LaFrance, Director, Historic Cherry Hill, Albany

Patsy Orlofsky, Executive Director, Textile Conservation Workshops, South Salem Andrew Pekarik, Exhibition Specialist, Cooper-Hewitt National Design Museum, Smithsonian Institution, Manhattan

Barbara Pollard, Director of Education, Neuberger Museum, Purchase

Grace Stanislaus, Director, Bronx Museum of Art, Bronx

Radiah H. Sumler, Director of Programs, Historic Hudson Valley, Tarrytown

Philip Verre, Director, Hudson River Museum, Yonkers

Extended Panel-Conservation Treatment

Dorothy Abramitis, Objects Conservator, Metropolitan Museum of Art Manhattan

Lucy A. Commoner, Textile Conservator, Cooper-Hewitt Museum, Manhattan

Reba Fishman, Paper Conservator, New-York Historical Society, Manhattan

Marian Kaminitz, Objects Conservator, National Museum of the American Indian, Manhattan

Ken Moser, Paintings Conservator, The Brooklyn Museum, Brooklyn

Susanne P. Sack, Paintings Conservator, New York Public Library, Manhattan

MUSIC

Ann Marie Barker, Artistic Director, St. Cecilia Chamber Orchestra, Albany

Gary Burgess, Artistic Director, Greater Buffalo Opera Company, Buffalo

Naomi Drucker, Co-director, American Chamber Ensemble, Massapequa Richard Einhorn, Composer, Manhattan

Dr. Daniel S. Godfrey, Composer, Syracuse

Robert Hurwitz, General Manager & Senior Vice President, Elektra Nonesuch, Manhattan

Michael Jaffee, Artistic Director, The Waverly Consort, Patterson

Melba Joyce, Jazz Singer, Songwriter, Manhattan

Dr. Charles Kaufman, President, The Mannes College of Music, Manhattan

Kermit Moore, Cellist, composer, conductor, Manhattan

Marilyn Shapiro, Executive Director, External Affairs, Metropolitan Opera, Manhattan

Paul Sperry, Tenor, Manhattan

Dr. Steven Swartz, Editor for Publicity, Boosey & Hawkes, Hoboken, NJ

Akira Tana, Percussionist, Manhattan

Helen Valenza, President, Genessee Early Music Society, Rochester

PRESENTING

Kim Chan, Director, Dance and New Performance, Washington Performing Arts Society, Washington, DC

Barbara Hauptman, Executive Director, Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater, Manhattan

Laura Kaminsky, Director of Music & Theater Program, The New School for Social Research, Manhattan

Matthew Mielnick, Clayville

Diedre Murray, Curator, Rooftop Concerts, YWCA of the City of New York, Manhattan

Sharon Ofner, Executive Director, Ticonderoga Festival Guild, Ticonderoga Numa Saisselin, Executive Director, Paramount Center for the Arts, Peekskill

Andrea Smith, Development Director, Performance Space 122, Manhattan

Fred Wagner, Rochester

Lois Welk, Executive Director, 171 Cedar Arts Center, Corning

Leanne Tintori Wells, Director, Performing Arts Program for Young People, Brooklyn Academy of Music, Brooklyn

Alternates

KweYao Agyapon, Bronx

Robert Gibson, Director, Jazz at Lincoln Center, Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts, Manhattan

Randall Rosenbaum, Deputy Director, Pennsylvania Council on the Arts, Harrisburg, PA

Michael Rothbard, Executive Director, Inter-Media Art Center, Huntington

SPECIAL ARTS SERVICES

Camille Giraud Akeju, Executive Director, Mind Builders Creative Arts Co., Bronx

June Choi, Executive Director, Asian American Arts Alliance, Manhattan

Marcella Reid Figueroa, Executive Director, Dance Explosion, Ltd., Queens

Luther Fontaine(Riggins), Executive Director, LaRocue Bey School of Dance Theatre, Manhattan

John-Martin Green, Artistic Director, Blackberry Productions, Manhattan Celeste Lawson, Executive Director, King Urban Life Center, Buffalo

Daniela Montana, Visual Arts Consultant/Curator, Manhattan

Peggy Pettit, Actor/Performance Artist, Manhattan

Daniel Rostan, Executive Director, Brooklyn Music School, Brooklyn

Agnes Bain, Executive Director, African American Cultural Center, Buffalo

Curtis Chin, Managing Director, Asian American Writers Workshop, Manhattan

Juan J. Guitierrez-Rodriguez, Executive Director, Los Pleneros de la 21, Bronx

William H. Rowland II, Executive Director, Paul Robeson Performing Arts Co., Syracuse

STATE & LOCALS PARTNERSHIP DECENTRALIZA-TION AND COUNTY INITIA-TIVE

Richard Driscoll, Executive Director Community Arts Partnership Ithaca

Patricia B. Endorf, Executive Director Central NY Community Arts Council, Utica

Lucy Funke, Executive Director Chenango County Arts Council Norwich

Kenneth G. Goode, Director, Office of Affirmative Action and Community Relations, Monroe County, Rochester

Glendora Johnson, Undergraduate Library, SUNY/Buffalo, Buffalo

Jackie Lodico, Executive Director, Niagara County Council on the Arts, Niagara Falls Gregory Javan Mills, Executive Director International Agency of Minority Artists Affairs, Manhattan

Douglas Pace, Executive Director Albany-Schenectady League of Arts Albany

Caroline Rubino, Executive Director, Essex County Arts Council Elizabethtown

Grace Shen, Executive Director, Long Island Arts Council at Freeport, Freeport

Kerris Wolsky, Executive Director Harlem Textile Works, Manhattan

Alternates

Kay Collins, Executive Director, Access to the Arts, Dunkirk

Tyra Emerson, Program Coordinator, Queens Council on the Arts, Jamaica

Laurita Griffo, Program Director, Genessee Valley Council on the Arts Mount Morris

Roberto Lebrun, Board Member, Westchester Arts Council, White Plains

THEATER

Zoe Caldwell, Actress, Manhat-

Gavin Cameron-Webb, Artistic Director, Studio Arena Theatre, Buffalo

James Clark, Producing Director, Syracuse Stage, Syracuse

Migdalia Cruz, playwright, New Canaan, CT

David Esbjornson, Artistic Director, Classic Stage Company, Manhattan

Abigail Evans, Managing Director, Circle Repertory Company, Manhattan Charles(Oyamo) Gordon, playwright Ann Arbor, MI

Morgan Jenness, Director of Play Development, New York Shakespeare Festival, Manhattan

Bruce Levitt, Chair, Department of Theater Arts, Cornell University, Ithaca

Christopher McCann, actor, Manhattan

Robert McGrath, Artistic Director, Ridge Theater, Manhattan

Rome Neal, Director, Brooklyn

Nicky Paraiso, Writer, Actor, Manhatttan

Daniel Swee, Casting Director, Lincoln Center Theater, Manhattan

Lynne Thigpen, Director, Writer, Manhattan Inverna Lockpez, Curator and Painter, Denver

Jose Piedra, Cornell Univeristy, Ithaca

Arlene Raven, Writer and Critic, Manhattan

Lynn Seeney, Director, Bronx River Art Center/Artist, Manhattan

Clarissa Sligh, Mixed Media Artist, Manhattan Holly Solomon, Gallery Director, Manhattan

Gwenn Thomas, Photographer/ Teacher, Manhattan

Philemona Williamson, Painter, Manhattan

Paul Wong, Artistic Director, Dieu Donne Papermill/Artist, Manhattan

VISUAL ARTS

Tomie Arai, Mixed Media Artist, Manhattan

Rimer Cardillo, Installation Artist/Sculptor, Manhattan

Roy Crosse, Sculptor and Printmaker, Newark, NJ

Alvaro Garcia, Sculptor, Manhattan

Marina Gutierrez, Mixed Media Artist, Brooklyn

Grace Graupe-Pillard, Mixed Media Artist, Freehold, NJ

Arlan Huang, Installation Artist, Manhattan

Jonathan Kirk, Artistic Director/ Sculptor, Sculpture Space, Utica

Prawat Laucharoen, Printmaker/ Teacher, Manhattan

Elizabeth Licata, Curator and Writer, Castellani Art Gallery, Niagara

INDEX

Symbols

10 ON 8 80 29TH STREET REPERTOR 76 52ND STREET PROJECT 78, 82 7 LOAVES 27, 28 92ND STREET YM-YWHA 11, 17, 32, 41, 46

A GATHERING OF THE TRIBES 32 A GATHERING OF THE TRIBES, INC. 31 A I E INSTITUTE FOR WESTERN NEW YORK 11

ABIGAIL ADAMS SMITH MUSEUM

ABOUT FACE THEATRE COMPANY 77 ACADEMY OF AMERICAN POETS, INC.

ACCESS TO THE ARTS 25, 72, 80 ADA! THEATRE & DANCE ALLIANCE

ADIRONDACK ARCHITECTURAL HERITAGE 9

ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR THE ARTS 23 ADIRONDACK LAKES CENTER FOR

ARTS 11, 46, 72 ADIRONDACK MUSEUM 12, 27, 35, 37 AESTHETIC EDUCATION INSTITUTE 12, 16

AFRICAN CULTURAL CENTER -BUFFALO 51

AFRICAN FILM FESTIVAL 23 AFRICAN STREET FESTIVAL 46, 53 AFRIKAN PÕETRY THEATRE 46, 48, 50 AFTER DINNER OPERA COMPANY 39 AIMS OF MODZAWE 50

AKWESASNE CULTURAL CENTER 35, 53

ALBANY INSTITUTE HISTORY & ART

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY & ART 16

ALBANY INSTITUTE OF HISTORY AND

ART 35, 37 ALBANY SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 39 ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF

ARTS 12, 72, 73 ALBANY-SCHENECTADY LEAGUE OF

THE ARTS 46 ALFRED UNIVERSITY 32, 46 ALHAMBRA 42, 43 ALLEGRA VIDA 32, 33 ALLEYWAY THEATRE 77

ALLIANCE FOR THE ARTS 71

ALLIANCE OF NYS ARTS COUNCILS 72 74 ALLIANCE OF RESIDENT THEATERS/NY

ALLIANCE OF RESIDENT THEATRES/NY 78

ALPHA OMEGA 1-7 THEATRICAL DANCE 50

ALTERNATIVE CENTER FOR INTERNATIONAL ARTS 79 ALTERNATIVE CTR FOR INT'L ARTS

ALTERNATIVE LITERARY PROGRAMS

ALTERNATIVE MEDIA INFORMATION

CENTER 24, 29
AMAICA CENTER FOR THE PERFORM-ING AND VISUAL ARTS 47

AMAS MUSICAL THEATRE 53 AMERICA-ITALY SOCIETY 53 AMERICAN AUTHENTIC JAZZ DANCE

AMERICAN BALLROOM THEATER COMPANY 20

AMERICAN BRASS CHAMBER MUSIC ASSOCIATION 39 AMERICAN CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 39 AMERICAN CHAMBER OPERA

COMPANY 42 AMERICAN COMPOSERS 41

AMERICAN COMPOSERS ORCHESTRA 43, 46, 82

AMERICAN CRAFT MUSEUM 35 AMERICAN FEDERATION OF ARTS 25 AMERICAN FESTIVAL - MICROTONAL MUSIC 39

AMERICAN INDIAN COMM 51 AMERICAN INDIAN COMMUNITY HOUSE 80

AMERICAN JEWISH THEATRE 77 AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL

HISTORY 23, 36, 37, 82 AMERICAN MUSEUM OF THE MOVING IMAGE 12, 24, 37, 82 AMERICAN MUSIC CENTER 39

AMERICAN MUSIC GROUP 39 AMERICAN OPERA PROJECTS 44 AMERICAN PLACE THEATRE 12, 29, 75, 82

AMERICAN SOCIAL HISTORY PRODUCTIONS 29 AMERICAN SPANISH DANCE THEATRE

AMERICAN SPANISH DANCE THEATRE

(ANDREA DEL CONTE) 21 AMERICAN STAGE NETWORK 12 AMERICAN SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA

AMERICAS SOCIETY 32 AMHERST SAXOPHONE SOCIETY 39 AMIGOS DEL MUSEO DEL BARRIO 34, 35, 36, 82

AN CLAIDHEAMH SOLUIS 27, 50, 77 ANTHOLOGY FILM ARCHIVE 23 ANTHOLOGY FILM ARCHIVES 24 ANTIQUE BOAT MUSEUM 36 APPLEBY FOUNDATION 21 AQUARIUM FOR WILDLIFE CONSERVA-TION 12

ARCHITECTURAL LEAGUE 82 ARCHITECTURAL LEAGUE OF NEW YORK 9

ARDEN PARTY 77 ARENA PLAYERS REPERTORY

THEATRE 75
ARM-OF-THE-SEA PRODUCTIONS 77
ARNOT ART MUSEUM 36 ARS NOVA MUSICIANS CHAMBR ORCH

ART & UNDERSTANDING 32, 33 ART APPREECIATION GUILD ST NICHOLAS UKRANIAN ORTHO

ART AWARENESS 46, 79 ART FOR ALL SCHOOL CHILDRENS MUSEUM 52

ART IN GENERAL 23, 79, 80, 82 ART OF THE EARLY KEYBOARD 39, 43 ART RESOURCES-TEACHER & STUDENT 50

ART RESOURCES-TEACHERS & STUDENTS 12

ARTISTS TALK ON ART 79 ARTMUSIC 39 43

ARTS & BUSINESS COUNCIL 48, 74 ARTS & CULTURAL COUNCIL FOR **GREATER ROCHESTER 72**

ARTS & CULTURE FOR OSWEGO COUNTY 71, 73

ARTS ALLIANCE OF 71

ARTS ALLIANCE OF HAVERSTRAW 71 ARTS AND CULTURAL COUNCIL FOR **GREATER ROCHESTER 12**

ARTS AND CULTURAL COUNCIL OF GREATER ROCHESTER 26, 27 ARTS CENTER AND THEATRE OF

SCHENECTADY 45 ARTS CENTER, NAZARETH COLLEGE

ARTS CONNECTION 11, 16, 46, 82 ARTS COUNCIL FOR CHAUTAUQUA

COUNTY 12, 72, 74 ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYO 71 ARTS COUNCIL FOR WYOMING

COUNTY 27, 55, 72, 73
ARTS COUNCIL IN BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY 54, 55, 72, 74

ARTS COUNCIL OF ORANGE COUNTY 46, 55, 72 ARTS COUNCIL OF ROCKLAND, 72

ARTS GUILD OF OLD FORGE 46, 72 ARTS HORIZONS 11 ARTS REACH 12 71

ARTS RESOURCES IN COLLABORATION

ASCENSION MUSIC CHORUS & ORCHESTRA 42

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS ALLIANCE 51 72 73 82

ASIAN AMERICAN ARTS CENTRE

27, 50 ASIAN AMERICAN WRITERS' WORKSHOP 32

ASIAN CINE-VISION 24, 27, 52, 82 ASSOCIATED COLLEGES OF THE ST. LAWRENCE VALLEY 46, 48 ASSOCIATED SOLO ARTISTS 12

ASSOCIATION FOR DEVELOPMENT OF DRAMATIC ARTS 82
ASSOCIATION FOR THE DEVELOPMENT

OF DRAMATIC ARTS 75 ASSOCIATION OF COMMUNITY

ARTISTS - WESTCHESTER 50 ASSOCIATION OF HISPANIC ARTS 54, 72, 73, 82

ASTON MAGNA FOUNDATION FOR MUSIC& HUMANITIES 43 ATLANTIC THEATER COMPANY 75 AUTONOMEDIA, LTD. 31

BABYLON CITIZENS COUNCIL ON THE

ARTS 46, 71 BACH ARIA GROUP 12 BALLET HISPANICO OF NEW YORK

17, 21, 50, 82 BALLET THEATRE FOUNDATION 82 BALLET THEATRE FOUNDATION (AMERICAN BALLET THEATRE 19, 20

BANG ON A CAN 39, 43 BANK STREET COLLEGE OF EDUCATION 12, 28 BARD COLLEGE 12, 16, 32, 46

BARDAVON 1869 OPERA HOUSE 17, 45, 48 BARGEMUSIC, LTD 39

BARROW GROUP 77 BARTOW-PELL LANDMARK FUND 34, 38

BATTERY DANCE CORPORATION 21 BAY STREET THEATRE FESTIVAL 77 BC POPS 39

BEAUTY & THE BEAST STORYTELLERS

BEDFORD STUYVESANT REST CORP 50 BEDFORD STUYVESANT RESTORATION CORP. 53
BEDFORD STUYVESANT RESTORATION

CORPORATION 82 BERKSHIRE CIVIC BALLET 19, 20 BERNSTEIN EDUCATION-ARTS FUND

12 BIG ORBIT GALLERY 80 BILLIE HOLIDAY THEATRE 75, 82
BINGHAMTON COMMUNITY POETS 32 BINGHAMTON SYMPHONY & CHORAL

SOCIETY 39 BLACK DIMENSIONS IN ART 50 BLACK SPECTRUM THEATRE 77 BLACK SPECTRUM THEATRE

COMPANY 50 BLACKBERRY PRODUCTIONS 12, 53

BLOOMINGDALE HOUSE OF MUSIC 51 BLOSSOM & CO. (BEVERLY BLOSSOM) 21

BLUE HERON THEATRE 77 BOA EDITIONS, LTD. 31 BOND STREET THEATRE COALITION

BOQUET RIVER ASSOCIATION 10 BOYS CHOIR OF HARLEM 50, 82 BOYS HARBOR 21, 27, 51 BREAD & ROSES CULTURAL PROJECT

BRIDGEHAMPTON CHAMBER MUSIC ASSOCIATION 42

BRONX ARTS ENSEMBLE 12, 16, 82 BRONX COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 12, 33, 72, 74, 80, 82 BRONX COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY

36 BRONX MUSEUM OF THE ARTS 36, 82 BRONX OPERA COMPANY 82 BRONX RIVER ART CENTER 80 BRONX ZOO-WILDLIFE CONSERVA-TION PARK 12

BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF MUSIC BROOKLYN ARTS COUNCIL 12, 26

BROOKLYN ARTS COUNCIL Brooklyn 72 BROOKLYN CENTER FOR THE URBAN ENVIRONMENT 9, 12, 16 BROOKLYN CENTER FOR URBAN **ENVIRONMENT 83**

BROOKLYN CHILDREN'S MUSEUM 35, 36, 46, 48, 83

BROOKLYN CONSERVATORY OF MUSIC 12 BROOKLYN FRIENDS OF CHAMBER

MUSIC 42 BROOKLYN HISTORICAL SOCIETY

34, 36, 38, 83 BROOKLYN IN TOUCH INFORMATION CENTER 74

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE ARTS & SCIENCES 83

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE OF ART & SCIENCE 12

BROOKLYN INSTITUTE OF ART AND SCIENCE 36 BROOKLYN MUSIC SCHOOL-

PLAYHOUSE 39, 52

BROOKLYN PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY 12, 39, 43 BROOME COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 72 BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 36, 38

BUFFALO ENSEMBLE THEATRE 75 **BUFFALO FINE ARTS ACADEMY 38** BUFFALO INNER CITY BALLET CO. 50 BUFFALO MEDIA RESOURCES

23, 24, 29, 50 BUFFALO OLMSTED PARKS CONSERVANCY 9 BUFFALO SOCIETY OF NATURAL

SCIENCE 34 **BURCHFIELD-PENNEY ART CENTER** 9, 12, 35

C.O.D.A. (CREACH/KOESTER) 21 CAFFE LENA 27

CAMERA NEWS 17, 24, 52, 83 CAMP OF THE PINES - LCMS 27 CAPITAL DISTRICT COMMUNITY GARDENS 8 CAPITAL REPERTORY COMPANY 75

CAPITOL CHAMBER ARTISTS 40 CAPITOL HILL IMPROVEMENT CORP 9 CAPOEIRA FOUNDATION 27, 28 CAPOEIRA FOUNDATION (JELON

VIEIRA 20 CARAMOOR CENTER FOR MUSIC & THE

ARTS 16 CARAMOOR CENTER FOR MUSIC AND ARTS 46 CARAMOOR CTR FOR MUSIC & ARTS

CARNEGIE HALL CORPORATION 46 CAROUSEL SOCIETY OF THE NIAGARA

FRONTIER 8, 36, 46 CASTELLANI ART MUSEUM 12, 26, 80 CATSKILL ACTORS THEATRE 77 CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVA-

TION & DEVELOPMENT 12 71 CATSKILL CENTER FOR CONSERVA-TION AND DEVELOPMENT 9, 46 CATSKILL CONSERVATORY 40, 43 CATSKILL SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 40 CAYUGA CHAMBER ORCHESTRA 40 CAYUGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL

55, 71, 72, 73 CAYUGA MUSEUM OF HISTORY & ART

CAYUGA NATURE CENTER 12 CENTER EXPLORATORAY/PERCEP-TUAL ARTS 80

CENTER EXPLORATORY & PERCEP-TUAL ARTS 79 CENTER FOR CONTEMPORARY OPERA

CENTER FOR EXPLORATORY/ PERCEPTUAL ART 23

CENTER FOR MULTICULTURAL CHILDREN'S LITERATURE 32 CENTER FOR OCCUPATIONAL HAZARD

CENTER FOR PHOTOGPHY WOODSTOCK 23, 79 CENTER FOR THE ARTS AT ITHACA

CENTER OF AFRICAN AMER CULTURE 42. 53

CENTER OF AFRICAN AMERICAN CULTURE 53 CENTRAL NEW YORK COMMUNITY ARTS COUNCIL 12 CENTRAL NY COMMUNITY ARTS COUNCIL 72, 73
CENTRAL PARK MAGAZINE 32
CENTRO CIVICO OF AMSTERDAM 53 CHAMBER MUSIC AMERICA 40 CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY OF LINCOLN CENTER 40 CHAMBER MUSIC SOCIETY OF UTICA CHARAS 21, 23, 50 CHASSIDIC ART INSTITUTE 50 CHAUTAUQUA INSTITUTION 42 CHELSEA ASSOCIATES 32 CHEMUNG COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 12, 26, 36, 37 CHEMUNG COUNTY PERFORMING ARTS 45 CHEMUNG VALLEY ARTS COUNCIL 16, 26, 27, 55, 72 CHENANGO CO CNCL OF THE ARTS 80 CHENANGO COUNTY CNCL OF THE ARTS 17 CHENANGO COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE ARTS 46, 71, 72, 73, 74
CHENANGO COUNTY ENVIROMENTAL
MANAGEMENT COUNCIL 10 CHENANGO UNITED CONCERT **ASSOCIATION 45** CHILDREN'S ART CARNIVAL 50, 71 CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF HISTORY, NATURAL HISTORY, AN 36 CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF HISTORY, NATURAL HISTORY AND 27 CHILDREN'S MUSEUM OF MANHAT-TAN 12, 35, 37, 83 CHINESE AMERICAN ARTS COUNCIL 27, 51, 72, 83 CHINESE CULTURAL PROGRAMS 53 CHINESE MUSIC ENSEMBLE OF NEW YORK 27 CHINESE MUSIC ENSEMBLE OF NY 43, 53 CHINESE MUSICAL ARTS 53 CINEASTE PUBLISHERS 25 CIRCLE IN THE SQUARE THEATRE 75 CIRCLE OF DANCE REPERTORY COMPANY 12 CIRCLE REPERTORY THEATRE 75 CIRCLE REPERTORY THEATRE **COMPANY 12, 83** CIRCUIT THEATRE 16, 51, 83 CIRCUS EDUCATION SPECIALISTS 11 CITY CENTER-55TH ST THEATER FOUNDATION 83 CITY CENTER-55TH ST THEATRE FOUNDATION 77 CITY CENTER-55TH ST. THEATER FOUNDATION 46 CITY CENTER-55TH STREET THEATER FOUNDATION 21 CITY CENTER/55TH STREET THEATRE FOUNDATION 12 CITY GRAND OPERA SOCIETY 42 CITY LORE 9 CITY LORE NY CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE 83 CITY LORE/NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK 12 CITY LORE: NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE 26 CITY OF ALBANY 55 CITY OF PEEKSKILL 8 CITY OF YONKERS, DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATIO 48 CITY PARKS FOUNDATION 32, 47 CITYLORE NEW YORK CENTER FOR URBAN FOLK CULTURE 23 CLARION MUSIC SOCIETY 42, 43 CLASSICAL PRODUCTIONS 53 CLINTON COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION 36, 38 CNS PRODUCTIONS 40 COLGATE UNIVERSITY 24 COLLECTIVE OF CULTURAL INTEGRATION 32 CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL OF COLUMBIA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 71 CUNNINGHAM DANCE FOUNDATION COLUMBIA FESTIVAL ORCHESTRA 42 COLUMBIA LAND CONSERVANCY 9

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY 9

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, TRUSTEES OF (MILLER THEATER) 47 COMING TOGETHER FESTIVAL OF MUSIC & DANCE 12 COMING TOGETHER FESTIVAL OF MUSIC & DANCE (VANAVER 20 COMM UNITYARTS PARTNERSHIP-TOMPKINS 73 COMMUNITY ARTS PARTNERSHIP-TOMPKINS 71, 72 COMMUNITY ARTS PARTNERSHIP-TOMPKINS COUNTY 55 COMMUNITY CTRS OF NEWBURGH 52 COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTS 26 COMMUNITY MUSIC CENTER BROOME COUNTY 52 COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF MUSIC & ARTS 39, 71 COMMUNITY WORKS 12, 47, 48 COMMUNITY WRITERS' PROJECT 33 COMMUNITY WRITERS' PROJECT, INC. COMPOSERS ALLIANCE OF BUFFALO COMPOSERS CONCORDANCE 42 COMPOSERS FORUM 40 COMPOSERS RECORDINGS 40 CONCERT ARTISTS GUILD 40, 83 CONCERT ROYAL 40 CONCERTED EFFORT 12 CONCORDIA ORCHESTRA 12, 42 CONSORT DANCE ENSEMBLE 21 CONSTITUENT ARTS LIMITED 76 CONTACT COLLABORATIONS 21 CONTEMPORARY DANCE ARTS (SHAPIRO AND SMITH DANCE) 20 CONTEMPORARY THEATRE 75 COOPER UNION 10 COOPER UNION ADVANCEMENT OF SCI ENCE & ART 52 COOPER-HEWITT NATIONAL DESIGN MUSEUM 9, 34, 37, 83 COOPERSTOWN CONCERT SERIES 45 CORNELL UNIVERSITY 12, 25 CORNELL UNIVERSITY/HERBERT F. JOHNSON ART MUSEUM 35 CORNING MUSEUM OF GLASS 36 CORNING PHILHARMONIC SOCIETY 40 CORNING-PAINTED POST CIVIC MUSIC CORNING-PAINTED POST CIVIC MUSIC ASSOCIATION 48 CORPORATION OF YADDO 74 CORTLAND REPERTORY THEATRE 75
COSMOPOLITAN SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 42 COUNCIL OF LITERARY MAGAZINES & PRESSES 31 COUNCIL ON ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY 71, 72 COUNCIL ON THE ARTS FOR CLINTON COUNTY 13, 47 COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER 48 COUNTY OF COLUMBIA 55 CRANDALL PUBLIC LIBRARY 24, 26, 32 CRC INSTITUTE FOR ARTS IN EDUCATION 13, 16 CREATION PRODUCTION COMPANY 77 CREATIVE ALTERNATIVES OF NEW YORK 13 CREATIVE ALTERNATIVES OF NY 83 CREATIVE TIME 25, 79 CROSS PERFORMANCE (RALPH LÉMON AND COMPANY) 21 CSC REPERTORY, LTD 75, 83 CUCARACHA THEATRE 75, 83 CULTURAL CENTER FOR SOVIET REFUGEES 32 CULTURAL COALITION OF STATEN ISLAND 73 CULTURAL CONSPIRACY 13 CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL -SYRACUSE/ONONDAGA 72 CULTURAL RESOURCES COUNCIL OF

SYRACUSE AND ONONDAG

SYRACUSE/ONONDAGA CO 16

(MERCE CUNNINGHAM DANC

26, 47, 48

CYPRECO OF AMERICA 27, 53

DA CAPO CHAMBER PLAYERS 42, 43 DAGMAR COLLECTIVE 75 DANCE CONTINUUM (SUSAN MARSHALL AND COMPANY) 20 DANCE EXPLOSION, LTD 51 DANCE GIANT STEPS 51 DANCE NOTATION BUREAU 20 DANCE RESEARCH FOUNDATION ("BALLET REVIEW") 20 DANCE SOLOS (ANNABELLE GAMSON/ DANCE SOLOS) 20 DANCE THEATER FOUNDATION 16, 51, 83 DANCE THEATER FOUNDATION (ALVIN AILEY AMERICAN DAN 19, 20 DANCE THEATER WORKSHOP 13, 19, 23, 29, 45, 83 DANCE THEATER WORKSHOP, INC 17 DANCE THEATRE OF HARLEM 20, 51, 83 DANCES & DRUMS OF AFRICA 51 **DANCEWORKS 13, 21, 83** DANCEWORKS (PENTACLE) 20 DANCING IN THE STREETS 13, 45, 48, 83 DANSPACE PROJECT 19, 20, 83 DAS PUPPENSPIEL PUPPET 75 DAVID HOCHSTEIN MEM MUSIC SCHOOL 52 DAVID HOCHSTEIN MEMORIAL MUSIC SCHOOL 53
DEAN DANCE & MUSIC FOUNDATION (LAURA DEAN MUSICIAN 20 DEEP DISH TV Manhattan, 24 DEL-SE-NANGO OLDE TYME FIDDLERS
ASSOCIATION 27 DELAWARE COUNTY HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION 26, 36 DELAWARE VALLEY ARTS ALLIANCE 30, 32, 55, 71, 72, 80 DEPOT THEATRE 13, 75 DESIGN HISTORY FOUNDATION 10 DESTINE DANCE FOUNDATION, LTD. DEWITT HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF TOMPKINS 36
DEWITT HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF TOMPKINS COUNTY 38 DIA CENTER FOR THE ARTS 21, 83 DIEU DONNE PAPERMILL 13, 79, 83 DILLER-QUAILE SCHOOL OF MUSIC 39 DISCALCED (MARK MORRIS DANCE GROUP) 20 DISCOVERY CENTER OF THE SOUTHERN TIER 13, 36, 38 DOING ART TOGETHER 11 DONALD BYRD DANCE FOUNDATION DORIAN WOODWIND QUINTET FOUNDATION 40 DOWNTOWN ART CO. 29 DOWNTOWN ART COMPANY 75 DOWNTOWN BALLET COMPANY 51 DOWNTOWN COMMUNITY TELEVISION 23, 24, 83 DOWNTOWN MUSIC PRO 40 DOWNTOWN MUSIC PRODUCTIONS 13 DRAMA LEAGUE OF NEW YORK 78 DRAWING CENTER 13, 35, 38, 79, 80, 83 DRIFT DISTRIBUTION 24 DUTCHESS COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 13, 27, 55, 72, 74 **DUTCHESS LAND CONSERVANCY 9** DYNAMIC FORMS 13 D'YOUVILLE COLLEGE - KAVINOKY THEATER 77

E MONTÉ MOTION (ELISA MONTE DANCE COMPANY) 21 E. MONTE MOTION (ELISA MONTE DANCE COMPANY) 20 EARLYILLE OPERA HOUSE 45, 48 EARLY MUSIC FOUNDATION 13, 40, 43, 83 EAST AURORA CHAMBER OF

COMMERCE 8

EAST BUFFALO MEDIA ASSOCIATION

EAST DURHAM IRISH CULTURAL **CENTER 27, 46** EAST END ARTS & HUMANITIES COUNCIL 53 EAST END ARTS & HUMANITIES COUNCIL 72 EAST END ARTS & HUMUNATIES COUNCI 74 EAST HAMPTON HISTORICAL SOCIETY EASTERN SUFFOLK SCHOOL OF MUSIC 52 ECLECTIC ARTS 42 EDUCATIONAL ALLIANCE 32, 80 EDUCATIONAL ALLIANCE, INC. 31 EDUCATIONAL VIDEO CENTER 11, 83 EL MUSEO FRANCISCO OLLER Y 51 ELAINE KAUFMAN CULTURAL CENTER 13, 47, 53, 83 ELDERS SHARE THE ARTS 13, 27, 32, 53 **ELDRIDGE STREET PROJECT 16, 38** ELECTRONIC ARTS INTERMIX 24, 25, 29, 83 ELECTRONIC BODY ARTS 11 ELECTRONIC BODY ARTS, INC 17 ELF ASSOCIATES 32 ELLEN SINOPOLI DANCE COMPANY 21 ELMIRA SYMPHONY AND CHORAL SOCIETY 40 EMELIN THEATRE FOR PERFORMING EMELIN THEATRE FOR THE PERFORMING ARTS 45 EMPIRE STATE CRAFTS ALLIANCE EN GARDE ARTS 29, 83 EN GARDE ARTS. 75 ENSEMBLE STUDIO THEATRE 75 ERICK HAWKINS DANCE FOUNDATION ERIE CANAL MUSEUM 36 ESSENTIAL MUSIC 42 ESSEX COMMUNITY HERITAGE ORGANIZATIO 9 ESSEX COMMUNITY HERITAGE ORGANIZATION 8, 13 ESSEX COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 13, 55, 71, 72, 73 ESSEX COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY ETHNIC FOLK ARTS CENTER 26, 83 EVERSON MUSEUM OF ART 13, 35, 36, 80 EXIT ART 25, 79, 80, 83 EXIT ART, INC. 17 EXPERIMENTAL INTERMEDIA FNDN 41 EXPERIMENTAL INTERMEDIA FOUNDATION 24

FESTIVAL ENSEMBLE SOCIETY 40 FICTION 32 FIJI THEATRE COMPANY 29, 75 FILM SOCIETY OF LINCOLN CENTER 24, 83 FILM/VIDEO ARTS 24, 25, 52, 83 FINGER LAKES REG ARTS COUNCIL 17 FINGER LAKES REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL 27, 45, 48 FINKELSTEIN MEMORIAL LIBRARY 24 FIRST AVENUE 42 FIRST BATTLE REVIVAL ALLIANCE 16 FIVE LAKES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 8 FLUSHING COUNCIL ON CULTURE AND ARTS 72 FLUSHING COUNCIL ON CULTURE AND THE ARTS 16, 74 FOLKLORICO FILIPINO 53 FORT TICONDEROGA ASSOCIATION FOUNDATION FOR BAROQUE MUSIC FOUNDATION FOR DANCE PROMOTION (BILL T. JONES/ARNI 20 FOUNDATION FOR INDEPENDENT ARTISTS 21 FOUNDATION FOR INDEPENDENT VIDEO/FILM 24

EXPERIMENTAL TELEVISION CENTER

23, 24, 25, 30

FEMINIST PRESS 31

FOUNDATION FOR THE JOFFREY GOLDMAN MEMORIAL BAND 40 HOUSE ON FIRE DANCE FOUNDATION JAMAICA CENTER FOR PER- FORMING **BALLET 19, 20** GOLIARD CONCERTS 40 & VISUAL ARTS 30 FOUNDATION FOR THE OPEN EYE 75 GOTHAM DANCE (BEBE MILLER AND HOUSING SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 40 JAMAICA CENTER FOR PERFORMING & VISUAL ARTS 14, 72 JAMAICA CENTER FOR PERFORMING AND VISUAL ARTS 48 FOUR NATIONS 40 FOUR SEAS PLAYERS 53 COMPANY) 20 GOWANUS ARTS EXCHANGE 13, 47, 48 HUBBARD HALL PROJECTS 47, 72 HUDSON MOHAWK INDUSTRIAL FRANK SILVERA WRITERS' WKSHP 51 GREATER MASSENA CHAMBER OF **GATEWAY 35** COMMERCE 27 GREEK AMERICAN FOLKLORE HUDSON REVIEW 32 HUDSON RIVER HERITAGE 10 HUDSON RIVER MUSEUM OF FRANK SILVERA WRITERS' WORKSHOP JAMAICA CENTER PERFORMING & VISUAL ARTS 80, 84
JAMESTOWN CONCERT ASSOCIATION 77. 83 FRANKLIN FURNACE ARCHIVE SOCIETY 27 13, 47, 79 FRAUNCES TAVERN MUSEUM 35, 38 GREEK CULTURAL CENTER 24, 27, 51 WESTCHESTER 13, 35, 36, 37 HUDSON VAGABOND PUPPETS 11 HUDSON VALLEY MATERIALS JAPAN SOCIETY 24, 47 JAZZ LEGACY 40 GREEN GUERILLAS 9
GREENE COUNTY COUNCIL 72 FREDERIC REMINGTON ART MUSEUM EXCHANGE 73 HUDSON VALLEY PHILHARMONIC JAZZMOBILE 40, 52, 84
JEFFERSON COUNTY HISTORICAL GREENE COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE FREDERICK CHOPIN SINGING SOCIETY ARTS 13, 55 GREENFIELD REVIEW LITERARY SOCIETY 40 SOCIETY 36
JEWISH ASSOC SRVS FOR THE AGED 54 FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREAT ARTS CENTER 31 HUDSON VALLEY SHAKESPEARE GREENWICH HOUSE 13, 47 FESTIVAL 77 JEWISH COMMUNITY CENTER OF FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE GREGG SMITH SINGERS 40 HUDSON VALLEY WRITERS' CENTER GREATER 24 JEWISH COMMUNITY CENTER OF GREATER BUFFALO 33 GROUP I ACTING COMPANY 77
GRUPO PICATA GROUP Manhattan 76 ARTS 13, 23 FREDERICK DOUGLASS CREATIVE 13, 17, 31, 32 HUNDRED GRAND DANCE FOUNDA-**GRYPHON AND COMPANY 32** JEWISH MUSEUM 14, 17, 25, 36, 37, 84 ARTS CENTER 32, 83 TION 21 JEWISH REPERTORY THEATRE 77 JOHN A. NOBLE COLLECTION 35 JOSE LIMON DANCE FOUNDATION FREDONIA CHAMBER PLAYERS 40 GUACARA-CTR F/T ADVANCEMENT- 52 HUNGARIAN THEATER & ART ASSOCIATION 53 FREEPORT COMMUNITY CONCERT GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON ASSOCIATION 45 HUNTINGTON ARTS C 16 13, 17, 32, 47 FRENCH INSTITUTE-ALLIANCE HUNTINGTON ARTS COUNCIL GUILD HALL OF EAST HAMPTON, INC 19, 20 FRANCAISE 47
FRENCH STUDIO OF THE PERFORMING JOYCE THEATER FOUNDATION 47, 48, 72 GUILD OF COMPOSERS 42 14, 47, 84 JOYCE THEATER FOUNDATION, INC. 17 ARTS 80 FRIENDS OF BAY SHORE-BRIGHTWATERS PUBLIC 45 FRIENDS OF BRISTOL VALLEY JOYCE THEATER FOUNDATION: 20 JUPITER SYMPHONY OF NEW YORK 40 JUST BUFFALO LITERARY CENTER I GIULLARI DI PIAZZA 42, 54 ICE THEATRE OF MANHATTAN 13 H T DANCE COMPANY 13, 51, 83 PLAYHOUSE 77 H T DANCE COMPANY (CHEN AND ICE THEATRE OF NEW YORK 19, 20 14, 33, 54 FRIENDS OF CHAMBER MUSIC-TROY DANCERS) 21 IL PICCOLO TEATRO DELL'OPERA H.A.D.L.E.Y. PLAYERS 53 HALEAKALA 25, 45, 83 13, 42 IN COLLABORATION 11, 33 NY 45 FRIENDS OF GANONDAGAN 27 FRIENDS OF GIBSON GALLERY 38 HALEAKALA (The Kitchen) 32 IN OUR TIME ARTS MEDIA 32 KEEP THE COUNTRY DANCING (PAT HALLOCKVILLE 13, 26 HALLWALLS 17, 23, 25, 29, 42, 44, 79 HAMILTON HILL ARTS CENTER 13 FRIENDS OF GOOD MUSIC OF THE INDEPENDENT FEATURE PROJECT 24 INOUE CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 42, 54 CANNON'S FOOT AND F 19, 21 KENKELEBA HOUSE 51 OLEAN AREA 45 FRIENDS OF MUSIC CON 45 INSTITUTE FOR CONTEMPORARY ART KING MANOR ASSOCIATION OF LONG FRIENDS OF NEUBERGER MUSEUM OF HAMILTON HILL-DROP IN-ARTS & 13, 16, 35, 83 ISLAND 35 KINGS COUNTY SHAKESPEARE COMPANY 77 ART 34, 38 FRIENDS OF ROCK HALL MUSEUM 10 CRAFTS 51 INSTITUTE FOR PUBLISHING ARTS HAMPTONS INTERNATIONAL FILM 31 33 FRIENDS OF TERRA COTTA/NYS 10 INSTITUTE FOR SPANISH DANCE ARTS KINGS MAJESTIC CORPORATION FESTIVAL 24 (MARIA BENITEZ TE 20 INSTITUTE OF ECOSYSTEM STUDIES 46, 52, 84 KIRKLAND ART CENTER 14, 24, 47, 73 FRIENDS OF THE ARTS 8, 45 HANDS ON SIGN INTERPRETED PERF FRIENDS OF THE DAVIS CENTER 24, 29, 45, 48, 74, 83 FRIENDS OF THE NEUBERGER HANFORD MILLS MUSEUM 36, 38 KITCHEN THEATRE COMPANY 76 HARLEM SCHOOL OF THE ARTS INSTITUTO ARTE TEATRAL INT'L 51 KOSCIUSZKO FOUNDATION 47 MUSEUM OF ART 13 FRIENDS OF THE NEW YORK CITY FIRE 13, 51, 54, 83 HARLEM THEATRE COMPANY 51 INTER-MEDIA ART CENTER 45 INTERBOROUGH REPERTORY THEATRE DEPARTMENT COLLE 34, 38 HARVESTWORKS 24, 30, 44, 83 FRIENDS OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 8 FULTON CO REGIONAL CHAMBER OF HATCH-BILLOPS COLLECTION 51 HECKSCHER MUSEUM 36, 38 INTERNATIONAL AGENCY MINORITY LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THEATER ARTIST 24 INTERNATIONAL ART OF JAZZ 40 CLUB 75 COMMERCE 27 HENRY STREET SETTLEMENT LA MAMA EXPERIMENTAL THEATRE 13, 17, 47, 51, 80 HENSON FOUNDATION 47, 48 CLUB 21, 32 LA ROCQUE BEY SCH OF DANCE THT FUND FOR BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN INTERNATIONAL ARTS 14 INTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS 80, 83 HERESIES COLLECTIVE 80 51, 77, 80, 83 FUND FOR THE BOROUGH OF HERITAGE FOUNDATION OF OSWEGO INTERNATIONAL CENTER OF LAKE GEORGE ARTS PROJECT BROOKLYN 13, 47, 48 FUNDING EXCHANGE 25, 83 PHOTOGRAPHY 32, 47, 73 LAKE GEORGE OPERA FESTIVAL 42 HERKIMER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOC 14, 24, 35, 36, 83 INTERNATIONAL FILM CIRCUIT 23 LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR G 17 HERKIMER COUNTY HISTORICAL INTERNATIONAL FILM SEMINARS 25 MUSIC DRAMA AND ART 47 SOCIETY 36 HERMANOS FRATERNOS DE LOIZA LAKE PLACID ASSOCIATION FOR **GALLERY 53 ARTWORKS** INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE-BUFFALO, MUSIC, DRAMA AND ART 13, 17, 47, 71, 79
GALLERY ASSOCIATION OF NEW YORK NY 46 INTERNATIONAL MEDIA RESOURCE ALDEA 27 STATE (GANYS) 36, 38
GALLERY ASSOCIATION OF NYS 17
GAMELAN SON OF LION 40 EXCHANGE 25 INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY 24 LAKE PLACID SINFONIETTA 40 LAMB'S THEATRE COMPANY, LTD 77 HIGHLIGHTS IN JAZZ 40 HISPANIC ORGANIZATION OF LATIN LANCASTER NEW YORK OPERA HOUSE ACTORS 51 GARDNER'S PICK OF THE CROP HISTORIC ALBANY FOUNDATION 9 INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY/GEORGE LANDMARK SOCIETY OF THE 13, 19, 21 GARRISON ART CENTER 72 HISTORIC CHERRY HILL 36 HISTORIC DISTRICTS COUNCIL 10 EASTMAN 36 NIAGARA FRONTIER 9 GARTH FAGAN DANCE 20 HISTORIC HOUSE TRUST OF NEW INTERNATIONAL THEATRE INST U.S 78 LANDMARK SOCIETY OF WESTERN NEW YORK 9, 14 LANDMARK SOCIETY OF WESTERN NY GATEWAY SYMPHONY STATEN YORK CITY 36 INT'L AGENCY MINORITY ARTISTS ISLAND 42, 83
GAY ALLIANCE GENESEE VALLEY 24
GEMINI DANCE THEATER 51 HISTORIC HOUSE TRUST OF NYC 83 HISTORIC HUDSON VALLEY 34, 36, 38 50, 51, 74 INT'L MUSEUM OF PHOTOGRAPHY 17 LANGSTON HUGHES INSTITUTE 71 HISTORIC ITHACA 9, 10 IRISH BRONX THEATRE COMPANY 76 LATIN AMER THT EXPERIMENT ASSN GENESEE EARLY MUSIC SOC. 42 HISTORIC SARANAC LAKE 9 IRISH REPERTORY THEATRE 84 HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF ROCKLAND COUNTY 13, 27, 36, 38 IRONDALE PRODUCTIONS GENESEE LAND TRUST 10 LATIN AMERICAN THEATRE GENESEE VALLEY ARTS FOUNDATION 14, 75, 78, 84 ENSEMBLE 51 LATINO COLLABORATIVE 25 HOFF-BARTHELSON MUSIC SCHOOL ISLAND PHILHARMONIC SOCIETY 13, 39, 47 HOME FOR CONTEMPORARY THEATER 14, 40 ISLIP ART MUSEUM 14, 80 GENESEE VALLEY COUNCI 73 GENESEE VALLEY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 16, 27, 72, 73 GENESEE-ORLEANS REGIONAL ARTS LEAGUE OF COMPOSERS 42 AND ART LIMITED 47 ISLIP ARTS COUNCIL 45 LEARNING THROUGH EXPANDED ART HOME FOR CONTEMPORARY THEATRE ITHACA A CAPPELLA ASSOCIATION 40
ITHACA OPERA ASSOCIATION 40 LEARNING TO READ THROUGH THE COUNCIL 27, 55, 71, 72, 73 GENESEO MIGRANT CENTER 32, 33, 52 & ART LTD 77 HOME MADE THEATRE 78 ITHACA PERFORMING ARTS CENTER ARTS !! LEHMAN COLLEGE ART GALLERY 14, 35, 80 HORIZON CONCERTS 40, 53, 83 HORNELL AREA ARTS COUNCIL 47 HORTICULTURAL SOCIETY OF NEW GENESIS II MUSEUM OF INTERNA-46, 48 TIONAL BLACK CULTURE 27 GENEVA CONCERTS 45
GENEVA HISTORICAL SOCIETY 36, 37 L'ENSEMBLE DE LA MUSIQUE 40 YORK 13 LEONARDA PRODUCTIONS 40 LESBIAN & GAY COMMUNITY JACQUES MARCHAIS CENTER FOR GLENS FALLS-QUEENSBURY HOSPITAL AUDIENCES HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION 36 GLIMMERGLASS OPERA 40 13, 47, 53, 77, 83 HOUSE FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS TIBETAN ART 38 SERVICES CENTER 32 LIBRARY ACTION COMM OF CORONA JACQUES MARCHAIS CENTER OF GOLD MOUNTAIN INSTITUTE- 51 TIBETAN ART 28

GOLDEN FLEECE LTD. 40

LIBRARY ACTION COMMITTEE 32 LIBRARY ACTION COMMITTEE OF CORONA 47 LIGHT WORK VISUAL STUDIES 23, 79, 80 LINCOLN CENTER FOR THE PERFORMING ARTS 47 LINCOLN CTR FOR THE PERF ARTS 42 LITERARY MANGERS & DRAMATURGS OF AMERICA 78 LIVING ARCHIVES 26 LIVING THEATRE 75 LOISAIDA ARTS 14, 52 LONG ISLAND ARTS COUNCIL AT FREEPORT 73 LONG ISLAND BAROQUE ENSEMBLE LONG ISLAND MARITIME MUSEUM 16, 38 LONG ISLAND TRADITIONS 27, 28 LONG ISLAND UNIVERSITY/C.W. POST/ TILLES CENTER 47 LONG NEWS, LTD. 32 LONGAR EBONY ENSEMBLE, LTD. 54 L'OPERA FRANCAIS DE NEW YORK 42 LOS PLENEROS DE LA 21 16, 26, 53, 84 LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ART COUNCIL 73 LOWER ADIRONDACK REGIONAL ARTS COUNCIL 27, 28, 73 LOWER EAST SIDE 14 LOWER EAST SIDE PRINTSHOP 80 LOWER EAST SIDE TENEMENT MUSEUM 38, 84 LOWER MANHATTAN CULTURAL COUNCIL 14, 47, 73 LTERNATIVE MEDIA INFORMATION CENTER 25 LUBOVITCH DANCE FOUNDATION 84 LUBOVITCH DANCE FOUNDATION (LAR LUBOVITCH DANCE CO 20 LUCINDA CHILDS DANCE FOUNDA-TION 20 LUMEN 10, 33, 84 **LUMINOUS VISIONS 52** LUZERNE MUSIC CENTER 40 LYNDHURST 34, 37 MA-YI THEATRE ENSEMBLE 77 MABOU MINES DEVELOPMENT FNON 29

MABOU MINES DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION 75, 84 MAC-HAYDN THEATRE 76 MAD ALEX ARTS FOUNDATION 32 MAELSTROM PERCUSSION 40 MAN FA CENTER OF CHINATOWN MANHATTAN CLASS COMPANY 76 MANHATTAN LYRIC OPERA 42 MANHATTAN TAP 21 MANHATTAN THEATRE CLUB 14, 32, 33, 84 MANITOGA 8 MANNA HOUSE WORKSHOPS 42, 51 MARQUIS STUDIOS 11 MARQUIS STUDIOS, LTD 84 MARTHA GRAHAM CENTER FOR CONTEMPORARY DANCE 14, 20 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. CONCERT SERIES 47 MAVERICK CONCERTS 46 MCC&DC 53 MCPHERSON & COMPANY 31 MEASURED BREATHS THEATRE 76 MEDIA ALLIANCE 25, 30, 84 MEDICINE SHOW THEATRE ENSEMBLE 32. 33 MEET THE COMPOSER 40, 84 MELA FOUNDATION 40 MELODIOUS ACCORD 42 MERIDIAN PRODUCTIONS 77 MERRICK BELLMORE COMMUNITY CONCERT 47
MERRY-GO-ROUND PLAYHOUSE 76
METRO-ACT OF ROCHESTER 25 METROPOLITAN MUSEUM OF ART 36, 84 METROPOLITAN OPERA 40 METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION

METROPOLITAN SCH FOR THE ART\$ 51 METTAWEE THEATRE COMPANY 76 MID YORK LIBRARY SYSTEM 28 MILL STREET LOFT 14, 73 MILLAY COLONY FOR THE 73
MILLAY COLONY FOR THE ARTS 8 MILLENNIUM FILM WORKSHOP 23, 25 MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS CO MIND-BUILDERS CREATIVE ARTS COMPANY 14, 16, 28, 84 MIRROR THEATRE 14 MOHAWK VALLEY CENTER FOR THE ARTS 24, 47 MOHAWK VALLEY LIBRARY ASSOCIATION 32 MOHONK PRESERVE 10, 14 MOLLYOLGA NEIGHBORHOOD ART CLASSES 14, 51 MONTAUK CHAMBER MUSIC 47 MORRIS-JUMEL MANSION 38 MOVEMENT RESEARCH 19, 20, 84 MOVING IMAGE 25, 84 MSQ ENTERPRISES 42 MT KISCO CONCERT ASSN 46 MT VERNON FINE ARTS CULT URAL CENTER 51 MT. MORRIS HISTORICAL SOCIETY 34 MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF 84 MUNICIPAL ART SOCIETY OF NEW YORK 9, 28 MUNICIPAL CONCERTS 40 MUNSON-WILLIAMS-PROCTOR INSTITUTE 24, 47, 48 MUSEUM FOR AFRICAN ART 36, 37 MUSEUM OF AMERICAN FOLK ART 36 MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE AMERICAN 84 MUSEUM OF CHINESE IN THE AMERICAS 36, 38, 50 MUSEUM OF MODERN ART 14, 24, 36, 38, 84 MUSEUM OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK 35, 36, 37 MUSEUM OF THE HUDSON HIGHLANDS MUSEUMS AT STONY BROOK 14, 35, 36, 38 MUSIC FROM CHINA 54 MUSIC & ART CENTER OF GREENE COUNTY 53 MUSIC & ART CTR OF GREENE CNTY MUSIC ASSOCIATES OF NEW YORK 42, 43 MUSIC BEFORE 1800 42, 46 MUSIC FOR MANY 43, 77 MUSIC FROM CHINA 28, 42 MUSIC FROM JAPAN 40 MUSIC FROM SALEM 42 MUSIC OUTREACH-LRNING THRU MSC MUSIC THEATRE GROUP 76 MUSICA DA CAMERA 42 MUSICA SACRA 40 MUSICAL THEATRE WORKS 76 MUSICIANS ACCORD 40 MUSICIANS UNITED FOR SUPERIOR

EDUCATION 14 NANCY MEEHAN DANCE COMPANY 21 NANETTE BEARDEN CONT DANCE THEATER 52 NANETTE BEARDEN CONT DANCE THT NASSAU COUNTY MUSEUM OF ART 14 NATIONAL ACADEMY OF DESIGN 36 NATIONAL ACTORS THEATRE 16, 77 NATIONAL ASIAN-AMER THEATRE CO NATIONAL ASIAN-AMERICAN THEATRE COMPANY 76 NATIONAL BLACK THEATRE WORKSHOP 51 NATIONAL BLACK TOURING 77 NATIONAL BOOK FOUNDATION 32 NATIONAL CHORAL COUNCIL 14 40 84 NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR CULTURE-NATIONAL COUNCIL OF JEWISH

WOMEN 32 NATIONAL DANCE INSTITUTE 84 NATIONAL GRAND OPERA 40 NATIONAL INSITUTE FOR ARCHITEC-TURAL EDUCATION 9 NATIONAL MUSEUM OF RACING 34, 35, 38 NDEPENDENT FEATURE PROJECT 83 NEGRO ENSEMBLE COMPANY 53, 77 **NEW ART PUBLICATIONS 80** NEW COMMUNITY CINEM 25 NEW DANCE ALLIANCE 21 NEW DAY REPERTORY THEATRE CO 54, 77 NEW DRAMATISTS 78 NEW ENGLAND DINOSAUR 14 NEW FEDERAL THEATRE 53, 77, 84 NEW FESTIVAL 25 NEW HERITAGE REPERTORY THEATRE NEW LIFE DANCE (SARA PEARSON) PATRIK WIDRIG AND COM 21 NEW MUSEUM OF CONTEMPORARY ART 14, 36, 84 NEW MUSIC CONSORT 40, 84 NEW OBSERVATIONS LIMITED 80 NEW PROFESSIONAL THEATRE 53 NEW RADIO AND PERFORMING ART 25 NEW RADIO AND PERFORMING ARTS NEW RENAISSANCE CHMBR ARTISTS 40 NEW SCHOOL CONCERTS 47 NEW SCHOOL FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH NEW YORK BANDURA ENSEMBLE 51 NEW YORK BAROQUE DANCE COMPANY 20 NEW YORK BOTANICAL GARDEN 35 NEW YORK BRASS CHOIR 40 NEW YORK BUDDHIST CHURCH/SOH NEW YORK CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 40 NEW YORK CHILDREN'S THEATRE 51 NEW YORK CHINESE CULTURAL **CENTER 51, 84** NEW YORK CITY BALLET

14, 19, 20, 84 NEW YORK CITY OPERA 16, 40, 84 NEW YORK CITY POETRY CALENDAR NEW YORK CONCERT SINGERS 41 NEW YORK CONSORT OF VIOLS 42 NEW YORK DANCE CENTER 21 NEW YORK DEAF THEATRE, LTD. 77 NEW YORK FESTIVAL OF SONG 41 NEW YORK FNDN FOR THE ARTS 30 NEW YORK FOLKLORE SOCIETY 26, 28 NEW YORK FOUNDATION 30 NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS 84

NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS 9, 14, 25, 73, 74 NEW YORK FOUNDATION FOR THE ARTS (NYFA) 38 NEW YORK HALL OF SCIENCE 36, 37, 38, 84 NEW YORK INSTITUTE OF TECHNOL-

OGY 10 NEW YORK LANDMARKS CONSER-VANCY 8, 9, 10 NEW YORK LATVIAN CONCERT CHOIR

NEW YORK MAIN STREET ALLIANCE NEW YORK NEW MUSIC ENSEMBLE 41

NEW YORK PARKS AND CONSERVA-TION ASSOCIA 10 NEW YORK PARKS AND CONSERVA-TION ASSOCIATION 9

NEW YORK PHILOMUSICA CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 41 NEW YORK PLANNING FEDERATION

10 NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY

22, 33, 78, 84 NEW YORK SCHOOL FOR CIRCUS ARTS

NEW YORK SCHOOLFOR CIRCUS ARTS 84 NEW YORK SHAKESPEARE FESTIVAL

NEW YORK STATE ASSOCIATION OF MUSEUMS 38

NEW YORK STATE BLUES FESTIVAL 46 NEW YORK STATE EARLY MSC ASSN 41 NEW YORK STATE LITERARY CENTER

NEW YORK STATE OLD TYME FIDDLERS ASSOCIATION 28 YORK STREET THEA-TER CARAVAN 54

NEW YORK THEATRE WORKSHOP 76, 84 NEW YORK THEATRE WORKSHOP, INC 17

NEW YORK UNIVERSITY 78 NEWBAND 41, 43 NIAGARA COUNCIL OF THE ARTS

25, 73, 74 NIAGARA COUNTY HISTORICAL

SOCIETY 36 NIGHT EAGLE EMPORIUM-COFFEE-

HOUSE 46, 48 NIKOLAIS/LOUIS FOUNDATION FOR **DANCE 20, 84**

NINTH STREET THEATER 77 NON-TRADITIONAL CASTING PROJECT

NORTH COUNTRY ALLIANCE OF THE ARTS 76 NORTH WIND UNDERSEA INSTITUTE

NORTH/SOUTH CONSONANCE 42, 43 NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CENTER

FOR THE ARTS 8, 14, 24, 73 NORTHERN WESTCHESTER CTR ARTS

NORTHERN WOODSIDE COALITION 14, 47 NOT JUST MIME 77 NTERNATIONAL ARTS RELATIONS 77 NUYORICAN POETS CAFE 54, 84 NY GILBERT & SULLIVAN PLAYERS 41 NY LESBIAN-GAY EXPERI 24 NY LESBIAN-GAY EXPERIMENTAL FILM FESTIVAL 30

OCTOBER MAGAZINE, LTD 80 OGDENSBURG COMMAND PERFOR-MANCE 46 OLD FORGE LIBRARY ASSOCIATION 32, 33 OLD FORT NIAGARA ASSOCIATION 36 OLD SONGS 18, 46 OLEAN PUBLIC LIBRARY 32, 72, 80 **OLEAN THEATRE WORKSHOP 47** OLLANTAY CENTER FOR THE ARTS

33. 52 OMEGA ENSEMBLE 41 OMNI ENSEMBLE LTD 41 ON STAGE PRODUCTIONS 77 ONE SEVENTY ONE CEDAR

28, 47, 48, 73 ONEONTA CONCERT 46 ONTARIO COUNTY ARTS 14, 73 ONTARIO COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 72 ONTARIO COUNTY HISTORICAL

SOCIETY 36 ONTOLOGICAL-HYSTERIC THEATER

ONYX THEATRE COMPANY 76 OPEN CHANNELS NY 33, 77, 84 OPEN CHANNELS NY (DIXON PLACE)

OPEN HAND THEATER 14 OPEN HAND THEATER, 76 OPERA ORCHESTRA OF NEW YORK 41 OPERA SACRA 43 OPERA THEATRE OF ROCHESTER 43 ORIGINAL BALLETS FNDN 53 ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUNDATION 14, 84 ORIGINAL BALLETS FOUNDATION

(FELD BALLETS/NEW YORK 20 ORPHEON 14, 41 ORPHEUS CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 41

OSWEGO COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 36 OSWEGO OPERA THEATRE 41 OTHER VOICES 33

OTRABANDA COMPANY 77 OUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM 35 OYSTERPONDS HISTORICAL SOCIETY 34, 35

PROJECT UNIOUE 15, 16 ROD RODGERS DANCE COMPANY 51 SLIPSTREAM 32 SMITHTOWN TOWNSHIP ARTS ROME ART & COMMUNITY CENTER PROSPECT PARK ALLIANCE PAINTING SPACE 122 80 28, 47, 80, 85 33, 73, 74 COUNCIL 73 PUBLIC ART FUND 79, 81, 85 PUERTO RICAN TRAVELING THEATER PAN ASIAN REPERTORY THEATRE ROME ART AND COMMUNITY CENTER SNAIL'S PACE PRESS 32 52, 76, 84 SNUG HARBOR CULTURAL CENTER PARABOLA ARTS FOUNDATION: 30 ROME HISTORICAL SOCIETY 38 48, 80 PARAMOUNT CENTER FOR THE ARTS PUERTO RICAN TRAVELING THEATRE ROOTS OF BRAZIL 28, 54 SOCIETY FOR CHAMBER MUSIC ROSEWOOD CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 43 ROULETTE INTERMEDIUM 41, 44 ROCHESTER 41 SOCIETY FOR PRESERVATION/ PARIS REVIEW 32 PUERTO RICAN WORKSHOP 51, 80 PARISH OF TRINITY CHURCH 47 PUTNAM ARTS COUNCIL 55, 73 **ROUNDABOUT THEATRE 85 EEKSVILLE HISTORICAL SOC 85** PARKS COUNCIL 8, 9
PARNASSUS CONT MUSIC FNDN 43 PYRAMID ARTS CENTER 24, 47, 79 ROUNDABOUT THEATRE COMPANY SOCIETY FOR THE APPRECCIATION OF GUITAR QUARTET 41 SOCIETY FOR THE PRESERVATION OF PARRISH ART MUSEUM 14, 37, 47 ROXBURY ARTS GROUP 33, 48, 72, 73 PARSONS DANCE FOUNDATION 84 RUSHMORE FESTIVAL 46, 77 LONG ISLAND ANTIQU 15, 35 PARSONS DANCE FOUNDATION QRS ARTS FOUNDATION 46 RUTH WILLIAMS DANCE FOUNDATION SOCIETY FOR THE PRESERVATION OF WEEKSVILLE 35, 37 (DAVID PARSONS DANCE COMP QUAIGH THEATRE 76 QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE 47 RYAN REPERTORY COMPANY 77 SOCIETY FOR THE THIRD STREET QUEENS COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 15, 27, 73, 85 QUEENS COUNTY ART & CULTURAL PAUL ROBESON PERF ARTS COMPANY RYE ARTS CENTER 48, 72 MUSIC SCHOOL SETTLEME 48 SOCIETY-3RD ST MUSIC SCHOOL SETTLEMENT 85 52 PAUL TAYLOR DANCE FOUNDATION CENTER 15 SOCIETY-3RD STREET MUSIC SCHOOL 20, 21 PAULINE OLIVEROS FNDN 41, 43 PAWLING CONCERT SERIES 46 QUEENS COUNTY ART AND CULTURAL CENTER 9, 37 SIJ THEATRE CORPORATION 76 SETTLEMENT 52 SOCRATES SCULPTURE PARK 15, 80 SAEKO ICHINOHE AND COMPANY 21 PEARL THEATRE COMPANY 76 QUEENS COUNTY ART CULTURAL SAGAMORE INST O/T ADIRONDACKS SOHO REPERTORY THEATRE PELHAM ART CENTER 72 PEMBER LIBRARY & MUSEUM 35 CENTER 85 29, 76, 78, 85 QUEENS OPERA ASSOCIATION 15, 41 SAGAMORE INSTITUTE OF THE SOLOMON R. GUGGENHEIM MUSEUM PEMBER LIBRARY AND 38 ADIRONDACKS 28 QUEENS SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 35, 37 PEN AMERICAN CENTER 31 SALT & PEPPER MIME COMPANY SOMETHING SPECIAL BIG BAND 43, 44 PENDRAGON 14, 16, 76 PENGUIN PLAYERS LTD 76 15, 52 SALT CITY PLAYHOUSE 76 QUINTET OF THE AMERICAS 16, 41, 44 SONORA HOUSE 15 SOUND DIRECTIONS 41 SAMAYA FOUNDATION 30 SOUNDANCE 15, 21 PEPATIAN 84 PEPATIAN (MERIAN SOTO) 21 SANG-FROID LTD. 30 SOUNDART FOUNDATION 43, 44 SARATOGA COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 15, 72, 73 PEQUOD PRESS 32 PERFORMANCE SPACE 122 RADIO CATSKILL 25 RAINBOW REPERTORY THEATRE 54 SOUTH STREET SEAPORT MUSEUM 26, 27, 85 19, 29, 46, 84 PERFORMANCE ZONE 78 RECORDED ANTHOLOGY AMER MUSIC SARATOGA COUNTY HISTORICAL SOUTHERN TIER INSTITUTE FOR ARTS SOCIETY 37 IN EDUCATION 15 RED HOOK ARTS 15, 52, 85 REG LENNA CIVIC CENTER 47 SARATOGA INSTITUTE 9 PERFORMANCE ZONE (THE FIELD) 22 SPANISH DANCE ARTS CO. 54 SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY PERFORMERS COMMITTEE 41, 43 SARATOGA INTERNATIONAL THEATER PERFORMING ARTS JOURNAL 78 REGIONAL COUNCIL OF HISTORICAL INSTITUTE 76 PERIWINKLE PRODUCTIONS 77 AGENCIES 28 SARATOGA PERFORMING ARTS SPANISH DANCE ARTS COMPANY REGIONAL PLAN ASSOCIATION 9 REJOICENSEMBLE! 16, 43, 54 PERIWINKLE PRODUCTIONSMonticello CENTER 46 (CARLOTA SANTANA'S SPA 21 SPANISH THEATRE REPER 43 SARATOGA SPRINGS PRESERVATION PHILHARMONIA VIRTUOSI 41 RENAISSANCE CHINESE 28 FOUNDATION 9, 10 SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY CO 54 PHILHARMONIC SYMPHONY SOCIETY
OF NY 41 SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY COMPANY 76, 85 RENSSELAER COUNT COUNCIL FOR SARATOGA SPRINGS PUBLIC LIBRARY THE ARTS 73 24 33 PHOENIX ENSEMBLE 77 RENSSELAER COUNTY 38 SCARSDALE HISTORICAL SOCIETY SPANISH THEATRE REPERTORY PHOENIX THEATRE COMPANY 76 RENSSELAER COUNTY COUNCIL FOR 35, 37, 38 COMPANY (PILAR RIOJA) 21 PICK UP PERFORMANCE COMPANY THE ARTS 8, 15, 27, 74
RENSSELAER COUNTY HISTORICAL SCENIC HUDSON 9 SPANISH-ENGLISH ENSEMBLE (DAVID GORDON/PICK-UP 20 SCHENECTADY EMPLOYMENT THEATER 51, 85 PIERPONT MORGAN LIBRARY 37 SOCIETY 35, 37 TRAINING DEVELOPMENT SPECULUM MUSICAE 41 PIONEER LIBRARY SYSTEM 33 RENSSELAER COUNTY JUNIOR CORP. 9 SPENCERTOWN ACADEMY SOCIETY PLAYWRIGHTS HORIZONS 76, 85 SCHENECTADY SYMPHONY ORCH MUSEUM 37, 47 RENSSELAER POLYTECHNIC 46 49 PLAYWRIGHTS PREVIEW PRODUCTION ST ANN CNTR RESTORATION & ARTS AS\$N 41 INSTITUTE 25, 43 SCHOHARIE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL POETLINK 33 POETRY MOTEL 33 27, 55, 72, 73 SCHOHARIE COUNTY HISTORICAL ST CECILIA CHAMBER ORCHESTRA 43 ST CHRISTOPHER-OTTILIE 15 RENSSELAER-TACONIC LAND CONSERVANCY 10 POETRY NEW YORK 32 REPOHISTORY 15 SOCIETY 48 ST LAWRENCE FOUNDATION FOR POETRY PROJECT, LTD 31 RESTORE 9 SCHOHARIE MUSEUM OF 37 YOUTH 76 ST LUKE'S CHAMBER ENSEMBLE 15, 41, 85 ST MICHAEL'S CHURCH 43 POETRY PROJECT, LTD. 31 POETRY SOCIETY OF AMERICA RHINEBECK CHAMBER MUSIC SCHOHARIE MUSEUM OF THE IROQUOIS INDIAN 28 SOCIETY 47 31, 33, 85 RIDGE STREET THEATER 77 SCHOLA CANTORUM OF SYRACUSE 43 POETS & WRITERS 33, 85 POETS HOUSE 31, 85 POETS IN PUBLIC SERVICE 14, 33 SCHWEINFURTH MEMORIAL ART CENTER 73 ST. ANN CENTER FOR RESTORATION AND THE ARTS 48 RIDGEWOOD BUSHWICK SR CIT CNCL RIDICULOUS THEATRICAL COMPANY SCULPTURE CENTER 24, 80 ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY HISTORICAL POLISH AMERICAN FOLK DANCE COMPANY 54 ASSOCIATION 9, 35, 37 STAGE DIRECTORS & CHOREOGRA-SCULPTURE IN THE ENVIRONMENT 10 SCULPTURE SPACE 79, 81 SEA CLIFF CHAMBER PLAYERS 41 RINGSIDE 16 POLISH THTEATER INSTITUTE IN THE PHERS FDN 78 RINGSIDE (ELIZABETH STREB RINGSIDE) 21 SECOND STAGE THEATRE 76, 85 STANDBY PROGRAM 23, 25, 30, 85 POMERIUM MUSICES 41 RIO GRANDE UNION 21 RIO GRANDE UNION (DOUGLAS DUNN SEGUE FOUNDATION 31, 32, 33 SEM ENSEMBLE 15, 41 STATE STREET PRESS 31 STATEN ISL CHAMBER MUSIC PLYRS PONE ENSEMBLE FOR NEW MUSIC 41 PORT CHESTER COUNCIL 72 AND DANCERS) 20 SENECA FALLS HISTORICAL SOCIETY PORT CHESTER COUNCIL FOR THE STATEN ISLAND BOTANICAL GARDEN RISE & SHINE PRODUCTION 85 35, 37 SENECA-IROQUOIS NATIONAL RISE & SHINE PRODUCTIONS 11 ARTS 14 9, 15, 16 PORT WASHINGTON PUBLIC LIBRARY RISH REPERTORY THEATRE 77 STATEN ISLAND CHILDREN'S MUSEUM MUSEUM 37 RIVER ARTS REPERTORY CO 29 SEORO KOREAN CULTURAL NETWORK 24, 37, 80 37, 38 STATEN ISLAND HISTORICAL SOCIETY PRACTICAL CATS 77 RIVER ARTS REPERTORY COMPANY 76 PRATT INSTITUTE CENTER COMMU-RIVERSIDE SYMPHONY 41 SHADOW BOX THEATRE 15, 52, 85 35, 37, 85 ROBERSON MEMORIAL 15, 27, 28, 37 STEAMER NO. 10 THEATRE 46, 77 NITY ENVIRONMENT DEVE 85 SHADOWLAND ARTISTS 77 PRATT INSTITUTE CENTER FOR ROCHESTER ARTS & LECTURES 33 SHAKER MUSEUM AND LIBRARY STEPHEN PETRONIO DANCE COMPANY ROCHESTER ASSN OF PERF 52 ROCHESTER ASSOCIATION OF 35, 37 SHAKESPEARE IN DELAWARE PARK 76 COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONNE STONE ARABIA PRESERVATION SOCIETY 28 STONE QUARRY HILL ART PARK 80 PREGONES THEATER 47, 51, 85 PERFORMING ARTS 15, 54 SHARON SPRINGS CITIZENS COUNCIL PRESERVATION COALITION OF ERIE ROCHESTER CHAMBER ORCHESTRA 41 ROCHESTER CHILDREN'S THEATRE 76 OF THE ARTS 46 SI YO MUSICAL SOCIETY 43 STONY BROOK FOUNDATION 38 COUNTY 9 PRESERVATION LEAGUE OF NEW ROCHESTER MUSEUM AND SCIENCE SIDEWALKS OF NEW YORK STOREFRONT ART & 85 YORK STATE 9, 10 **CENTER 34, 37** PRODUCTIONS 15 STOREFRONT ART & ARCHITECTURE PRESERVATION-REVITALIZATION OF ROCHESTER PHILHARMONIC ORCH 41 ROCHESTER PHILHARMONIC SIGNATURE THEATRE COMPANY 77 SILVER BAY ASSOCIATION 16 18. 80 STOREFRONT FOR ART & ARCHITEC-PULASKI 9 PRIMARY STAGES COMPANY 76 ORCHESTRA 15, 44 SKANEATELES FESTIVAL 41 TURE 9 SKIDMORE COLLEGE 43 SKYSAVER PRODUCTIONS 77 STOREFRONT FOR ART AND PRINT CENTER 32 ROCKLAND CENTER FOR THE ARTS PRINT CENTER INC. 31 ARCHITECTURE 9 15, 48, 73

SLAVIC AMER CULTURAL ASSN INC 52

SLAVIC HERITAGE COUNCIL OF

AMERICA 54

STORM KING ART CENTER 35, 37

STRONG MUSEUM 35, 37, 38

ROCKLAND CONSERVATORY OF

MUSIC 52

ROCKWELL MUSEUM 35, 38

PRINT CENTER. 33

PRINTED MATTER 79

PRINTMAKING WORKSHOP 79

STUDIO IN A SCHOOL 11, 16 TOWN OF KEENE 10 STUDIO IN A SCHOOL ASSOCIATION 85 TOWN OF LANSING PLANNING BOARD STUDIO MUSEUM IN HARLEM WALTER THOMPSON ORCHESTRA 43 TOWN OF ROXBURY 28 35, 37, 52, 85 STUDIO THEATRE SCHOOL 76 TRADITIONAL ARTS IN UPSTATE NY SUFFOLK CONCERT BAND SOC 41 TRANSART & CULTURAL SERVICES 50 SUFFOLK COUNTY FILM/TV FOUNDATION 24 TREET THEATRE 11 SUFFOLK COUNTY HISTORICAL TREMONT STRING QUARTET 41 SOCIETY 35, 37 SUFFOLK COUNTY VANDERBILT TRI-CITIES OPERA COMPANY 41 TRI-COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL 72, 73 TRIANGLE THEATRE 77 MUSEUM 38 SUNSET PARK SCHOOL OF MUSIC 52 TRISHA BROWN DANCE COMPANY 20 SUPPORT CENTER OF NEW 74 SYLVAN WINDS 41, 44 SYMPHONY SPACE 15, 33, 42, 85 TROY CHROMATIC CON 46 ARTS 72, 73, 81 TROY SAVINGS BANK MUSIC HALL 48, 49 SYMPHONY SPACE, INC 18 SYRACUSE ALTERNATIVE MEDIA TRUMANSBURG CONSERVATORY OF FINE ARTS 39, 72 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND 9, 10, 85 WELLS COLLEGE 33 NETWORK 15 SYRACUSE AREA LANDMARK TUNG CHING CHINESE CENTER FOR CARNIVAL 53 THEATER 24 SYRACUSE CAMERATA 41 THE ARTS 28 TYPICAL DRAMA STUDIO 54 SYRACUSE FRIENDS OF CHAMBER MUSIC 46 15, 46, 49, 72 SYRACUSE OPERA COMPANY 41 SYRACUSE SOCIETY FOR 41 UBW (URBAN BUSH WOMEN) 21 SYRACUSE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 41 UJIMA COMPANY 48, 77 SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY 24, 33, 52 UKRAINIAN CHORUS DUMKA OF MUSIC 15 AMERICA 52 UKRAINIAN MUSEUM 28, 37, 53 MUSIC 39, 52 ULSTER ARTS ALLIANCE 55, 72 TADA! THEATRE & DANCE ALLIANCE ULSTER PERFORMING ARTS CENTER 15, 41, 44 TALKING BAND 29, 77 UNION COLLEGE-SCHENECTADY ORCHESTRA 41 TANNERY POND CONCERTS 48 MUSEUM 48 UNION SETTLEMENT ASSOCIATION 28 UNISON LEARNING CENTER 48, 49, 72 UNITED JEWISH Y'S OF LONG ISLAND TAP (TROY ARCHITECTURAL PROGRAM) 9 TAPPING MUSIC (ANITA FELDMAN) 21 TAPROOT WORKSHOPS 33
TEACHERS & WRITERS COLLABORATIVE 11, 16, 33, 85 WHITE COLUMNS 79 UNIVERSITY OF ROCHESTER/ MEMORIAL ART GALLERY WHITE PINE PRESS 33 TEN PENNY PLAYERS 15 34, 37, 38 THALIA SPANISH THEATRE 43, 51, 85 UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY THE DOOR - A CENTER OF ALTERNA-TIVES 52 COUNCIL FOR TH 73 UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY THE INSTITUTE FOR AFRICAN-COUNCIL FOR THE 73 COUNCIL 51 AMERICAN FOLK CULTURE 27 UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY THE JUILLIARD SCHOOL 52 COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS 73, 74
UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY THE PAPER BAG PLAYERS 76 THE SCHOOL OF HARD KNOCKS COUNCIL OF THE ARTS 48 (YOSHIKO CHUMA'S SCHOOL UPPER CATSKILL COMMUNITY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 15, 24, 55 THE WRITER'S VOICE 33 THEATER BARN 76 UPSTATE FILMS 15 THEATER FOR THE NEW 48
THEATER FOR THE NEW CITY 15
THEATER FOR THE NEW CITY UPSTATE FILMS, LIMITED 25 URBAN GLASS/NEW YORK CONTEMPO-RARY GLASS 15 FOUNDATION 76 URBANGLASS NY THEATRE BY THE BLIND 76
THEATRE COMMUNICATIONS GROUP CONTEMPEMPORARY GLASS 79 URBANGLASS NY CONTEMPORARY GLASS 80, 85 31, 33, 78 THEATRE DEVELOPMENT FUND 44, 76 THEATRE DEVELOPMENT FUND (TDF) UST BUFFALO LITERARY CENTER, INC. UTICA COLLEGE OF SYRACUSE THEATRE FOR A NEW AUDIENCE UNIVERSITY 24 15, 76, 85 THEATRE FOR THE FORGOTTEN 54 UTICA SYMPHONY 41 THEATRE OF YOUTH COMPANY 15, 76 THEATRE THREE PRODUCTIONS 76 VIA THEATER 77 THEATREMOVES 77 THEATRETWEED 76 VIDEOTECA DEL SUR 24 VILLGE OF POTSDAM 38
VINEYARD THEATRE & WORKSHOP
CENTER 43, 76, 78, 85
VISUAL AIDS FOR THE ARTS 74 THEATREWORKS/USA 76 THELMA HILL PERFORMING ARTS CENTER 46, 49 THREAD WAXING SPACE 80 THREE DOLLAR BILL THEATER VISUAL AIDS FOR THE ARTS, 85 WRITERS ROOM 31 VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH CENTER 51 COMPANY 77 WRITER'S VOICE 33 THREE VILLAGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH AND WSLU-FM 23, 25, 33 RESOURCE CENTER 48 THUNDER BAY ENSEMBLE 77 TICONDEROGA FESTIVAL GUILD VISUAL ARTS RESEARCH AND RESOURCE CENTER RELATING TINY MYTHIC THEATRE COMPANY 77 VISUAL STUDIES WORKSHOP TIOGA COUNTY COUNCIL ON THE ARTS 28, 48, 72, 73 23, 25, 79, 81 VIVIAN BEAUMONT THEATRE 76 35 37 TIOGA COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY VOLUNTEER LAWYERS FOR THE ARTS 35, 37 TOUCHSTONE CENTER FOR CHILDREN

TOWN HALL FOUNDATION 48

TOWN OF CHEEKTOWAGA 27

TOWN OF HEMPSTEAD 47

WASHINGTON SQ ASSN MUSIC FUND WASHINGTON SQUARE CONTEMP MUSIC SOCIETY 43 WAVE HILL 15, 85 WAVERLY CONSORT 41 WAYNE COUNTY CNCL FOR THE ARTS WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL 74 WAYNE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR THE WAYNE COUNTY MULTICULTURAL ART PROJECT 52 WE STAY - NOS QUEDAMOS 9 WEST INDIAN AMERICAN DAY WEST INDIAN AMERICAN DAY CARNIVAL ASSOCIATION 28 WEST KORTRIGHT CENTRE WESTCHESTER ARTS COUNCIL 15, 16, 28, 55, 73, 74 WESTCHESTER CONSERVATORY OF WESTCHESTER CONSERVATORY-WESTCHESTER PHILHARMONIC WESTCHESTER SYMPHONY WESTERN NEW YORK OPERA THEATER WESTERN WIND VOCAL ENSEMBLE 15, 41, 85 WHITE PINE PRESS, INC. 31 WHITE PLAINS CABLE TV ACCESS 24 WHITNEY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ART 24, 25, 37, 38, 85 WILLIAMSBURG ARTS/CULTURAL WILLIAMSBURGH MUSIC CENTER 43, 53
WILLOW CABIN THEATRE COMPANY WNYC FOUNDATION 24, 72 WOMEN & PERFORMANCE PROJECT 32 WOMEN MAKE MOVIES 25, 30 WOMEN'S INTERART CENTER 78 WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM 24 WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM, 23 WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL FILM, INC WOMEN'S PROJECT & PRODUCTIONS 15, 76 WOMEN'S STUDIO WORKSHOP 15, 80 WOODCHUCK LODGE 38 WOODSTOCK ARTISTS ASSOCIATION WOODSTOCK CHAMBER ORCHESTRA WOODSTOCK GUILD 33, 48, 73 WOOSTER GROUP 15, 76, 85 WORKING THEATRE COMPANY 16, 76, 85 WORKMEN'S CIRCLE #555 78 WORKSHOP OF PLAYERS ART FOUNDATION 76 WORLD MUSIC INSTITUTE 42, 85 WRITERS & BOOKS 16, 31, 33 YANGTZE REPERTORY THEATRE 54 YARA ARTS GROUP 29, 33, 77
YATES COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY YEH YU CHINESE OPERA ASSOCIATION 28 YESHIVA UNIVERSITY 38 YESHIVA UNIVERSITY MUSEUM 37 YIVO INSTITUTE FOR JEWISH RESEARCH 25

YORK THEATRE COMPANY 76, 85 YOUNG AUDIENCES OF NEW YORK YOUNG AUDIENCES OF ROCHESTER 11, 16 YOUNG CONCERT ARTISTS 41 YOUNG PLAYWRIGHTS 16, 78 YOUTH THEATRE INTERACTIONS 28 YOUTH THEATRE INTERACTIONS 1 51 YWCA OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK

ZUMBI-AFRO BRAZILIAN CULTURAL **FOUNDATION 28**